



# 'O le Toe Ulutaia A Bibliography of Pasifika and Psychology Research

Jessee Fia'Ali'i, Sam Manuela, Jade Le Grice, Shiloh Groot & Julia Hyde

Bibliography published by:

School of Psychology
The University of Auckland
Private Bag 92019
Auckland Mail Centre
Auckland 1142
Aotearoa New Zealand

© Jessee Fia'Ali'i, Sam Manuela, Jade Le Grice, Shiloh Groot & Julia Hyde, 2017.

ISBN (PDF) 978-0-473-39589-6

ISBN (Paperback) 978-0-473-40739-1

Suggested citation for this report:

Fia'Ali'i, J. T., Manuela, S., Le Grice, J., Groot, S., & Hyde, J. (2017). 'O le Toe Ulutaia: A Bibliography of Pasifika and Psychology Research. School of Psychology, The University of Auckland.

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

This inaugural publication represents the shared efforts, passions and invested energies of the authors; reflecting the collaborative journey they took. Although the journey was long and laborious, the harvest was bountiful and well worth the struggles. It was a massive undertaking to create a resource that will help many, one that could not exist without the shared commitment and knowledges of the team. Summer scholar Jessee Fia'Ali'I (Samoa) methodically and painstakingly researched, sorted, and compiled the references that are contained within the finished product, with support from supervisors Jade Le Grice (Ngāpuhi, Te Rarawa) and Shiloh Groot (Ngāti Venukukōpako, Ngāti Pikiao), consultancy from Sam Manuela (Cook Island/European), and conversations with fellow summer student Julia Hyde (Ngāti Raukawa ki te tōnga, Ngāti Toarangatira, Pākehā).

To those who have contributed to this resource in any form, whether it be sourcing of material or by offering counsel and support throughout its development, we are eternally grateful and our thanks are yours. We are particularly thankful to Erana Cooper and Virginia Braun who authored the 2010 publication, *He Kohikohinga Rangahau: A Bibliography of Maori and Psychology Research*, for their guidance in producing a resource that follows a similar format. Thank you to Liz Hardley, Psychology Subject Librarian, and Anahera Morehu, Māori and Pasifika Library Manager for their expertise and assistance, Pasifikology, Le Va, Te Pou and Nga Pae o te Maramatanga. Thank you to Angela Carr, our Social Psychology Research Technician for assistance with formatting and proofreading the final document. A special thank you to Tamasilau Suaalii-Sauni who provided the inspiration for the title of the bibliography. Thank you also to William Hayward and Ian Kirk, Heads of School at Psychology, The University of Auckland, and the Faculty of Science Research Enhancement Grant, for funding that allowed this project to proceed.

It is hoped that, in making the presence and availability of these resources known, this will encourage current and future staff, students and researchers to advance the work done Pasifika psychologies.

Fa'afetai, fa'afetai, fa'afetai lava ma 'ia manuia.

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
TABLE OF CONTENTS	6
INTRODUCTION	10
A Note on the Term 'Pasifika'	11
The Fonofale Model	11
CULTURE	12
Cultural Practices and Social Living	14
Ethnolinguistics	18
Measures and Assessments	19
Grief and Pain	19
Death and Dying	20
Healing	21
Identity	22
FAMILY	
Ageing	31
Child	32
Development	33
Language Development	35
Sudden Infant Death Syndrome	
Domestic Violence	36
Family Structures	39
Parenting and Childrearing	40
Youth	
SPIRITUAL	48
Wellbeing	50
PHYSICAL	52
Body Image	53
Disability	55
Health and illness	56
Cancer	57
Cardiovascular Disease	60
Diabetes	60
Other Health Conditions and Related Practices	63
Sexual and Reproductive Health	66
Stress	69

P	Health Knowledges and Practices	70
	Nutrition	70
	Physical Activity (and Obesity)	71
H	Treatment Attitudes and Adherence	74
	Health Services: Experiences, Perceptions and Access	76
	Smoking	79
	Sport Psychology	82
ME	NTAL	84
	Clinical Scope	86
	Anxiety and Mood Disorders	89
	Eating Disorders	92
	Forensic	93
	Gambling	94
	Neuropsychology	95
	Psychosis	96
	Sexual Violence	98
H	Substance, Drug and Alcohol Use	99
H	Suicide and Self Harm	104
	Clinical Practice	109
	Culturally Competent Counselling and Therapy	110
H	Services	116
Н	Emotions	121
TO	HER	121
Н	Education	122
	Bilingual Education	124
П	Early Childhood Education and Primary	125
H	Engagement	125
H	Inclusive Education	126
	Mentoring	127
	Numeracy and Literacy	127
	Secondary	127
	Teacher Training	129
	Tertiary	130
(	Gender and Sexuality	134
	Gender	134
	Gender Diverse	140

Gendered Violence	142
Sexuality	144
Industrial, Work and Organisation	146
ENVIRONMENT	148
Climate Change	148
Community	150
Disasters and Tragedy	157
Home and Place Making	159
Media, Social Representation and Identity	160
Tourism and Development	162
CONTEXT AND TIME	163
Diaspora	163
Acculturation and Colonisation	165
Migration	167
Political Psychology	170
PASIFIKA RESEARCH METHODOLOGIES	171
Methodology and Conducting Research	171
Models and Frameworks	173
PASIFIKA PSYCHOMETRY	174

# INTRODUCTION

Developing this resource presented a significant opportunity to re-imagine, report and conceptualise, theorise, and represent Pasifika psychological research in a holistic form. Inspired by *He Kohikohinga Rangahau* (Hollis, Cooper, Braun & Pomare, 2010), *'O le Toe Ulutaia* is a celebration of Pasifika and Psychological research which have been conducted to date. The articles date back to the 1960's when Pasifika-led materials were first being produced. *'O le Toe Ulutaia* holds close to 60 years worth of research, with exponential increases in the publication of new materials with each passing decade.

The name of this bibliographic resource, 'O le Toe Ulutaia', conveys many meanings. The word 'Ulu not only refers to the head in Samoan, it also translates to breadfruit, a staple food throughout the Pacific, with its seasonal harvest ordering traditional Samoan life. Toe Ulutaia is a term that denotes an elder of the family, church or society. The significance of this person is that they are typically one of the few remaining members of their generation and represent an accumulation of knowledges and practices that came before – ready to be passed along to the next generation. As a metaphor, the bibliography represents a living and growing collection of knowledge that will nourish and sustain subsequent generations, developing with successive contributions, by generations to come. <sup>1</sup>

The resources listed in this bibliography include articles published in peer reviewed journals, mental health and governmental gray literature and reports, accessible conference proceedings and unpublished dissertations and theses. We do not endorse all of the content contained within the selected references, but have utilised some selection criteria to inform the inclusion of references. Literature was required to be easily accessible online through University/Organisation subscriptions, and have a broadly psychological focus. Studies were required to either include an author of Pasifika heritage or be conducted in collaboration with Pasifika communities and people, without researcher knowledge simply being imposed on data drawn from Pasifika people. We were also cautious about ensuring research was attendant to, or at least not obstructive in, the representation of diverse Pasifika realities, and did not conflate Pasifika peoples with other ethnicities (e.g. Asian-Pasifika American).

We acknowledge and apologise that, despite our efforts to remain systematic and thorough, we may have overlooked and left out material that would have otherwise been a complimentary addition, including new material that may have been released during the final editing process of this resource. As we intend for this work to be updated in future, please send any suggestions, feedback, and references to Sam Manuela <a href="mailto:s.manuela@auckland.ac.nz">s.manuela@auckland.ac.nz</a>. We do look forward to including these, and further work you would like to share with us, in future editions.

Physical copies of this bibliographic resource will be sent to libraries, University Psychology Schools and departments, and key Pasifika organisations and communities to promote,

Suaalii-Sauni, T. M., Wendt, M. A., Mo'a, V., Fuamatu, N., Va'ai, U. L., Whaitiri, R., & Filipo, S. L. (Eds) (2014). Whispers and Vanities. Wellington, New Zealand: Huia Publishers.

advance and celebrate Pasifika scholarship within Psychology. Free electronic copies of this resource will also be available through the School of Psychology, University of Auckland website (<a href="http://www.psych.auckland.ac.nz/">http://www.psych.auckland.ac.nz/</a>), with plans underway to create an interactive website. It is hoped that 'O le Toe Ulutaia' will inspire emerging and established teachers, researchers, practitioners and students, regardless of their ancestry, to find interest in and contribute to the various areas of psychology pertaining to Pasifika peoples.

#### A Note on the Term 'Pasifika'

Despite meaning 'peace', the term *Pasifika*, has been a site of academic contention (Wilson, 2013). The use of the term within the boundaries of this resource seeks not to demarcate and divide but to unite, embrace and celebrate the vast number of unique societies, cultures, practices, languages and perspectives found throughout the Pacific. In this context *Pasifika* is used to move beyond the conventional, geographical confines of what it means to be of Pacific origin; to also connect with those who have forged their own paths globally. Thus, 'O le Toe Ulutaia gathers knowledges from the wider Pacific, broadly represented by the term *Pasifika*, resonating with the communal and harmonious values of *solesolevaki*, *feveitokai'aki*, and *lōkahi*.

Original spelling, as it appears on the material, was preserved in this bibliography. Therefore, words and names may appear with or without diacritical marks which are often used in Pasifika literature and speech to denote vowel extension or the production of consonantal sounds.

#### The Fonofale Model

We selected the Fonofale Model of Health (Pulotu-Endemann, 2009)<sup>2</sup> to structure the bibliographic references contained within this resource from a wealth of appropriate Pasifika models of health and wellbeing. While this alone cannot account for vast variances across diverse Pasifika peoples it has provided a useful scaffold to house the common dimensions, characteristics, and areas of health and wellbeing as they are understood throughout the Pacific.

The model is based on a traditional form of architecture typical within the Pacific Islands. Symbolically, the thatched and woven construction of the fale summons to mind a reverberating theme of connectedness through its meaning as a model of wellbeing. These

-

Pulotu-Endemann, F. K. (2009). Fonofale Model of Health. Paper presented at the Pacific models for Health Promotion Workshop, Massey University, Wellington. Retrieved from http:// www.hauora.co.nz/resources/Fonofalemodelexplanation.pdf

architectural structures housed important events for the community, reflecting the importance of culture and family to wellbeing – depicted as the roof and foundation within this model. Connecting the overarching and supportive structures, further pou depict spiritual, physical, mental and other interrelated dimensions of health. External dimensions of wellbeing surround the fale structure - environment, context and time - which can directly or indirectly impact health and wellbeing.

In recognition of Psychology as a research driven field, we have also compiled two additional sections that recognises the methodologies and psychometric tests particularly relevant to conducting culturally competent and respectful research in Pasifika psychology. We hope this will assist current and future researchers in developing their contributions to the field.



Figure 1. The Fonofale Model (Pulotu-Endemann, 2009, P. 7)

# **CULTURE**

The Roof

Pasifika cultural values, knowledges and practices form the roof of the Fonofale model. References within this section attend to everyday cultural and social practices, and meanings in contemporary life. The references directly below reflect literature with a broad focus on culture throughout the Pacific. Subsections include research relevant to cultural practice in social life the cultural significance of language, grief, healing and identity. The research contained here is not exhaustive of the complete meanings of culture for Pasifika, and further references to this concept can be found more widely throughout bibliography – particularly within sections on gender and sexuality, home and place making, media and social representations, acculturation and colonisation, and culturally competent counselling and therapy.

- Andrade, N. N., & Bell, C. K. (2011). The Hawaiians. In J. F. McDermott, & N. N. Andrade (Eds.), *People and Cultures of Hawai'i: The Evolution of Culture and Ethnicity.* (pp. 1-31). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i Press.
- Bond, J. R., & Soli, F. M. (2011). The Samoans. In J. F. McDermott, & N. N. Andrade (Eds.), People and Cultures of Hawai'i: The Evolution of Culture and Ethnicity. (pp. 240-261). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i Press
- Capstick, S., Norris, P., Sopoaga, F., & Tobata, W. (2009). Relationships between health and culture in Polynesia-A review. *Social Science & Medicine*, *68*(7), 1341-1348. Andrade, N. N., & Bell, C. K. (2011). The Hawaiians. In J. F. McDermott, & N. N. Andrade (Eds.), People and Cultures of Hawai'i: The Evolution of Culture and Ethnicity. (pp. 1-31). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i Press.
- Culbertson, P. (2007). Making Culture. 'God' is Driving our People Crazy! In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 77-86). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Ewalt, P. L., & Mokuau, N. (1995). Self-determination from a Pacific perspective. *Social Work,* 40(2), 168-175.
- Gardner, L. C. (1965). *Gautavai: A study of Samoan values*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Hawaii, Honolulu, HI.
- Hereniko, V., & Wilson, R. (Eds.). (1999). *Inside out: literature, cultural politics, and identity in the new Pacific*. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Marsella, A. J., Oliveira, J. M., Plummer, C. M., & Crabbe, K. M. (1995). Native Hawaiian (kanaka maoli) culture, mind and well-being. In H. I. McCubbin, E. A. Thompson & J. E. Fromer (Eds.), Resiliency in ethnic minority families: Native immigrant American families. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Morton, H. (1998). Creating their own culture: diasporic Tongans. *The Contemporary Pacific,* 10(1), 1-30.
- Palafox, N., Ricklon, S., Esah, S., Rehuher, D., Swain, W., Stege, K., . . . Ruben, K. (2011). The Micronesians. In J. F. McDermott, & N. N. Andrade (Eds.), *People and Cultures of Hawai'i: The Evolution of Culture and Ethnicity* (pp. 295-315). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i Press.
- Poltorak, M. (2011). Comedy, Stigma and fakasesele: Contesting 'Mental Illness' in Vava 'u. In T. Sheen, N. Drescher & M. Daly (Eds.), *Tonga: Land, Sea and People* (pp. 217-234). Nuku'alofa, Tonga: Vava'u Press.
- Salzman, M. (2005). The Dynamics of Cultural Trauma: Implications for the Pacific nations. In A. J. Marsella, A. A. Austin & B. A. Grant (Eds.), *Social change and psychosocial adaptation in the Pacific Islands: cultures in transition*. (pp. 29-51). New York, NY: Springer.

- Stephen, M. (1995). A'aisa's Gift: A study of Magic and the Self. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Suaalii-Sauni, T. M., Wendt, M. A., Mo'a, V., Fuamatu, N., Va'ai, U. L., Whaitiri, R., & Filipo, S. L. (Eds.) (2014). Whispers and Vanities. Wellington, New Zealand: Huia Publishers.
- Taumoefolau, M. (2013). Respect, solidarity, and resilience in Pacific worldviews: A Counselling Perspective. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-being: Cross-Cultural Perspectives* (pp. 115-129). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Vakalahi, H. F. O. (2011). Commentary: Embracing culture as essential to Pacific people. Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology, 5(2), 85-89.
- Vakalahi, H. F. O., & Godinet, M. T. (2008). Family and Culture, and the Samoan youth. *Journal of Family and Social Work, 11*(3), 229-253.

# **Cultural Practices and Social Living**

- Afsari, M., Beasley, S. W., Maoate, K., & Hekert, K. (2002). Attitudes of Pacific Island parents to circumcision of boys. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *9*(1), 29-33.
- Arno, A. R. (1976). Joking, avoidance, and authority: verbal performance as an object of exchange in Fiji. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society, 85*(1), 71-86.
- Aune, R. K., & Waters, L. L. (1994). Cultural differences in deception: Motivations to deceive in Samoans and North Americans. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 18(2), 159-172.
- Besnier, N. (1994). The truth and other irrelevant aspects of Nukulaelae gossip. *Pacific Studies*, 17(3), 1-39.
- Betz, E., & van Meijl, T. (2016). Humour in the negotiations of social identity in the Tongan diaspora. *Etnofoor*, 28, 111-125.
- Biersack, A. (1991). Kava'onau and the Tongan chiefs. *Journal of Pacific Studies, 100*(3), 230-267.
- Campbell, I. C. (1985). Race relations in the pre-colonial Pacific Islands: A case of prejudice and pragmatism. *Pacific Studies*, 8(2), 61-80.
- Cowley-Malcolm, E., Gao, W., Macpherson, C., Perese, L., Erick, S., & Sundborn, G. (2011).

  Impacts of inter- and intra- ethnic partnerships/relationships on traditional gift giving in a cohort of Pacific mothers. *Pacific Health Dialog, 17*(2), 90-103.
- Dektor Korn, S. R. (1974). Tongan kin groups: the noble and the common view. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society*, 83(1), 5-13.

- Douaire-Marsaudon, F. (1996). Neither black nor white: The father's sister in Tonga. *The Journal of Polynesian Society, 105*(2), 139-164.
- Duranti, A. (1990). Code switching and conflict management in Samoan multiparty interaction. *Pacific Studies*, 14(1), 1-30.
- Duranti, A. (1993). Responsibility: An Essay in Samoan Ethnopragmatics. In J. H. Hill, & J. T. Irvine (Eds.), *Responsibility and evidence in oral discourse* (pp. 24-47) Cambridge University Press.
- Faleolo, M. M. (2016). From the street to the village: the transfer of NZ youth gang culture to Sāmoa. *New Zealand Sociology*, *31*, 48-73.
- Filoiali'i, L. A., & Knowles, L. (1983). Attitudes of Southern California Samoans towards maintaining the Samoan way of life. *Sociology and Social Research*, *67*(3), 301-311.
- Fuary, M. (2000). Torres Strait and Dawdhay: dimensions of self and otherness on Yam Island. *Oceania*, *70*, 219-230.
- Fusitu'a, L. M. (1992). Ko e poto mo hono tauhi 'o e 'ulungaanga fakatonga/knowledge and the maintenance of Tongan culture. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Futterman-Collier, A., Sadao, K., Otto, C., & Polloi, A. (1997). Perceptions of the Social, cultural and psychological well-being in Palau. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *4*(1), 28-34.
- Garsee, J. W. (1965). A study of Samoan interpersonal values. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Oklahoma, Norman, Oklahoma.
- Ginter, E. J., Glauser, A., & Richmond, B. O. (1994). Loneliness, social support, and anxiety among two South Pacific cultures. *Psychological Reports*, 74(3 Pt 1), 875-879.
- Gregory, R. J., & Gregory, J. E. (2003). Conflict Resolution on Tanna, Vanuatu. *South Pacific Journal of Psychology*, 14, 60-68.
- Hauriasi, A., Hauriasi, A., Van-Peursem, K., Van-Peursem, K., Davey, H., & Davey, H. (2016).

  Budget processes in the Anglican Church of Melanesia: an emergent ethnic identity.

  Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 29(8), 1294-1319.
- Huntsman, J., & Hooper, A. (1976). The 'Desicration' of Tokelau kinship. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society*, 85(2), 257-273.
- Johnson, J. L., & Beamer, K. (2013). An Indigenous Narrative of Resilience: Malama ko Aloha. Substance use & Misuse, 48(13), 1369-1376.
- Jones, P. (2016). Informal urbanism as a product of socio-cultural expression: insights from the Island Pacific. In S. Attia, S. Shabka, S. Z., & A. Ibrahim (Eds.), *Dynamics and Resilience of Informal Areas* (pp. 165-181). Springer International Publishing.
- Kavapalu, H. (1995). Power and Personhood in Tonga. Social Analysis, 37, 14-28.

- Keating, E. (1997). Honorific possession: Power and language in Pohnpei, Micronesia. Language in Society, 26(2), 247-268.
- Keck, V. (2004). Social discord and bodily disorders: healing among the Yupno of Papua New Guinea. Durham, NC: Carolina Academic Press.
- Koch, K. (1974). Incest and its punishment in Jalé society. *The Journal of Polynesian Society*, 73(1), 84-91.
- Kuratani, D. (2015). How do Native Hawaiian Conceptualizations of Well-being Inform the Meaning and Social Function of Food? (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of California, Los Angeles, CA.
- Lahn, J. (2003). *Past visions, present lives: sociality and locality in a Torres Strait community.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). James Cook University, Queensland, Australia.
- Macpherson, C. (1999). Changing contours of kinship: The impacts of social and economic development on kinship organization in the South Pacific. *Pacific Studies*, *22*(2), 71-95.
- Macpherson, C., & Macpherson, L. (2006). The nature and limits of traditional dispute resolution processes in contemporary Samoa. *Pacific Studies*, 29(1/2), 128-158.
- Mageo, J. M. (1988). Mālosi: A Psychological Exploration of Mead's and Freeman's Work and of Samoan Aggression. *Pacific Studies*, 11(2), 25-65.
- Mageo, J. M. (1989). "Ferocious is the Centipede": A study of the Significance of Eating and Speaking in Samoa. *Ethos, 17*(4), 387-427.
- Mageo, J. M. (1998). *Theorizing self in Samoa: Emotions, genders, and sexualities* University of Michigan Press.
- Mageo, J. M. (2001). Dream play and discovering cultural psychology. Ethos, 29(2), 187-217.
- Mageo, J. M. (2002). Intertextual interpretation, fantasy and Samoan dreams. *Culture & Psychology, 8*(4), 417-448.
- Marsella, A. J., Austin, A. A., & Grant, B. A. (Eds.). (2005). *Social change and psychosocial adaptation in the Pacific Islands: cultures in transition*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Marshall, M. (1979). *Weekend warriors: Alcohol in a Micronesian culture*. Palo Alto, CA: Mayfield.
- Mayeda, D. T., 'Ofamo'oni, I. F., Dutton, H. D., Keil, M., & Lauaki-Vea, E. (2014). Māori and Pacific student experiences with every-day colonialism and racism. *Social Space*, 8(2), 115-139.
- McCabe, M. P., Waqa, G., Dev, A., Cama, T., & Swinburn, B. A. (2013). The role of cultural values and religion on views of body size and eating practices among adolescents from Fiji, Tonga, and Australia. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 18(2), 383-394.
- McCall, G. (1980). Kinship and Association in Rapanui reciprocity. Pacific Studies, 3(2), 1-21.

- McDade, T. W., & Worthman, C. M. (2004). Socialization ambiguity in Samoan adolescents: a model for human development and stress in the context of culture change. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *14*(1), 49-72.
- Morin, E., Gatti, C., Bambridge, T., & Chinain, M. (2016). Ciguatera fish poisoning: incidence, health costs and risk perception on Moorea Island (Society archipelago, French Polynesia). *Harmful Algae, 60,* 1-10.
- Norton, R., Macpherson, C., & Macpherson, L. (1988). Chiefs, adolescent suicide and the transformation of chiefly authority in Western Samoa. *Man*, *23*(4), 759-762.
- Nosa, V., & Ofanoa, M. (2009). The Social, cultural and medicinal use of Kava for twelve Tongan born men living in Auckland, New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog, 15*(1), 96-102
- Ravuvu, A. (1971). Dependency as a determinant of kinship terminology. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society*, 80(4), 480-484
- Reilly, M. P. (2010). Tuakana—Teina Relationship and Leadership in Ancient Mangaia and Aotearoa. *Journal of Pacific History, 45*(2), 211-227.
- Rubie-Davies, C. M., Liu, S., & Lee, K. K. (2013). Watching each other: Portrayals of gender and ethnicity in television advertisements. *The Journal of Social Psychology, 153*(2), 175-195.
- Saunders, K. (1980). Melanesian women in Queensland 1863-1907: Some methodological problems involving the relationship between Racism and Sexism. *Pacific Studies, 4*(1), 26-44.
- Shore, B. (2011). Review of Language, space, and social relationships: A foundational cultural model in Polynesia. *Language in Society, 40*(2), 237-241.
- Stewart-Withers, R. R., & O'Brien, A. P. (2006). Suicide prevention and social capital: A Samoan perspective. *Health Sociology Review*, 15(2), 209-220.
- Sutter, F. K. (1980). Communal versus Individual Socialization at Home and in School in rural and urban Samoa. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Hawai'i, HI.
- Tremon, A. (2012). Social rationality and scales of action: Inter-ethnic relations in cockfighting and game-fishing, Raiatea, French Polynesia. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *35*(12), 2116-2133.
- Tuagalu, I. (2008). Heuristics of the Va. AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous *Peoples, 4*(1), 108-126.

## **Ethnolinguistics**

- Duranti, A. (1990). Code switching and conflict management in Samoan multiparty interaction. *Pacific Studies*, *14*(1), 1-30.
- Duranti, A. (1993). Responsibility: An Essay in Samoan Ethnopragmatics. In J. H. Hill, & J. T. Irvine (Eds.), *Responsibility and evidence in oral discourse* (pp. 24-47) Cambridge University Press.
- Emerine, R. D. (2009). Schools, marriage, and the endangerment of the Nagu language in the Solomon Islands. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). California State University, Long Beach.
- Franken, M., May, S., & McComish, J. (2005). *Pasifika languages research and guidelines project: literature review*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Education.
- Goldring, M. C. (2006). Weaving language with identity; the story of Samoan Secondary students. Letoga: A Precious Thing. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Canterbury, Christchurch College of Education, Christchurch, New Zealand
- Hunkin, G. (1988). Being Samoan means knowing my language. *New Settlers and Multicultural Education Issues*, 4(3), 28-35.
- Hunkin-Tuiletufuga, G. (2001). Pasefika languages and Pasefika identities: Contemporary and future challenges. In C. Macpherson, P. Spoonley & M. Anae (Eds.), *Tangata O Te Moana Nui: the Evolving Identities of Pacific Peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand* (pp. 196-211). Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Keating, E. (1997). Honorific possession: Power and language in Pohnpei, Micronesia. Language in Society, 26(2), 247-268.
- Keating, E. (2000). Moments of hierarchy: Constructing social stratification by means of language, food, space, and the body in Pohnpei, Micronesia. *American Anthropologist,* 102(2), 303-320.
- Kernan, K. T. (1974). The acquisition of formal and colloquial speech by Samoan children. *Anthropological Linguistics*, *16*, 107-109.
- Lemert, E. M. (1962). Stuttering and social structure in two Pacific societies. *Journal of Speech* and Hearing Disorders, 27(1), 3-10.
- Starks, D. (2006). The changing roles of language and identity in the New Zealand Niuean community: Findings from the Pasifika Languages of Manukau Project. *International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism*, *9*(3), 374-391.
- Taumoefolau, M., Starks, D., Davis, K., & Bell, A. (2002). Linguists and language maintenance: Pasifika languages in Manukau, New Zealand. *Oceanic Linguistics, 41*(1), 15-27.

Wilson, S. L. (2010). Le Tofi ne'i Vale Tuulima: Perceptions of Samoan Students, Teachers and Parents on the Place of the Samoan Language in New Zealand Today. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.

#### Measures and Assessments

- Amberber, A. M. (2011). Adapting the bilingual aphasia test to Rarotongan (Cook Islands Maori): linguistic and clinical considerations. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics*, 25(6-7), 601-618.
- Ballard, E., & Farao, S. (2010). Designing a phonological assessment for Samoan-speaking children: Linguistic/cultural considerations and initial findings. *New Zealand Journal of Speech Language Therapy*, 65, 5-14.
- Ballard, E., Charters, A. H., & Taumoefolau, M. (2013). A Tongan adaptation of the Boston Naming test: rethinking the assessment of communication impairment in Tongan patients post-stroke. In Proceedings of the Pacific Health Research Fono, 18-19 April 2012. In M. Taumoefolau, N. Seve-Williams & E. Saafi (Eds.), *Pacific Edge: Transforming Knowledge into Innovative Practice* (pp. 88-99). New Zealand: Health Research Council.
- Bunker, L. D. (2008). *Development of Tongan materials for determining speech recognition thresholds.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Brigham Young University, Provo, UT.
- Jodache, S. E. (2013). Exploring the Insiders' Experience of Language Assessment of Bilingual Samoan-English Speakers with Aphasia:" it's hard". (Unpublished Master's Thesis).

  University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Reese, E., Ballard, E., Taumoepeau, M., Taumoefolau, M., Morton, S. B., Grant, C., . . . Mohal, J. (2015). Estimating language skills in Samoan-and Tongan-speaking children growing up in New Zealand. *First Language*, *35*(4-5), 407-427.
- Seuala, S. (2014). Samoan-English bilingual performance on the Boston Naming Test and its Samoan adaptation. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.

# Grief and Pain

- Deo, S. S. (2012). *Maori, Pacific, and European differences in response to pain and worry: an experimental investigation*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Henare, K., & Ehrhardt, P. (2004). Support for Maori, Pacific and Asian family, whanau and significant others who have been bereaved by suicides an analysis of the published and grey literature. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Youth Development.

- Norris, P., Va'ai, C., Fa'alau, F., Churchward, M., & Arroll, B. (2011). Pain, infection, and colds and flu: Samoan people's views about antibiotics. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 7(1), 81-92.
- Sinisa, V. (2013). The reflections by Tongan parents or caregivers on various factors that may have contributed to the suicide of their child. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, NZ.
- Throop, C. J. (2008). From pain to virtue: Dysphoric sensations and moral sensibilities in Yap (Waqab), Federated States of Micronesia. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 45(2), 253-286.
- Throop, C. J. (2008). On the problem of empathy: The case of Yap, Federated States of Micronesia. *Ethos*, *36*(4), 402-426.
- Throop, C. J. (2010). Suffering and sentiment: Exploring the vicissitudes of experience and pain in Yap, Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Ushiroda, M. (2008). Cultural implications of Native Hawaiian influences on grief and bereavement in Hawai'i as experienced by "Locals". *Hawaii Pacific Journal of Social Work Practice*, 1(1), 36-54.

#### Death and Dying

- Anngela-Cole, L., Ka'Opua, L., & Busch, M. (2010). Issues Confronting Social Workers in the Provision of Palliative Care Services in the Pacific Basin (Hawai'i and the US Affiliated Pacific Island Nations and Territories). *Journal of Social Work in End-of-Life & Palliative Care*, 6(3-4), 150-163.
- Finau, M. N. (1999). *Celebrating in chaos: introducing a new meaning in death, dying, and mourning in the Pacific-Tongan context.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). School of Theology at Claremont, Claremont, CA.
- Frey, R., Gott, M., Raphael, D., Black, S., Teleo-Hope, L., Lee, H., & Wang, Z. (2013). 'Where do I go from here'? A cultural perspective on challenges to the use of hospice services. Health & Social Care in the Community, 21(5), 519-529.
- Frey, R., Raphael, D., Bellamy, G., & Gott, M. (2014). Advance care planning for Maori, Pacific and Asian people: The views of New Zealand healthcare professionals. *Health and Social Care in the Community, 22*(3), 290-299.
- Iordache, S. M. (2012). *Palliative people's dreams and dream related perceptions and interpretations: a mixed methods investigation.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Lilomaiava-Doktor, S. (2016). Changing morphology of graces and burials in Samoa. *Journal of the Polynesian Society, 125*, 171-186.
- Little, V. (2009). Palliative care needs in American Samoa. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 12(5), 411-413.

- Meleisea, M., & Schoeffel, P. (2016). The work of the dead in Samoa: rank, status and property. *Journal of the Polynesian Society, 125*, 149-170.
- Pentaris, P. (2011). Culture and Death: A Multicultural Perspective. *Hawaii Pacific Journal of Social Work Practice*, 4(1), 45-84.
- Rensel, J., & Howard, A. (2016). The culture of graves on Rotuma. *Journal of the Polynesian Society*, 125, 93-114.
- Seiuli, B. M. S. (2015). *Ua tafea le tau'ofe: Samoan cultural rituals through death and bereavement experiences.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand.
- Watson-Jones, R. E., Busch, J. T., Harris, P. L., & Legare, C. H. (2016). Does the body survive death? Cultural variation in beliefs about life everlasting. *Cognitive Science*,

# Healing

- Bell, C., Goebert, D., Miyamoto, R. H., Hishinuma, E. S., Andrade, N. N., Johnson, R. C., & McDermott Jr, J. F. (2001). Sociocultural and community factors influencing the use of Native Hawaiian healers and healing practices among adolescents in Hawai'i. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(2), 249-259.
- Bloomfield, S. F. (2002). Illness and Cure in Tonga. Nuku'alofa, Tonga: Vava'u Press.
- Hardin, J. (2015). "Healing is a Done Deal": Temporality and Metabolic Healing Among Evangelical Christians in Samoa. *Medical Anthropology, 35*(2), 105-118
- Harthorn, B. H. (2005). Gender, Health Inequality, and Hidden Healers in Rural Fiji. *Fijian Studies: A Journal of Contemporary Fiji, 3*(2), 337-356.
- Hurdle, D. E. (2002). Native Hawaiian traditionally healing: culturally based interventions for social work practice. *Social Work, 47*(2), 183-192.
- Judd, N. (1998). Laau Lapaau: herbal healing among contemporary Hawaiian healers. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *5*(2), 239-245.
- Keck, V. (2004). Social discord and bodily disorders: healing among the Yupno of Papua New Guinea. Durham, NC: Carolina Academic Press.
- Krosch, S. L. (2010). Perceptions and Use of Complementary and Alternative Medicine in American Samoa: A Survey of Health Care Providers. *Hawaii Medical Journal*, 69(6), 21-26.
- Lui, D. (2001). Traditional healing in modern psychiatry: A pacific perspective. *No one is an Island: Proceedings of the 11th Annual MHS Conference 2001*. Wellington: The Mental Health Services Conference of Australia and New Zealand.

- Macpherson, C. (1990). *Samoan medical belief and practice*. Auckland, New Zealand: Auckland University Press.
- McGrath. B. B. (2000). Swimming from Island to Island: healing practice in Tonga. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly, 13*(4), 483-505.
- Mishra, S. I., Hess, J., & Luce, P. H. (2003). Predictors of indigenous healer use among Samoans. *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine*, *9*(6), 64-69.
- NiaNia, W., Bush, A., & Epston, D. (2013). 'I Will Not Leave My Baby Behind': A Cook Island Māori Family's Experience of New Zealand Māori Traditional Healing. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy, 34*(1), 3-17.
- Nosa, V., & Ofanoa, M. (2009). The Social, cultural and medicinal use of Kava for twelve Tongan born men living in Auckland, New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1)
- Puloka, M. H. (1997). A commonsense perspective on Tongan folk healing. *International Journal of Mental Health*, 26(3), 69-93.
- Sundborn, G., Taylor, S., Tautolo, E., & Finau, S. (2011). Utilisation of Traditional Pacific Healers by mothers and children of the Pacific Islands Families study. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *17*(2), 105-118.
- Toafa, V. M., Moata ane, L. M., & Guthrie, B. E. (1999). Belief and trust: health caring for migrant Tongan healers and patients in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog, 6*(2), 160-167.
- Vaka, S., Stewart, M. W., Foliaki, S., & Tu'itahi, M. (2009). Walking apart but towards the same goal? The view and practices of Tongan Traditional Healers and Western-Trained Tongan Mental Health Staff. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 89-95.

#### Identity

- Allen, G., Garriott, P. O., Reyes, C. J., & Hsieh, C. (2013). Racial Identity, Phenotype, and Self-Esteem Among Biracial Polynesian/White Individuals. *Family Relations*, *62*(1), 82-91.
- Anae, M. (1998). *Fofoa-i-vao-'ese: the identity journeys of NZ-born Samoans.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Anae, M. (2001). The New Vikings of the Sunrise: New Zealand-Born in the information Age. In P. Spoonley, C. Macpherson & M. Anae (Eds.), *Tagata o te Moana Nui: The evolving identities of Pacific peoples in Aotearoa, New Zealand* (pp. 89-101). Palmerston North, NZ: Dunmore Press.

- Anae, M. (2002). Papalagi redefined: Toward a New Zealand born Samoan identity. In P. Spickard, J. L. Rondilla & D. H. Wright (Eds.), *Pacific Diaspora: Island peoples in the United States and across the Pacific* (pp. 150-168). Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press.
- Apo'Aporosa, S. (2014). Yaqona (Kava) as a symbol of cultural identity. *Locale: The Australasian-Pacific Journal of Regional Food Studies, 4*, 79-101.
- Berking, T., Fatialofa, C. S., Lupe, K., Skipps-Patterson, S., & Agee, M. (2007). Being 'Afakasi. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 49-62). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Betz, E., & van Meijl, T. (2016). Humour in the negotiations of social identity in the Tongan diaspora. *Etnofoor*, 28, 111-125.
- Brison, K. J. (2002). Disjunctures in discourse: emerging identities after the 2000 Coup in Rakiraki, Fiji. *Pacific Studies*, *25*(4), 47-68.
- Brown Pulu, T. J. (2007). *Kakai Tonga'i Okalani Nu'u Sila: Tongan Generations in Auckland New Zealand.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Waikato,
- Chun, M. K. (2000). One person, two worlds? Two persons, one world?: Cultural identity through the eyes of New Zealand born Samoans. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Hawaii, Honolulu, HI.
- Culbertson, P., & Agee, M. (2007). "What's so 'identity' about that word?" Pasifika men's experience of being 'afakasi. *New Zealand Journal of Counselling*, *27*(2), 77-95.
- Fairbarn-Dunlop, T. P. (2013). Pacific Youth Connecting through Poly. In L. Crowl, M. T. Crocombe & R. A. Dixon (Eds.), *Ron Crocombe: E Toa! Pacific writings to celebrate his life and work* (pp. 440-457). Suva, Fiji: USP Press.
- Faumuina Khakh, C. (2015). *Malanga: the voice of positive dissonance*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland.
- Fehoko, E. S. (2014). Pukepuke Fonua: an exploratory study on the faikava as an identity marker for New Zealand-born Tongan males in Auckland, New Zealand. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland.
- Franklin, M. (2003). I define my own identity: Pacific articulations of 'race' and 'culture' on the Internet. *Ethnicities*, *3*(4), 465-490.
- Funaki, I. F., & Funaki, L. M. (2002). A compromise identity: Tongan Americans in the United States. In J. Spickard, J. Rondilla & H. Wright (Eds.), *Pacific diaspora: Island peoples in the United States and across the Pacific* (pp. 211-218). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.

- George, J. R., & Rodriguez, L. (2009). Hybrid youth identity in the Maori/Pacific Island diaspora in Australia: a study of young urban Polynesian men in Sydney. *New Zeaand Sociology*, *24*(1), 3, 23
- Goldring, M. C. (2006). Weaving language with identity; the story of Samoan Secondary students. Letoga: A Precious Thing. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Canterbury, Christchurch College of Education, Christchurch, New Zealand
- Grainger, A. (2009). Rugby, Pacific peoples, and the cultural politics of national identity in New Zealand. *The International Journal of the History of Sport, 26*(16), 2335-2357.
- Hall, S. (1990). Cultural Identity and Diaspora. In J. Rutherford (Ed.), *Identity: Community, Culture, Difference* (pp. 222-237). London: Lawrence and Wishart.
- Holt, A. J. (1999). *Culture, ethnicities & identity: A look at first generation children from immigrant Samoan families.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Hunkin, G. (1988). Being Samoan means knowing my language. *New Settlers and Multicultural Education Issues*, *4*(3), 28-35.
- Irwin, K., Mossakowski, K., Spencer, J. H., Umemoto, K. N., Hishinuma, E. S., Garcia-Santiago, O., . . . Choi-Misailidis, S. (2016). Do different dimensions of ethnic identity reduce the risk of violence among Asian American and Pacific Islander adolescents in Hawai'i?

  Journal of Human Behaviour in the Social Environment,
- Johnston, R. (2016). *Not our future: an exploration of Pacific cultural identity through targeted television health advertising.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Kana'iaupuni, S. M., & Liebler, C. A. (2005). Pondering Poi Dog: Place and racial identification of multiracial Native Hawaiians. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 28(4), 687-721.
- Kavapalu, H. (1995). Power and Personhood in Tonga. Social Analysis, 37, 14-28.
- Keddell, E. (2006). Pavlova and pineapple pie: Selected identity influences on Samoan-Pakeha people in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online*, 1(1), 45-63.
- Kele-Faiva, P. (2010). *The Voices of Tokelau Youth in New Zealand: Na mafialeo ona Tupulaga Tokelau i Nui Hila*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Kilcullen, M., Swinbourne, A., & Cadet-James, Y. (2012). Cultural identity and mental health: Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health and wellbeing. *Psychology & Health, 27*, 67-68.

- Linnekin, J., & Poyer, L. (1990). *Cultural identity and ethnicity in the Pacific*. Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Lowe, E. D. (2003). Identity, activity, and the well-being of adolescents and youths: lessons from young people in a Micronesian society. *Culture, Medicine & Psychiatry, 27*(2), 187-219.
- Macpherson, C. (2001). One trunk sends out many branches: Pacific cultures and cultural identities. In C. Macpherson, P. Spoonley & M. Anae (Eds.), *Tangata o te Moana Nui The Evolving Identities of Pacific Peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand* (pp. 66-80). Palmerston North: Dunmore Press.
- Macpherson, C., Anae, M., & Spoonley, P. (Eds.). (2001). *Evolving identities of Pacific peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand*. Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Macpherson, C., Spoonley, P., & Anae, M. (2000). *Tangata o te moana nui: the evolving identities of Pacific peoples in Aotearoa /New Zealand*. Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Mageo, J. (2008). Zones of ambiguity and identity politics in Samoa. *Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute, 14*(1), 61-78.
- Mageo, J. M. (1998). *Theorizing self in Samoa: Emotions, genders, and sexualities* University of Michigan Press.
- Manuela, S., & Sibley, C. G. (2013). The Pacific Identity and Wellbeing Scale (PIWBS): A culturally-appropriate self-report measure for Pacific peoples in New Zealand. *Social Indicators Research*, 112(1), 83-103.
- Manuela, S., & Sibley, C. G. (2014). Exploring the Hierarchical Structure of Pacific Identity and Wellbeing. *Social Indicators Research*, 118(3), 969-985.
- Manuela, S., & Sibley, C. G. (2014). Why Do Pacific People with Multiple Ethnic Affiliations Have Poorer Subjective Wellbeing? Negative Ingroup Affect Mediates the Identity Tension Effect. *Social Indicators Research*, 115(1), 319-336.
- Manuela, S., & Sibley, C. G. (2015). The Pacific Identity and Wellbeing Scale Revised:

  Comparisons across Pacific groups. *The New Zealand Journal of Psychology, 44*(1), 61-72.
- Mara, D. (2014). Samoan women in tertiary education and ethnic identity. *Māori and Pasifika Higher Education Horizons (Diversity in Higher Education, Volume 15) Emerald Group Publishing Limited, 15,* 271-290.
- Mara, D. L. (2006). Theories and Narratives: Pacific Women in Tertiary Education and the Social Construction of Ethnic Identities in Aotearoa New Zealand. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.

- Mayeda, D. T., & Okamoto, S. K. (2002). Challenging the "Asian Pacific American" rubric: social constructions of ethnic identity among Samoan youth in Hawaii. *Journal of Poverty*, 6(4), 43-62.
- McCubbin, L. D., & Dang, T. A. (2009). Native Hawaiian Identity and Measurement. In J. G. Ponterotto, J. M. Casas, L. A. Suzuki & C. M. Alexander (Eds.), *Handbook of Multicultural Counseling* (Third ed., pp. 269-282). Thousand Oaks, NY: Sage Publications, Inc.
- McCubbin, L. D., & Dang, T. A. (2009). Native Hawaiian Identity and Measurement: An ecological Perspective of Indigenous Identity Development. In J. G. Ponterotto, J. M. Casas, L. A. Suzuki & C. M. Alexander (Eds.), *Handbook of Multicultural Counseling* (3rd Edition ed., pp. 269-282). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- McGavin, K. (2014). Being" Nesian": Pacific Islander Identity in Australia. *The Contemporary Pacific, 26*(1), 126-154.
- McGavin, K. (2016). Where Do You Belong? Identity, New Guinea Islanders, and the Power of Peles. *Oceania*, 86(1), 57-74.
- Menon, K. (2009). Sense of identity among Samoan migrant women at work and living in Auckland, Aotearoa/New Zealand. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, New Zealand.
- Mila, K. (2013). Not another New Zealand-born identity crisis: Well-being and the politics of Belonging. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-Being: Cross-Cultural Perspectives* (pp. 27-45). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Mila-Schaaf, K. (2010). *Polycultural capital and the Pasifika second generation: negotiating identities in diasporic places.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, Albany, New Zealand.
- Mulitalo-Lauta, P. T. (2001). Pacific peoples' identities and social services in New Zealand:

  Creating new options. In C. Macpherson, P. Spoonley & M. Anae (Eds.), *Tangata O Te Moana Nui: The evolving Identities of Pacific Peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand* (pp. 247-262). Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Nelson-Agee, M., & Culbertson, P. (2013). Sowing the seeds: Parents' and Grandparents' influences in the identity development of 'Afakasi young peoples. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-being: Cross-Cultural Perspectives* (pp. 46-65). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Nelson-Agee, M., McIntosh, T., & Culbertson, P. (Eds.). (2013). *Pacific Identities and Wellbeing: Cross-cultural Perspectives*. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Park, J., & Morris, C. (2004). Reproducing Samoans in Auckland" in different times": Can habitus help? *The Journal of the Polynesian Society, 113*(3), 227-261.
- Siteine, A. (2010). The allocation of Pasifika identity in New Zealand classrooms. *Mai Review,* 1, 1-12.
- Soaladaob, K. (2010). *Cultivating Identities: Re-thinking Education in Palau*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Starks, D. (2006). The changing roles of language and identity in the New Zealand Niuean community: Findings from the Pasifika Languages of Manukau Project. *International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism*, *9*(3), 374-391.
- Starks, D. (2010). Being a Niuean or being Niue? An investigation into the use of identity labels. *Journal of Language, Identity, and Education, 9*(2), 124-138.
- Stephen, M. (1995). A'aisa's Gift: A study of Magic and the Self. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Tamaira, A. M. (2009). *The space between: negotiating culture, place, and identity in the Pacific*. Honolulu: HI: Center for Pacific Islands Studies, School of Hawaiian, Asian & Pacific Studies, University of Hawaii at Manoa.
- Taumoefolau, M. (2012). Tongans Pacific Islands Identity. Retrieved from Retrieved from Te Ara The encyclopedia of New Zealand: <a href="http://www.teara.govt.nz/en/tongans/page-4">http://www.teara.govt.nz/en/tongans/page-4</a>
- Tazreiter, C., Weber, L., Pickering, S., Segrave, M., & McKernan, H. (2016). Samoan-Born New Zealanders as Trans-Tasman Denizens. In C. Tazreiter, L. Weber, S. Pickering, M. Segrave & H. McKernan (Eds.), Fluid Security in the Asia Pacific (pp. 77-102) Springer.
- Tiatia, J., & Deverell, G. (1998). *Caught between cultures: a New Zealand-born Pacific Island Perspective*. Auckland, New Zealand: Christian Research Association.
- Tousignant Gauthier, M. (2013). Labelling Identities: the Views and Experiences of Second Generation Pacific Peoples in New Zealand. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Concordia University, Montréal, QC, Canada.
- Tupuola, A. (2004). Pasifika Edgewalkers: complicating the achieved identity status in youth research. *Journal of Intercultural Studies*, 25(1), 87-100.
- Vignoe, C. G. W. (2015). *Living Aloha: Portraits of resilience, renewal, reclamation, and resistance.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Antioch University, Ann Arbour, MI.
- Watkin Lui, F. (2012). My island home: re-presenting identities for Torres Strait Islanders living outside the Torres Strait. *Journal of Australian Studies*, *36*, 141-153.

- Watkin, F. (2009). My island home: a study of identity across different generations of Torres Strait Islanders living outside the Torres Strait. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation), James Cook University, Queensland, Australia.
- Webber, M. (2013). Adolescent Racial-Ethnic Identity: Behaviors, perceptions, and challenges in Urban Multiethnic school contexts. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-being: Cross-Cultural perspectives* (pp. 6-26). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Wurtzburg, S. (2004). Creating a New Zealand-styled Fa'a-Samoa: Samoan identity in Christchurch. *New Zealand Sociology*, 19(1), 50-76.
- Zemke-White, K. (2001). Rap music and Pacific identity in Aotearoa: Popular music and the politics of opposition. In C. Macpherson, P. Spoonley & M. Anae (Eds.), *Tangata O Te Moana Nui: The Evolving Identities of Pacific Peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand* (pp. 228-242). Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Zimmer-Tamakoshi, L. (1993). Nationalism and Sexuality in Papua New Guinea. *Pacific Studies*, *16*(4), 61-97.

## **FAMILY**

#### The Foundation

Common to most Pasifika societies, family is the basis of wellbeing and is depicted as a foundational aspect of the Fonofale model. References categorised within this section not only attend to understanding the individual within a family context, but the environmental, social, emotional and cultural influences on the family, as they shelter and surround family within the Fonofale model. References which follow directly below aggregate research on general matters pertaining to family. There are subsections focussed on developmental considerations across the family lifespan, including research on children and their development, youth and ageing. Other subsections include structural considerations for family, parenting and childrearing patterns of practice, and although we hold that domestic violence is incongruent with our definition of family, it is included here as an important issue to be addressed.

- Adams, I. K. R., Okoli, C. T. C., Keita, A. D., Linares, A. M., Tanaka, K., Planin, J. R., & Koempel, A. (2016). Breastfeeding practices among Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders. *Journal of Obesity, 2016*
- Ahio, L. L. (2011). Vaevae Manava: context and perception of food security for Tongan mothers and health workers. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Bellringer, M. E., Cowley-Malcolm, E. T., Abbott, M. W., & Williams, M. M. (2005). Pacific Islands families: The first two years of life: Gambling amongst Pacific mothers.

  International Journal of Mental Health & Addiction, 3(1), 41-48.

- Carter, S., Williams, M., Paterson, J., & Iusitini, L. (2009). Do perceptions of neighbourhood problems contribute to maternal health?: Findings from the Pacific Islands Families study. *Health & Place*, 15(2), 622-630.
- Churchward, M. E. (2011). Sophisticated Mediators: New Zealand-born Samoan first-time mothers and strategies for their health and wellbeing. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Dureau, C. (1993). Nobody asked the mother: Women and maternity on Simbo, western Solomon Islands. *Oceania*, 64(1), 18-35.
- Fa'alau, F. (2011). Organisation and Dynamic of family relations and implication for the wellbeing of Samoan youth in Aotearoa, New Zealand. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Fa'alau, F. (2016). Family communication patterns and wellbeing among Sāmoan youth in Aotearoa New Zealand. *New Zealand Sociology*, *31*, 18-47.
- Fa'alau, F., & Jensen, V. (2006). Samoan youth and family relationships in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog, 13*(2), 17-24.
- Gao, W., Paterson, J., Abbott, M., Carter, S., & Iusitini, L. (2007). Maternal mental health and child behaviour problems at 2 years: findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study.

  Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 41(11), 885-895.
- Howells, M., Ah Ching, J., & Bender, R. (2016). Does marital status indirectly influence use of medical interventions during delivery in American Samoa. *Pacific Journal of Reproductive Health*, 1, 102-108.
- Jongen, C., McCalman, J., Bainbridge, R., & Tsey, K. (2014). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander maternal and child health and wellbeing: a systematic search of programs and services in Australian primary health care settings. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 14(1), 251.
- Kennedy, E. C., Mackesy-Buckley, S., Subramaniam, S., Demmke, A., Latu, R., Robertson, A. S., . . . Luchters, S. (2013). The case for investing in family planning in the Pacific: costs and benefits of reducing unmet need for contraception in Vanuatu and the Solomon Islands. *Reproductive Health*, 10, 30.
- Maiava, M. (2014). Exploring the Acceptability and Accessibility of the Incredible Years

  Parenting Programme for Pasifika Peoples. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The

  University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- McCubbin, L. D. (2007). The role of indigenous family ethnic schema on well-being among Native Hawaiian families. *Contemporary Nurse*, *23*(2), 170-180.
- McKerracher, L., Collard, M., & Henrich, J. (2016). Food aversions and cravings during pregnancy on Yasawa Island, Fiji. *Human Nature*, *27*, 296-315.

- Nakhid, C. (2009). The meaning of family and home for young Pasifika people involved in gangs in the suburbs of South Auckland. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand, 35*, 112-128.
- Paterson, J., Tautolo, E., Iusitini, L., Taylor, S., & Farvid, P. (2016). Pacific Islands families study: intimate partner stressors and psychological distress among Pacific adults. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 31*, 1-11.
- Paterson, J., Tumama Cowley, E., Percival, T., & Williams, M. (2004). Pregnancy planning by mothers of Pacific infants recently delivered at Middlemore Hospital. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, *117*(1188), February 24, 2016.
- Pilato, T., Su'a, T., & Chrichton-Hill, Y. (1998). A Pacific Islands perspective: Colonialism affects Pacific Island families. In C. O'Brien (Ed.), *Social Work Now*. Wellington, New Zealand: Children, Young Persons and their Families Service.
- Schluter, P. J., Tautolo, E., & Paterson, J. (2011). Acculturation of Pacific mothers in New Zealand over time: findings from the Pacific Islands Families study. *BMC Public Health*, 11, 307-2458-11-307.
- Schluter, P., Bellringer, M., & Abbott, M. (2007). Maternal gambling associated with families' food, shelter, and safety needs: Findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *Journal of Gambling Issues, 19,* 87-90.
- Stewart-Withers, R. (2011). Re-positioning the experiences and situation of single mothers: Accounts from Samoa. *Women's Studies Journal, 25*(1), 47-62.
- Stewart-Withers, R. R. (2008). *Contesting development: the experience of female-headed households in Samoa*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Suaalii-Sauni, T. M., McTaggart, S., & von Randow, M. (2009). Pacific Families: A qualitative snapshot of Household composition, wellbeing, parenting and economic decision-making among Pacific Families in Auckland, 2008. Auckland, New Zealand: Auckland Uniservices Ltd.
- Tautolo, E. (2011). Pacific fathers cultivating the future: the health of Pacific fathers and their influence upon and involvement with their children. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Tautolo, E., Schluter, P. J., & Sundborn, G. (2009). Mental health well-being amongst fathers within the Pacific Island Families Study. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 69-78.
- Teevale, T., Thomas, D. R., Scragg, R., Faeamani, G., & Nosa, V. (2010). The role of sociocultural factors in obesity aetiology in Pacific adolescents and their parents: a mixed-methods study in Auckland, New Zealand. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, 123(1326), 26-36.
- Vakalahi, H. F. O., & Godinet, M. T. (2008). Family and Culture, and the Samoan Youth. *Journal of Family and Social Work, 11*(3), 229-253.

Young, N. (2001). The pre-hospital experiences of Samoan families who have had a child admitted to hospital with pneumonia: a qualitative investigation. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(1), 20-28.

# Ageing

- Barker, J. C. (1994). Home alone: The effects of out-migration on Niuean Elders' living arrangements and social supports. *Pacific Studies*, *17*(3), 41-81.
- Browne, C. V., Mokuau, N., & Braun, K. L. (2009). Adversity and resiliency in the lives of Native Hawaiian elders. *Social Work*, *54*(3), 253-261.
- Carucci, L. M. (2008). The Making and Nurturing of Relationships: An Ujelang/Enewetak Model in the Context of Change. *Pacific Studies*, *31*(3/4), 32-57.
- Finau, S. A., Prior, I. A., & Evans, J. G. (1982). Ageing in the South Pacific. Physical changes with urbanization. *Social Science & Medicine*, *16*(17), 1539-1549.
- Flinn, J. (2007). Continuing to be a Mother: Grandmothering on Pollap. *Pacific Studies,* 30(3/4), 102-117.
- Gattuso, S., & Shadbolt, A. (2002). Attitudes toward aging among Pacific Islander health students in Fiji. *Educational Gerontology*, *28*(2), 99-106.
- Ihara, E. S., & Vakalahi, H. F. O. (2011). Spirituality: The Essence of Wellness Among Tongan and Samoan Elders. *Journal of Religion & Spirituality in Social Work: Social Thought,* 30(4), 405-421.
- Ka'opua, L. S., Braun, K. L., Browne, C. V., Mokuau, N., & Park, C. B. (2011). Why Are Native Hawaiians Underrepresented in Hawai'i's Older Adult Population? Exploring Social and Behavioral Factors of Longevity. *Journal of Aging Research*, 2011, December 14, 2016.
- Kiata, L., & Kerse, N. (2004). Intercultural residential care in New Zealand. *Qualitative Health Research*, 14(3), 313-327.
- Koseki, L. K., & Reid, S. E. (1995). Health status, life satisfaction and health practices: a study of Pacific Asian and Native Hawaiian elderly cohorts. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health, 8*(2), 95-101.
- Ledoux-Taua'aletoa, S. M. (2013). An exploration into the ways in which multi-generational Samoan households contribute to the development of societal and collective values about Aiga/families in contemporary New Zealand/Aotearoa/Niu Sila. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). United Institute of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Levy-Storms, L., & Lubben, J. E. (2006). Network composition and health behaviors among older Samoan women. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 18(6), 814-836.

- Lotoala, F., Breheny, M., Alpass, F., & Henricksen, A. (2014). Health and wellbeing of older Pacific Peoples in New Zealand. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, 127(1407), 27-39.
- Macpherson, C. (1999). Changing contours of kinship: The impacts of social and economic development on kinship organization in the South Pacific. *Pacific Studies*, *22*(2), 71-95.
- Mokuau, N., Browne, C. V., Kaʻopua, L. S., Higuchi, P., Sweet, K. M., & Braun, K. L. (2015).

  Native Hawaiian Grandparents: Exploring Benefits and Challenges in the Caregiving Experience. *Journal of Indigenous Social Development*, 4(1), 1-19.
- Panapasa, S. (2007). In my Nana's house: Grandparent households in Fiji. *Pacific Studies,* 30(3/4), 41-63.
- Pearson, J. D. (1992). Attitudes and perceptions concerning elderly Samoans in rural Western Samoa, American Samoa, and urban Honolulu. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology,* 7(1), 69-88.
- Russell, S., Strivens, E., LoGiudice, D., Smith, K., Helmes, E., & Flicker, L. (2016). Ageing on Hammond Island: is there cause for concern in the Torres Strait? *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, *24*(5), 342-343.
- Stoil, M. J., Murthy, S., & Kuramoto, F. H. (2006). Psychocultural influences on health care acceptability among elderly US Pacific Islanders. *Journal of Health & Social Policy*, 22(1), 59-75.
- Tamasese, T. K., Parsons, T. L., & Waldegrave, C. (2014). *Pacific perspectives on Ageing in New Zealand*. New Zealand: Pacific-Focused Qualitative Research prepared for the New Zealand Study of Ageing (NZLSA).
- Tauiliili, D. S., Delva, J., & Browne, C. (2001). A study of attitudes towards aging and caregiving patterns among Samoan families in Hawaii. *Journal of Family and Social Work, 6*(1), 1-14
- Torsch, V. (2007). Grandparenting among the Chamorros of Guam. *Pacific Studies*, 30(3/4), 81-101.
- Zimmer, L. J. (1990). Conflict and violence in Gender Society: older persons as victims, troublemakers, and perpetrators. *Pacific Studies*, *13*(3), 205-224.

# Child

- Freeman, C., Lingam, G. I., & Burnett, G. (2015). Children's Changing Urban Lives: A Comparative New Zealand–Pacific Perspective. *Journal of Urban Design*, *20*(4), 507-525.
- Henare, M., Puckey, A., Nicholson, A., Dale, M., & Vaithianathan, R. (2011). He Ara Hou: The Pathway Forward. Getting it right for Aotearoa New Zealand's Māori and Pasifika children. Wellington, New Zealand: Every Child Counts.

- Levin, P. F. (2005). Changing Childhood in Polynesia: The Impact of Robert Levy's Tahitians on Psychological Anthropology in Oceania. *Ethos, 33*(4), 467-474.
- Mascoe, P. & Bush, A. (2009). A Samoan perspective on infant mental health. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 148-155
- Mills, G. G., & Davies, M. (1999). The marginal child: A study of socially disaffiliated children in the South Pacific. *The International Journal of Children s Rights, 7*(3), 239-258.
- Moala, T., L. (2016). The social impacts of seasonal migration on left-behind children: an exploratory study from Lifuka, Tonga. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand.
- Paterson, J., Taylor, S., Schluter, P., & Iusitini, L. (2013). Pacific Islands Families (PIF) study: Behavioural problems during childhood. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 22(2), 231-243.
- Petersen, S., Swinburn, B., Mavoa, H., Fotu, K., Tupoulahi-Fusimalohi, C., Faeamani, G., & Moodie, M. (2014). Low health-related quality of life in school-aged children in Tonga, a lower-middle income country in the South Pacific. *Global Health Action, 20*(7), 1-10.
- Teevale, T., Taufa, S., & Percival, T. (2015). Acceptability and non-compliance in a family-led weight-management programme for obese Pacific children. *Public Health Nutrition*, 18(14), 2625-2633.

#### Development

- Avis, J., & Harris, P. L. (1991). Belief-desire reasoning among Baka children: evidence for a universal conception of mind. *Child Development*, *62*(3), 460-467.
- Callueng, C. M., Hang, D. M. L., Gonzales, R. D., & Oakland, T. D. (2011). Temperament styles of children from Samoa and the United States. *Educational Measurement and Evaluation Review*, 2, 17-33.
- Gardner, L. C. (1965). *Gautavai: A study of Samoan values*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Hawaii, Honolulu, HI.
- Griffen, V. (2006). Gender relations in Pacific cultures and their impact on the growth and development of children. *Paper Prepared for a Seminar on Children's Rights and Culture in the Pacific 30th October 2006*
- Gupta, E. (2014). *Mental State Talk and Social Understanding in New Zealand: a Pacific Island context.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Koloto, A. H. (2000). A Tongan perspective on development. In I. Bird, & W. Drewery (Eds.), Aotearoa: A journey through life (pp. 34-39). Sydney, Australia: McGraw-Hill.
- Mavoa, H. M., Park, J., Tupounuia, P., & Pryce, C. R. (2003). Tongan and European children's interactions at home in urban New Zealand. *Ethos, 31*(4), 545-576.

- Mavoa, H., Park, J., & Pryce, C. (1997). Social interaction in Tongan and European families in New Zealand: implications for health care. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 4(2), 33-37.
- Mayer, A., & Träuble, B. E. (2013). Synchrony in the onset of mental state understanding across cultures? A study among children in Samoa. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *37*(1), 21-28.
- Morton, H., & Lee, H. M. (1996). *Becoming Tongan: An ethnography of childhood*. Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Oberle, E. (2009). The development of theory of mind reasoning in Micronesian children. Journal of Cognition and Culture, 9(1), 39-56.
- Odden, H. L. (2008). *The Acquisition of Cultural Knowledge of Hierarchy by Samoan Children*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Emory University, San Diego, CA.
- Odden, H. L. (2009). Interactions of temperament and culture: the organization of diversity in Samoan infancy. *Ethos, 37*(2), 161-180.
- Paterson, J., Iusitini, L., & Gao, W. (2011). Child developmental assessment at two-years of age: Data from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *17*(2), 51-64.
- Rzoska, K. M., & Ward, C. (1991). The effects of cooperative and competitive learning methods on the mathematics achievement, attitudes towards school, self-concepts and friendship choices of Maori, Pakeha and Samoan Children. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 20, 17-24.
- Sutter, F. K. (1980). Communal versus Individual Socialization at Home and in School in rural and urban Samoa. (Unpublished Doctoral). University of Hawai'i, HI.
- Taumoepeau, M. (2015). From Talk to Thought: Strength of Ethnic Identity and Caregiver Mental State Talk Predict Social Understanding in Preschoolers. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 46*(9), 1169-1190.
- Taumoepeau, M., & Reese, E. (2014). Understanding the Self Through Siblings: Self-awareness Mediates the Sibling Effect on Social Understanding. *Social Development*, 23(1), 1-18.
- Taumoepeau, M., & Ruffman, T. (2006). Mother and infant talk about mental states relates to desire language and emotion understanding. *Child Development*, 77(2), 465-481.
- Taumoepeau, M., & Ruffman, T. (2008). Stepping stones to others' minds: Maternal talk relates to child mental state language and emotion understanding at 15, 24, and 33 months. *Child Development*, 79(2), 284-302.
- Tuafuti, P. (2010). Additive bilingual education: Unlocking the culture of silence. *Mai Review,* 1, 1-14.

- Untalan, F. F., & Camacho, J. M. (1997). Children of Micronesia. In G. Johnson-Powell, J. Yamamoto, G. E. Wyatt & W. Arroyo (Eds.), *Transcultural child development:*Psychological assessment and treatment (pp. 305-327). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Vinden, P. G. (2002). Understanding minds and evidence for belief: A study of Mofu children in Cameroon. *International Journal of Behavioral Development, 26*(5), 445-452.
- von Poser, A., & Ubi, B. (2013). Investigating the understanding of false belief among the Bosmun of northeast Papua New Guinea. In J. Wassman, B. Träuble & J. Funke (Eds.), *Theory of mind in the Pacific: reasoning across cultures* (pp. 193-232). Heidlberg, Germany: Winter.
- Wassmann, J., Träuble, B., & Funke, J. (2013). *Theory of mind in the Pacific: reasoning across cultures*. Heidelberg, Germany: Universitätsverlag Winter.

# Language Development

- Ballard, E., & Farao, S. (2008). The phonological skills of Samoan speaking 4-year-olds. International Journal of Speech-Language Patholgy, 10(6), 379-391.
- Hamilton, E., & Gillon, G. (2006). The phonological awareness skills of school-aged children who are bilingual in Samoan and English. *Advances in Speech Language Pathology,* 8(2), 57-68.
- Hess, G., Woll, B., & Boles, L. (2010). Speech, Language, and Hearing Risk for Samoan Children K to 3. *Asia Pacific Journal of Speech, Language and Hearing, 13*(1), 21-40.
- McCaffery, J., Tuafuti, P., Maihi, S., Elia, L., Ioapo, N., & Aukuso, S. (2003). Samoan Children's Bilingual Language and Literacy Development. In R. Barnard, & T. Glynn (Eds.), *Bilingual Children's Language and Literacy Development* (pp. 80-107). Clevedon, UK: Multilingual Matters.

# Sudden Infant Death Syndrome

- Fa'alau, F., Finau, S. A., Parks, J., & Abel, S. (2003). SIDS among Pacificans in New Zealand: An ecological perspective. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *10*(2), 155-162.
- Finau, E., Finau, S. A., Fuamatu, N., & Tukuitonga, C. (2003). SIDS or Sitisi: Plight and response of Pacificans in New Zealand (Aotearoa). *Pacific Health Dialog, 10*(2), 182-192.
- Paterson, J., Tukuitonga, C., Butler, S., & Williams, M. (2002). Awareness of sudden infant death syndrome risk factors among mothers of Pacific infants in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, *115*(1147), 33-35.
- Schluter, P. J., Paterson, J., & Percival, T. (2007). Infant care practices associated with sudden infant death syndrome: findings from the Pacific Islands Families study. *Journal of Paediatrics & Child Health*, 43(5), 388-393.

### **Domestic Violence**

- Adinkrah, M. (1999). Spousal homicides in Fiji. Homicide Studies, 3(3), 215-240.
- Adinkrah, M. (2000). Female-perpetrated spousal homicides: The case of Fiji. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 28(2), 151-161.
- Adinkrah, M. (2001). Patriarchal family ideology and female homicide victimization in Fiji. Journal of Comparative Family Studies, 32(2), 283-301.
- Adinkrah, M. (2003). Men who kill their own children: Paternal filicide incidents in contemporary Fiji. *Child Abuse and Neglect, 27*, 557-568.
- Anderson, E. L. (2015). Domestic violence and society's response in the Cook Islands:

  \*Psychological impacts on victims in "paradise". (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation).

  \*University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Asiasiga, L., & Gray, A. (1998). Intervening to present family violence in Pacific communities: A literature review for Offending by Pacific People Project (OOPS). Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Justice.
- Asiasiga, L., Falanitule, L., Tuitahi, S., & Guttenbeil, Y. (2004). Family violence: A Pacific Perspective. In M. Burton, V. Elizabeth, L. Falanitule, J. Hind, B. Martin & H. Rauwhero (Eds.), *Free from abuse: What women say and what can be done*. Auckland, New Zealand: Auckland District Health Board.
- Aucoin, P. M. (1990). Domestic violence and social relations of conflict in Fiji. *Pacific Studies,* 13(3), 23-42.
- Ayers Counts, D. (1990). Beaten wife, suicidal woman: Domestic violence in Kaliai, West New Britain. *Pacific Studies*, 13(3), 151-169.
- Bercovitch, E. (1996). The woman who ran away: Gender, power, and place among the Atbalmin of the West Sepik, Papua New Guinea. *Pacific Studies*, 19(4), 15-40.
- Bradley, C., & Kesno, J. (2001). Family and Sexual Violence in PNG: an Integrated Long-term

  Strategy. Report to the Family Violence Action Committee. Port Moresby, PNG:

  Institute of National Affairs.
- Carucci, L. M. (1990). Negotiations of violence in the Marshallese Household. *Pacific Studies,* 13(3), 93-113.
- Collier, A. F., McClure, F. H., Collier, J., Otto, C., & Polloi, A. (1999). Culture-specific views of child maltreatment and parenting styles in a Pacific-Island community. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 23(3), 229-244.

- Cribb, J. (1997). "Being bashed is just something I have to accept": Western Samoan women's attitudes towards domestic violence in Christchurch. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*, 9, 164-170.
- Cribb, J. (1999). Being bashed: Western Samoan women's responses to domestic violence in Western Samoa and New Zealand. *Gender, Place and Culture: A Journal of Feminist Geography, 6*(1), 49-65.
- Crichton-Hill, Y. (2001). Challenging Ethnocentric Explanations of Domestic Violence: Let Us Decide, The Value Our Decisions A Samoan Response. *Trauma, Violence and Abuse,* 2(3), 203-214.
- Duituturaga, E. (1998). *Pacific Islands study in attitudes to family violence: A study across cultures*. Wellington, New Zealand: FVPCC.
- Fox, T. (2011). Domestic violence as a major cause of trauma in Western Province, Papua New Guinea. *Pacific Health Dialog, 17*(1), 65-75.
- Gao, W., Paterson, J., Abbott, M., Carter, S. & Lusitini, L. (2010). Pacific Islands Families Study:
  Intimate partner violence and postnatal depression. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 12(2), 242-248. Huntsman, J., & Hooper, A. (1976). The 'Desicration' of Tokelau kinship. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society, 85*(2), 257-273.
- Gao, W., Paterson, J., Abbott, M., Carter, S., Lusitini, L. & McDonald-Sundborn, G. (2010).

  Impact of current and past intimate partner violence on maternal mental health and behaviour at two years after childbirth: Evidence from the Pacific Islands Families

  Study. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 44(2), 174-182.
- Koch, K. (1974). Incest and its punishment in Jalé society. *The Journal of Polynesian Society*, 73(1), 84-91.
- Koloto, A., & Sharma, S. (2005). The needs of Pacific women when they are victims of family violence. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand,* (26), 84-97.
- Korbin, J. E. (1990). Hana 'Ino: Child maltreatment in a Hawaiian-American Community. *Pacific Studies, 13*(3), 7-22.
- Lewis, I., Maruia, B., & Walker, S. (2008). Violence against Women in Papua New Guinea. *Journal of Family Studies, 14*(2-3), 183-197.
- Mageo, J. M. (1991). Samoan moral discourse and the Loto. *American Anthropologist, 92*(2), 405-420.
- Magnussen, L., Shoultz, J., Hansen, K., Sapolu, M., & Samifua, M. (2008). Intimate partner violence: perceptions of Samoan women. *Journal of Community Health*, *33*(6), 389-394.
- Marcus, M. N. (1991). Child Abuse and Neglect in Micronesia. Micronesian Counsellor, 2, 1–7

- McDowell, N. (1990). Person, assertion, and marriage: on the nature of household violence in Bun. *Pacific Studies*, *13*(3), 171-188.
- Mitchell, W. E. (1990). Why Wape men don't beat their wives: Constraints toward domestic tranquility in a New Guinea Society. *Pacific Studies*, 13(3), 141-150.
- Modell, J. S. (2002). Abuse and discipline: The creation of moral community in domestic violence groups on the Wai'anae Coast (Hawai'i). *Pacific Studies*, 25(1/2), 173-202.
- Nash, J. (1990). Factors relating to infrequent domestic violence among the Nagovisi. *Pacific Studies*, 13(3), 127-140.
- Nero, K. L. (1990). The hidden pain: Drunkeness and domestic violence in Palau. *Pacific Studies*, 13(3), 63-92.
- Paterson, J., Faibairn-Dunlop, P., Cowley-Malcolm, E. T., & Schluter, P. J. (2007). Maternal childhood parental abuse history and current intimate partner violence: data from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *Violence and Victims*, *22*(4), 474-488.
- Paterson, J., Feehan, M., Butler, S., Williams, M., & Cowley-Malcolm, E. T. (2007). Intimate partner violence within a cohort of Pacific mothers living in New Zealand. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 22(6), 698-721.
- Peteru, M. C. (2012). Falevitu: A literature review on culture and family violence in seven Pacific communities in New Zealand. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Social Development.
- Pinhey, T. K., Lennon, D. A., & Pinhey, N. A. (1997). Consumer debt, alcohol use, and domestic violence in Guam. *Pacific Studies*, *20*(3), 51-60.
- Rankine, J., Percival, T., Finau, E., Hope, L., Kingi, P., Peteru, M. C., . . . Selu, E. (2015). Pacific Peoples, Violence, and the Power and Control Wheel. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. Advanced online publication.
- Rapadas, J. M. (2007). Transmission of violence: The legacy of colonialism in Guam and the path to peace. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology*, 1(02), 33-40.
- Roguski, M., & Kingi, V. (2011). *Pacific Prevention of Domestic Violence Programme: Update of baseline in-Country review, Samoa Report*. Wellington, New Zealand: Crime and Justice Research Centre, Victoria University of Wellington.
- Rubinstein, D. (1994). Changes in the Micronesian Family Structure Leading to Alcoholism, Suicide and Child Abuse and Neglect. *Micronesian Counsellor*, 15, 1-8.
- Salomon, C., & Hamelin, C. (2008). Beyond normative discourse: Adoption and violence against women in New Caledonia. *Pacific Studies*, *31*(3/4), 131-155.

- Scaglion, R. (1990). Spare the rod and spoil the woman? Family violence in Abelam society. *Pacific Studies, 13*(3), 189-204.
- Schluter, P. J., Paterson, J., & Feehan, M. (2007). Prevalence and concordance of interpersonal violence reports from intimate partners: findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, *61*(7), 625-630.
- Schluter, P. J., Tautolo, E., & Paterson, J. (2011). Experience of physical abuse in childhood and perpetration of physical punishment and violence in adulthood amongst fathers: findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *17*(2), 148-162.
- Schultz, R. F. (1995). Child abuse in Fiji: a hidden problem. *Pacific Health Dialog, 2*(2), 31-36.
- Siaosi-Sumeo, K. (2007). Crisis in Paradise: Family Violence in Samoan Communities. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 296-206). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Taylor, C. A. (2016). Domestic violence and its prevalence in Small Island Developing States South Pacific region. *Pacific Journal of Reproductive Health*, 1, 119-127.
- Wurtzburg, S. J. (2003). The Pacific Island Community in New Zealand: Domestic Violence and Access to Justice. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, *14*(3), 423-446.

## **Family Structures**

- Allen, G., & Smith, T. B. (2015). Collectivistic coping strategies for distress among Polynesian Americans. *Psychological Services*, *12*(3), 322.
- Brewis, A. A., McGarvey, S. T., & Tu'u'au-Potoi, N. (1998). Structure of family planning in Samoa. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *22*(4), 424-427.
- Graves, T. D., & Graves, N. B. (Eds.). (1985). *Kinship ties and preferred strategies of urban migrants: Patterns of Social behaviour*. Hamilton, New Zealand: New Zealand and the South Pacific Academic Press.
- Ivarature, H. (1997). Family planning and contraception in Tongoleleka Village, Kingdom of Tonga. *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(1), 43-50.
- Kick, C. G. (2001). The changing Pacific Island family and children's welfare. *International Community Development Conference*, Rotorua, New Zealand.
- Kolshuh, T. S. (2008). Adopting Change: Relational Flexibility as Vice and Virtue on Mota Island, Vanatu. *Pacific Studies*, *31*(3/4), 58-86.
- McCall, G. (1980). Kinship and Association in Rapanui reciprocity. *Pacific Studies*, 3(2), 1-21.

- Reilly, M. P. (2010). Tuakana—Teina Relationship and Leadership in Ancient Mangaia and Aotearoa. *Journal of Pacific History, 45*(2), 211-227.
- Taumoepeau, M., & Reese, E. (2014). Understanding the Self Through Siblings: Self-awareness Mediates the Sibling Effect on Social Understanding. *Social Development*, 23(1), 1-18.

# Parenting and Childrearing

- Abel, S., Park, J., Tipene-Leach, D., Finau, S., & Lennan, M. (2001). Infant care practices in New Zealand: a cross-cultural qualitative study. *Social Science & Medicine*, *53*(9), 1135-1148.
- Borrows, J., Williams, M., Schluter, P., Paterson, J., & Helu, S. L. (2010). Pacific Islands Families Study: The association of infant health risk indicators and acculturation of Pacific Island mothers living in New Zealand. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 42*(5), 699-724.
- Butt, L. (2003). A transaction in ambivalence: Adoption in contemporary Highlands Papua. *Pacific Studies, 31*(3/4), 107-130.
- Cahill, F. (2006). Crossing the road from home to secondary school: A conversation with Samoan parents. *Waikato Journal of Education*, *12*, 57-72.
- Carucci, L. M. (2007). Continuities and changes in Marshallese Grandparenting. *Pacific Studies*, 30(3/4), 135-161.
- Cowley-Malcolm, E. (2013). Perceptions of Samoan Parents from a Small Town in New Zealand on Parenting, Childhood Aggression, and the CD-ROM 'Play Nicely'. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Cowley-Malcolm, E. T. (2005). Some Samoans' perceptions, values and beliefs on the role of parents and children within the context of aiga/family and the influence of fa'asamoa and the church on Samoan parenting. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Cowley-Malcolm, E. T., Fairbairn-Dunlop, T. P., Paterson, J., Gao, W., & Williams, M. (2009). Child discipline and nurturing practices among a cohort of Pacific mothers living in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 36-46.
- Delaibatiki, R. (2016). *Knowledge, attitudes and practice of family planning among iTaukei women in Fiji and New Zealand*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Dickerson-Putman, J. (2007). Changing contexts for Grandparent adoption on Raivaevae, French Polynesia. *Pacific Studies*, 30(3/4), 118-134.

- Dickerson-Putman, J. (2008). Power, uncertainty, and obligation: Unraveling contemporary adoption and fosterage on Raivarvar, Austral Islands, French Polynesia. *Pacific Studies*, 31(3/4), 87-106.
- Fairbairn-Dunlop, P., Paterson, J., & Cowley-Malcolm, E. (2005). Maternal experiences of childhood: Pacific mothers in New Zealand. *Journal of Pacific Studies*, 28(2), 291-309.
- Fairbairn-Dunlop, T. P. (2001). Tetee atu le sasa ma le upu malosi: hold back your hands, and your harsh words. *Pacific Health Dialog, 8*(2), 220-229.
- Flavell, M. (2014). Pacific Island families' perceptions of the parental role in the learning process in a high school setting. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Haley, J., & Harrigan, R. C. (2004). Voicing the strengths of Pacific Island parent caregivers of children who are medically fragile. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 15(3), 184-194.
- Hawley, N. L., Rosen, R. K., Strait, E. A., Raffucci, G., Holmdahl, I., Freeman, J. R., . . . McGarvey, S. T. (2015). Mothers' attitudes and beliefs about infant feeding highlight barriers to exclusive breastfeeding in American Samoa. *Women and Birth, 28*(3), 80-86.
- Heimuli, J., Sundborn, G., Rush, E., Oliver, M., & Savila, F. (2011). Parental perceptions of their child's weight and future concern: the Pacific Islands Families Study. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *17*(2), 33-49.
- Hubber, T. D. (1998). An exploration of intercultural parenting: The experience of Samoan and New Zealand-European couples. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Hunt-loane, F. (2005). *Physical discipline in Samoan families*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, New Zealand.
- Iusitini, L., Gao, W., Sundborn, G., & Paterson, J. (2011). Parenting practices among fathers of a cohort of Pacific infants in New Zealand. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 42*(1), 39-55.
- Jongen, C., McCalman, J., Bainbridge, R., & Tsey, K. (2014). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander maternal and child health and wellbeing: a systematic search of programs and services in Australian primary health care settings. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 14(1), 251.
- Kavapalu, H. (1993). Dealing with the dark side in the ethnography of childhood: Child punishment in Tonga. *Oceania*, *63*(4), 313-329.
- Leblic, J. (2014). From French Polynesia to France: The legacy of fa'a'amu traditional adoption in "international" adoption. *Anthropologica*, *56*(2), 449-462.
- McCallin, A., Paterson, J., Butler, S., & Cowley, E. T. (2001). Striving for the best of both worlds: Samoan Parenting in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(1), 6-14.

- Monnig, L. A. (2008). Adoption is blood: Understanding Chamorro Poksai as Chamorro authenticity within racialized decolonization politics on Guam. *Pacific Studies, 31*(3/4), 182-210.
- Nelson-Agee, M., & Culbertson, P. (2013). Sowing the seeds: Parents' and Grandparents' influences in the identity development of 'Afakasi young peoples. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-being: Cross-Cultural Perspectives* (pp. 46-65). New York, NY: Routledge.
- NiaNia, W., Bush, A., & Epston, D. (2013). 'I Will Not Leave My Baby Behind': A Cook Island Māori Family's Experience of New Zealand Māori Traditional Healing. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy, 34*(1), 3-17.
- Parker, S., McKinnon, L., & Kruske, S. (2014). 'Choice, culture and confidence': key findings from the 2012 having a baby in Queensland Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander survey. *BMC Health Services Research*, *14*(196), December 21, 2015.
- Paterson, J., Gao, W., Sundborn, G., & Cartwright, S. (2011). Maternal self-report of oral health in six-year-old Pacific children from South Auckland, New Zealand. *Community Dentistry & Oral Epidemiology, 39*(1), 19-28.
- Paterson, J., Tautolo, E., Iusitini, L., & Taylor, S. (2016). Pacific Islands Families Study: psychological distress among mothers of Pacific children living in New Zealand.

  Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 40, 11-114.
- Paterson, J., Tukuitonga, C., Butler, S., & Williams, M. (2002). Infant bed-sharing among Pacific families in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, *115*(1154), 241-243.
- Paterson, J., Tumama Cowley, E., Percival, T., & Williams, M. (2004). Pregnancy planning by mothers of Pacific infants recently delivered at Middlemore Hospital. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 117(1188).
- Pereira, J. (2010). Spare the rod and spoil the child: Samoan perspectives on responsible parenting. *Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online*, *5*(2), 98-109.
- Poland, M., Paterson, J., Carter, S., Gao, W., Perese, L., & Stillman, S. (2007). Pacific Islands Families Study: Factors associated with living in extended families one year on from the birth of a child. *Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online, 2*(1), 17-28.
- Roberts, I. (1994). Sole parenthood and the risk of child pedestrian injury. *Journal of Paediatrics & Child Health, 30*(6), 530-532.
- Robertson, H., Schluter, P. J., & Sundborn, G. (2011). Reliability and validity of maternal recall of injuries in Pacific children: findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *17*(2), 164-174.
- Schluter, P. J., & Paterson, J. (2010). Vehicle child restraint usage for Pacific children aged 6 weeks to 4 years: findings from the Pacific Islands Families study. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 42(6), 2075-2081.

- Schluter, P. J., Sundborn, G., Abbott, M., & Paterson, J. (2007). Smacking—are we being too heavy-handed? Findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 120(1267).
- Tautolo, E. (2011). Pacific fathers cultivating the future: the health of Pacific fathers and their influence upon and involvement with their children. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Tautolo, E., Schluter, P. J., & Paterson, J. (2015). Pacific Father Involvement and Early Child Behaviour Outcomes: Findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *24*(12), 3497-3505.
- Torsch, V. (2007). Grandparenting among the Chamorros of Guam. *Pacific Studies, 30*(3/4), 81-101.
- Tseng, M., Taylor, S., Tautolo, E., Savila, F., Paterson, J., & Rush, E. (2015). Maternal Cultural Orientation and Child Growth in New Zealand Pacific Families. *Childhood Obesity*, 11(4), 430-438.
- Waldegrave, C., King, P., Maniapoto, M., Tamasese, T. K., Parsons, T. L., & Sullivan, G. (2016).

  Relational resilience in Māori, Pacific, and European sole parent families: from theory and research to social policy. *Family Process*, *55*, 673-688.
- Yancura, L. A., Greenwood, H., Hayslip, B., & Smith, G. (2013). Raising grandchildren as an expression of Native Hawaiian Cultural Values. In B. Hayslip, & G. Smith (Eds.), Resilient Grandparent Caregivers: A Strengths-Based Perspective (pp. 105-120). New York, NY: Routledge.

### Youth

- Alefaio, S. (2007). Supporting the Wellbeing of Pasifika Youth. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 5-15). Honolulu. HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Bell, C., Goebert, D., Miyamoto, R. H., Hishinuma, E. S., Andrade, N. N., Johnson, R. C., & McDermott Jr, J. F. (2001). Sociocultural and community factors influencing the use of Native Hawaiian healers and healing practices among adolescents in Hawai'i. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(2), 249-259.
- Betz, E. (2014). Polynesian Youth Hip Hop: Intersubjectivity and Australia's Multicultural Audience. *Ethnomusicology Forum, 23*(2), 247-265.
- Bills, K., Okamoto, S. K., & Helm, S. (2016). The role of relational harmony in the use of drugrefusal strategies of rural Native Hawaiian Youths. *Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work, 25*, 208-226.

- Braun, K. L., & Keju-Johnson, D. (1997). Community perceptions of Youth to Youth in Health: a peer education program for primary health care, Marshall Islands. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *4*(1), 51-56.
- Carlton, B. S., Goebert, D. A., Miyamoto, R. H., Andrade, N. N., Hishinuma, E. S., Makini Jr, G. K., . . . Nishimura, S. T. (2006). Resilience, family adversity and well-being among Hawaiian and non-Hawaiian adolescents. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 52(4), 291-308.
- Choi-Misailidis, S., Hishinuma, E. S., Nishimura, S. T., & Chesney-Lind, M. (2008). Dating violence victimization among Asian American and Pacific Islander youth in Hawai'i. Journal of Emotional Abuse, 8(4), 403-422.
- Davidson, A. J. (2012). Enlarging the field of credible experience: supporting young Solomon Islanders as agents of positive change in their communities. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Davis, R., Vakalahi, H., & Smith, L. (2015). Pacific Islander youth and sources of risk for problem behaviors (research note). *Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Social Services*, *96*, 99-107.
- Dawes, G. (2002). Figure eights, spin outs and power slides: aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander youth and the culture of joyriding. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 5, 195-208.
- Fa'alau, F. (2011). Organisation and Dynamic of family relations and implication for the wellbeing of Samoan youth in Aotearoa, New Zealand. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Fa'alau, F. (2016). Family communication patterns and wellbeing among Sāmoan youth in Aotearoa New Zealand. *New Zealand Sociology, 31,* 18-47.
- Fa'alau, F., & Jensen, V. (2006). Samoan youth and family relationships in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog, 13*(2), 17-24.
- Faeamani, G. (2007). The association between obesity and quality of life of Pacific Island adolescents in New Zealand. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Fairbarn-Dunlop, T. P. (2013). Pacific Youth Connecting through Poly. In L. Crowl, M. T. Crocombe & R. A. Dixon (Eds.), Ron Crocombe: E Toa! Pacific writings to celebrate his life and work (pp. 440-457). Suva, Fiji: USP Press.
- Faleolo, M. M. (2014). *Hard-Hard-Solid!: Life Histories of Samoans in Bloods Youth Gangs in New Zealand*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Albany, New Zealand.
- Faleolo, M. M. (2016). From the street to the village: the transfer of NZ youth gang culture to Sāmoa. *New Zealand Sociology*, *31*, 48-73.

- George, J. R., & Rodriguez, L. (2009). Hybrid youth identity in the Maori/Pacific Island diaspora in Australia: a study of young urban Polynesian men in Sydney.
- Han, H., Nicholas, A., Aimer, M., & Gray, J. (2015). An innovative community organizing campaign to improve mental health and wellbeing among Pacific Island youth in South Auckland, New Zealand. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 23(6), 670-674.
- Hayes, L. S. (2001). Food for thought: the health of Pacific Islands young people in New Zealand: An Analysis Of The Dietary And Lifestyle Behaviours Of Pacific Islands Adolescents, And The Potential Long-Term Effects Of These Behaviours Upon Health. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Cantebury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Helu, S. L., Robinson, E., Grant, S., Herd, R., & Denny, S. (2009). Youth '07 The health and wellbeing of secondary school students in New Zealand: Results for Pacific young People. Auckland, New Zealand: The University of Auckland.
- Herman, N. O. T. (2013). *Investing in our young people: Akaupokotuanga i ta tatou mapu no te au tuatau ki mua*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Ierago, L., Malsol, C., Singeo, T., Kishigawa, Y., Blailes, F., Ord, L... Ngiralmau, H. (2010).

  Adoption, family relations and psychotic symptoms among Palauan adolescents who are genetically at risk for developing schizophrenia. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 45(12), 1105-1114.
- Irwin, K., Mossakowski, K., Spencer, J. H., Umemoto, K. N., Hishinuma, E. S., Garcia-Santiago, O., . . . Choi-Misailidis, S. (2016). Do different dimensions of ethnic identity reduce the risk of violence among Asian American and Pacific Islander adolescents in Hawai'i?

  Journal of Human Behaviour in the Social Environment,
- Kele-Faiva, P. (2010). The Voices of Tokelau Youth in New Zealand: Na mafialeo ona Tupulaga Tokelau i Nui Hila. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Lowe, E. D. (2003). Identity, activity, and the well-being of adolescents and youths: lessons from young people in a Micronesian society. *Culture, Medicine & Psychiatry, 27*(2), 187-219.
- Mayeda, D. T., & Okamoto, S. K. (2002). Challenging the "Asian Pacific American" rubric: social constructions of ethnic identity among Samoan youth in Hawaii. *Journal of Poverty*, 6(4), 43-62.
- Mayeda, D. T., & Pasko, L. (2012). Youth violence and hegemonic masculinity among Pacific Islander and Asian American adolescents. *Critical Criminology, 20*, 121-139.
- Mayer, P. A., & Bauman, K. A. (1986). Health practices, problems, and needs in a population of Micronesian adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health Care, 7*(5), 338-341.

- McCabe, M. P., Fotu, K., & Dewes, O. (2011). Body image, weight loss and muscle building among Tongan adolescents in Tonga and New Zealand. *Journal of Health Psychology,* 16(7), 1101-1108.
- McCabe, M. P., Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, M., Mellor, D., Ricciardelli, L., Skouteris, H., & Mussap, A. (2012). Body satisfaction among adolescents in eight different countries. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *17*(5), 693-701.
- McCabe, M. P., Mavoa, H., Ricciardelli, L. A., Waqa, G., Fotu, K., & Goundar, R. (2011). Sociocultural influences on body image among adolescent boys from Fiji, Tonga, and Australia. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 41*(11), 2708-2722.
- McCabe, M. P., Mavoa, H., Ricciardelli, L., Schultz, J., Waqa, G., & Fotu, K. F. (2011). Socio-cultural agents and their impact on body image and body change strategies among adolescents in Fiji, Tonga, Tongans in New Zealand and Australia. *Obesity Reviews*, 12(s2), 61-67.
- McCabe, M. P., Ricciardelli, L., Waqa, G., Goundar, R., & Fotu, K. (2009). Body image and body change strategies among adolescent males and females from Fiji, Tonga and Australia. *Body Image*, *6*(4), 299-303.
- McCabe, M. P., Waqa, G., Dev, A., Cama, T., & Swinburn, B. A. (2013). The role of cultural values and religion on views of body size and eating practices among adolescents from Fiji, Tonga, and Australia. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 18(2), 383-394.
- McDade, T. W. (2002). Status incongruity in Samoan youth: a biocultural analysis of culture change, stress, and immune function. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly, 16*(2), 123-150.
- McDade, T. W. (2003). Life event stress and immune function in Samoan adolescents: Towards a cross-cultural psychoneuroimmunology. In J. Wilce (Ed.), Social and Cultural lives of Immune Systems: Contextualizing Psychoneuroimmunology, Embodying the Social Sciences (pp. 170-188). New York, NY: Routledge.
- McDade, T. W., & Worthman, C. M. (2004). Socialization ambiguity in Samoan adolescents: a model for human development and stress in the context of culture change. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 14(1), 49-72.
- McGeorge, T. (1996). *Self-esteem in New Zealand raised Pacific Islands young people*. Auckland, New Zealand: Health Research Council of New Zealand.
- Mila-Schaaf, K., Robinson, E., Schaaf, D., Denny, S., & Watson, P. (2000). A Health Profile of Pacific Youth. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 39, 136-140.
- Mou-Vagi, L. C. (2013). Struggles of rural youth: Factors that empower and disempower youth in rural villages Central Province, PNG. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.

- Nakhid, C. (2009). The meaning of family and home for young Pasifika people involved in gangs in the suburbs of South Auckland. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*, 35, 112-128.
- Nakhid, C. (2012). 'Which side of the bridge to safety?' How young Pacific Islanders in New Zealand view their South Auckland community. *Kotuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online, 7*(1), 14-25.
- Nelson-Agee, M., & Culbertson, P. (2013). Sowing the seeds: Parents' and Grandparents' influences in the identity development of 'Afakasi young peoples. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-being: Cross-Cultural Perspectives* (pp. 46-65). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Okamoto, S. K., Helm, S., Giroux, D., & Kaliades, A. (2011). "I no like get caught using drugs": Explanations for refusal as a drug-resistance strategy for rural Native Hawaiian youths. Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work, 20(2), 150-166.
- Page, A., & Smith, L. F. (2016). Relational aggression and physical aggression among adolescent Cook Islands students. *Issues in Educational Research*, 26, 96-118.
- Pengpid, S., & Peltzer, K. (2015). Overweight and Obesity and Associated Factors among School-Aged Adolescents in Six Pacific Island Countries in Oceania. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 12(11), 14505-14518.
- Petersen, S., Moodie, M., Mavoa, H., Waqa, G., Goundar, R., & Swinburn, B. (2014).

  Relationship between overweight and health-related quality of life in secondary school children in Fiji: results from a cross-sectional population-based study. *International Journal of Obesity, 38*(4), 539-546.
- Po 'A-Kekuawela, K., Okamoto, S. K., Nebre, L. R. H., Helm, S., & Chin, C. I. (2009). 'A 'ole Drugs! Cultural Practices and Drug Resistance of Rural Hawaiian Youths. *Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work, 18*(3), 242-258.
- Siataga, P. (2011). Pasifika child and youth well-being: roots and wings. *Improving the Transition Reducing Social and Psychological Morbidity during Adolescence* (pp. 153-168). Auckland, New Zealand: Office of the Prime Minister's Science Advisory Committee.
- Stevens, D. L., & Hardy, S. A. (2013). Individual, family, and peer predictors of violence among Samoan adolescents. *Youth & Society, 45*(3), 428-449.
- Storr, C. L., Arria, A. M., Workman, R. L., & Anthony, J. C. (2004). Neighborhood Environment and Opportunity to Try Methamphetamine ("Ice") and Marijuana: Evidence from Guam in the Western Pacific Region of Micronesia. *Substance use & Misuse, 39*(2), 253-276.
- Taufa, S. (2015). A Mother's Hope: Pacific Teenage Pregnancy in New Zealand. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.

- Tiatia, J. (1996). *The Church: Friend or foe for our Pacific Island Youth? A New Zealand born perspective.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Tiatia, J. (2003). *Reasons to Live: NZ Born Samoan Young People's Responses to Suicidal Behaviours.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Tima, M. T. T. (2013). Youth participation: does it have a place in the Samoan traditional church? Exploring youth perceptions of the EFKS in South Auckland. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Tran, D., Phongsavan, P., Bauman, A. E., Havea, D., & Galea, G. (2006). Hygiene behaviour of adolescents in the pacific: Associations with sociodemographic, health behaviour and school environment. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health*, 18(2), 3-11.
- Tunufa'i, L. F. (2005). The price of spiritual and social survival: investigating the reasons for the departure of young New Zealand-born Samoans from a South Auckland Samoan Seventh-day Adventist Church. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Tupuola, A. (2004). Pasifika Edgewalkers: complicating the achieved identity status in youth research. *Journal of Intercultural Studies*, *25*(1), 87-100.
- Vakalahi, H. F. O., & Godinet, M. T. (2008). Family and Culture, and the Samoan Youth. *Journal of Family and Social Work, 11*(3), 229-253.
- Vick, M. (2007). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander kids and bikes: socio-cultural factors and safety. *Australian Indigenous Health Bulletin, 7,* 1-9.
- Webber, M. (2013). Adolescent Racial-Ethnic Identity: Behaviors, perceptions, and challenges in Urban Multiethnic school contexts. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-being: Cross-Cultural perspectives* (pp. 6-26). New York, NY: Routledge.

### **SPIRITUAL**

The Spiritual pou of the Fonofale model relates to a subjective sense of wellbeing derived from religious beliefs, including Christian and Indigenous spiritual beliefs. The available literature, collated here, attends to the ways that history, language, and an understanding of nature informs spirituality, as well as the positive implications for spiritual wellbeing on the lives of Pasifika peoples.

Allen, L. (2002). Maintaining Marshallese fundamentals with Christian fundamentalism. *Pacific Studies*, *25*(1/2), 95-116.

- Bagnol, L., Alexander, J., Ewing, H., & Chu, D. (2011). Indigos in Hawai'i: a phenomenological study of the experience of growing up with spiritual intelligence. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 17(1), 83-98.
- Busch, J. T. A., Watson-Jones, R. E., & Legare, C. H. (2016). The coexistence of natural and supernatural explanations within and across domains and development. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *35*(1), 4-20.
- Corbett, J. (2013). 'A calling from God': politicians and religiosity in the Pacific Islands. *Global Change, Peace & Security*, 25(3), 283-297.
- Culbertson, P. (2007). Making Culture. 'God' is Driving our People Crazy! In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 77-86). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- George, K. (2010). Vanuatu: Happiest Nation On Earth, Mental Health and the Church. Australasian Psychiatry, 18(1), 63-65.
- Goodman, R. A. (1971). Some Aitu beliefs of modern Samoa. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society, 80*(4), 463-479.
- Hauriasi, A., Hauriasi, A., Van-Peursem, K., Van-Peursem, K., Davey, H., & Davey, H. (2016).

  Budget processes in the Anglican Church of Melanesia: an emergent ethnic identity.

  Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 29(8), 1294-1319.
- Hezel, F. X. (1993). Spirit Possesson in Chuuk: A Socio-Cultural interpretation. *Micronesian Seminar*, Retrieved from <a href="http://www.micsem.org/pubs/articles/socprobs/frames/spiritposschkfr.htm">http://www.micsem.org/pubs/articles/socprobs/frames/spiritposschkfr.htm</a>
- Holmgaard, S. B. (2011). "Forget who we are and let the people free": changing Christianities and tradition in post tsunami Samoa. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Tromsø, Tromsø, Norway.
- Kempf, W. (2012). A promised land in the diaspora: Christian religion, social memory and identity among Banabans in Fiji. *Pacific Studies*, *35*(1/2), 90-118.
- Mageo, J. (1991). Ma'i aitu: the cultural logic of possession in Samoa. Ethos, 19(3), 352-383.
- Mageo, J. M. (1996). Spirit girls and Marines: Possession and ethnopsychiatry as historical discourse in Samoa. *American Ethnologist*, 23(1), 61-82.
- Mageo, J. M. (2001). The Third Meaning in Cultural Memory: History, Identity and Spirit Possession in Samoa. In J. M. Mageo (Ed.), *Cultural Memory: Reconfiguring History and Identity in the Postcolonial Pacific* (pp. 58-79). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- McGrath, B. B. (2003). A view from the other side: the place of spirits in the Tongan social field. *Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry, 27*(1), 29-48.

- McNamara, A., Norenzayan, A., & Henrich, J. (2016). Supernatural punishment, in-group biases, and material insecurity: experiments and ethnography from Yasawa, Fiji. *Religion, Brain & Behavior, 6*(1), 34-55.
- Schiefenhovel, W. (2009). Explaining the inexplicable: Traditional and syncretistic religiosity in Melanesia. In E. Voland, & W. Schiefenhovel (Eds.), *The biological evolution of religious mind and behavior* (pp. 143-164). New York, NY: Springer.
- Shaver, J. H. (2015). The evolution in Fijian ritual participation. *Religion, Brain & Behavior*, *5*(2), 101-117.
- Suaalii-Sauni, T. M., Wendt, M. A., Mo'a, V., Fuamatu, N., Va'ai, U. L., Whaitiri, R., & Filipo, S. L. (Eds.) (2014). *Whispers and Vanities*. Wellington, New Zealand: Huia Publishers.
- Taule'ale'ausumai, F. (2001). New religions, New identities: the changing contours of religious commitment. In C. Macpherson, P. Spoonley & M. Anae (Eds.), *Tagata O Te Moana Nui: The Evolving Identities of Pacific peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand* (pp. 181-195). Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Tiatia, J. (1996). *The Church: Friend or foe for our Pacific Island Youth? A New Zealand born perspective.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Tima, M. T. T. (2013). Youth participation: does it have a place in the Samoan traditional church? Exploring youth perceptions of the EFKS in South Auckland. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Tomlinson, M. (2016). Little people, ghosts and the anthropology of the good. *Journal of the Polynesian Society*, 125, 11-32.
- Tunufa'i, L. F. (2005). The price of spiritual and social survival: investigating the reasons for the departure of young New Zealand-born Samoans from a South Auckland Samoan Seventh-day Adventist Church. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Watson-Jones, R. E., Busch, J. T., Harris, P. L., & Legare, C. H. (2016). Does the body survive death? Cultural variation in beliefs about life everlasting. *Cognitive Science*, 41(S3), 455-476.

# Wellbeing

- Allen, G., & Smith, T. B. (2015). Collectivistic coping strategies for distress among Polynesian Americans. *Psychological Services*, *12*(3), 322.
- Allen, G., & Heppner, P. P. (2011). Religiosity, coping, and psychological well-being among Latter-Day Saint Polynesians in the US. *Asian American Journal of Psychology*, 2(1), 13-24.

- Dewes, O. A. (2010). Obesity prevention in Pacific adolescents: Is there a role for the Church? (Unpublished Doctoral Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, NZ.
- Dewes, O., Scragg, R., & Elley, C. R. (2013). The association between church attendance and obesity-related lifestyle behaviours among New Zealand adolescents from different Pacific Island ethnic groups. *Journal of Primary Health Care*, *5*(4), 290-300.
- Gillard, M., & Paton, D. (1999). Disaster Stress Following a Hurricane: The role of religious differences in the Fijian Islands. *The Australasian Journal of Disaster and Trauma Studies*, 2, February 29, 2016.
- Holmgaard, S. B. (2011). "Forget who we are and let the people free": changing Christianities and tradition in post tsunami Samoa. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Tromsø, Tromsø, Norway.
- Ihara, E. S., & Vakalahi, H. F. O. (2011). Spirituality: The Essence of Wellness Among Tongan and Samoan Elders. *Journal of Religion & Spirituality in Social Work: Social Thought,* 30(4), 405-421.
- Kelly-Hanku, A., Aggleton, P., & Shih, P. (2014). 'We call it a virus but I want to say it's the devil inside': Redemption, moral reform and relationships with God among people living with HIV in Papua New Guinea. *Social Science and Medicine*, 119, 106-113.
- Lui, D. (2007). Spiritual Injury: A Samoan Perspective on Spirituality's Impact on Mental Health. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli:*Contemporary challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples (pp. 66-76). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- McCabe, M. P., Waqa, G., Dev, A., Cama, T., & Swinburn, B. A. (2013). The role of cultural values and religion on views of body size and eating practices among adolescents from Fiji, Tonga, and Australia. *British Journal of Health Psychology, 18*(2), 383-394...
- Sabado, M., Tanjasiri, S. P., alii, S. M., & Hanneman, M. (2010). Role of Spirituality in Coping with Breast Cancer: A Qualitative Study of Samoan Breast Cancer Survivors and their Supporters. *Californian Journal of Health Promotion*, 8, 11-22.
- Tiatia, T. J. (2007). New Zealand-born Samoan Young People, Suicidal Behaviours, and the Positive impact of Spirituality. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 94-104). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Ulugia-Veukiso, A. (2008). What's God got to do with sex?: exploring the relationship between patterns of spiritual engagement and the sexual health activities of Samoan youth. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Auckland, New Zealand.

# **PHYSICAL**

The physical pou of the Fonofale model encompasses the health and wellbeing of the physical human entity. It concerns how human anatomy is influenced by illnesses, food, drink and medicines among other things. Reflecting the holistic structure of the Fonofale Model, health and wellbeing are inter-related with sociocultural, environmental, spiritual and identity inflences and impacted by illnesses, food and medicines. Research directly reported below, reflects this holistic approach to physical wellbeing, while subsections highlight literature in specific areas including body image, disability, general health of Pasifika peoples, and specific health areas and illnesses: cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, sexual and reproductive health, stress and other conditions (including asthma and tuberculosis). Research is also presented on health knowledges and practice, generally and specifically pertaining to nutrition, physical activity (and obesity), treatment attitudes and adherence; health services, smoking, and sports psychology.

- Alefaio, S. (2007). Supporting the Wellbeing of Pasifika Youth. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 5-15). Honolulu. HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Aselu, B. (2015). A Tuvaluan concept of well-being: reflection on national planning Te Kakeega II. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Baker, P. T., Hanna, J. M., & Baker, T. S. (1986). *The changing Samoans: behavior and health in transition*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, NY.
- Helu, S. L., Robinson, E., Grant, S., Herd, R., & Denny, S. (2009). Youth '07 The health and wellbeing of secondary school students in New Zealand: Results for Pacific young People. Auckland, New Zealand: The University of Auckland.
- Keck, V. (2004). Social discord and bodily disorders: healing among the Yupno of Papua New Guinea. Durham, NC: Carolina Academic Press.
- Koseki, L. K., & Reid, S. E. (1995). Health status, life satisfaction and health practices: a study of Pacific Asian and Native Hawaiian elderly cohorts. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health*, 8(2), 95-101.
- Kuratani, D. (2015). How do Native Hawaiian Conceptualizations of Well-being Inform the Meaning and Social Function of Food? (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of California, Los Angeles, CA.
- Levy-Storms, L., & Lubben, J. E. (2006). Network composition and health behaviors among older Samoan women. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 18(6), 814-836..
- Lotoala, F., Breheny, M., Alpass, F., & Henricksen, A. (2014). Health and wellbeing of older Pacific Peoples in New Zealand. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, 127(1407), 27-39.

- Manuela, S., & Sibley, C. G. (2014). Why Do Pacific People with Multiple Ethnic Affiliations Have Poorer Subjective Wellbeing? Negative Ingroup Affect Mediates the Identity Tension Effect. *Social Indicators Research*, *115*(1), 319-336.
- Mauri Ora Associates. (2010). *Best Health outcomes for Pacific peoples: Practice Implications*. Wellington, New Zealand: Medical Council of New Zealand.
- McDade, T. W. (2001). Lifestyle incongruity, social integration, and immune function in Samoan adolescents. *Social Science & Medicine*, *53*(10), 1351-1362.
- McGarvey, S. T., & Seiden, A. (2010). Health, Well-being, and social context of Samoan migrant populations. *NAPA Bulletin*, *34*(1), 213-228.
- McIver, L. (2016). *Fragile paradise: health impacts of climate change in Pacific Island countries*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Australian National University, Canberra, Australia.
- McNamara, M., & Rayasidamu, M. (2007). The concept of health promotion in Fiji. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *14*(2), 101-106.
- Moore, S. E., Leslie, H. Y., & Lavis, C. A. (2005). Subjective well-being and life satisfaction in the Kingdom of Tonga. *Social Indicators Research*, *70*(3), 287-311.
- Paddison, C. A. (2010). Exploring physical and psychological wellbeing among adults with Type 2 diabetes in New Zealand: identifying a need to improve the experiences of Pacific peoples. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 123(1310), 30-42.
- Tautolo, E. (2011). Pacific fathers cultivating the future: the health of Pacific fathers and their influence upon and involvement with their children. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Tukuitonga, C., & Finau, S. A. (1997). The health of Pacific peoples in New Zealand up to the early 1990's. *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(2), 59-67.
- Vignoe, C. G. W. (2015). *Living Aloha: Portraits of resilience, renewal, reclamation, and resistance*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Antioch University, Ann Arbour, MI.
- Young, N. (2001). The pre-hospital experiences of Samoan families who have had a child admitted to hospital with pneumonia: a qualitative investigation. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(1), 20-28.

## Body Image

Becker, A. E., Fay, K., Gilman, S. E., & Striegel-Moore, R. (2007). Facets of acculturation and their diverse relations to body shape concernin Fiji. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 40, 45-50.

- Becker, A. E., Gilman, S. E., & Burwell, R. A. (2005). Changes in prevalence of overweight and in body image among Fijian women between 1989 and 1998. *Obesity Research, 13,* 110-117.
- Braginsky, N., Kataoka-Yahiro, M., & Inouye, J. (2016). The lived experience of Pacific Island women with a "big body" size. *Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal*, 1, 10-23.
- Brewis, A. A., McGarvey, S. T., Jones, J., & Swinburn, B. A. (1998). Perceptions of body size in Pacific Islanders. *International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders:*Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity, 22(2), 185-189.
- Craig, P. L., Swinburn, B. A., Matenga-Smith, T., Matangi, H., & Vaughn, G. (1996). Do Polynesians still believe that big is beautiful? Comparison of body size perceptions and preferences of Cook Islands, Maori and Australians. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 14, 200-203.
- Lipinski, J. P., & Pope Jr, H. G. (2002). Body ideals in young Samoan men: A comparison with men in North America and Europe. *International Journal of Men's Health, 1*(2), 163-171.
- Lutui, M. (2007). Jonah, Arnold, and Me: Reading the Tongan Male body. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 39-48). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Maliko, T. T. (2007). Canoe Noses and Coconut Feet. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 26-38). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- McCabe, M. P., Fotu, K., & Dewes, O. (2011). Body image, weight loss and muscle building among Tongan adolescents in Tonga and New Zealand. *Journal of Health Psychology,* 16(7), 1101-1108.
- McCabe, M. P., Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, M., Mellor, D., Ricciardelli, L., Skouteris, H., & Mussap, A. (2012). Body satisfaction among adolescents in eight different countries. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *17*(5), 693-701.
- McCabe, M. P., Mavoa, H., Ricciardelli, L. A., Waqa, G., Fotu, K., & Goundar, R. (2011).

  Sociocultural influences on body image among adolescent boys from Fiji, Tonga, and Australia. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 41*(11), 2708-2722.
- McCabe, M. P., Mavoa, H., Ricciardelli, L., Schultz, J., Waqa, G., & Fotu, K. F. (2011). Socio-cultural agents and their impact on body image and body change strategies among adolescents in Fiji, Tonga, Tongans in New Zealand and Australia. *Obesity Reviews*, 12(s2), 61-67.

- McCabe, M. P., Ricciardelli, L., Waqa, G., Goundar, R., & Fotu, K. (2009). Body image and body change strategies among adolescent males and females from Fiji, Tonga and Australia. *Body Image*, *6*(4), 299-303.
- McCabe, M. P., Waqa, G., Dev, A., Cama, T., & Swinburn, B. A. (2013). The role of cultural values and religion on views of body size and eating practices among adolescents from Fiji, Tonga, and Australia. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 18(2), 383-394.
- Metcalf, P. A., Scragg, R. K., Willoughby, P., Finau, S., & Tipene-Leach, D. (2000). Ethnic differences in perceptions of body size in middle-aged European, Maori and Pacific people living in New Zealand. *International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders: Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity, 24*(5), 593-599.
- Mila-Schaaf, K., Robinson, E., Schaaf, D., Denny, S., & Watson, P. (2000). A Health Profile of Pacific Youth. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 39*, 136-140.
- Niide, T. K., Davis, J., Tse, A. M., & Harrigan, R. C. (2013). Evaluating the impact of a school based prevention program on self-esteem, body image and risky dieting attitudes and behaviors among Kaua'i youth. *Hawai'i Journal of Medicine & Public Health, 72,* 273-278.
- Ricciardelli, L. A., McCabe, M. P., Mavoa, H., Fotu, K., Goundar, R., Schultz, J., . . . Swinburn, B. A. (2007). The pursuit of muscularity among adolescent boys in Fiji and Tonga. *Body Image*, *4*(4), 361-371.
- Schaaf, R. M. J. (2011). Pacific participation in Aotearoa/Niu Sila netball: body image, family, church, culture, education and physical education. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Teevale, T. (2011). Body image and its relation to obesity for Pacific minority ethnic groups in New Zealand: a critical analysis. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *17*(1), 33-53.
- Ulijaszek, S. J. (2001). Socioeconomic status, body size and physical activity of adults on Rarotonga, the Cook Islands. *Annals of Human Biology, 28*, 554-563.
- Waqa, G., & Mavoa, H. (2006). Sociocultural factors influencing the food choices of 16-18 year-old indigenous Fijian females at school. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 13(2), 57-64.

#### Disability

Dickson, C. (2015). Pacific Island adolescent girls with a physical disability: health and wellbeing through physical activity. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.

- Gartrell, A., Jennaway, M. G., Manderson, L., & Godden, N. (2016). Making the invisible visible: disability inclusive development in Solomon Islands. *The Journal of Developmental Studies*, *52*, 1389-1400.
- Goebert, D., & Birnie, K. K. (1998). Injury and disability among Native Hawaiians. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *5*(2), 253-259.
- Huakau, G., & Bray, A. (2000). 'Talking Disabilities' from a Pacific Perspective. Dunedin, New Zealand: Donald Beasley Institute.
- Marshall, M. (1994). Social Isolation, Cultural Competence, and Disability in the Carolines. *Micronesian Counselor 13*. January 1, 2016. Retrieved from

  <a href="http://www.micsem.org/pubs/counselor/frames/socisofr.htm">http://www.micsem.org/pubs/counselor/frames/socisofr.htm</a>
- Marshall, M. (1996). Problematizing impairment: cultural competence in the Carolines. *Ethnology*, *35*(4), 249-263.
- Rensel, J., & Howard, A. (1997). The place of persons with disabilities in Rotuman society. *Pacific Studies*, *20*(3), 19-50.
- Stephens, A., Cullen, J., Massey, L., & Bohanna, I. (2014). Will the National Disability Insurance Scheme improve the lives of those most in need? Effective service delivery for people with acquired brain injury and other disabilities in remote Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities. Australian Journal of Public Administration, 73, 260-270.Sadao, K., Robinson, N., & Magrab, P. (1997). Evaluating interagency collaboration in disability programs in the Pacific Basin. *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(1), 57-65.
- Stewart, D. W., DePue, J., Rosen, R. K., Bereolos, N., Goldstein, M. G., Tuitele, J., . . . McGarvey, S. T. (2012). Medication-taking beliefs and diabetes in American Samoa: a qualitative inquiry. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, *3*(1), 30-38.

## Health and illness

- Anderson, I., Crengle, S., Kamaka, M. L., Chen, T., Palafox, N., & Jackson-Pulver, L. (2006). Indigenous health in Australia, New Zealand, and the Pacific. *The Lancet, 367*(9524), 1775-1785.
- Bathgate, M. A., & Public Health Commission. (1994). *The health of Pacific islands people in New Zealand*. Public Health Commission.
- Cammock, R. D., Derrett, S., Davie, G., Langley, J., & Sopoaga, F. (2012). Injury to Pacific People in New Zealand: Pre-injury characteristics and early health outcomes-results from a cohort study. *Australasian Epidemiologist*, 19(2), 17-21.
- Capstick, S., Norris, P., Sopoaga, F., & Tobata, W. (2009). Relationships between health and culture in Polynesia-A review. *Social Science & Medicine*, *68*(7), 1341-1348.

- Johnson, D. B., Oyama, N., LeMarchand, L., & Wilkens, L. (2004). Native Hawaiians mortality, morbidity, and lifestyle: comparing data from 1982, 1990, and 2000. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 11(2), 120-130.
- Kent, L. M., Reierson, P., & Morton, D. P. (2015). 'Live more': Study protocol for a community-based lifestyle education program addressing non-communicable diseases in low-literacy areas of the South Pacific. *BMC Public Health*, 15, 1221.
- Kinner, S. A., Winter, R., & Saxton, K. (2015). A longitudinal study of health outcomes for people released from prison in Fiji: the HIP-Fiji project. *Australasian Psychiatry, 23*(6), 17-21.
- Lange, R. (1986). Changes in Rarotongan attitudes towards health and disease: historical factors in the development of mid-twentieth-century understanding. *Pacific Studies*, 10(1), 29-53.
- Mayer, P. A., & Bauman, K. A. (1986). Health practices, problems, and needs in a population of Micronesian adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health Care*, 7(5), 338-341.
- Moore, E. H., Owens, R. G., & Finau, S. A. (2003). Health challenges of some urban Cook Island women in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 10(2), 16-26.
- Scott, N., Gabriel, S., Sheppeard, V., Peacock, A., Scott, C., Flego, K., . . . Seale, H. (2015).

  Responding to a measles outbreak in a Pacific Island community in western Sydney:
  community interviews led to church-based immunization clinics. *Western Pacific Surveillance and Response*, 6(2), 51-57.
- Swinburn, B., Amosa, H., & Bell, C. (1997). The Ola Fa'autauta Project: the process of developing a church-based health programme. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 4(2), 20-26.

### Cancer

- Foliaki, S., & Matheson, A. (2015). Barriers to cervical screening among Pacific women in a New Zealand Urban Population. *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention: APJCP,* 16(4), 1565-1570.
- Hubbell, F. A., Luce, P. H., & McMullin, J. M. (2005). Exploring beliefs about cancer among American Samoan: focus group findings. *Cancer Detection and Prevention*, *29*(2), 109-115.
- Hubbell, F. A., Luce, P. H., Afeaki, W. P., Cruz, L. A., Gumataotao, T., McMullin, J. M., . . . Wenzel, L. (2004). Addressing the cancer control needs of Pacific Islanders: experience of the Pacific Islander Cancer Control Network. *Pacific Health Dialog,* 11(2), 233-238.
- Hubbell, F. A., Luce, P. H., Afeaki, W. P., Cruz, L. A., McMullin, J. M., Mummert, A., . . . Wenzel, L. (2006). Legacy of the Pacific Islander Cancer Control Network. *Cancer*, *107*(8), 2091-2098.

- Macaraeg, J. C., & Smith, S. T. (2013). Psychological Distress and Help-Seeking Attitudes of Cancer Caregivers on Guam. *Pacific Asia Inquiry*, *4*(1), 121-135.
- McMullin, J. M., Taumoepeau, L., Talakai, M., Kivalu, F., & Hubbell, F. A. (2008). Tongan perceptions of cancer. *Cancer Detection and Prevention*, *32*, S29-S36.
- Mishra, S. I., Luce-Aoelua, P. H., & Wilkens, L. R. (1996). Cancer among indigenous populations. The experience of American Samoans. *Cancer*, 78(7), 1553-1557.
- Mishra, S., Luve-Aoelua, P., & Hubbell, F. A. (2000). Knowledge of and attitudes about Cancer among American Samoans. *Cancer Detection and Prevention*, 24, 184-195.
- Sabado, M., Tanjasiri, S. P., alii, S. M., & Hanneman, M. (2010). Role of Spirituality in Coping with Breast Cancer: A Qualitative Study of Samoan Breast Cancer Survivors and their Supporters. *Californian Journal of Health Promotion*, 8, 11-22.
- Schmidt-Vaivao, D. E., Lutu, G., Tulua-Tata, A., Hannemann, M., & Tisnado, D. M. (2010).

  Assessing the Effectiveness of Breast Cancer Education Workshops among Samoan and Pacific Islander Women in Southern California. *Californian Journal of Health Promotion*, 8, 1-10.
- Tanjasiri, S. P., & Tran, J. H. (2008). Community capacity for cancer control collaboration:

  Weaving an islander network for cancer awareness, research and training for Pacific Islanders in Southern California. *Cancer Detection and Prevention*, 32, S37-S40.
- Tanjasiri, S. P., LeHa'uli, P., Finau, S., Fehoko, I., & Skeen, N. A. (2002). Tongan-American women's breast cancer knowledge, attitudes, and screening behaviors. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 12(2), 284-290.
- Tanjasiri, S. P., Mata'alii, S., Hanneman, M., & Sabado, M. D. (2011). Needs and experiences of Samoan breast cancer survivors in Southern California. *Hawaii Medical Journal*, 70(11 Suppl 2), 35-39.
- Tanjasiri, S. P., Tran, J. H., Palmer, P. H., Foo, M. A., Hanneman, M., Lee, C. . . Sripipatana, A. (2007). Developing a community-based collaboration to reduce cancer health disparities among Pacific Islanders in California. *Pacific Health Dialog, 14*(1), 119-127.
- Tsark, J. U., & Braun, K. L. (2001). Ten-year changes in breast cancer knowledge, attitudes, and practices in Native Hawaiian women. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(2), 280-289.

### Cancer Screening

- Brunton, M. A. (2007). One message for all? Framing messages to recognise diversity. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations, 31,* 127-132.
- Burling, M. J., & Tan, A. L. (2016). Cervical cancer screening in the Pacific region. *Pacific Journal of Reproductive Health*, 1, 109-113.

- Ishida, D. N., Toomata-Mayer, T. F., & Braginsky, N. S. (2001). Beliefs and attitudes of Samoan women toward early detection of breast cancer and mammography utilization. *Cancer*, 91(1 Suppl), 262-266.
- Jameson, A., Sligo, F., & Comrie, M. (1999). Barriers to Pacific women's use of cervical screening services. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 23*(1), 89-92.
- Ma'ia'i, S. (1992). Reflection on the Samoan woman's sexuality and cervical screening. *New Zealand Family Physician*, 19(2), 68-69.
- Mishra, S. I., Bastani, R., Huang, D., Luce, P. H., & Baquet, C. R. (2007). Mammography screening and Pacific Islanders: role of cultural and psychosocial factors. *Journal of Cancer Education*, 22(1), 32-36.
- Mishra, S. I., Luce, P. H., & Baquet, C. R. (2009). Increasing pap smear utilization among Samoan women: results from a community based participatory randomized trial. Journal of Health Care for the Poor & Underserved, 20(2), 85-101.
- Pinhey, T. K., Iverson, T. J., & Workman, R. L. (1994). The influence of ethnicity and socioeconomic status on the use of mammography by Asian and Pacific island women on Guam. *Women & Health, 21*(2-3), 57-69.
- Puaina, S., Aga, D. F., Pouesi, D., & Hubbell, F. A. (2008). Impact of traditional Samoan lifestyle (fa'aSamoa) on cancer screening practices. *Cancer Detection and Prevention*, *32*, 23-28.
- Sadler, G. R., LaHousse, S. F., Riley, J., Mercado, B., Trinh, A. C., & Cruz, L. A. C. (2010). Predictors of breast and cervical cancer screening among Chamorro women in Southern California. *Journal of Cancer Education*, 25(1), 76-82.
- Sligo, F., Jameson, A., & Comrie, M. (1998). New Zealand Polynesian women's access to information about cervical screening. *Journal of Management in Medicine*, 12(6), 361-369.
- Tanjasiri, S. P., LeHa'uli, P., Finau, S., Fehoko, I., & Skeen, N. A. (2002). Tongan-American women's breast cancer knowledge, attitudes, and screening behaviors. *Ethnicity & Disease*, *12*(2), 284-290.
- Tanjasiri, S. P., Mouttapa, M., Sablan-Santos, L., & Quitugua, L. F. (2012). What promotes cervical cancer screening among Chamorro women in California? *Journal of Cancer Education*, 27(4), 725-730.
- Wong, V. S., & Kawamoto, C. T. (2010). Understanding cervical cancer prevention and screening in Chuukese women in Hawaii. *Hawaii Medical Journal*, 69(6 Suppl 3), 13-16
- Wu, L., Colby, E., Iongi-Filiaga, A., & Maskarinec, G. G. (2010). American Samoan Women's Health: Experiences and Attitudes toward Breast and Cervical Cancer Screening. Hawaii Medical Journal, 69(6), 17-20.

### Cardiovascular Disease

- Beaglehole, R., Salmond, C. E., Hooper, A., Huntsman, J., Stanhope, J. M., Cassel, J. C., & Prior, I. A. M. (1977). Blood pressure and social interaction in Tokelauan migrants in New Zealand. *Journal of Chronic Diseases*, *30*(12), 803-812.
- Galanis, D. J., McGarvey, S. T., Quested, C., Sio, B., & Afele-Fa'amuli, S. A. (1999). Dietary intake of modernizing Samoans: implications for risk of cardiovascular disease. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 99(2), 184-190.
- Gu, Y., Warren, J., Walker, N., & Kennelly, J. (2013). Gender differences in cardiovascular disease risk management for Pacific Islanders in primary care. *Quality in Primary Care,* 21(5), 275-285.
- Mau, M. K., Asao, K., Efird, J., Saito, E., Ratner, R., Hafi, M., & Seto, T. (2009). Risk factors associated with methamphetamine use and heart failure among native Hawaiians and other Pacific Island peoples. *Vascular Health & Risk Management*, *5*(1), 45-52.
- Siaki, L. A. (2009). *Perceived Risk for Cardiovascular Disease and Diabetes Type 2 Among Samoans with Metabolic Syndrome.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ.
- Siaki, L. A., Loescher, L. J., & Ritter, L. (2012). A cultural perspective of Samoans' perceived risk of cardiovascular disease and diabetes. *Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 27(6), 468-475.
- Warren, J., Gu, Y., & Kennelly, J. (2012). The Caring Does Matter (CDM) Initiative: to improve cardiovascular medication adherence in Pacific people. *Proceedings of Health Informatics New Zealand 11th Annual Conference and Exhibition*, 8-9.
- Warren, J., Gu, Y., Kennelly, J., & Boyce, T. (2014). Prescription patterns for pacific patients with poor cardiovascular disease medication supply. In J. Warren, & K. Gray (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Seventh Australasian Workshop on Health Informatics and Knowledge Management Volume 153* (pp. 89-95). Dalinghurst, Australia: Australian Computer Society, Inc.

### Diabetes

- Barnes, L., Moss-Morris, R., & Kaufusi, M. (2004). Illness beliefs and adherence in diabetes mellitus: a comparison between Tongan and European patients. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, *117*(1188), 743.
- DePue, J. D., Rosen, R. K., Seiden, A., Bereolos, N., Chima, M. L., Goldstein, M. G., . . . McGarvey, S. T. (2013). Implementation of a culturally tailored diabetes intervention with community health workers in American Samoa. *The Diabetes Educator, 39*(6), 761-771.

- Elstad, E., Tusiofo, C., Rosen, R. K., & McGarvey, S. T. (2008). Living with Ma'i Suka: individual, familial, cultural, and environmental stress among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and their caregivers in American Samoa. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *5*(3), 79-89.
- Foliaki, S., & Pearce, N. (2003). Prevention and control of diabetes in Pacific people. *BMJ* (Clinical Research Ed.), 327(7412), 437-439.
- Hamid, S., Dunsiger, S., Seiden, A. D., Nu'usolia, O., Tuitele, J., DePue, J. D., & McGarvey, S. T. (2013). Impact of a Diabetes Control and Management Intervention on Healthcare Utilization in American Samoa. *Chronic Illness*, 10(2), 122-134.
- Held, R. F., DePue, J., Rosen, R., Bereolos, N., Nu'usolia, O., Tuitele, J., . . . McGarvey, S. (2010). Patient and Healthcare Provider Views of Depressive Symptoms and Diabetes in American Samoa. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology, 16*(4), 461-467.
- Inouye, J., Li, D., Davis, J., & Arakaki, R. (2015). Psychosocial and Clinical Outcomes of a Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Asians and Pacific Islanders with Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Hawai'i Journal of Medicine & Public Health, 74*(11), 360-368
- Kaholokula, J. K., Wilson, R. E., Townsend, C. K. M., Zhang, G. X., Chen, J., Yoshimura, S. R., Dillard, A., . . . & Mau, M. K. (2014). Translating the Diabetes prevention program in Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander communities: the PILI 'Ohana Project.

  Translational Behavioral Medicine, 4, 149-159.
- Matoto, V., Viney, K., Roseveare, C., Colaguiri, R., & Marais, B. J. (2013). Burden and spectrum of disease in people with diabetes in Tonga. *Public Health Action*, *4*, 44-49.
- Mitikulena, A., & Smith, R. B. (1996). Views of Pacific Islands people with noninsulin dependent diabetes: a Wellington survey. *New Zealand Medical Journal, 109*(1035), 467-469.
- Paddison, C. A. (2010). Exploring physical and psychological wellbeing among adults with Type 2 diabetes in New Zealand: identifying a need to improve the experiences of Pacific peoples. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 123(1310), 30-42.
- Rao, M., DePue, J. D., Dunsiger, S., Elsayed, M., Nu'usolia, O., & McGarvey, S. T. (2015). Long-Term Impact of a Community Health Worker Intervention on Diabetes Control in American Samoa. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *12*, 150-160.
- Siaki, L. A. (2009). *Perceived Risk for Cardiovascular Disease and Diabetes Type 2 Among Samoans with Metabolic Syndrome.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ.
- Simmons, D., Voyle, J. A., Fou, F., Feo, S., & Leakehe, L. (2004). Tale of two churches: differential impact of a church-based diabetes control programme among Pacific Islands people in New Zealand. *Diabetic Medicine*, *21*(2), 122-128.

- Stephenson, M. (2016). Video education for nutritional management of Type 2 Diabetes in a rural, multiethnic community in Molokai, Hawai'i. (Unpublished Master's Thesis).

  Western Washington University, Bellingham, WA.
- Sukala, W. R., Page, R. A., Rowlands, D. S., Lys, I., Krebs, J. D., Leikis, M. J., & Cheema, B. S. (2012). Exercise intervention in New Zealand Polynesian peoples with type 2 diabetes: Cultural considerations and clinical trial recommendations. *The Australasian Medical Journal*, *5*(8), 429.
- Sukala, W. R., Page, R., & Cheema, B. S. (2012). Targeting the type 2 diabetes epidemic in Polynesia: historical perspective and rationale for exercise intervention trials. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 22(2), 123-128.
- Sukala, W. R., Page, R., Lonsdale, C., Lys, I., Rowlands, D., Krebs, J., . . . Cheema, B. S. (2013). Exercise Improves Quality of Life in Indigenous Polynesian Peoples With Type 2

  Diabetes and Visceral Obesity. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health, 10,* 699-707.
- Tamwoy, E., Haswell-Elkins, M., Wong, M., Rogers, W., d'Abbs, P., & McDermott, R. (2004). Living and coping with diabetes in the Torres Strait and Northern Peninsula area. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*, 15, 231-236.
- Taylor, S. M., Usher, K., & McDermott, R. (2013). Diabetes in Torres Strait Islanders: challenges and opportunities for remote area nurses. *Contemporary Nurse*, 46, 46-53.
- Taylor, S., & McDermott, R. (2010). What do we know about health literacy and diabetes care, and what does this mean for Aboriginal and Torres Strait islander peoples with diabetes. *Aboriginal and Islander Health Worker Journal*, 34, 28-30.
- Taylor, S., McDermott, R., Thompson, F., & Usher, K. (2016). Depression and diabetes in the remote Torres Strait Islands. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*. Advanced online publication.
- Taylor, S., Thompson, F., & McDermott, R. (2016). Barriers to insulin treatment among Australian Torres Strait Islanders with poorly controlled diabetes. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, Advanced online publication.
- Townsend, C. K., Miyamoto, R. E. S., Antonio, M., Zhang, G., Paloma, D., Basques, D., Braun, K. L., & Kaholohula, J. K. (2016). The PILI@WORK Program: a translation of the diabetes prevention program to Native Hawaiian-serving worksites in Hawai'i. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 6, 190-201.
- Uehara, D.L., & Tua-Tupuola, T. (2013). A descriptive study in American Samoa: services for people with disabilities. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, *20*(4), 184-189.
- Vignati, D. (2009). The theory of planned behaviour and ethnic differences in nutrition management of diabetes. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Weltin, A. M., & Lavin, R. P. (2012). The effect of a community garden on HgA1c in diabetics of Marshallese descent. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 29(1), 12-24.

Wong, M., Haswell-Elkins, M., Tamwoy, E., McDermott, R., & D'Abbs, P. (2005). Perspectives on clinic attendance, medication and foot-care among people with diabetes in the Torres Strait Islands and Northern Peninsula Area. *Australian Journal of Rural Health,* 13, 172-177.

## Other Health Conditions and Related Practices

- Ah Ching, P. L., Sapolu, M., Samifua, M., & Yamada, S. (2001). Attitudes regarding tuberculosis among Samoans. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(1), 15-19.
- Atkinson, J. A., Bobogare, A., Fitzgerald, L., Boaz, L., Appleyard, B., Toaliu, H., & Vallely, A. (2009). A qualitative study on the acceptability and preference of three types of long-lasting insecticide-treated bed nets in Solomon Islands: implications for malaria elimination. *Malaria Journal*, 8, 119.
- Broadbent, J., Theodore, R., Te Morenga, L., Thomson, W., & Brunton, P. (2016). Ethnic and socioeconomic inequalities in dental treatment at a school of dentistry. *New Zealand Dental Journal*, 112(2), 55-61.
- Crengle, S. M. (2008). The management of Children's asthma in primary care: Are there ethnic differences in care? (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Ete-Rasch, E. (2009). 'I Thought It Was Just a Pimple': A Study Examining the Parents of Pacific Children's Understanding and Management of Skin Infections in the Home. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Fang, T. Y., Rafai, E., Wang, P. C., Bai, C. H., Jiang, P. L., Huang, S. N., & Chang, C. H. (2016). Pediatric otitis media in Fiji: Survey findings 2015. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 85, 50-55.
- Foliaki, S., Fakakovikaetau, T., D'Souza, W., Latu, S., Tutone, V., Cheng, S., & Pearce, N. (2009). Reduction in asthma morbidity following a community-based asthma self-management programme in Tonga. *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 13(1), 142-147.
- Furusawa, T. (2006). The roles of western biomedicine and folk medicine in rural Solomon Islands: A quantitative analysis of villagers' response to illness. Tropical Medicine and Health, 34(2), 83-91.
- Greenwell, J., McCool, J., Kool, J., & Salusalu, M. (2013). Typhoid fever: hurdles to adequate hand washing for disease prevention among the population of a peri-urban informal settlement in Fiji. Western Pacific Surveillance Response Journal, 4(1), 41-45.
- Hanna, J. M., & Fitzgerald, M. H. (1993). Acculturation and symptoms: A comparative study of reported health symptoms in three Samoan communities. *Social Science and Medicine*, *36*(9), 1169-1180.

- Hardin, J. (2015). "Healing is a Done Deal": Temporality and Metabolic Healing Among Evangelical Christians in Samoa. *Medical Anthropology*, 35(2), 105-118.
- Herman J, Kafoa B, Wainiqolo I, Robinson E, McCaig E, Connor J, . . . Ameratunga S. (2014). Driver sleepiness and risk of motor vehicle crash injuries: a population-based case control study in Fiji (TRIP 12). Injury, 45(3), 586-591.
- Hughes, C. K. (2004). Factors associated with health-seeking behaviors of Native Hawaiian men. Pacific Health Dialog, 11(2), 176-182.
- Kaspar, A., Kei, J., Driscoll, C., & Goulios, H. (2016). Overview of a public health approach to pediatric hearing impairment in the Pacific Islands. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 86, 43-52.
- Kelly-Hanku, A., Aggleton, P., & Shih, P. (2014). 'We call it a virus but I want to say it's the devil inside': Redemption, moral reform and relationships with God among people living with HIV in Papua New Guinea. Social Science and Medicine, 119, 106-113.
- Klipowicz, C. (2016). The on-going challenge of Tuberculosis: stigma, structural violence, and the Marshall Islander community in Northwest Arkansas. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Memphis, Memphis, TN.
- Laing, P., & Miteara, J. (1994). Samoan and Cook Islanders' perspectives on health. In J. Spicer (Ed.), Social dimensions of health and disease: New Zealand perspectives. Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Lara, C., & Nacey, J. (1994). Ethnic differences between Maori, Pacific Island and European New Zealand women in prevalence and attitudes to urinary incontinence. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, *107*(986), 374-376.
- Lassetter, J. H., Callister, L. C., & Miyamoto, S. Z. (2012). Perceptions of health and well-being held by Native Hawaiian migrants. Journal of Transcultural Nursing, 23(1), 5-13.
- Mayer, J. R. (1982). Body, psyche and society: conceptions of illness in Ommura, Eastern Highlands, Papua New Guinea. Oceania, 52(3), 240-260.
- McMenamin, D. (2009). *Leprosy and stigma in the South Pacific: Camaraderie in isolation*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Moran, K. (2007). Water safety knowledge, attitudes and behaviours of young Pasifika New Zealanders. New Zealand Journal of Education Studies, 42(1/2), 161-169.
- Naea, N., Dobson, A., Leversha, A., Williams, S., Knott, K., Clayton-Bray, L., & Dickinson, A. (2016). Awareness and understanding of rheumatic fever among Pacific people in Auckland. *Neonatal, Paediatric & Child Health Nursing, 19*, 7-12.
- Nani'ole, J., & Meyer, M. A. (1998). Ka Maka o ka Ihe Laumeki The point of the Barbed Spear: Native Hawaiian epistemology and health. Pacific Health Dialog, 5(2), 357-360.

- Ng Shiu, R., Park, J., & Kearns, R. (2008). Placing the experience of Pacific peoples living with Tuberculosis in Auckland, New Zealand. In J. Littleton, J. Park, A. Herring & T. Farmer (Eds.), *Multiplying and Dividing: Tuberculosis in Canada and Aotearoa New Zealand* (pp. 218-231). Auckland, New Zealand: Department of Anthropology, University of Auckland.
- Niheu, K., Turbin, L., & Yamada, S. (2007). The Impact of the Military Presence in Hawaii on the Health of Na Kanaka Maoli. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *14*(1), 205-212.
- Niumeitolo, O. (1993). Tongan Health: A personal view. In G. McCall, & J. Connell (Eds.), A world perspective on Pacific Islander migration: Australia, New Zealand and the USA. (pp. 71-81). New South Wales, Australia: Centre for South Pacific Studies, The University of New South Wales.
- O'Grady, K., Revell, A., Maguire, G., Millonig, R., Newman, M., Reid, D., Hill, D., & Chang, A. (2011). Lung health care for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Queenslanders: breathing easy is not so easy. *Australian Health Review, 35*, 512-519.
- Preston-Thomas, A., Fagan, P., Nakata, Y., & Anderson, E. (2013). Chronic hepatitis B: care delivery and patient knowledge in the Torres Strait region of Australia. *Australian Family Physician*, 42, 225-231.
- Schluter, P. J., Askew, D. A., Spurling, G. K., Lee, M., & Hayman, N. (2016). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander oral health and its impact among adults: a cross-sectional study. *Australian Dental Journal*, *62*(1), 84-94.
- Somera, L. P., Lee, H., Badowski, G., & Cassel, K. (2016). Health Information Seeking, Source Trust, and Culture: A Comparative Analysis of Health Information Trends and Needs Between Guam and the United States. *Journal of Health Communication*, *21*(4), 469-478.
- Takahashi, L. M., Kim, A. J., Sablan-Santos, L., Quitugua, L. F., Aromin, J., Lepule, J. . . Young, S. (2011). Hepatitis B among Pacific Islanders in Southern California: how is health information associated with screening and vaccination? *Journal of Community Health*, *36*(1), 47-55.
- Thornley, S., Marshall, R. J., Bach, K., Koopu, P., Reynolds, G., Sundborn, G., & Ei, W. L. S. S. (2016). Sugar, dental caries and the incidence of acute rheumatic fever: a cohort study of Māori and Pacific children. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health,* 71(4), 364-370.
- Tran, D., Phongsavan, P., Bauman, A. E., Havea, D., & Galea, G. (2006). Hygiene behaviour of adolescents in the pacific: Associations with sociodemographic, health behaviour and school environment. Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health, 18(2), 3-11.
- Viney, K. A., Johnson, P., Tagaro, M., Fanai, S., Linh, N. N., Kelly, P., . . . Sleigh A. (2014).

  Tuberculosis patients' knowledge and beliefs about tuberculosis: a mixed methods study from the Pacific Island nation of Vanuatu. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 467.

Woods, C. E., McPherson, K., Tikoft, E., Usher, K., Hosseini, F., Ferns, J., Jersmann, H., Antic, R., & Maguire, G. P. (2015). Sleep disorders in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and residents of regional and remote Australia. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 11, 1263-1271.

# Sexual and Reproductive Health

- Brewis, A. A., McGarvey, S. T., & Tu'u'au-Potoi, N. (1998). Structure of family planning in Samoa. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 22*(4), 424-427.
- Burslem, F., Laohapensang, O., Sauvarin, J., Young, M., & Larson, A. (1998). Naked wire and naked truths: reproductive health risks faced by teenage girls in Honiara, Solomon Islands. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *5*(1), 8-15.
- Corner, H., Rissel, C., Smith, B., Forero, R., Olatunbosun-Alakija, A., Phongsavan, P., . . . Health Behaviour and Lifestyle of Pacific Youth Survey Collaborating Group and Core Survey Teams. (2005). Sexual health behaviours among Pacific Island youth in Vanuatu, Tonga and the Federated States of Micronesia. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*, 16(2), 144-150.
- Davis, J., Vyankandondera, J., Luchters, S., Simon, D., & Holmes, W. (2016). Male involvement in reproductive, maternal and child health: a qualitative study of policymaker and practitioner perspectives in the Pacific. *Reproductive Health*, 13.
- DiStefano, A. S., Hui, B., Barrera-Ng, A., Quitugua, L. F., Peters, R., Dimaculangan, J., . . .

  Tanjasiri, S. P. (2012). Contextualization of HIV and HPV risk and prevention among Pacific Islander young adults in Southern California. *Social Science & Medicine*, 75(4), 699-708.
- Donald, H. (1997). Abortion and Pacific women in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(2), 80-83.
- Durand, A. M. (1995). Sexual behaviour and substance abuse among students in CNMI. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *2*(2), 22-30.
- Ekeroma, A., Kenealy, T., Latu, R., & Hill, A. (2016). Who are the successful reproductive health clinician-researchers? *Pacific Journal of Reproductive Health*, 1, 128-131.
- Fa'asalele Tanuvasa, A. E. (1999). *The place of contraception and abortion in the lives of Samoan women.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Victoria University, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Fagan, P. S., Robertson, H. K., Pedrana, A. E., Raulli, A., & Crouch, A. A. (2015). Successes in sexual health communications development, programmatic implementation and evaluation in the Torres Strait region 2006 to 2012. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 39, 270-276.

- Gounder, F., Gounder, R., & Cornelius, M. (2016). Sex like Sweet Potatoes: framing HIV in the South Pacific Media. *Journal of Public Health in Developing Countries*, 2, 109-120.
- Hammar, L. (1998). Sex industries and sexual networking in Papua New Guinea: public health risks and implications. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *5*(1), 47-53.
- Hoare, K. J., & Decker, E. (2019). The role of a sexual health promotion leaflet for 15-18 year olds in catalysing conversations: a constructivist grounded theory. *Collegian*, 23, 3-11.
- Ivarature, H. (1997). Family planning and contraception in Tongoleleka Village, Kingdom of Tonga. *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(1), 43-50.
- Karel, H. (1995). The knowledge of AIDS in Morobe Province, Papua New Guinea. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 2(2), 20-23.
- Kelly-Hanku, A., Kawage, T., Vallely, A., Mek, A., & Mathers, B. (2015). Sex, violence and HIV on the inside: cultures of violence, denial, gender inequality and homophobia negatively influence the health outcomes of those in closed settings. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 17(8), 990-1003.
- Kennedy, E. C., Bulu, S., Harris, J., Humphreys, D., Malverus, J., & Gray, N. J. (2013). "Be kind to young people so they feel at home": A qualitative study of adolescents' and service providers' perceptions of youth-friendly sexual and reproductive health services in Vanuatu. *BMC Health Services Research*, 13(1), 455.
- Kennedy, E. C., Mackesy-Buckley, S., Subramaniam, S., Demmke, A., Latu, R., Robertson, A. S., . . . Luchters, S. (2013). The case for investing in family planning in the Pacific: costs and benefits of reducing unmet need for contraception in Vanuatu and the Solomon Islands. *Reproductive Health*, 10, 30.
- Larkins, S. L., & Page, P. (2016). Access to contraception for remote Aboriginal and Torres

  Strait Islander women: necessary but not sufficient. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 205.

  18-19.
- Latu, R., & Ekeroma, A. J. (2016). Adolescent reproductive health in the Pacific practical interventions based on country experience. *Pacific Journal of Reproductive Health, 1,* 114-118.
- Lepani, K. (2008). Mobility, Violence and the Gendering of HIV in Papua New Guinea. *The Australian Journal of Anthropology, 19*(2), 150-164.
- Lui, P. S. C. (2016). Reproductive health problems faced by men in Solomon Islands.

  (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane,
  Australia.
- Mageo, J. M. (1994). Hairdos and Don'ts: Hair Symbolism and Sexual History in Samoa. *Man,* 29, 407-432.
- Ma'ia'i, S. (1992). Reflection on the Samoan woman's sexuality and cervical screening. *New Zealand Family Physician*, 19(2), 68-69.

- McEwan, A., Crouch, A., Robertson, H., & Fagan, P. (2013). The Torres Indigenous Hip Hop Project: evaluating the use of performing arts as a medium for sexual health promotion. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*, 24, 132-136.
- McMillan K, & Worth H. (2011). The impact of socio-cultural context on young people's condom use: evidence from two Pacific Island countries. *Culture, Health & Sexuality,* 13(3), 313-326.
- Naea, N. M. M. (2008). *Navigating many worlds: Samoan mothers' views on sexuality education*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Orimoto, L., & Muelier, C. W. (2003). Psychosocial adjustments of native Hawaiian women living with HIV/AIDS. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *10*(3), 3-9.
- Paterson, J., Tautolo, E., Iusitini, L., Taylor, S., & Farvid, P. (2016). Pacific Islands families study: intimate partner stressors and psychological distress among Pacific adults. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 31*, 1-11.
- Peteru, A. (1997). The sexuality and STD/HIV risk-related sexual behaviours of single, unskilled, young adult Samoan males: a Qualitative study. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Mahidol University, Thailand.
- Pinhey, T. K., & Wells, N. R. (2007). Asian-Pacific Islander adolescent methamphetamine use: does "ice" increase aggression and sexual risks? *Substance use & Misuse, 42*(11), 1801-1809.
- Rosario, A. M. (2010). Meeting Chamorro women's health care needs: examining the cultural impact of mamahlao on gynaecological screening. *Pacific Health Dialog, 16*(1), 81-90.
- Rose, S. B., Cooper, A. J., Baker, N. K., & Lawton, B. (2011). Attitudes toward long-acting reversible contraception among young women seeking abortion. *Journal of Women's Health, 20*(11), 1729-1735.
- Suaalii-Sauni, T., Samu, K. S., Dunbar, L., Pulford, J., & Wheeler, A. (2012). A qualitative investigation into key cultural factors that support abstinence or responsible drinking amongst some Pacific youth living in New Zealand. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *9*(36), 1-12.
- Takahashi, L. M., Kim, A. J., Sablan-Santos, L., Quitugua, L. F., Lepule, J., Maguadog, T. . .

  Young, L. (2011). HIV testing behavior among Pacific Islanders in Southern California: exploring the importance of race/ethnicity, knowledge, and domestic violence. *AIDS Education & Prevention*, 23(1), 54-64.
- Tamarua, N., Tangaroa, E., & O'Leary, M. J. (1998). HIV/AIDS knowledge, attitudes and practices in the Cook Islands. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *5*(1), 16-21.
- Taufa, S. (2015). *A Mother's Hope: Pacific Teenage Pregnancy in New Zealand*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.

- Ulugia-Veukiso, A. (2008). What's God got to do with sex?: exploring the relationship between patterns of spiritual engagement and the sexual health activities of Samoan youth. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Auckland, New Zealand.
- van Gemert, C., Stoove, M., Kwarteng, T., Bulu, S., Bergeri, I., Wanyeki, I., . . . Johnston, L. G. (2014). Chlamydia Prevalence and Associated Behaviours Among Female Sex Workers in Vanuatu: Results from an Integrated Bio-behavioural Survey, 2011. *AIDS and Behavior*, 18(10), 2040-2049.
- Vete, S. (1995). Sex and AIDS: myths that Kill. Pacific Health Dialog, 2(2), 132-139.
- Veukiso-Ulugia, A. (2016). 'Good Sāmoan kids' fact or fable? Sexual health behaviour of Sāmoan youth in Aotearoa. *New Zealand Sociology*, *31*, 74-65.
- Ward, J., Goller, J., Ali, H., Bowring, A., Couzos, S., Saunders, M., Yau, P., . . . & Donovan, B. (2014). Chlamydia among Australian Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander people attending sexual health services, general practices and Aboriginal community controlled health services. *BMC Health Services Research*, 14(1), 285

## Stress

- Bergey, M. R., Steele, M. S., Bereiter, D. A., Viali, S., & McGarvey, S. T. (2011). Behavioral and Perceived Stressor Effects on Urinary Catecholamine Excretion in Adult Samoans.

  American Journal of Human Biology: The Official Journal of the Human Biology Council, 23(5), 693-702.
- Elstad, E., Tusiofo, C., Rosen, R. K., & McGarvey, S. T. (2008). Living with Ma'i Suka: individual, familial, cultural, and environmental stress among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and their caregivers in American Samoa. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *5*(3), 79-89.
- Graves, T. D., & Graves, N. B. (1985). Stress and health among Polynesian migrants to New Zealand. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 8(1), 1-19.
- Kaholokula, J. K., Grandinetti, A., Keller, S., Nacapoy, A. H., & Mau, M. K. (2012). Association between perceived racism and physiological stress indices in Native Hawaiians. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 35(1), 27-37.
- McDade, T. W. (2002). Status incongruity in Samoan youth: a biocultural analysis of culture change, stress, and immune function. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly, 16*(2), 123-150.
- McDade, T. W. (2003). Life event stress and immune function in Samoan adolescents:

  Towards a cross-cultural psychoneuroimmunology. In J. Wilce (Ed.), Social and

  Cultural lives of Immune Systems: Contextualizing Psychoneuroimmunology,

  Embodying the Social Sciences (pp. 170-188). New York, NY: Routledge.

McDade, T. W., & Worthman, C. M. (2004). Socialization ambiguity in Samoan adolescents: a model for human development and stress in the context of culture change. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 14(1), 49-72.

## **Health Knowledges and Practices**

### Nutrition

- Bell, A., Swinburn, B., Amosa, H., & Scragg, R. K. (2001). A nutrition and exercise intervention program for controlling weight in Samoan communities in New Zealand. *International Journal of Obesity*, 25(6), 920-927.
- Bell, C., Amosa, H., & Swinburn, B. A. (1997). Nutrition knowledge and practices of Samoans in Auckland. *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(2), 26-33.
- Corsi, A., Englberger, L., Flores, R., Lorens, A., & Fitzgerald, M. H. (2008). A participatory assessment of dietary patterns and food behavior in Pohnpei, Federated States of Micronesia. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 17(2), 309-316.
- Fuamatu, N. (1997). The food choices of Samoan teenagers in Auckland: Big Mac combo or pisupo and taro? *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(2), 6-10.
- Furusawa, T., & Aswani, S. (2011). Well-nourished women in a Solomon Islands society with a biased sex ratio. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *17*(1), 77-81.
- Galanis, D. J., McGarvey, S. T., Quested, C., Sio, B., & Afele-Fa'amuli, S. A. (1999). Dietary intake of modernizing Samoans: implications for risk of cardiovascular disease. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 99(2), 184-190.
- Gammiono, V. M., Gittelsohn, J., & Langidirk, J. R. (2007). Dietary intake in infants and young children in the Republic of the Marshall Islands. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *14*(2), 13-22.
- Gittelsohn, J., Dyckman, W., Frick, K. D., Boggs, M. K., Haberle, H., Alfred, J., . . . Palafox, N. (2007). A pilot food store intervention in the Rebulic of the Marshall Islands. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *14*(2), 43-53.
- Gonelevu, S., Rush, E., & Laulu, M. (1997). Fruit, vegetable and cereal intake of Polynesian and European women in Auckland. *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(2), 11-19.
- Hanson, M., Englberger, L., Duncan, B., Taren, D., Mateak, H., & Johnson, E. (2011). An evaluation of a nutrition intervention in Kapinga Village on Pohnpei, Federated States of Micronesia. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *17*, 173-184.
- Hayes, L. S. (2001). Food for thought: the health of Pacific Islands young people in New Zealand: An Analysis Of The Dietary And Lifestyle Behaviours Of Pacific Islands Adolescents, And The Potential Long-Term Effects Of These Behaviours Upon Health. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Cantebury, Christchurch, New Zealand.

- Singh, G., Devi, K. K., Naz, R., & Fam, K. (2016). An Empirical Investigation into the Cultural Antecedents of Food Consumption: Study of Fijian Consumers. *Amity Global Business Review*, 11, 15-27.
- Skudder, E. (2014). Acculturation within New Zealand Pacific communities: how does this influence diet and health? (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Teevale, T., Scragg, R., Faeamani, G., & Utter, J. (2012). Pacific parents' rationale for purchased school lunches and implications for obesity prevention. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *21*(2), 282-290.
- Thompson,-McCormick, J. J., Thomas, J. J., Bainivualiku. A., Khan, A. N., & Becker, A. E. (2010). Breakfast skipping as a risk correlate of overweight and obesity in school-going ethnic Fijian adolescent girls. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 19, 372-382.
- Utter, J., Scragg, R., Schaaf, D., & Fitzgerald, E. (2006). Nutrition and physical activity behaviours among Mäori, Pacific and NZ European children: identifying opportunities for population-based interventions. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 30(1), 50-56.
- Vignati, D. (2009). The theory of planned behaviour and ethnic differences in nutrition management of diabetes. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Waqa, G., & Mavoa, H. (2006). Sociocultural factors influencing the food choices of 16-18 year-old indigenous Fijian females at school. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 13(2), 57-64.
- Webster, H., Su'a, S. A. F., Ieremia, M., Bompoint, S., Johnson, C., Faeamani, G., . . . Woodward, M. (2016). Salt intakes, knowledge, and behavior in Samoa: monitoring salt-consumption patterns through the World Health Organization's surveillance of noncommunicable disease risk factors (STEPS). *The Journal of Clinical Hypertension,* 18, 884-891.
- Weltin, A. M., & Lavin, R. P. (2012). The effect of a community garden on HgA1c in diabetics of Marshallese descent. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 29(1), 12-24.

## Physical Activity (and Obesity)

- Becker, A. E., Gilman, S. E., & Burwell, R. A. (2005). Changes in prevalence of overweight and in body image among Fijian women between 1989 and 1998. *Obesity Research*, 13, 110-117.
- Bell, A., Swinburn, B., Amosa, H., & Scragg, R. K. (2001). A nutrition and exercise intervention program for controlling weight in Samoan communities in New Zealand. *International Journal of Obesity*, 25(6), 920-927.

- Braden, K. W., & Nigg, C. R. (2016). Modifiable Determinants of Obesity in Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Youth. *Hawai'i Journal of Medicine & Public Health, 75*(6), 162-171.
- Canuto, K. J., McDermott, R. A., & Cargo, M. (2014). Participant views on participating in a pragmatic randomised controlled trial: The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Women's Fitness Program. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 13(1), 77.
- Canuto, K. J., McDermott, R. A., Cargo, M., & Esterman, A. J. (2011). Study protocol: a pragmatic randomised controlled trial of a 12-week physical activity and nutritional education program for overweight Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women. *BMC Public Health*, 11, 1-10.
- Canuto, K. J., Spagnoletti, B., McDermott, R. A., & Cargo, M. (2013). Factors influencing attendance in a structured physical activity program for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women in an urban setting: a mixed methods process evaluation. *International Journal for Equity in Health, 12*(1), 11.
- Dewes, O. A. (2010). Obesity prevention in Pacific adolescents: Is there a role for the Church? (Unpublished Doctoral Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, NZ.
- Dewes, O., Scragg, R., & Elley, C. R. (2013). The association between church attendance and obesity-related lifestyle behaviours among New Zealand adolescents from different Pacific Island ethnic groups. *Journal of Primary Health Care*, *5*(4), 290-300.
- Dickson, C. (2015). Pacific Island adolescent girls with a physical disability: health and wellbeing through physical activity. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Faeamani, G. (2007). The association between obesity and quality of life of Pacific Island adolescents in New Zealand. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Hardin, J. (2015). Everyday translation: health practitioners' perspectives on obesity and metabolic disorders in Samoa. *Critical Public Health*, *25*(2), 125-138.
- McGarvey, S. T. (1991). Obesity in Samoans and a perspective on its etiology in Polynesians. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 53(6), 1586-1594.
- Nigg, C. R., Fleary, S. A., Eklund, K., & Quitugua, J. (2016). Increasing active physical education in the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands: Sports, play, and active recreation for kids. *International Journal of Health Promotion and Education*, 55(1), 3-17.
- Oliver, M., Schluter, P. J., Rush, E., Schofield, G. M., & Paterson, J. (2011). Physical activity, sedentariness, and body fatness in a sample of 6-year-old Pacific children.

  International Journal of Pediatric Obesity, 6(2), 565-573.

- Oliver, M., Schluter, P. J., Schofield, G. M., & Paterson, J. (2011). Factors related to accelerometer-derived physical activity in Pacific children aged 6 years. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health / Asia-Pacific Academic Consortium for Public Health, 23*(1), 44-56.
- Pengpid, S., & Peltzer, K. (2015). Overweight and Obesity and Associated Factors among School-Aged Adolescents in Six Pacific Island Countries in Oceania. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 12*(11), 14505-14518.
- Petersen, S., Moodie, M., Mavoa, H., Waqa, G., Goundar, R., & Swinburn, B. (2014).

  Relationship between overweight and health-related quality of life in secondary school children in Fiji: results from a cross-sectional population-based study. *International Journal of Obesity, 38*(4), 539-546.
- Schluter, P., Oliver, M., & Paterson, J. (2011). Perceived barriers and incentives to increased physical activity for Pacific mothers in New Zealand: findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 35(2), 151-158.
- Sukala, W. R., Page, R. A., Rowlands, D. S., Lys, I., Krebs, J. D., Leikis, M. J., & Cheema, B. S. (2012). Exercise intervention in New Zealand Polynesian peoples with type 2 diabetes: Cultural considerations and clinical trial recommendations. *The Australasian Medical Journal*, *5*(8), 429.
- Sukala, W. R., Page, R., Lonsdale, C., Lys, I., Rowlands, D., Krebs, J., . . . Cheema, B. S. (2013). Exercise Improves Quality of Life in Indigenous Polynesian Peoples With Type 2

  Diabetes and Visceral Obesity. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health, 10*, 699-707.
- Sukala, W. R., Page, R., & Cheema, B. S. (2012). Targeting the type 2 diabetes epidemic in Polynesia: historical perspective and rationale for exercise intervention trials. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 22(2), 123-128.
- Teevale, T. (2009). Obesity in Pacific adolescents: a socio-cultural study in Auckland, New Zealand. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Teevale, T. (2011). Body image and its relation to obesity for Pacific minority ethnic groups in New Zealand: a critical analysis. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *17*(1), 33-53.
- Teevale, T., Scragg, R., Faeamani, G., & Utter, J. (2012). Pacific parents' rationale for purchased school lunches and implications for obesity prevention. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *21*(2), 282-290.
- Teevale, T., Taufa, S., & Percival, T. (2015). Acceptability and non-compliance in a family-led weight-management programme for obese Pacific children. *Public Health Nutrition*, *18*(14), 2625-2633.

- Teevale, T., Thomas, D. R., Scragg, R., Faeamani, G., & Nosa, V. (2010). The role of sociocultural factors in obesity aetiology in Pacific adolescents and their parents: a mixed-methods study in Auckland, New Zealand. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, 123(1326), 26-36.
- Thompson,-McCormick, J. J., Thomas, J. J., Bainivualiku. A., Khan, A. N., & Becker, A. E. (2010).

  Breakfast skipping as a risk correlate of overweight and obesity in school-going ethnic

  Fijian adolescent girls. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 19, 372-382.
- Tuagalu, C. (2011). Young people's perceptions and experiences of physical activity in Apia, Samoa. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 17(1), 55-64.
- Ulijaszel, S. J. (2001). Body size and physical activity levels of adults on Rarotonga, the Cook Islands. International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition, 52, 453-461.
- Ulijaszek, S. J. (2001). Socioeconomic status, body size and physical activity of adults on Rarotonga, the Cook Islands. *Annals of Human Biology, 28*, 554-563.
- Utter, J., Scragg, R., Schaaf, D., & Fitzgerald, E. (2006). Nutrition and physical activity behaviours among Mäori, Pacific and NZ European children: identifying opportunities for population-based interventions. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 30(1), 50-56.
- Waqa, G., & Mavoa, H. (2006). Sociocultural factors influencing the food choices of 16-18 year-old indigenous Fijian females at school. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 13(2), 57-64.

### Treatment Attitudes and Adherence

- Bacal, K., & Jansen, D. (2009). *Māori Pacific Attitudes Towards Transplantation: Professional Perspectives.* New Zealand: Mauri Ora Associates Limited.
- Bassett-Clarke, D., Krass, I., & Bajorek, B. (2012). Ethnic differences of medicines-taking in older adults: a cross cultural study in New Zealand. *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, 20(2), 90-98.
- Ekiek, M. J. (1998). Noncompliance to anti-tuberculosis medication in Pohnpei, Micronesia. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *5*(1), 72-73.
- Gasse, B., Baroux, N., Rouchon, B., Meunier, J. M., Fremicourt, I. D., & D'Ortenzio, E. (2013). Determinants of poor adherence to secondary antibiotic prophylaxis for rheumatic fever recurrence on Lifou, New Caledonia: a retrospective cohort study. *BMC Public Health*, 13, 131.
- Gu, Y., Warren, J., Walker, N., & Kennelly, J. (2013). Gender differences in cardiovascular disease risk management for Pacific Islanders in primary care. *Quality in Primary Care,* 21(5), 275-285.

- Hu, D., Taira, D., Yeboah, M., & Castillo, T. (2016). Issues Affecting Medication Use Among Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians, and Pacific Islanders: A Qualitative Study. *Californian Journal of Health Promotion, 14*, 45-55.
- Kaholokula, J. K., Saito, E., Mau, M. K., Latimer, R., & Seto, T. B. (2008). Pacific Islanders'
  Perspectives on Heart Failure Management. *Patient Education and Counseling, 70*(2), 281-291.
- Ka'opua, L. S., & Mueller, C. W. (2004). Treatment adherence among Native Hawaiians living with HIV. *Social Work, 49*(1), 55-63.
- Mangnall, L. J. T., Sibbritt, D. W., Al-Sheyab, N., & Gallagher, R. D. (2016). Predictors of warfarin non-adherence in younger adults after valve replacement surgery in the South Pacific. *Heart Asia, 8,* 18-23.
- Norris, P., Va'ai, C., Fa'alau, F., Churchward, M., & Arroll, B. (2011). Pain, infection, and colds and flu: Samoan people's views about antibiotics. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 7(1), 81-92.
- Poa, N. R., & Edgar, P. E. (2007). Insulin resistance is associated with hypercortisolemia in Polynesian patients treated with antipsychotic medication. *Diabetes Care, 30*(6), 1425-1429.
- Stewart, D. W., DePue, J., Rosen, R. K., Bereolos, N., Goldstein, M. G., Tuitele, J., . . . McGarvey, S. T. (2012). Medication-taking beliefs and diabetes in American Samoa: a qualitative inquiry. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, *3*(1), 30-38.
- Tongi, L. (2010). *Exploring medications amongst Tongan households in New Zealand*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand.
- Umali, E., McCool, J., & Whittaker, R. (2016). Possibilities and expectations for mHealth in the Pacific Islands: insights from key informants. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 4(1).
- Wai, K. C., Elley, C. R., Nosa, V., Kennelly, J., Mabotuwana, T., & Warren, J. (2010).

  Perspectives on adherence to blood pressure—lowering medications among Samoan patients: qualitative interviews. *Journal of Primary Health Care, 2*(3), 217-224.
- Warren, J., Gu, Y., & Kennelly, J. (2012). The Caring Does Matter (CDM) Initiative: to improve cardiovascular medication adherence in Pacific people. *Proceedings of Health Informatics New Zealand 11th Annual Conference and Exhibition*, 8-9.
- Warren, J., Gu, Y., Kennelly, J., & Boyce, T. (2014). Prescription patterns for pacific patients with poor cardiovascular disease medication supply. In J. Warren, & K. Gray (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Seventh Australasian Workshop on Health Informatics and Knowledge Management Volume 153* (pp. 89-95). Dalinghurst, Australia: Australian Computer Society, Inc.

## Health Services: Experiences, Perceptions and Access

- Ameratunga, S., Abel, S., Tin Tin, S., Asiasiga, L., Milne, S., & Crengle, S. (2010). Children admitted to hospital following unintentional injury: perspectives of health service providers in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *BMC Health Services Research*, 10, 333-6963-10-333.
- Arlidge, B., Abel, S., Asiasiga, L., Milne, S. L., Crengle, S., & Ameratunga, S. N. (2009).

  Experiences of whānau/families when injured children are admitted to hospital: a multi-ethnic qualitative study from Aotearoa/New Zealand. *Ethnicity & Health, 14*(2), 169-183.
- Barwick, H. (2000). *Improving access to primary care for Maori and Pacific peoples*. New Zealand: Health Funding Authority.
- Bassett, S. F., & Holt, E. A. L. (2002). New Zealand resident Tongan peoples' health and illness beliefs and utilisation of the health care system. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *9*(1), 40-47.
- Bassett, S., & Holt, E. (2002). New Zealand resident Tongan people's perceptions of physiotherapy. *New Zealand Journal of Physiotherapy*, 30(1), 8-17.
- Blaisdell-Brennan, H. K., & Goebert, D. (2001). Health care utilization among women on O'ahu: implications for Native Hawaiian women. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(2), 274-279.
- Brown, S. J., Weetra, D., Glover, K., Buckskin, M., Ah Kit, J., Leane, C., . . . Gartland, D. (2015). Improving Aboriginal Women's Experiences of Antenatal Care: Findings from the Aboriginal Families Study in South Australia. *Birth, 42*(1), 27-37.
- Choi, J. Y. (2008). Seeking health care: Marshallese migrants in Hawai'i. *Ethnicity and Health,* 13(1), 73-92.
- Comfort, A. O., Vandana, M., Cuttress, T., Tuisuva, J., Morse, Z., & Maimanuku, L. (2004).

  Attitudes/Practices of Oral Healthcare Provider to management of HIV/AIDS patients in the Pacific. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *11*(1), 26-30.
- Davis, P., Suaalii-Sauni, T., Lay Yee, R., & Pearson, J. (2005). *Pacific Patterns in Primary Health Care: A comparison of Pacific and all patient visits to doctors: The National Primary Medical Care Survey Report 7*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health.
- Else, I. (2001). Native Hawaiian physician location and service to the underserved in Hawai'i. *Pacific Health Dialog, 8*(2), 312-321.
- Finau, S. A., & Finau, E. (2007). Cultural democracy: the way forward for primary care of hard to reach New Zealanders. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 14(2), 85-94.
- Fitzgerald, M. H., & Barker, J. C. (1993). Rehabilitation services for the Pacific. *The Western Journal of Medicine*, 159(1), 50-55.
- Forbes, K. R., & Wegner, E. L. (1987). Compliance by Samoans in Hawaii with service norms in pediatric primary care. *Public Health Reports*, 102(5), 508-511.

- Franks, A. J. (1983). Patterns of illness and the use of health services on a coral atoll-observations in Kiribati (Central Pacific). *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine & Hygiene, 77*(1), 68-72.
- Green, J. A., Brown, K., Burgess, J., Chong, D., & Pewhairangi, K. (2013). Indigenous and immigrant populations' use and experience of community pharmacies in New Zealand. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 15(1), 78-84.
- Hamid, S., Dunsiger, S., Seiden, A. D., Nu'usolia, O., Tuitele, J., DePue, J. D., & McGarvey, S. T. (2013). Impact of a Diabetes Control and Management Intervention on Healthcare Utilization in American Samoa. *Chronic Illness*, 10(2), 122-134.
- Hattori-Uchima, M. (2012). *Chuukese Migrant Women in Guam: Perceptions of Barriers to Health Care*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Villanova University, Villanova, PA.
- Hawley, N. L., Brown, C., Nu'usolia, O., Ah-Ching, J., Muasau-Howard, B., & McGarvey, S. T. (2014). Barriers to adequate prenatal care utilization in American Samoa. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 18(10), 2284-2292.
- Herman, A., Bullen, C., Finau, S., & Ofanoa, M. (2006). Mobilising Pacific people for health: insights from a hepatitis B screening programme in Auckland, New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 13(2), 9-15.
- Humphry, J., & Reinhardt, T. (1998). Disease management: the interface between Hawaiian health and the Western health care system. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *5*(2), 370-374.
- Irvine, Z. (2016). Pacific ethnic groups and frequent hospital presentation: a fair target? Emergency Medicine Australasia, 28, 357-359.
- Johnson, N. P., Lewis, J., & Ansell, D. A. (1995). Does ethnicity influence obstetric intervention? *New Zealand Medical Journal*, *108*(1013), 511-512.
- Kennedy, E. C., Bulu, S., Harris, J., Humphreys, D., Malverus, J., & Gray, N. J. (2013). "Be kind to young people so they feel at home": A qualitative study of adolescents' and service providers' perceptions of youth-friendly sexual and reproductive health services in Vanuatu. *BMC Health Services Research*, 13(1).
- Larkins, S., Woods, C. E., Matthews, V., Thompson, S. C., Schierhout, G., Mitropoulos, M., Patrao, T., . . . & Bailie, R. S. (2016) Responses of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander primary health-care services to continuous quality improvement initiatives. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *3*, 1-9.
- Lewis-Gargett, A., Llewellyn, G., Short, S., & Kleinitz, P. (2016). Identifying rehabilitation workforce strengths, concerns and needs: a case study from the Pacific Islands. *Disability, 27,* 19-36.
- Low, P. (2004). Attendance at antenatal care and antenatal classes by mothers of Pacific infants in South Auckland. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.

- Low, P., Paterson, J., Wouldes, T., Carter, S., Williams, M., & Percival, T. (2005). Factors affecting antenatal care attendance by mothers of Pacific infants living in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 118(1216), December 19, 2015.
- Ludeke, M., Puni, R., Cook, L., Pasene, M., Abel, G., & Sopoaga, F. (2012). Access to general practice for Pacific peoples: a place for cultural competency. *Journal of Primary Health Care*, *4*(2), 123-130.
- McBain-Rigg, K. E., & Veitch, C. (2011). Cultural barriers to health care for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders in Mount Isa. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, 19, 70-74.
- Mishra, S. I., Luce, P. H., & Baquet, C. R. (2009). Increasing pap smear utilization among Samoan women: results from a community based participatory randomized trial. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor & Underserved, 20*(2), 85-101.
- Morse, Z., & Takau, A. F. (2004). Dental Anxiety in Fiji. Pacific Health Dialog, 11(1), 22-25.
- Nacey, J. N., Morum, P., & Delahunt, B. (1995). Analysis of the prevalence of voiding symptoms in Maori, Pacific Island, and Caucasian New Zealand men. *Urology*, 46(4), 506-511.
- Naiqiso, S. (2016). Invited commentary management of polycystic ovarian syndrome in the Pacific Islands. *Pacific Journal of Reproductive Health*, 1, 140-146.
- Norris, P., Fa'alau, F., Va'ai, C., Churchward, M., & Arroll, B. (2009). Navigating between illness paradigms: treatment seeking by Samoan people in Samoa and New Zealand. *Qualitative Health Research*, 19(10), 1466-1475.
- Paterson, J. E., Gao, W., Sundborn, G., & Cartwright, S. (2011). Maternal self-report of oral health in six-year-old Pacific children from South Auckland, New Zealand. *Community Dentistry & Oral Epidemiology, 39*(1), 19-28.
- Pritchard, E. N., Jutel, A., & Tollafield, S. (2011). Positive provider interventions for enhancing influenza vaccination uptake among Pacific Peoples in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 124(1346), 75-82.
- Ramsey K. W., Davis, J., & French, G. (2012). Perspectives of Chuukese patients and their health care providers on the use of different sources of interpreters. *Hawai'i Journal of Medicine & Public Health: A Journal of Asia Pacific Medicine & Public Health, 71*(9), 249-252.
- Rodriguez, L. (2013). The subjective experience of Polynesians in the Australian health system. *Health Sociology Review, 22*(4), 411-421.
- Stoil, M. J., Murthy, S., & Kuramoto, F. H. (2006). Psychocultural influences on health care acceptability among elderly US Pacific Islanders. *Journal of Health & Social Policy*, 22(1), 59-75.
- Tava'e, N., & Nosa, V. (2012). The Green Prescription programme and the experiences of Pacific women in Auckland. *Journal of Primary Health Care*, 4(4), 313-319.

- Tofi, T. A. (1996). The use of health care services by Pacific Islands people in New Zealand. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Uehara DL, & Tua-Tupuola T. (2013). A descriptive study in American Samoa: services for people with disabilities. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, 20(4), 184-189.
- Williams, D. P., & Hampton, A. (2005). Barriers to health services perceived by Marshallese immigrants. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 7*(4), 317-326.
- Young, N. (1997). Pacificans' access to primary health care in New Zealand: a Review. *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(2), 68-75.

# **Smoking**

- Austin, S., & Thomson G. (2011). 'Getting rid of tobacco...that's the key': strong feelings of Pacific policymakers in New Zealand about tobacco, and smoking around children. *Pacific Health Dialog, 17*(1), 99-106.
- Carter, S., Paterson, J., Gao, W.Z. & Lusitini, L. (2008). Maternal smoking during pregnancy and behaviour problems in a birth cohort of two-year-old Pacific children in New Zealand. *Early Human Development*, *84*(1), 59-66.
- Chen, T. H., Ou, A. C., Haberle, H., Miller, V. P., Langidrik, J. R., & Palafox, N. A. (2004). Smoking rates and risk factors among youth in the Republic of the Marshall Islands: results of a school survey. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *11*(2), 107-113.
- David, A. M., Lew, R., Lyman, A. K., Otto, C., Robles, R., & Cruz, G. (2013). Eliminating tobaccorelated disparities among Pacific Islanders through leadership and capacity building -Promising practices and lessons learned. *Health Promotion Practice*, 14(5), 10-17.
- Ehlert, M. B., Gumataotao, A. P., Workman, R. L., Albright, C. L., & David, A. M. (2006).

  Community leader support for tobacco control activities & policies on Guam. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 13(2), 71-78.
- Glover M, Kira A, Gentles D, Cowie N, Paton C, & Moetara W. (2014). The WERO group stop smoking competition: main outcomes of a pre- and post- study. *BMC Public Health*, 14(599)
- Glover, M., Kira, A., & Faletau, J. (2013). Smoke, smoking and cessation: The views of children with respiratory illness. *Journal of Asthma*, *50*(7), 722-728.
- Glover, M., Nosa, V., Gentles, D., Watson, D., & Paynter, J. (2014). Do New Zealand Māori and Pacific 'walk the talk' when it comes to stopping smoking? A qualitative study of motivation to quit. *Journal of Smoking Cessation*, *9*(02), 68-75.
- Glover, M., Nosa, V., Watson, D., & Paynter, J. (2010). WhyKwit: A qualitative study of what motivates Māori, Pacific Island and low socio-economic peoples in Aotearoa/New

- Zealand to stop smoking. Auckland, New Zealand: The University of Auckland, School of Population Health, Centre for Tobacco Control Research.
- Glover, M., Scragg, R., Nosa, V., Bullen, C., McCool, J., & Kira, A. (2009). Keeping Kids Smokefree: rationale, design, and implementation of a community, school, and family-based intervention to modify behaviors related to smoking among Maori and Pacific Island children in New Zealand. *International Quarterly of Community Health Education*, 30(3), 205-222.
- Gould, G. S., Bittoun, R., & Clarke, M. J. (2015). A pragmatic guide for smoking cessation counselling and the initiation of nicotine replacement therapy for pregnant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander smokers. *Journal of Smoking Cessation*, 10, 96-105.
- Gould, G. S., McEwen, A., & Munn, J. (2011). Jumping the hurdles for smoking cessation in pregnant Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women in Australia. *Journal of Smoking Cessation*, 6, 33-36.
- Gould, G. S., Munn, J., Watters, T., McEwen, A., & Clough, A. R. (2013). Knowledge and views about maternal tobacco smoking and barriers for cessation in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders: a systematic review and meta-ethnography. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, 15, 863-874.
- Gould, G. S., Watt, K., Stevenson, L., McEwen, A., Cadet-James, Y., & Clough, A. R. (2014). Developing anti-tobacco messages for Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples: evidence from a national cross-sectional survey. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 250.
- Hale, M., McCool, J., Bullen, C., & Nosa, V. (2012). Views from a small Pacific Island: prospects for tobacco control on Niue. *Health Promotion Practice*, *13*(3), 404-411.
- Jones, L., Pacific, H., Donnelly, A., Harneiss, C., Warbrick, D., Swinn, K., . . . Tonga-Tuiloma, T. (2004). A Qualitative Investigation of the Application of Behaviour Modification to Group-Quitting for Māori and Pacific Smokers. *South Pacific Journal of Psychology, 15*, 43-53.
- Kaholokula, J. K., Grandinetti, A., Crabbe, K. M., Chang, H. K., & Kenui, C. K. (1999). Depressive symptoms and cigarette smoking among Native Hawaiians. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health / Asia-Pacific Academic Consortium for Public Health*, 11(2), 60-64.
- McCool, J., Freeman, B., & Tanielu, H. (2014). Perceived social and media influences on tobacco use among Samoan youth. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 1100.
- McCool, J., McKenzie, J., Lyman, A., & Allen, M. (2013). Supporting Pacific Island countries to strengthen their resistance to tobacco industry interference in tobacco control: a case study of Papua New Guinea and Solomon Islands. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(8), 3424-3434.

- Nicholson, A. K., Borland, R., Couzos, S., Stevens, M., & Thomas, D. P. (2015). Smoking-related knowledge and health risk beliefs in a national sample of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 202(10), 45-50
- Nosa, V., Gentles, D., Glover, M., Scragg, R., McCool, J., & Bullen, C. (2014). Prevalence and risk factors for tobacco smoking among pre-adolescent Pacific children in New Zealand. *Journal of Primary Health Care*, 6(3), 181-188.
- Palmer, P. H., Lee, C., Sablan-Santos, L., Lepule, J. T., Pang, V. K., Tui'one, V., . . . Tanjasiri, S. P. (2013). Eliminating Tobacco Disparities Among Native Hawaiian Pacific Islanders
  Through Policy Change: The Role of Community-Based Organizations. *Health Promotion Practice*, 14(5), 36S-39S.
- Phongsavan, P., Smith, B. J., Chey, T., Gilmete, M., Havea, D., Bauman, A. E. (2011).

  Psychosocial profiles of adolescent nonsmokers in the Pacific. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health / Asia-Pacific Academic Consortium for Public Health*, 23(1), 57-69.
- Sabesan, S., Kelly, J., Budden, L., & Geia, L. K. (2015). My Family's Anti-Tobacco Education (My-FATE) model for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, *23*, 189-190.
- Smith, B. J., Phongsavan, P., Bauman, A. E., Havea, D., & Chey, T. (2007). Comparison of tobacco, alcohol and illegal drug usage among school students in three Pacific Island societies. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 88(1), 9-18.
- Tareg, A. R., Modeste, N. N., Lee, J. W., & Santos, H. D. (2015). Health Beliefs About Tobacco With Betel Nut Use Among Adults in Yap, Micronesia. *International Quarterly of Community Health Education*, 35(3), 245-257.
- Tautolo, E., Edwards, R., & Gifford, H. (2015). A gift and a burden: the purchase and distribution of duty-free tobacco and its potential impact upon Pacific people in New Zealand. *Tobacco Control*, 24(1), 59-64.
- Tautolo, E., Schluter, P. J., Paterson, J., & McRobbie, H. (2011). Acculturation status has a modest effect on smoking prevalence among a cohort of Pacific fathers in New Zealand. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 35*(6), 509-516.
- Teevale, T., Denny, S., Nosa, V., & Sheridan, J. (2013). Predictors of cigarette use amongst Pacific youth in New Zealand. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *10*(25), December 19, 2015.
- Thomas, D. P., Bennet, P. T., Briggs, V. L., Couzos, S., Hunt, J. M., Panaretto, K. S., Stevens, M.,
   & Borland, R. (2015). Smoking cessation advice and non-pharmacological support in a national sample of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander smokers and exsmokers. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 202(10), 73-77.

- Thomas, D. P., Briggs, V. L., Couzos, S., Davey, M. E., Hunt, J. M., Panaretto, K. S., van der Sterren, A. E., & Borland, R. (2015). Research methods of 'Talking about the Smokes': An International Tobacco Control (ITC) policy evaluation project with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians. *Medical Journal of Australia, 202*, 5-12.
- Thomas, D. P., Briggs, V. L., Couzos, S., Panaretto, K. S., van der Sterren, A. E., Stevens, M., & Borland, R. (2015). Use of nicotine replacement therapy and stop-smoking medicines in a national sample of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander smokers and ex-smokers. *Medical Journal of Australia, 202*(10), 78-84.
- Tucker, M. R., Kivell, B., Laugensen, M., & Grace, R. C. (2016). Changes to smoking habits and addiction following tobacco excise tax increase: a comparison of Māori, Pacific and New Zealand European smokers. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 41(1), 92-98.
- Workman, R. L. (2001). Tobacco use among Pacific Islanders: risk-behavior surveys and data sets for the study of smoking behavior on Guam. *Asian American and Pacific Islander Journal of Health*, *9*(1), 15-24.

## **Sport Psychology**

- Dewey Jr, R. F. (2014). Fiji and Pacific rugby research: The state of the game. *Asia Pacific Journal of Sport and Social Science*, 3(3), 186-201.
- Dewey, R. F. (2014). Pacific Islands Rugby Alliance (PIRA): Rugby in 'Our Sea of Islands'. *International Journal of the History of Sport, 31*(11), 1406-1420.
- Grainger, A. (2009). Rugby, Pacific peoples, and the cultural politics of national identity in New Zealand. *The International Journal of the History of Sport, 26*(16), 2335-2357.
- Grainger, A. (2011). Rugby island style: Paradise, Pacific people, and the racialisation of athletic performance. *Junctures: The Journal for Thematic Dialogue*, (12), 45-63.
- Grainger, A. D. (2008). *The browning of the All Blacks: Pacific peoples, rugby, and the cultural politics of identity in New Zealand.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Maryland, College Park, MD.
- Holland, R. (2012). Governance of New Zealand national sport organisations: Pasifika and Māori voices. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Horton, P. (2012). Pacific Islanders in global rugby: The changing currents of sports migration. *The International Journal of the History of Sport, 29*(17), 2388-2404.
- Horton, P. (2014). Pacific Islanders in professional rugby football: Bodies, minds and cultural continuities. *Asia Pacific Journal of Sport and Social Science*, *3*(3), 222-235.

- Kanemasu, Y., & Molnar, G. (2014). Life after rugby: Issues of being an 'ex' in Fiji rugby. *The International Journal of the History of Sport, 31*(11), 1389-1405.
- Kwauk, C. T. (2016). 'Let them see a different path': social attitudes towards sport, education and development in Sāmoa. *Sport, Education and Society, 21*(4), 644-660.
- Lakisa, D., Adair, D., & Taylor, T. (2014). Pasifika diaspora and the changing face of Australian rugby league. *The Contemporary Pacific*, 26(2), 347-367.
- Manarpaac, C. (2014). Heads & Shoulders: Representations of Polynesian Men in the NFL. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Hawai'i at Manoa, Honolulu, HI.
- McDonald, B. (2016). Coaching whiteness: stories of 'Pacifica exotica' in Australian high school rugby. *Sport, Education and Society, 21,* 465-482.
- McDonald, B., & Rodriguez, L. (2014). 'It's our meal ticket': Pacific bodies, labour and mobility in Australia. *Asia Pacific Journal of Sport and Social Science*, 3(3), 236-249.
- Molnar, G., & Kanemasu, Y. (2014). Playing on the global periphery: Social scientific explorations of rugby in the Pacific Islands. *Asia Pacific Journal of Sport and Social Science*, 3(3), 175-185.
- Nemani, M., & Thorpe, H. (2016). The experiences of 'brown' female bodyboarders: negotiating multiple axes of marginality. In H. Thorpe, & R. Olive (Eds.), *Women in Action Sport Cultures* (pp. 213-233) Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- Panapa, L., & Phillips, M. (2014). Ethnic Persistence: Towards Understanding the Lived Experiences of Pacific Island Athletes in the National Rugby League. *International Journal of the History of Sport, 31*(11), 1374-1388.
- Rodriguez, L., & McDonald, B. (2013). After the whistle: Issues impacting on the health and wellbeing of Polynesian players off the field. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Health, Sport and Physical Education*, 4(3), 201-215.
- Schaaf, M. (2010). *Polynesian rugby player's perceptions and experiences of professional rugby*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Schaaf, M. (2011). Elite Pacific male rugby players' perceptions and experiences of professional rugby. *Junctures: The Journal for Thematic Dialogue*, 7, 41-54.
- Schaaf, M. F. (2016). *Motivation and burnout in professional Pasifiki rugby players.*(Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Schaaf, R. M. J. (2011). Pacific participation in Aotearoa/Niu Sila netball: body image, family, church, culture, education and physical education. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Schieder, D. (2014). Fiji Islander rugby union players in Japan: Corporate particularities and migration routes. *Asia Pacific Journal of Sport and Social Science*, *3*(3), 250-267.

- Schieder, D., & Presterudstuen, G. (2014). Sport Migration and Sociocultural Transformation:

  The Case of Fijian Rugby Union Players in Japan. *The International Journal of the History of Sport, 31*(11), 1359-1373.
- Tengan, T. P. K., & Markham, J. M. (2009). Performing Polynesian Masculinities in American Football: From 'Rainbows to Warriors'. *The International Journal of the History of Sport, 26*(16), 2412-2431.

## **MENTAL**

Within the Fonofale model, the mental pou decribes the wellbeing of a person's mind, and ensuing cognitions, behaviours and emotion. In this section we initially present research highlighting Pasifika perspectives of mental health and wellbeing, sourced from various Pasifika epistemologies. The following two sections inter-relate, comprising research within the clinical scope of psychology and the provision of therapies, counselling and psychological services. The first section, clinical scope, comprises broad based literature on Pasifika mental health immediately below the heading, sub sectioning to categories: anxiety and mood disorders, forensic, gambling, neuropsychology, psychosis, sexual violence, substance, drug and alcohol use, suicide and self harm. Please note, references to kava in this section are not intended to problematise its use, but reflect the available literature in this area. The second section on clinical practice houses literature on the practice of psychology from a Pasifika perspective, including psychometrics and assessment tools, the provision of culturally sensitive and competent care and services; all of which are important to consider for future practitioners looking to work with the Pasifika communities. The section concludes with research on emotions.

- Bush, A., Collings, S., Tamasese, K., & Waldegrave, C. (2005). Samoan and psychiatrists' perspectives on the self: Qualitative comparison. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *39*(7), 621-626.
- Callan, V. J., Wilks, J., & Forsyth, S. (1983). Cultural Perceptions of the Mentally III: Australian and Papua New Guinean High School Youth. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 17(3), 280-285.
- Dick, T. (2015). Alternative approaches to well-being and engagement in Vanuatu. Australasian Psychiatry, 23(6 suppl), 52-54.
- Gluckman, L. K. (1969). Drau ni kau: The ethnopsychiatry of Fiji in historical and clinical perspective. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *3*(3), 152-158.
- Goddard, M. (2011). *Out of place: madness in the highlands of Papua New Guinea*. Oxford, NY: Berghahn Books.

- Hezel, F. X. (1987). In search of the Social Roots of Mental Pathology in Micronesia. In A. B. Robillard, & A. J. Marsella (Eds.), *Contemporary Issues in Mental Research in the Pacific Islands* (pp. 12-31). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii.
- Hezel, F. X. (1987). In search of the social roots of mental pathology in Micronesia. In A. B. Robillard, & A. J. Marsella (Eds.), *Contemporary issues in mental health research in the Pacific Islands* (pp. 12-31). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii.
- Kilcullen, M. L. (2011). Explorations of understandings of mental health in an urban Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander sample. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation), James Cook University, Queensland, Australia.
- Kilcullen, M. L., Swinbourne, A., & Cadet-James, Y. (2012). Mental health and connectedness: exploring Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander perspectives. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 48, 62.
- Kilcullen, M., Swinbourne, A., & Cadet-James, Y. (2016). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health and well-being: implications for a cognitive behavioural therapy framework.

  Australian Psychologist, 51, 453-462.
- Kilcullen, M., Swinbourne, A., & Cadet-James, Y. (2012). Cultural identity and mental health: Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health and wellbeing. *Psychology & Health, 27*, 67-68.
- Loban, H. (2011). Indigenous consumers, financial stress and emotional wellbeing. *Aboriginal and Islander Health Worker Journal*, *35*, 14-16.
- Lui, D. (2007). Spiritual Injury: A Samoan Perspective on Spirituality's Impact on Mental Health. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli:*Contemporary challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples (pp. 66-76). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Mahina, O. (2002). 'Atamai, fakakaukau and vale: 'mind', 'thinking' and 'mental illness' in Tonga. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *9*(2), 303-308.
- Marsella, A. J., Oliveira, J. M., Plummer, C. M., & Crabbe, K. M. (1995). Native Hawaiian (kanaka maoli) culture, mind and well-being. In H. I. McCubbin, E. A. Thompson & J. E. Fromer (Eds.), *Resiliency in ethnic minority families: Native immigrant American families*. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Masoe, P., & Bush, A. (2009). A Samoan perspective on infant mental health. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 148-155.
- McCubbin, L. D. (2007). The role of indigenous family ethnic schema on well-being among Native Hawaiian families. *Contemporary Nurse*, 23(2), 170-180.

- Noricks, J. (1981). The meaning of Niutao Fakavalevale (Crazy) Behavior: A Polynesian Theory of Mental Disorder. *Pacific Studies*, *5*(1), 19-33.
- Poltorak, M. (2007). Nemesis, Speaking, and Tauhi Vaha'a: Interdisciplinarity and the Truth of "Mental Illness" in Vava'u, Tonga. *The Contemporary Pacific*, 19(1), 1-35.
- Poltorak, M. (2011). Comedy, Stigma and fakasesele: Contesting 'Mental Illness' in Vava 'u. In T. Sheen, N. Drescher & M. Daly (Eds.), *Tonga: Land, Sea and People* (pp. 217-234). Nuku'alofa, Tonga: Vava'u Press.
- Puloka, M. H. (1999). 'Avanga: Tongan concepts of mental illness. *Pacific Health Dialog, 6*(2), 268-275.
- Puna, E. T. (2013). New Zealand-born Cook Islands youth views towards positive mental wellbeing and Suicide prevention. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Stewart-Withers, R. R., & O'Brien, A. P. (2006). Suicide prevention and social capital: A Samoan perspective. *Health Sociology Review, 15*(2), 209-220.
- Twaddle, I. K., Roberto, J. P., & Quintanilla, L. D. (2003). Chamorro perspectives on mental health issues in Guam: Cross-currents of indigenous and western cultural discourses. South Pacific Journal of Psychology, 14, 30-59.
- Vaka, S. L. (2014). A Tongan talanoa about conceptualisations, constructions and understandings of mental illness. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, Albany, New Zealand.

## Clinical Scope

- Adams, J., Dickinson, P., & Asiasiga, L. (2013). Mental health issues for lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people: a qualitative study. *International Journal of Mental Health Promotion*, 15(2), 105-120.
- Allan, A. T., & Hunter, E. M. (1985). Cross-cultural psychiatry in Micronesia: The consultant's view. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *31*(1), 59-66.
- Allen, J. S., & Laycock, J. L. (1997). Major mental illness in the Pacific: a review. *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(2), 105-118.
- Bathgate, M., & Pulotu-Endemann, F. K. (1997). Pacific people in New Zealand. In P. Ellis, & S. Collings (Eds.), *Mental health in New Zealand from a health perspective*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health.
- Bridgman, G. (1997). Mental illness and Pacific people in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog,* 4(2), 95-104.

- Carlton, B. S., Goebert, D. A., Miyamoto, R. H., Andrade, N. N., Hishinuma, E. S., Makini Jr, G. K., . . . Nishimura, S. T. (2006). Resilience, family adversity and well-being among Hawaiian and non-Hawaiian adolescents. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 52(4), 291-308.
- Dawson, J. B., Abbott, M. W., & Henning, M. A. (1987). Who gets committed: demographic and diagnostic data. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 100(819), 142-145.
- Farobo, B. (1997). Management of major mental illnesses in the Solomon Islands. International Journal of Mental Health, 26(3), 94-98.
- Foliaki, S. (1997). Migration and mental health: the Tongan experience. *International Journal of Mental Health*, 26(3), 36-54.
- Foliaki, S. (1999). Mental health among Tongan migrants. Pacific Health Dialog, 6(2), 288-294.
- Foliaki, S., Kokaua, J., Schaaf, D., & Tukuitonga, C. (2006). *Pacific people: Te Rau Hinengaro:*The New Zealand Mental Health Survey. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health.
- Futterman-Collier, A., Sadao, K., Otto, C., & Polloi, A. (1997). Perceptions of the Social, cultural and psychological well-being in Palau. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 4(1), 28-34.
- Guerrero, A. P. S., Fung, D., Suaalii-Sauni, T., & Wiguna, T. (2013). Care for the seafarers: A review of mental health in Austronesia. *Asia-Pacific Psychiatry*, *5*(3), 119-140.
- Hunter, E., Thusanth, S., McCalman, J., & Gopalkrishnan, N. (2015). Mental health in the island nations of the Western Pacific: a rapid review of the literature. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 23(6 suppl), 9-12.
- Kokaua, J., Schaaf, D., Foliaki, S. A., & Wells, J. E. (2009). Twelve-month prevalence, severity, and treatment contact of mental disorders in New Zealand born and migrant participants in Te Rau Hinengaro: The New Zealand Mental Health Survey. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 9-17.
- Le Va. (2009). *Kato Fetu: Setting a Pacific Mental Health and Addiction Research Agenda Summary*. Auckland, New Zealand: Le Va.
- Mafi, G. H. (1999). Mental dis-ease in a Tongan General Practice. *Pacific Health Dialog, 6*(2), 196-198.
- Makini Jr., G. K., Andrade, N. N., Nahulu, L. B., Yuen, N., Yate, A., McDermott Jr., J. F., . . . Waldron, J. A. (1996). Psychiatric Symptoms of Hawaiian Adolescents. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 2(3), 183-191.
- Malo, V. (2000). Pacific people in New Zealand talk about their experiences with mental illness. Wellington, New Zealand: Mental Health Commission.
- Mascoe, P. & Bush, A. (2009). A Samoan perspective on infant mental health. *Pacific Health Dialog, 15*(1), 148-155

- McDade, T. W. (2002). Status incongruity in Samoan youth: a biocultural analysis of culture change, stress, and immune function. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly, 16*(2), 123-150.
- McDade, T. W. (2003). Life event stress and immune function in Samoan adolescents: Towards a cross-cultural psychoneuroimmunology. In J. Wilce (Ed.), Social and Cultural lives of Immune Systems: Contextualizing Psychoneuroimmunology, Embodying the Social Sciences (pp. 170-188). New York, NY: Routledge.
- McDade, T. W., & Worthman, C. M. (2004). Socialization ambiguity in Samoan adolescents: a model for human development and stress in the context of culture change. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 14(1), 49-72.
- Nahulu, L. B., Andrade, N. N., Makini Jr, G. K., Yuen, N. Y., McDermott Jr, J. F., Danko, G. P., . . . Waldron, J. A. (1996). Psychosocial risk and protective influences in Hawaiian adolescent psychopathology. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 2(2), 107-114.
- Native Hawaiian Health Research Consortium. (1985). E Ola Mau: Native Hawaiian Health Needs Study: Mental Health Task Force Report. Honolulu, HI: Native Hawaiian Health Research Consortium, Alu Like, Incorporated.
- Nielssen, O., Fukui, A., Fawkner, L., & Walker, K. (2014). Va'a fakalelei 'atamai: restoring the mind in the Kingdom of Tonga. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 22(2), 183-185.
- Niumata-Faleafā, M., & Lui, D. (2005). A preliminary report on outcome measures for Pacific Island peoples. Auckland, New Zealand: Te Pou O Te Whakaaro Nui.
- Parker, R. (2010). Mental illness in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. In N. Purdie, P. Dudgeon & R. Walker (Eds.), Working Together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander mental health and wellbeing principles and practice (pp. 65-74). Australia: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Price, J., & Eastwell, H. D. (1980). Psychological problems relating to the educated elite in some Pacific peoples. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 14(3), 199-202.
- Purdie, N., Dudgeon, P., & Walker, R. (Eds.). (2010). Working Together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mental Health and Wellbeing Principles and Practice. Australia:

  Commonwealth of Australia.
- Ran, M., Mendez, A. J., Leng, L., Bansil, B., Reyes, N., Cordero, G., . . . Tang, M. (2016).

  Predictors of Mental Health Among College Students in Guam: Implications for Counseling. *Journal of Counseling & Development, 94*(3), 344-355.
- Raphael, B., & Swan, P. (1997). The mental health of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. *International Journal of Mental Health*, 26(3), 9-22.

- Rees, S., Tay, A. K., Kareth, M., & Silove, D. (2016). No justice in sight: The mental health and wellbeing of West Papuan refugees. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 50(1), 96-97.
- Rezentes, W. C. (1996). *Ka lama kukui: Hawaiian psychology: An introduction*. Honolulu, HI: A'ali'i Books.
- Ryan, B., Goding, M., Fenner, P., Percival, S., Percival, W., Latai, L., . . . Ng, C. (2015). Art and mental health in Samoa. *Australasian Psychiatry*, *23*(6), 55-58.
- Simi, S. (2007). Pregnancy, Adoption, FASD, and Mental Illness. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 221-231). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Streltzer, J., Rezentes III, W. C., & Arakaki, M. (1996). Does acculturation influence psychosocial adaptation and well-being in Native Hawaiians? *The International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 42(1), 28-37.
- Tautolo, E., Schluter, P. J., & Sundborn, G. (2009). Mental health well-being amongst fathers within the Pacific Island Families Study. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *15*(1), 69-78.
- Trotter, C. M. (1985). Community participation in mental health training. *Mobius*, 5(3), 37-44.
- Young, B. B. C. (1980). The Hawaiians. In J. F. McDermott, W. S. Tseng & T. W. Maretzki (Eds.), People and Cultures of Hawaii: A psychocultural profile. Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Zubrick, S. R., Dudgeon, P., Gee, G., Glaskin, B., Kelly, K., Paradies, Y., . . . Walker, R. (2010).

  Social Determinants of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social and Emotional
  Wellbeing. In N. Purdie, P. Dudgeon & R. Walker (Eds.), Working Together: Aboriginal
  and Torres Strait Islander Mental Health and Wellbeing Principles and Practice. (pp.
  75-90). Australia: Commonwealth of Australia.

### **Anxiety and Mood Disorders**

- Abbott, M. W., & Williams, M. M. (2006). Postnatal depressive symptoms among Pacific mothers in Auckland: prevalence and risk factors. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 40(3), 230-238.
- Crabbe, K. M. (1998). Etiology of depression among Native Hawaiians. *Pacific Health Dialog,* 5(2), 341-345.
- Crabbe, K. M., Kaholohula, J. K., Kenui, C. K., & Grandinetti, A. (1996). Prevalence of depression, degrees of Hawaiianess, and modes of acculturation among Native Hawaiians living in rural North Kohala. *The National Institute of Health Asian and Pacific Islander American Health Research Conference,* Honolulu: The National Institute of Health.

- Deo, S. S. (2012). *Maori, Pacific, and European differences in response to pain and worry: an experimental investigation.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Fuatai, L., & Soon-Schuster, F. (2001). Anxiety, stress and coping strategies among University of South Pacific students. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(1), 83-93.
- Gao, W., Paterson, J., Abbott, M., Carter, S. & Lusitini, L. (2010). Pacific Islands Families Study: Intimate partner violence and postnatal depression. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 12(2), 242-248.
- Ginter, E. J., Glauser, A., & Richmond, B. O. (1994). Loneliness, social support, and anxiety among two South Pacific cultures. *Psychological Reports*, *74*(3 Pt 1), 875-879.
- Held, R. F., DePue, J., Rosen, R., Bereolos, N., Nu'usolia, O., Tuitele, J., . . . McGarvey, S. (2010). Patient and Healthcare Provider Views of Depressive Symptoms and Diabetes in American Samoa. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology, 16*(4), 461-467.
- Hinton, R., & Earnest, J. (2010). I worry so much I think it will kill me: Psychosocial Health and the links to the conditions of women's lives in Papua New Guinea. *Health Sociology Review*, 19(1), 5-19.
- Kaholokula, J. K. (2007). Colonialism, Acculturation, and Depression among Kanaka Maoli of Hawai'i. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli:*Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples (pp. 180-195).

  Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Kaholokula, J. K., Grandinetti, A., Crabbe, K. M., Chang, H. K., & Kenui, C. K. (1999). Depressive symptoms and cigarette smoking among Native Hawaiians. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health / Asia-Pacific Academic Consortium for Public Health*, 11(2), 60-64.
- Lealaiauloto, R., & Bridgman, G. (1997). Postnatal distress among Pacific women in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 4(2), 38-41.
- Loan, I. S. (2015). The Experience of Depression in the Tokelauan Culture in Two North Island Communities. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Sarris, J., Kavanagh, D. J., Adams, J., Bone, K., & Byrne, G. (2009). Kava Anxiety Depression Spectrum Study (KADSS): a mixed methods RCT using an aqueous extract of Piper methysticum. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, *17*(3), 176-178.
- Staab, J. P., Grieger, T. A., Fullerton, C. S., & Ursano, R. J. (1996). Acute stress disorder, subsequent posttraumatic stress disorder and depression after a series of typhoons. *Anxiety*, *2*(5), 219-225.

### Child and Youth Behavioural and Mood Disorders

- Carter, S., Paterson, J., Gao, W.Z. & Lusitini, L. (2008). Maternal smoking during pregnancy and behaviour problems in a birth cohort of two-year-old Pacific children in New Zealand. *Early Human Development*, 84(1), 59-66.
- Gao, W., Paterson, J., Abbott, M., Carter, S., & Iusitini, L. (2007). Maternal mental health and child behaviour problems at 2 years: findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study.

  Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 41(11), 885-895.
- Gao, W., Paterson, J., Abbott, M., Carter, S., Lusitini, L. & McDonald-Sundborn, G. (2010).

  Impact of current and past intimate partner violence on maternal mental health and behaviour at two years after childbirth: Evidence from the Pacific Islands Families Study. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 44(2), 174-182.
- Makini Jr., G. K., Andrade, N. N., Nahulu, L. B., Yuen, N., Yate, A., McDermott Jr., J. F., . . . Waldron, J. A. (1996). Psychiatric Symptoms of Hawaiian Adolescents. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 2(3), 183-191.
- Mills, G. G., & Davies, M. (1999). The marginal child: A study of socially disaffiliated children in the South Pacific. *The International Journal of Children s Rights, 7*(3), 239-258.
- Nahulu, L. B., Andrade, N. N., Makini Jr, G. K., Yuen, N. Y., McDermott Jr, J. F., Danko, G. P., . . . Waldron, J. A. (1996). Psychosocial risk and protective influences in Hawaiian adolescent psychopathology. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 2(2), 107-114.
- Paterson, J., Carter, S., Gao, W., Cowley-Malcolm, E., & Iusitini, L. (2008). Maternal intimate partner violence and behavioural problems among Pacific children living in New Zealand. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 49*(4), 395-404.
- Paterson, J., Lusitini, L., & Taylor, S. (2014). Pacific Islands Families Study: depressive symptoms in 9-year-old Pacific children living in New Zealand. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, *127*(1390), 13-22.
- Paterson, J., Taylor, S., Schluter, P., & Iusitini, L. (2013). Pacific Islands Families (PIF) study: Behavioural problems during childhood. *Journal of Child and Family Studies, 22*(2), 231-243.
- Silburn, S., Glaskin, B., Henry, D., & Drew, N. (2010). Anxiety and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Young People. In N. Purdie, P. Dudgeon & R. Walker (Eds.), *Working Together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mental Health and Wellbeing Principles and Practice* (pp. 105-116). Australia: Commonwealth of Australia.

## **Eating Disorders**

- Becker, A. E. (2004). Television, disordered eating, and young women in Fiji: negotiating body image and identity during rapid social change. *Culture, Medicine, and Psychiatry, 28*, 533-59.
- Becker, A. E., Burwell, R. A., Herzog, D. B., Hamburg, P., & Gilman, S. (2002). Eating behaviours and attitudes following prolonged exposure to television among ethnic Fijiam adolescent girls. *The British Journal of Psychiatry, 18*, 509-514.
- Becker, A. E., Burwell, R. A., Navara, K., & Gilman, S. E. (2003). Binge eating and Binge eating disorder in a small-scale indigenous society: the view from Fiji. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 34, 423-431.
- Becker, A. E., Fay, K. E., Agnew-Blais, J., Khan, A. N., Striegel-Moore, R. H., & Gilman, S. E. (2011). Social network media exposure and adolescent eating pathology in Fiji. *The Bristish Journal of Psychiatry*, 198, 43-50..
- Becker, A. E., Fay, K., Agnew-Blais, J., Guamaccia, P. M., Striegel-Moore, R. H., & Gilman, S. E. (2010). Development of a measure of 'aculturation' for ethnic Fijians: methodologic and conceptual considerations for application to eating disorders research.

  Transcultural Psychiatry, 47, 754-786.
- Becker, A. E., Thomas, J. J., Bainivualiku, A., Richards, L., Navara, K., Roberts, A. L., Gilman, S. E., Striegel-Moore, R. H., & HEALTHY Fiji Study Group. (2010). Adaptation and evaluation of the Clinical Impairment Assessment to assess disordered eating related distress in an adolescent female ethnic Fijian population. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 43, 179-186.
- Becker, A. E., Thomas, J. J., Bainivualiku, A., Richards, L., Navara, K., Roberts, A. L., Gilman, S. E., Striegel-Moore, R. H., & HEALTHY Fiji Study Group. (2010). Validity and reliability of a Fijian translation and adaptation of the Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire.

  International Journal of Eating Disorders, 43, 171-178.
- Edman, J. L., & Yates, A. (2004). Eating disorder symptoms among Pacific Island and Caucasian women: the impact of self-dissatisfaction and anger discomfort. *Journal of Mental Health*, 13, 143-150.
- Gerbasi, M. E., Richards, L. K., Thomas, J. J., Agnew-Blais, J. C., Thompson-Brenner, H., Gilman, S. E., & Becker, A. E. (2014). Globalization and eating disorder risk: peer influence, perceived social norms, and adolescent disordered eating in Fiji.

  International Journal of Eating Disorders, 14, 727-737.
- Hay, P. J., & Carriage, C. (2012). Eating disorder features in indigenous Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australian Peoples. *BMC Public Health*, 12, 1-6.

Niide, T. K., Davis, J., Tse, A. M., & Harrigan, R. C. (2013). Evaluating the impact of a school based prevention program on self-esteem, body image and risky dieting attitudes and behaviors among Kaua'i youth. *Hawai'i Journal of Medicine & Public Health, 72,* 273-278.

#### Forensic

- Hansen-Reid, M. (2011). Samoan Fa'afafine-navigating the New Zealand prison environment: A single case study. *Sexual Abuse in Australia and New Zealand*, 3(1), 4-9.
- Kelly-Hanku, A., Kawage, T., Vallely, A., Mek, A., & Mathers, B. (2015). Sex, violence and HIV on the inside: cultures of violence, denial, gender inequality and homophobia negatively influence the health outcomes of those in closed settings. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 17(8), 990-1003.
- Kinner, S. A., Winter, R., & Saxton, K. (2015). A longitudinal study of health outcomes for people released from prison in Fiji: the HIP-Fiji project. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 23(6), 17-21.
- Koloto, A. H. (2003). *The needs of Pacific peoples when they are victims of crime*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Justice.
- Pridmore, S., Ryan, K., & Blizzard, L. (1995). Victims of Violence in Fiji. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 29(4), 666-670.
- Shepherd, S. M., & Ilalio, T. (2016). Maori and Pacific Islander overrepresentation in the Australian criminal justice system what are the determinants? *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 55, 113-128.
- Tunufa'i, L. (2013). E Agatonu a Manu'a o Fesili: investigating the attitudes of an Auckland Samoan population toward the New Zealand criminal justice system. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.

## Youth Offending

- Francis, S. (1995). Pacific Islander young people: Issues of juvenile justice and cultural dislocation. In C. Guerra, & R. White (Eds.), *Ethnic minority youth in Australia: Challenges and myths* (pp. 111-120). Hobart, Australia: National Clearinghouse for youth studies.
- Godinet, M. T. (2013). Testing a model of delinquency with Samoan adolescents. *Journal of Social Work, 13*(1), 54-74.

- Godinet, M. T., & Vakalahi, H. O. (2009). Conceptualizing delinquency among Samoan adolescents: an integrative model. *Journal of Ethnicity in Criminal Justice*, 7(2), 135-159.
- Ioane, A. J. (2011). A comparison of Pacific Island violent youth offenders with Maori and Palagi violent youth offenders. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Ioane, J., Lambie, I., & Percival, T. (2013). A review of the literature on Pacific Island youth offending in New Zealand. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 18(4), 426-433.
- Mayeda, D. T., & Pasko, L. (2012). Youth violence and hegemonic masculinity among Pacific Islander and Asian American adolescents. *Critical Criminology, 20*, 121-139.
- Pasko, L., & Mayeda, D. T. (2011). Pathways and Predictors of Juvenile Justice Involvement for Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Youths: A Focus on Gender. *Journal of Ethnic and Cultural Diversity in Social Work: Innovations in Theory, Research and Practice, 20*(2), 114-130.
- Paterson, J., Tautolo, E., Iusitini, L., Taylor, S., & Siegert, R. (2016). Pacific Islands families study: risk and protective factors associated with delinquent behaviour in Pacific 11-year-olds. *Psychology, 7*, 953-964.
- Ravulo, J. (2015). Pacific Youth Offending within an Australian Context. *Youth Justice*.

  Advanced online publication.
- Stevens, D. L., & Hardy, S. A. (2013). Individual, family, and peer predictors of violence among Samoan adolescents. *Youth & Society*, *45*(3), 428-449.
- Vakalahi, H. F. O., & Godinet, M. T. (2008). Family and Culture, and the Samoan Youth. *Journal of Family and Social Work, 11*(3), 229-253.

## Gambling

- Bellringer, M. E., Cowley-Malcolm, E. T., Abbott, M. W., & Williams, M. M. (2005). Pacific Islands families: The first two years of life: Gambling amongst Pacific mothers.

  International Journal of Mental Health & Addiction, 3(1), 41-48.
- Bellringer, M. E., Perese, L. M., Abbott, M. W., & Williams, M. M. (2006). Gambling among Pacific mothers living in New Zealand. *International Gambling Studies*, 6(2), 217-235.

- Bellringer, M., Pulford, J., Abbott, M., DeSouza, R., & Clarke, D. (2008). *Problem gambling-barriers to help-seeking behaviours* Gambling Research Centre, Auckland University of Technology, Final Report.
- Guttenbeil-Po'uhila, Y., & Tu'itahi, S. (2007). Misplaced dreams: Tongan gambling in Auckland. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 232-246). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Perese, L., & Faleafā, M. (2000). *The impact of gambling on some Samoan people's lives in Auckland*. Auckland, New Zealand: The Compulsive Gambling Society of NZ.
- Poutasi, U., Bellringer, M., Landon, J., & Abbott, M. (2015). God, Family and money: Pacific people and gambling in New Zealand. *International Gambling Studies*, *15*(1), 72-87.
- Schluter, P.J., Abbott, M.A.X.W. & Bellringer, M.E. (2008). Problem gambling related to intimate partner violence: Findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study.

  International Gambling Studies, 8(1), 49-61.
- Schluter, P., Bellringer, M., & Abbott, M. (2007). Maternal gambling associated with families' food, shelter, and safety needs: Findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *Journal of Gambling Issues, 19,* 87-90.
- Shepherd, R. M. (2016). Piliwaiwai: problem gambling in Hawai'i. *Hawai'i Journal of Medicine* & *Public Health, 75,* 73-77.
- Tu'itahi, S., Guttenbeil-Po'uhila, Y., Htay, T., & Hand, J. (2004). Gambling issues for Tongan people in Auckland. *Journal of Gambling Issues, 12*, February 9, 2016.

### Neuropsychology

- Ahlskog, J. E., Petersen, R. C., Waring, S. C., Esteban-Santillan, C., Craig, U. K., Maraganore, D.M., . . . Kurland, L. T. (1997). Guamanian neurodegenerative disease: are diabetes mellitus and altered humoral immunity clues to pathogenesis? *Neurology*, *48*(5), 1356-1362.
- Allen, J. S., Lambert, A. J., Johnson, F. Y. A., Schmidt, K., & Nero, K. L. (1996). Antisaccadic eye movements and attentional asymmetry in schizophrenia in three Pacific populations. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *94*(4), 258-265.
- Banack, S. A., Cox, P. A., Murch, S. J., Fleming, T., & Racey, P. (2010). Flying fox consumption and human neurodegenerative disease in Guam. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Bennardo, G. (2002). Map Drawing in Tonga, Polynesia: Accessing Mental Representations of Space. *Field Methods*, *14*(4), 390-417.

- Browne, C. V., Ka'opua, L. S., Jervis, L. L., Alboroto, R., & Trockman, M. L. (2016). United States indigenous populations and dementia: is there a case for culture-based psychosocial interventions? *The Gerontologist*, gnw059.
- Faleafā, M. (2004). *Traumatic Brain Injury Rehabilitation Outcomes Across Cultures,*(Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Feigin, V. L., McNaughton, H., & Dyall, L. (2007). Burden of stroke in Maori and Pacific peoples of New Zealand. *International Journal of Stroke*, 2(3), 208-210.
- Kurland, L., Hirano, A., Malamud, N., & Lessell, S. (1961). Parkinsonism-dementia complex, an endemic disease on the island of Guam. Clinical, pathological, genetic and epidemiological features. *Transactions of the American Neurological Association, 86*, 115-120.
- Lagolago, W., Theadom, A., Fairbairn-Dunlop, P., Ameratunga, S., Dowell, A., McPherson, K. M., . . . Feigin, V. L. (2015). Traumatic brain injury within Pacific people of New Zealand. *The New Zealand Medical Journal*, *128*(1412), 29-38.
- Myles-Worsley, M., & Park, S. (2002). Spatial working memory deficits in schizophrenia patients and their first degree relatives from Palau, Micronesia. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 114(6), 609-615.
- Steele, J. C. (2005). Parkinsonism–dementia complex of Guam. *Movement Disorders, 20*(12), 99-107.

## **Psychosis**

- Allen, J. S., Lambert, A. J., Johnson, F. Y. A., Schmidt, K., & Nero, K. L. (1996). Antisaccadic eye movements and attentional asymmetry in schizophrenia in three Pacific populations. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *94*(4), 258-265.
- Andrade, N. N., Hishinuma, E. S., McDermott, J. F., Johnson, R. C., Goebert, D. A., Makini, G. K., . . . Bell, C. K. (2006). The National Center on Indigenous Hawaiian Behavioral Health study of prevalence of psychiatric disorders in native Hawaiian adolescents.

  Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 45(1), 26-36.
- Dale, P. W. (1981). Prevalence of schizophrenia in the Pacific Island populations of Micronesia. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 16(2), 103-111.
- Hammond, K. W., Kauders, F. R., & MacMurray, J. P. (1983). Schizophrenia in Palau: a descriptive study. *The International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *29*(3), 161-170.
- Hezel, F. X., & Wylie, M. (1992). Schizophrenia and Chronic Mental Illness in Micronesia: An epidemiological survey. *Isla*, 1(2), 329-354.

- Hunter, E. M., Gynther, B. D., Anderson, C. J., Onnis, L. L., Nelson, J. R., Hall, W., . . . Groves, A. R. (2012). Psychosis in Indigenous populations of Cape York and the Torres Strait.

  Medical Journal of Australia, 196(2), 133-135.
- Hunter, E., Gynther, B., Anderson, C., Onnis, L., Groves, A., & Nelson, J. (2011). Psychosis and its Correlates in a Remote Indigenous Population. *Australasian Psychiatry*, *19*(5), 434-438.
- Ierago, L., Malsol, C., Singeo, T., Kishigawa, Y., Blailes, F., Ord, L... Ngiralmau, H. (2010).

  Adoption, family relations and psychotic symptoms among Palauan adolescents who are genetically at risk for developing schizophrenia. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 45(12), 1105-1114.
- Ioasa-Martin, I., & Moore, L. J. (2011). Problems with non-adherence to antipsychotic medication in Samoan new Zealanders: A literature review. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, *21*(4), 386-392.
- Kauders, F. R., MacMurray, J. P., & Hammond, K. W. (1982). Male predominance among Palauan schizophrenics. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 28(2), 97-102.
- Myles-Worsley, M., & Park, S. (2002). Spatial working memory deficits in schizophrenia patients and their first degree relatives from Palau, Micronesia. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 114(6), 609-615.
- Ngiralmau, H., Blailes, F., Myles-Worsley, M., & Ord, L. M. (2005). Preventive intervention for early psychosis in adolescents the Palau Youth at Risk Project. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 12(1), 43-46.
- Nielssen, O., Fukui, A., Fawkner, L., & Walker, K. (2014). Va'a fakalelei 'atamai: restoring the mind in the Kingdom of Tonga. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 22(2), 183-185.
- Schiffman, J. (2004). Schizotypal Traits in a non-clinical sample from Hawaii. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 11(1), 84-86.
- Sharma-Gopinath, R. (2011). Schizophrenia and other Psychotic Disorders in Guam: Revisiting Selten and Cantor-Graae's Hypothesis on Social Defeat. *Pacific Asia Inquiry, 2*(1), 103-120.
- Sullivan, R. J., Allen, J. S., & Nero, K. L. (2007). Schizophrenia in Palau. *Current Anthropology,* 48(2), 189-213.
- Sullivan, R. J., Allen, J. S., Otto, C., Tiobech, J., & Nero, K. (2000). Effects of chewing betel nut (Areca catechu) on the symptoms of people with schizophrenia in Palau, Micronesia. British Journal of Psychiatry, 177, 174-178.

- Sullivan, R. J., Andres, S., Otto, C., Miles, S. W., & Kydd, R. R. (2007). The Effects of an Indigenous Muscarinic Drug, Betel Nut (Areca catechu), on the Symptoms of Schizophrenia: A Longitudinal Study in Palau, Micronesia. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 164(4), 670-673.
- Tuitea, I. (2006). Solution focused nursing: an alternative model for assessing psychosis and mai aitu in mental health. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand.
- Waldo, M. C. (1999). Schizophrenia in Kosrae, Micronesia: prevalence, gender ratios, and clinical symptomatology. *Schizophrenia Research*, *35*(2), 175-181.

### Sexual Violence

- Bradley, C., & Kesno, J. (2001). Family and Sexual Violence in PNG: an Integrated Long-term Strategy. Report to the Family Violence Action Committee. Port Moresby, PNG:

  Institute of National Affairs.
- Finau, E., & Percival, T. (2010). *Halafononga faka Tonga ki he faka'ehi'ehi 'o e hia fakamalohi:*Tongan pathways to the prevention of sexual violence. Auckland, New Zealand: Pacific Health School of Population Health, University of Auckland.
- Hamelin, C., Salomon, C., Cyr, D., Gueguen, A., & Lert, F. (2010). Childhood sexual abuse and adult sexual health among indigenous Kanak women and non-Kanak women of New Caledonia. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *34*(9), 677-688.
- Hope, T., Rankine, J., & Percival, T. (2010). *Ko na auala faka-Tokelau ke puipui ai na amio faifakaulugaliki fakamalohi: Tokelau pathways to the prevention of sexual violence*.

  Auckland, New Zealand: Pacific Health School of Population Health, University of Auckland.
- Kingi, P., Rankine, J., & Percival, T. (2010). *Tau puipuiaga Faka-Niue ke taofi e mahani kolokolovao: Niue pathways to the prevention of sexual violence*. Auckland, New Zealand: School of Population Health Pacific Health, University of Auckland.
- Lepani, K. (2008). Mobility, Violence and the Gendering of HIV in Papua New Guinea. *The Australian Journal of Anthropology, 19*(2), 150-164.
- Lewis, D. E. J. (1990). Tungaru conjugal jealousy and sexual mutilation. *Pacific Studies, 13*(3), 115-126.
- Percival, T., Robati-Mani, R., Powell, E., Kingi, P., Peteru, M. C., Hope, L. T., . . . Rankine, J. (2010). *Pacific pathways to the prevention of sexual violence: Full Report*. Wellington, New Zealand: Pacific Health School of Population Health, University of Auckland.

- Peteru, M. C., & Percival, T. (2010). o 'Aiga o le 'anofale o afio'aga ma le fatu o le aganu'u:

  Samoan pathways to the prevention of sexual violence. Auckland, New Zealand: Pacific

  Health School of Pacific Health, University of Auckland.
- Powell, E., & Percival, T. (2010). *Na noda sala Vaka Viti ni tarova na vei kucumi: Fijian pathways to the prevention of sexual violence*. Auckland, New Zealand: Pacific Health School of Population Health, University of Auckland.
- Robati-Mani, R., & Percival, T. (2010). *Te ara Kuki Airani no te paruruanga i te kino tatomo tangata: Cook Islands pathways to the prevention of sexual violence*. Auckland, New Zealand: Pacific Health School of Population Health, University of Auckland.
- Selu, E., & Percival, T. (2010). Auala faka-Tuvalu e puipui ei a uiga puke malo: Tuvalu pathways to the prevention of sexual violence. Auckland, New Zealand: Pacific Health School of Population Health, University of Auckland.
- Xiao, H., & Smith-Prince, J. (2015). Disclosure of Child Sexual Abuse: The Case of Pacific Islanders. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, *24*(4), 369-384.

## Substance, Drug and Alcohol Use

- Alcohol Advisory Council of New Zealand (ALAC). (1997). The place of alcohol in the lives of people from Tokelau, Fiji, Niue, Tonga, Cook Islands and Samoa living in New Zealand: An overview. Wellington, New Zealand: Alcohol Advisory Council of New Zealand.
- Alcohol Advisory Council of New Zealand, Health Research Council of New Zealand, & Accident Compensation Corporation. (2008). Searching for Pacific solutions a community-based intervention project to minimise harm from alcohol use: final report. Wellington, New Zealand: Alcohol Advisory Council of New Zealand.
- Annandale, M., Macpherson, C., Richard, T., & Solomona, M. (2008). *A stocktake of Pacific alcohol and drug services and interventions*. Wellington, New Zealand: Alcohol Advisory Council of New Zealand.
- Austin, A. A., & Marsella, A. J. (2005). Understanding substance use and violent behavior in a Native Hawaiian Community. *Social Change and psychosocial adaptation in the Pacific Islands: Cultures in transition.* (pp. 171-186). New York, NY: Springer.
- Banwell, C. (1989). The place of alcohol in the lives of Cook Islands women living in Auckland.

  Department of Anthropology, University of Auckland.
- Barnes, S. S., Small, C. R., Lauilefue, T. A., Bennett, J., & Yamada, S. (2010). Alcohol consumption and gender in rural Samoa. *Substance Abuse and Rehabilitation*, 1, 1-4.
- Cawte, J. (1985). Psychoactive Substances of the South Seas: Betel, Kava and Pituri. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 19(1), 83-87.

- Chen, P., Johnson, F., & Taufa, T. (1999). Societal and health aspects of psychoactive drug abuse in Papua New Guinea. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *6*(1), 93-100.
- Devaney, M. L., Devaney, M. L., Reid, G., Baldwin, S., Crofts, N., & Power, R. (2006). Illicit drug use and responses in six Pacific Island countries. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 25*(4), 387-390.
- Durand, A. M. (1995). Sexual behaviour and substance abuse among students in CNMI. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *2*(2), 22-30.
- Durand, Z., Cook, A., Konishi, M., & Nigg, C. (2015). Alcohol and substance use prevention programs for youth in Hawaii and Pacific Islands: A literature review. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, November 20, 2016.
- Edwards, C., Giroux, D., & Okamoto, S. K. (2010). A review of the literature on Native Hawaiian youth and drug use: Implications for research and practice. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, *9*(3), 153-172.
- Fitts, M. S., Palk, G. R., Lennon, A. J., & Clough, A. R. (2016). The characteristics of young Indigenous drink drivers in Queensland, Australia. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, *18*(3), 237-243.
- Gray, J., & Nosa, V. (2009). Tau Fifine Fiafia: the binge drinking behaviours of nine New Zealand born Niuean women living in Auckland. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 104-112.
- Howard, J., & Ali, H. (2013). Injecting drug use among young people in Pacific Island countries and territories: A review of the evidence. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 32*(6), 631-633.
- Howard, J., & Ali, H. (2014). Cannabis use among young people in Pacific Island Countries and Territories. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 38(1), 89-90.
- Huakau, J., Asiasiga, L., Ford, M., Pledger, M., Casswell, S., Suaalii-Sauni, T., & Lima, I. (2005).

  New Zealand Pacific peoples' drinking style: Too much or nothing at all? *New Zealand Medical Journal, 118*(1216), January 21, 2016.
- Hutton, F., & Wright, S. (2015). 'You don't ditch your girls': young Māori and Pacific women and the culture of intoxication. *Critical Public Health*, *25*(1), 101-119.
- Kuschel, R., Takiika, A. F. T., & 'Angiki, K. (2005). Alcohol and Drug use in Honiara, Solomon Islands: A cause for concern. *Social change and psychosocial adaptation in the Pacific Islands: Cultures in transition* (pp. 211-254). New York, NY: Springer.
- Lemert, E. M. (1964). Forms and Pathology of Drinking in Three Polynesian Societies. *American Anthropologist, 66*(2), 361-374.
- Levine, L. M. (2008). Substance Use and Barriers to Treatment Across Native

  Hawaiians/Pacific Islanders and Asian Americans. (Unpublished Master's Thesis).

  University of North Florida, Jacksonville, FL.

- Lima, I. (2004). *Tafesilafa'i: exploring Samoan alcohol use and health within the framework of fa'asamoa.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Makini Jr., G. K., Andrade, N. N., Nahulu, L. B., Yuen, N., Yate, A., McDermott Jr., J. F., . . . Waldron, J. A. (1996). Psychiatric Symptoms of Hawaiian Adolescents. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *2*(3), 183-191.
- Makini Jr., G. K., Hishinuma, E. S., Kim, S. P., Carlton, B. S., Miyamoto, R. H., Nahulu, L. B., . . . Else, I. R. (2001). Risk and protective factors related to native Hawaiian adolescent alcohol use. *Alcohol and Alcoholism (Oxford, Oxfordshire), 36*(3), 235-242.
- Marel, C., MacLean, S., & Midford, R. (2016). *Plain language review of volatile substance use among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people*. (No. 16). Australian Indigenous Health Reviews.
- Marshall, M. (1979). Weekend warriors: Alcohol in a Micronesian culture. Palo Alto, CA: Mayfield.
- Marshall, M. (1990). Combining insights from epidemiological and ethnographic data to investigate substance use in Truk, Federated States of Micronesia. *British Journal of Addiction*, 85(11), 1457-1468.
- Marshall, M., Sexton, R., & Insko, L. T. (1994). Inhalant abuse in the Pacific Islands: Gasoline sniffing in Chuuk, Federated States of Micronesia. *Pacific Studies*, *17*(2), 23-37.
- Mau, M. K., Asao, K., Efird, J., Saito, E., Ratner, R., Hafi, M., & Seto, T. (2009). Risk factors associated with methamphetamine use and heart failure among native Hawaiians and other Pacific Island peoples. *Vascular Health & Risk Management*, *5*(1), 45-52.
- Micronesian Seminar. (1997). Alcohol and Drug use in the Federated States of Micronesia: An Assessment of the Problem with Implications for treatment. (Unpublished Report). Micronesian Seminar, Pohnpei.
- Micronesian Seminar. (1997). Alcohol and Drug use in the Republic of the Marshall Islands: An Assessment of the Problem with Implications for treatment. (Unpublished Report). Micronesian Seminar, Pohnpei.
- Milgrom, P., Tut, O. K., Gilmatam, J., Gallen, M., & Chi, D. L. (2013). Areca use among adolescents in Yap and Pohnpei, the Federated States of Micronesia. *Harm Reduction Journal*, 10(26), 1-4.
- Ministry of Health. (1997). Kaikava me kare Inuinu: The place of alcohol in the lives of Cook Islands people living in Aotearoa/New Zealand. Wellington, New Zealand: Alcohol Advisory Council of New Zealand.
- Nero, K. L. (1990). The hidden pain: Drunkeness and domestic violence in Palau. *Pacific Studies*, 13(3), 63-92.

- Newcombe, D., Tanielu-Stowers, H., McDermott, R., Stephen, J., & Nosa, V. (2016). The validation of the alcohol, smoking and substance involvement screening test (ASSIST) amongst Pacific people in New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 45, 30-39
- Nishimura, S. T., Goebert, D. A., Ranmisetty-Mikler, S., & Caetano, R. (2005). Adolescent Alcohol Use and Suicide Indicators among Adolescents in Hawaii. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 11(4), 309-320.
- Nosa, V. H. (2005). *The perceptions and use of alcohol among Niuean men living in Auckland.* (Unpublished Doctoral Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Odden, H. L. (2012). Alcohol, tobacco, marijuana and hallucinogen use in Samoan adolescents. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 31*(1), 47-55.
- Okamoto, S. K., Helm, S., Giroux, D., & Kaliades, A. (2011). "I no like get caught using drugs": Explanations for refusal as a drug-resistance strategy for rural Native Hawaiian youths. Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work, 20(2), 150-166.
- Peltzer, K., & Pengpid, S. (2015). Early Substance Use Initiation and Suicide Ideation and Attempts among School-Aged Adolescents in Four Pacific Island Countries in Oceania.

  International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 12(10), 12291-12303.
- Peter, J., & Samo, M. (2005). Federated States of Micronesia: Islands in the Sun. In A. J. Marsella, A. A. Austin & B. A. Grant (Eds.), *Social change and psychosocial adaptation in the Pacific Islands: Cultures in transition* (pp. 133-144). New York, NY: Springer.
- Pinhey, T. K., & Wells, N. R. (2007). Asian-Pacific Islander adolescent methamphetamine use: does "ice" increase aggression and sexual risks? *Substance use & Misuse, 42*(11), 1801-1809.
- Pinhey, T. K., Lennon, D. A., & Pinhey, N. A. (1997). Consumer debt, alcohol use, and domestic violence in Guam. *Pacific Studies*, *20*(3), 51-60.
- Po 'A-Kekuawela, K., Okamoto, S. K., Nebre, L. R. H., Helm, S., & Chin, C. I. (2009). 'A 'ole Drugs! Cultural Practices and Drug Resistance of Rural Hawaiian Youths. *Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work, 18*(3), 242-258.
- Posanau, C. S. (1997). Substance abuse in the Pacific Islands, with special reference to Papua New Guinea. *International Journal of Mental Health, 26*(3), 55-68.
- Prescott, J., & McCall, G. (1988). Kava: use and abuse in Australia and the South
  Pacific. *Proceedings from the Symposium on Kava, University of New South Wales,*11th November, 1988, University of New South Wales, Australia.
- Puamau, E. S., Roberts, G., Schmich, L., & Power, R. (2011). Drug and Alcohol Use in Fiji: A Review. *Pacific Health Dialog, 17*(1), 165-172.

- Rankine, J. (2016). Wrestling with the hydra: health and welfare workers' perspective on women and alcohol in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *Women's Studies Journal, 30*, 53-61.
- Rubinstein, D. (1994). Changes in the Micronesian Family Structure Leading to Alcoholism, Suicide and Child Abuse and Neglect. *Micronesian Counsellor*, 15, 1-8.
- Samu, K. S., Suaalii-Samu, T., Pulford, J., Wheeler, A. (2009). *Pacific abstinence & responsible drinking study (PARDY): A qualitative investigation into factors that support abstinence or responsible drinking amongst Pacific youth*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health.
- Sarris, J., Kavanagh, D. J., Adams, J., Bone, K., & Byrne, G. (2009). Kava Anxiety Depression Spectrum Study (KADSS): a mixed methods RCT using an aqueous extract of Piper methysticum. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, *17*(3), 176-178.
- Schluter, P. J., Tautolo, E., Taylor, S., & Paterson, J. (2013). Alcohol consumption by parents of Pacific families residing in New Zealand: findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *Alcohol*, *47*(3), 241-248.
- Schwartz, T., & Romanucci Ross, L. (1974). Drinking and inebriate behavior in the Admiralty Islands, Melanesia. *Ethos, 2*(3), 213-231.
- Smith, B. J., Phongsavan, P., Bauman, A. E., Havea, D., & Chey, T. (2007). Comparison of tobacco, alcohol and illegal drug usage among school students in three Pacific Island societies. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 88(1), 9-18.
- Storr, C. L., Arria, A. M., Workman, R. L., & Anthony, J. C. (2004). Neighborhood Environment and Opportunity to Try Methamphetamine ("Ice") and Marijuana: Evidence from Guam in the Western Pacific Region of Micronesia. *Substance use & Misuse, 39*(2), 253-276.
- Suaalii-Sauni, T., Samu, K. S., Dunbar, L., Pulford, J., & Wheeler, A. (2012). A qualitative investigation into key cultural factors that support abstinence or responsible drinking amongst some Pacific youth living in New Zealand. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *9*(36), 1-12.
- Sundborn, G., Metcalf, P. A., Gentles, D., Scragg, R., Schaaf, D., Dyall, L., . . . Jackson, R. (2009). From Kava to Lager, alcohol consumption and drinking patterns for older adults of Pacific ethnic groups, and Europeans in the Diabetes Heart and Health Study (DHAHS) 2002-2003, Auckland New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 47-54.
- Teevale, T., Robinson, E., Duffy, S., Utter, J., Nosa, V., Clark, T., . . . Ameratunga, S. (2012).

  Binge drinking and alcohol-related behaviours amongst Pacific youth: a national survey of secondary school students. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, *125*(1352), 60-70.

- Vignier, N., Lert, F., Salomon, C., & Hamelin, C. (2011). Kava drinking associated with suicidal behaviour among young Kanaks using kava in New Caledonia. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 35(5), 427-433.
- Warren, H., Kirk, R., Lima, I., & Siataga, P. (2006). *Alcohol Community Interventions and Services for Pacific Peoples: Literature Review*. Wellington, New Zealand: Alcohol Advisory Council of New Zealand, Health Research Council and Accident Compensation Corporation.
- Wells, J. E., McGee, M. A., Baxter, J., Agnew, F., & Kokaua, J. (2009). Onset and lifetime use of drugs in New Zealand: Results from Te Rau Hinengaro: The New Zealand Mental Health Survey 2003–2004. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 28*(2), 166-174.
- Worth, H. (2000). Up on K Road on a Saturday night: Sex, gender and sex work in Auckland. *Venereology*, *13*(1), 15-24.
- Wu, L. T., Blazer, D. G., Gersing, K. R., Burchett, B., Swartz, M. S., Mannelli, P., & NIDA AAPI Workgroup. (2013). Comorbid substance use disorders with other Axis I and II mental disorders among treatment-seeking Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians/Pacific Islanders, and mixed-race people. *Journal of Psychiatric Research, 47*, 1940-1948.
- Wu, L. T., Blazer, D. G., Swartz, M. S., Burchett, B., Brady, K. T., & NIDA AAPI Workgroup. (2013). Illicit and nonmedical drug use among Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians/Pacific Islanders, and mixed-race individuals. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 133(2), 360-367.
- Wu, L. T., Swartz, M. S., Brady, K. T., Blazer, D. G., Hoyle, R. H., & NIDA AAPI Workgroup. (2014). Nonmedical stimulant use among young Asian-Americans, Native Hawaiians/Pacific Islanders, and mixed-race individuals aged 12–34 years in the United States. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *59*, 189-199.
- Yamada, S. (1998). Prostitution in CNMI: Political and economic aspects of emerging infectioous diseases. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *5*(1), 76-78.

#### Suicide and Self Harm

- Aghanwa, H. (2004). The determinants of attempted suicide in a general hospital setting in Fiji Islands: a gender-specific study. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 26(1), 63-69.
- Aghanwa, H. S. (2000). The characteristics of suicide attempters admitted to the main general hospital in Fiji Islands. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 49, 439-445.
- Aghanwa, H. S. (2001). Attempted suicide by drug overdose and by poison-ingestion methods seen at the main general hospital in the Fiji islands: a comparative study. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 23(5), 266-271.

- Ayers Counts, D. (1990). Beaten wife, suicidal woman: Domestic violence in Kaliai, West New Britain. *Pacific Studies*, *13*(3), 151-169.
- Booth, H. (1999). Gender, power and social change: youth suicide among Fiji Indians and Western Samoans. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society, 108*(1), 39-68.
- Booth, H. (1999). Pacific Island suicide in comparative perspective. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, *31*(4), 433-448.
- Booth, H. (1999). Patterns of Suicide: Factors affecting age-sex distributions of suicide in Western Samoa and Fiji Indians. Australian National University, Research School of Social Sciences.
- Bourke, T. (2001). Suicide in Samoa. Pacific Health Dialog, 8(1), 213-219.
- Bowles, J. R. (1985). Suicide and attempted suicide in contemporary Western Samoa. In F. X. Hezel, D. H. Rubinstein & G. W. White (Eds.), *Culture, youth and suicide in the Pacific* (pp. 15-35). Honolulu, HI: Pacific Islands Studies Program, Center for Asian and Pacific Studies, University of Hawaii at Manoa in collaboration with the Institute of Culture and Communication, East-West Center.
- Chand, R. K. (2015). Access to information: questions on equality, gender and geographical gap in relation to suicide prevention. *Journal of Pacific Studies*, 35(1), 1-19.
- Cowling, W. (1990). Mental illness is not the only cause of suicides in Tonga. *Matangi Tonga*, 5(6), 38-40.
- Dash, S. M. (2015). Deliberate self-harm behaviours of Pacific Island (PI) people in New Zealand: perspectives from PI mental health, addiction and social work professionals. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Else, R. N., Goeber, D. A., Bell, C. K., Carlton, B., & Fukuda, M. (2009). The relationship between violence and youth suicide indicators among Asian American and Pacific Islander youth. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *14*(6), 470-477.
- Finau, S. A., & Lasalo, P. (1985). Suicide and parasuicide in paradise. *New Zealand Family Physician*, 12, 101-104.
- Forster, P. M., Kuruleca, S. C., & Auxier, C. (2007). A note on recent trends in suicide in Fiji.

  Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology, 1(1), 1-4.
- Fuka-Lino, A. H. (2015). Fofola e fala kae alea e kāinga: exploring the issues of communication regarding Tongan youth suicide in South Auckland, New Zealand. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Henare, K., & Ehrhardt, P. (2004). Support for Maori, Pacific and Asian family, whanau and significant others who have been bereaved by suicides an analysis of the published and grey literature. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Youth Development.

- Henson, C., Taylor, A., Cohen, J., Waqabaca, A. Q., & Chand, S. (2012). Attempted suicide in Fiji. *Suicidology Online*, *3*, 83-91
- Hezel, F. X. (1984). Cultural patterns in Trukese suicide. Ethnology, 23(3), 193-206.
- Hezel, F. X. (1985). Trukese suicide. In F. X. Hezel, D. H. Rubinstein & G. W. White (Eds.), *Culture, Youth and Suicide in the Pacific: Papers from an East-West Center Conference* (pp. 112-124). Honolulu, HI: Pacific Islands Studies Program, Center for Asian and Pacific Studies, University of Hawaii at Manoa in collaboration with the Institute of Culture and Communication, East-West Center.
- Hezel, F. X. (1987). Truk suicide epidemic and social change. *Human Organization, 46*(4), 283-291.
- Hezel, F. X. (1989). Suicide and the Micronesian Family. *The Contemporary Pacific, 1*(1), 43-74.
- Hezel, F. X. (1989). What can we do to prevent Suicide? *Journal of the Pacific Society, 12*(2), 17-20.
- Hezel, F. X. (1994). What can we do to prevent suicide in the Pacific? *Pacific Health Dialog,* 1(1), 59-62.
- Hezel, F. X., Rubinstein, D. H., & White, G. M. (Eds.). (1985). *Culture, Youth and Suicide in the Pacific: Papers from an East-West Center Conference*. Honolulu, HI: Pacific Islands Studies Program, Center for Asian and Pacific Studies, University of Hawaii at Manoa in collaboration with the Institute of Culture and Communication, East-West Center.
- Hunter, E., & Harvey, D. (2002). Indigenous suicide in Australia, New Zealand, Canada and the United States. *Emergency Medicine*, *14*(1), 14-23.
- Le Va. (2014). FLO: Pasifika for life Pasifika community perspectives on Suicide prevention in New Zealand. Auckland, New Zealand: Le Va.
- Macpherson, C., & Macpherson, L. (1985). Suicide in Western Samoa: A sociological perspective. In F. X. Hezel, D. H. Rubinstein & G. W. White (Eds.), *Culture, youth and suicide in the Pacific* (pp. 36-73). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i Press.
- Macpherson, C., & Macpherson, L. (1987). Towards an Explanation of Recent Trends in Suicide in Western Samoa. *Man*, 22(2), 305-330.
- Magat, R. C., & Guerrero, A. P. (2008). Suicidal behavior trends in a pediatric population in Hawaii. *Hawaii Medical Journal*, *67*(3), 69.
- Nishimura, S. T., Goebert, D. A., Ranmisetty-Mikler, S., & Caetano, R. (2005). Adolescent Alcohol Use and Suicide Indicators among Adolescents in Hawaii. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 11(4), 309-320.

- Norton, R., & Macpherson, L. (1988). Chiefs, adolescent suicide and the transformation of chiefly authority in Western Samoa. *Man*, 23(4), 759-762.
- Peltzer, K., & Pengpid, S. (2015). Early Substance Use Initiation and Suicide Ideation and Attempts among School-Aged Adolescents in Four Pacific Island Countries in Oceania. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 12*(10), 12291-12303.
- Pinhey, T. K., & Millman, S. R. (2004). Asian/Pacific Islander adolescent sexual orientation and suicide risk in Guam. *American Journal of Public Health*, *94*(7), 1204-1206.
- Pridmore, S., Ryan, K., & Blizzard, L. (1995). Victims of Violence in Fiji. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 29(4), 666-670.
- Ran, M. (2007). Suicide in Micronesia: a systematic review. Primary Psychiatry, 14(11), 80-87.
- Ran, M., Chen, S., Salomon, M. I., Cruz, T., Bamba-Ada, M., De Jesus, L., . . . Valencia, K. (2015). Factors Related to Suicidal Ideation among College Students in Guam. *Illness, Crisis & Loss, 23*(1), 21-32.
- Roberts, G., Cohen, J., Khan, N., & Irava, W. (2007). Attempted Suicide in Western Viti Levu, Fiji. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *14*(1), 29-34.
- Rubinstein, D. (1994). Changes in the Micronesian Family Structure Leading to Alcoholism, Suicide and Child Abuse and Neglect. *Micronesian Counsellor*, 15, 1-8.
- Rubinstein, D. H. (1983). Epidemic suicide among Micronesian adolescents. *Social Science & Medicine*, *17*(10), 657-665.
- Rubinstein, D. H. (1987). Cultural patterns and contagion: Epidemic suicide among Micronesian youth. In A. B. Robillard, & A. J. Marsella (Eds.), *Contemporary issues in mental health research in the Pacific Islands* (pp. 127-148). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Rubinstein, D. H. (1992). Suicide in Micronesia and Samoa: a critique of explanations. *Pacific Studies*, 15(1), 51-75.
- Rubinstein, D. H. (1995). Love and suffering: Adolescent socialization and suicide in Micronesia. *The Contemporary Pacific, 7*(1), 21-53.
- Samu, K. S. (2003). *Social Correlates of Suicide among Samoan Youth*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Sinisa, V. (2013). The reflections by Tongan parents or caregivers on various factors that may have contributed to the suicide of their child. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, NZ.

- Smith, B. J., Phongsavan, P., Bampton, D., Peacocke, G., Gilmete, M., Havea, D., . . . Bauman, A. E. (2008). Intentional injury reported by young people in the Federated States of Micronesia, Kingdom of Tonga and Vanuatu. *BMC Public Health*, 8(1), 145.
- Stewart-Withers, R. R., & O'Brien, A. P. (2006). Suicide prevention and social capital: A Samoan perspective. *Health Sociology Review*, 15(2), 209-220.
- Tavite, A., & Tavite, S. (2009). Suicide in the Tokelau islands. *Pacific Health Dialog, 15*(2), 67-83.
- Teevale, T., Lee, A. C., Tiatia-Seath, J., Clark, T. C., Denny, S., Bullen, P., & Peiris-John, R. J. (2016). Risk and protective factors for suicidal behaviors among Pacific youth in New Zealand. *Crisis*, *37*, 335-346.
- Tiatia, J. (2003). Reasons to Live: NZ Born Samoan Young People's Responses to Suicidal Behaviours. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Tiatia, J. (2012). Commentary on 'Cultural Diversity Across the Pacific': Samoan Cultural Constructs of Emotion, New Zealand-Born Samoan Youth Suicidal Behaviours, and Culturally Competent Human Services. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology, 6*(2), 75-79.
- Tiatia, J., & Coggan, C. (2001). Young Pacifican suicide attempts: a review of emergency department medical records, Auckland, New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog, 8*(1), 124-128.
- Tiatia, T. J. (2007). New Zealand-born Samoan Young People, Suicidal Behaviours, and the Positive impact of Spirituality. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 94-104). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Tiatia-Seath, J. (2014). Pacific peoples, mental health service engagement and suicide prevention in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Ethnicity and Inequalities in Health and Social Care*, 7(3), 111-121.
- Tiatia-Seath, J. (2015). *Suicide Prevention for Tongan youth in New Zealand*. New Zealand: Health Research Council.
- Va'a, F. (1982). Samoa's youth suicide wave. Pacific Islands Monthly, 53(7), 28-29.
- Vignier, N., Lert, F., Salomon, C., & Hamelin, C. (2011). Kava drinking associated with suicidal behaviour among young Kanaks using kava in New Caledonia. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 35(5), 427-433.
- Vivili, P. S., Finau, S. A., & Finau, E. (1999). Suicide in Tonga. *Pacific Health Dialog: Journal of Community Health and Clinical Medicine for the Pacific, 6*(2), 211-212.

- White, M. G. (1985). Suicide and culture: Island views. In F. X. Hezel, D. H. Rubinstein & G. W. White (Eds.), *Culture, youth and suicide in the Pacific* (pp. 1-14). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Yuen, N. Y., Nahulu, L. B., Hishinuma, E. S., & Miyamoto, R. H. (2000). Cultural identification and attempted suicide in Native Hawaiian adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 39(3), 360-367.

# Clinical Practice

- Agnew, F., Pulotu-Endemann, F. K., Robinson, G., Suaalii-Sauni, T., Warren, H., Wheeler, A., . . . Schmidt-Sopoaga, H. (2004). *Pacific Models of Mental Health Service Delivery in New Zealand: ("PMMHSD") Project*. Health Research Council of New Zealand, New Zealand.
- Alefaio, S. (2009). Reflections of a practitioner: Purely a journey of the heart. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 171-176.
- Allan, A. T., & Hunter, E. M. (1985). Cross-cultural psychiatry in Micronesia: The consultant's view. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *31*(1), 59-66.
- Koka, B. E., Deane, F. P., & Lambert, G. (2004). Health worker confidence in diagnosing and treating mental health problems in Papua New Guinea. *South Pacific Journal of Psychology*, 15, 29-42.
- Koka, B. E., Deane, F. P., Lyons, G. C., & Lambert, G. (2014). General health workers' description of mental health problems and treatment approaches used in Papua New Guinea. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 60*(7), 711-719.
- Nelson, J. R., Bennett-Levy, J., Wilson, S., Ryan, K., Rotumah, D., Budden, W., Beale, D., & Stirling, J. (2015). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander mental health practitioners propose alternative clinical supervision models. *International Journal of Mental Health*, 44, 33-45.
- Rankine, J. (2016). Wrestling with the hydra: health and welfare workers' perspective on women and alcohol in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *Women's Studies Journal, 30*, 53-61.
- Ravulo, J. (2016). Pacific epistemologies in professional social work practice, policy and research. *Asia Pacific Journal of Social Work and Development*, *26*, 191-202.
- Su'a-Hawkins, A., & Mafileo, T. (2004). What is cultural supervision? *Social Work Now, 29,* 10-16.
- Vaka, S., Stewart, M. W., Foliaki, S., & Tu'itahi, M. (2009). Walking apart but towards the same goal? The view and practices of Tongan Traditional Healers and Western-Trained Tongan Mental Health Staff. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 89-95.

### Culturally Competent Counselling and Therapy

- Afeaki-Mafile'o, E. (2007). Affirming Works: A collective model of Pasifika Mentoring. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 16-25). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Afoa, I. (1997). Marriage and divorce among Samoan couples. In P. Culbertson (Ed.), Counselling issues and South Pacific communities (pp. 189-213). Auckland, New Zealand: Snedden & Cervin.
- Alefaio-Tugia, S. (2008). A Nui Wave encountering Psychology from the shores of the Pacific. In M. Levy, L. W. Nikora, B. Masters-Awatere, M. Rua & W. Waitoki (Eds.), Claiming Spaces: Proceedings of the 2007 National Maori and Pacific Psychologies Symposium 23rd-24th November 2007 (pp. 105-110) The University of Waikato, New Zealand: Maori and Psychology Research Unit.
- Allen, G. E. K., Cox, J., Smith, T. B., Hafoka, O., Griner, D., & Beecher, M. (2016).

  Psychotherapy Utilization and Presenting Concerns Among Polynesian American

  College Students. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 44(1), 28-49.
- Allen, G. E. K., Kim, B. S. K., Smith, T. B., & Hafoka, O. (2015). Counseling Attitudes and Stigma Among Polynesian Americans. *The Counseling Psychologist*,
- Anae, M., Moewaka Barnes, H., McCreanor, T., & Watson, P. (2002). Towards promoting youth mental health in Aotearoa/New Zealand: holistic 'houses' of health.

  International Journal of Mental Health Promotion, 4(2), 5-14.
- Ape-Esera, L., Nosa, V. & Goodyear-Smith, F. (2009). The Pacific primary health care workforce in New Zealand. *Journal of Primary Health Care*, 1(2), 126-133.
- Asi-Pakieto, H. (2009). The opinions and attitudes of female Samoan university students towards seeking professional counselling. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Austin, A. A. (2007). Doing good work and finding a sense of purpose: The nature and treatment of Substance abuse and Violence among Native Hawaiians. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 207-220). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Auxier, C., Forster, P. M., & Kuruleca, S. C. (2005). Counseling in Fiji. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, 27(2), 142-148.
- Canfield, B. S., & Cunningham, J. T. (2004). Cross-cultural considerations in counselling clients of Samoan heritage. *Issues in Religion and Psychotherapy*, 29(1), 128-133.

- Coombes, L., & Alefaio-Tugia, S. (2013). Pasifikology. News from psychologies' margins in Aotearoa/New Zealand: An interview with Siautu Alefaio-Tugia. *Annual Review of Critical Psychology*, 10, 35-49.
- Culbertson, P. (1999). Listening differently to Māori and Polynesian clients. *Forum: The Journal of the New Zealand Association of Psychotherapists*, 5, 64-82.
- Culbertson, P., Nelson-Agee, M., & Makasiale, C. O. (2007). *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples*. Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Dudgeon, P. (2012). Indigenous Australian mental health and racism: There could be Cathedrals of the spirit as well as stone. *Psychology Aotearoa*, 4(2), 85-91.
- Dudgeon, P., Walker, R., Scrine, C., Shepherd, C., Calma, T., & Ring, I. (2014). *Effective* strategies to strengthen the mental health and wellbeing of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. (No. 12). Closing the Gap Clearinghouse.
- Feather, J. S., Berking, T., & Murupaenga, P. (2008). Evidence-based trauma-focused cognitive behaviour therapy for abused children: interweaving of cultural context and evidence based TF-CBT with Maori and Pacific Island children and families traumatised by abuse. *Global Healthcare Solutions for Vulnerable Populations Conference*, Auckland, New Zealand. 16-17.
- Fung, P., & Montague, R. (2015). A qualitative evaluation of leadership development workshops for mental health workers from four Pacific Island Countries. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 23(3), 218-221.
- Gherardi, P., & Tanoi, E. (2000). Working with Pacific Island People. In H. Love, & W. Wittaker (Eds.), *Practice Issues for Clinical and Applied Psychologists in New Zealand* (pp. 158-163). Wellington: The New Zealand Psychological Society.
- Gluckman, L. K. (1977). Clinical experience with Samoans in Auckland, New Zealand.

  Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 11(2), 101-107.
- Halapua, W. (1997). An approach to pastoral care with a difference: The case of forgotten people. In P. Culbertson (Ed.), *Counselling issues and South Pacific Communities* (pp. 241-255). Auckland, New Zealand: Snedden & Cervin.
- Hunter, E. M., & Allan, A. T. (1986). Psychiatric consultation in Micronesia: The question of organicity. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 32(4), 40-47.
- Joines, K., & de Chesnay, M. (2008). Culturally competent care for Samoans. In M. de Chesnsay, & B. A. Anderson (Eds.), *Caring for the Vulnerable: Perspectives in Nursing Theory, Practice, and Research* (pp. 91-102) Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Kirk, R., Instone, A., Siataga, P., Ah Kuoi, A., & Lui, D. (2007). Feasibility Study Into the Establishment of Pacific Mental Health Workforce Development Organisation.

  National Centre of Mental Health Research and Workforce Development.

- Le Va. (2009). *Real Skills plus Seitapu: Working with Pacific Peoples*. Auckland, New Zealand: Te Pou o Te Whakaaro Nui.
- Levy, M. P., Nikora, L. W., Waitoki, W., Rua, M., & Masters, B. (2008). 2007 National Maori and Pacific psychologies symposium: Claiming spaces. *The Bulletin, 110*, 8-12.
- Lupe, K. (2007). An Ocean with many shores: Indigenous Consciousness and the Thinking Heart. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 122-135). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Lupe, K. (2013). Pacific Indigenous Well-Being: Wise body, singing heart... In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-Being: Cross-Cultural Perspectives* (pp. 213-224). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Mafile'o, T. (2004). Exploring Tongan Social Work Fekau'aki (Connecting) and Fakatokilalo (Humility). *Qualitative Social Work, 3*(3), 239-257.
- Makasiale, C. O. (2007). The use of symbol and metaphor in Pasifika Counseling. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 109-121). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Makasiale, C. O. (2013). The whole person and the Heart: Supervision the Pacific way. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-Being: Cross-Cultural Perspectives* (pp. 260-267). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Makasiale, C. O., & Culbertson, P. (2000). Mental Health and Polynesia clients. Retrieved from <a href="http://ptprof.com/index.php/2015/06/24/mental-health-and-polynesian-clients/">http://ptprof.com/index.php/2015/06/24/mental-health-and-polynesian-clients/</a>
- Makasiale, C. O., Patterson, S., Silipa, N., Tupou, F., Nelson-Agee, M., & Culbertson, P. (2008).

  Voicing the Unspoken: Breaking through the Barriers of Mainstream Institutionalized

  Deafness to Pacific Therapeutic Practices. In M. Levy, L. W. Nikora, B. Masters
  Awatere, M. Rua & W. Waitoki (Eds.), Claiming Spaces: Proceedings of the 2007

  National Maori and Pacific Psychologies Symposium 23rd-24th November 2007 (pp.

  29-35) The University of Waikato, New Zealand: Maori and Psychology Research Unit.
- Marshall, M. (1994). Social Isolation, Cultural Competence, and Disability in the Carolines.

  Micronesian Counselor 13. January 1, 2016. Retrieved from

  <a href="http://www.micsem.org/pubs/counselor/frames/socisofr.htm">http://www.micsem.org/pubs/counselor/frames/socisofr.htm</a>
- Marshall, M. (1996). Problematizing impairment: cultural competence in the Carolines. *Ethnology*, *35*(4), 249-263.
- Matai'a, J. (2006). It's not what you say, it's how you say it: Cultural ambiguity and speaking without naming the unspeakable. *Social Work Review*, 18(1), 37-41.
- McRobie, S. V., & Makasiale, C. O. (2013). On values and spirituality in Trauma Counseling. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities Well-Being: Cross-Cultural Perspectives* (pp. 130-141). New York, NY: Routledge.

- Mila-Schaaf, K., & Hudson, M. (2009). The interface between cultural understandings:

  Negotiating new spaces for Pacific mental health. *Pacific Health Dialog, 15*(1), 113-119.
- Mila-Schaaf, K., & Hudson, M. (2009). *Negotiating space for indigenous theorising in Pacific mental health and addictions*. Auckland, New Zealand: LeVa.
- Mitaera, J. (1997). Pastoral Care and the "Real World Context" of Cook Islanders in Aotearoa New Zealand. In P. Culbertson (Ed.), *Counselling issues and South Pacific Communities* (pp. 117-113). Auckland, New Zealand: Snedden & Cervin.
- Morelli, P. T. T., & Fong, R. (2000). The role of Hawaiian elders in substance abuse treatment among Asian/Pacific Islander women. *Journal of Family Social Work, 4*(4), 33-44.
- Mulitalo-Lauta, P. T., & Menon, K. (2006). Art therapy and Pacific Island peoples in New Zealand: A preliminary observation and evaluation from a Pacific Island perspective. *Social Work Review, 18*(1), 22-30.
- Pacific Competencies Working Party. (2002). *Practitioner Competencies for Pacific alcohol and drug workers with Pacific Clients in Aotearoa New Zealand*. Wellington, New Zealand: Alcohol Advisory Council of New Zealand.
- Pagey, B., Deering, D., & Sellman, D. (2010). Retention of adolescents with substance dependence and coexisting mental health disorders in outpatient alcohol and drug group therapy. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 19(6), 437-444.
- Palalagi, P. P. (2007). "Keep your Doughnuts to Yourself" Using poetry in Pasifika Professional Practice. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 160-176). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Pulotu-Endemann, F., Te Pou o Te Whakaaro Nui, & Pava. (2007). Seitapu Pacific mental health and addiction cultural & clinical competencies framework. Auckland, New Zealand: National Centre of Mental Health Research and Workforce Development.
- Purdie, N., Dudgeon, P., & Walker, R. (Eds.). (2010). Working Together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mental Health and Wellbeing Principles and Practice. Australia: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Quinn, A. E., Rosen, R. K., McGeary, J. E., Amoa, F., Kranzler, H. R., Francazio, S., . . . Swift, R. M. (2014). Translating the Semi-Structured Assessment for Drug Dependence and Alcoholism in the Western Pacific: Rationale, Study Design and Reliability of Alcohol Dependence. *Alcohol and Alcoholism (Oxford, Oxfordshire)*, 49(5), 525-530.
- Ran, M., Mendez, A. J., Leng, L., Bansil, B., Reyes, N., Cordero, G., . . . Tang, M. (2016).

  Predictors of Mental Health Among College Students in Guam: Implications for Counseling. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, *94*(3), 344-355.

- Robinson, G., Warren, H., Samu, K., Wheeler, A., Matangi Karsten, H., & Agnew, F. (2006).

  Pacific healthcare workers and their treatment interventions with Pacific clients with alcohol and drug issues in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal*(Online), 119(1228).
- Ryan, B., Goding, M., Fenner, P., Percival, S., Percival, W., Latai, L., . . . Ng, C. (2015). Art and mental health in Samoa. *Australasian Psychiatry*, *23*(6), 55-58.
- Samu, K. S., & Suaalii-Sauni, T. (2009). Exploring the 'cultural' in cultural competencies in Pacific mental health. *Pacific Health Dialog, 15*(1), 120-130.
- Schroder, R., Sellman, D., Frampton, C., & Deering, D. (2008). Profile of young people attending alcohol and other drug treatment services in Aotearoa, New Zealand: clinical file search. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 42(11), 963-968.
- Seiuli, B. M. S. (2004). *Mea'alofa, a gift handed over: Making accessible and visible Samoan counselling in New Zealand*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand.
- Seiuli, B. M. S. (2012). Uputaua: A therapeutic approach to researching Samoan communities.

  The Australian Community Psychologist Special Issue Ignored no longer: Emerging
  Indigenous researchers on Indigenous psychologies, 24(1), 24-37.
- Seiuli, B. M. S. (2013). Counselling psychology from a Samoan perspective. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 42(3), 50-58.
- Seiuli, B. M. S. (2013). The Meaalofa Therapeutic Approach in Counseling with Pacific Clients. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-Being: Cross-Cultural Perspectives* (pp. 103-114). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Seiuli, B. M. S. (2013). Uputaua approach: Researching Samoan communities. In N. Seve-Williams, M. Taumoepeau, & E. Saafi (Eds.), Pacific Edge: Transforming knowledge into innovative practice: Research papers from the fourth Health Research Council of New Zealand Pacific Health Research Fono (pp. 72-85). Health Research Council New Zealand.
- Sivakumaran, H., George, K., Naker, G., & Nadanachandran, K. (2015). Experience from mental health clinics held during medical service camps in Fiji. *Australasian Psychiatry,* 23(6), 667-669.
- Skipps-Patterson, S. (2007). Hawaiki-Lelei: Journeys to Wellness. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 136-148). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Soon-Schuster, F. (2001). Counselling against all the odds: the Samoan way. *Pacific Health Dialog, 8*(2), 193-199.
- Stewart-Withers, R. R., & O'Brien, A. P. (2006). Suicide prevention and social capital: A Samoan perspective. *Health Sociology Review*, 15(2), 209-220.

- Suaalii-Sauni, T., & Samu, K. (2005). *Cultural Competency: An exploration of cultural competency in Pacific mental health*. Auckland, New Zealand: Waitemata District Health Board.
- Ta Park, V.M., Hayes, D. K., & Humphreys, J. (2014). Disparities in intimate partner violence prenatal counseling: setting a baseline for the implementation of the Guidelines for Women's Preventive Services. *Hawai'i Journal of Medicine & Public Health: A Journal of Asia Pacific Medicine & Public Health, 73*(5), 137-143.
- Tamasese, K. (2003). Honoring Samoan ways and understanding. In C. Waldegrave, K. Tamasese, F. Tuhaka & W. Campbell (Eds.), *Just Therapy A jounrey* (pp. 183-195). Adelaide, Australia: Dulwhich Centre Publications.
- Tarabe, A., & Naisilisili, S. V. (2008). Decolonising Fiji: Reclaiming Indigenous Fijian Psychologies. In M. Levy, L. W. Nikora, B. Masters-Awatere, M. Rua & W. Waitoki (Eds.), Claiming Spaces: Proceedings of the 2007 National Maori and Pacific Psychologies Symposium 23rd-24th November 2007 (pp. 51-56) The University of Waikato, New Zealand: Maori and Psychology Research Unit.
- Taule'ale'ausumai, F. (1997). Pastoral Care: A Samoan perspective. In P. Culbertson (Ed.), *Counselling issues and South Pacific Communities* (pp. 215-237). Auckland, New Zealand: Snedden & Cervin.
- Taule'ale'ausumai, F. (1997). The word made flesh: A Samoan Theology of Pastoral care. In P. Culbertson (Ed.), *Counselling issues and South Pacific Communities* (pp.161-187). Auckland, New Zealand: Snedden & Cervin.
- Taumoefolau, M. (2013). Respect, solidarity, and resilience in Pacific worldviews: A Counselling Perspective. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-being: Cross-Cultural Perspectives* (pp. 115-129). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Tavalia, M. (1997). Pastoral Care: A Niuean Perspective. In P. Culbertson (Ed.), *Counselling issues and South Pacific Communities* (pp. 135-158). Auckland, New Zealand: Snedden & Cervin.
- Te Pou o Te Whakaaro Nui. (2010). *Talking Therapies for Pasifika Peoples: best and promising practice guide for mental health and addiction services*. Auckland, New Zealand: Te Pou o Te Whakaaro Nui.
- Tiatia, J. (2008). *Pacific cultural competencies: A literature review*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health.
- Tiatia, J. (2012). Commentary on 'Cultural Diversity Across the Pacific': Samoan Cultural Constructs of Emotion, New Zealand-Born Samoan Youth Suicidal Behaviours, and Culturally Competent Human Services. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology, 6*(2), 75-79.

- Turner-Tupou, F. T. (2007). Using Mea-alofa in a Holistic Model for Pasifika Clients: A Case Study. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli:*Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples (pp. 149-159).

  Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Vaka, S. (2016). Uloa: A model of practice for working with Tongan people experiencing mental distress. *New Zealand Sociology*, *31*, 123-148.
- Vaka, S., Brannelly, T., & Huntington, A. (2016). Getting to the heart of the story: using Talanoa to explore Pacific mental health. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *37*, 537-544.
- Walker, R., & Sonn, C. (2010). Working as a culturally competent mental health practitioner. In N. Purdie, P. Dudgeon & R. Walker (Eds.), Working Together: Aborinal and Torres Strait Islander Mental health and wellbeing principles and practice (pp. 157-180). Australia: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Waters, K., & Crocket, K. (2013). Learning with a Pasifika Community. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-Being:*Cross-Cultural Perspectives (pp. 225-241). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Wright, J. (1999). Uses of writing to counter the silence of oppression: counselling women at USP. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *6*(2), 305-309.

#### Services

- Alefaio, S., Satele, M., Kingi, D., Faleafā, M., Brown, T., Aoina, A., . . . Olo-Whaanga, E. (2010). Pasifikology. *Psychology Aotearoa*, 2(1), 39-41.
- Annandale, M., Macpherson, C., Richard, T., & Solomona, M. (2008). *A stocktake of Pacific alcohol and drug services and interventions*. Wellington, New Zealand: Alcohol Advisory Council of New Zealand.
- Bush, A., Chapman, F., Drummond, M., & Fagaloa, T. (2009). Development of a child, adolescent and family mental health service for Pacific young people in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog, 15*(1), 138-146.
- Crawley, L., Pulotu-Endemann, F. K., & Stanley-Findlay, R. T. U. (1995). Strategic directions for the mental health services for Pacific Islands people. Wellington, New Zealand:

  Ministry of Health.
- Culbertson, P., Nelson-Agee, M., & Makasiale, C. O. (2007). *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples*. Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Davis, P., Suaalii-Sauni, T., Lay Yee, R., & Pearson, J. (2005). *Pacific Patterns in Primary Health Care: A comparison of Pacific and all patient visits to doctors: The National Primary Medical Care Survey Report 7*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health.

- Eade, L. (2014). Te Tau Ihu Māori mental health outcomes and tangata whaiora experiences in Te Wahi Oranga (Nelson Acute Mental Health Inpatient Unit): an exploratory study. (Unpublished Doctoral Thesis). Te Kura Hinengaro Tangata School of Psychology, Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Faalogo-Lilo, C. (2012). Barriers and supports Pacific people experience in using mental health services. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Faleafā, M. (2003). Training, recruitment and retention strategies for psychologists in child and adolescent mental health services: a pacific perspective. Auckland, New Zealand: Werry Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health.
- Faleafā, M. (2004). Feedback Fono: the second national fono on child and adolescent mental health service workforce development needs for pacific people. Auckland, New Zealand: Werry Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health.
- Faleafā, M. (2004). A Pacific perspective on child and adolescent mental health services workforce development needs: Report from the first national fono. Auckland, New Zealand: Werry Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health.
- Faleafā, M., & Cargo, T. A. (2008). Targeted Recruitment Strategies For the Child and Adolescent Mental Health and Addictions Workforce, with a Maori and Pacific Focus.

  Auckland, New Zealand: Werry Centre.
- Forster, P. (2005). Psychology in Vanuatu. The Psychologist, 18(5), 288-289.
- Geia, L. K., West, R., & Power, T. (2013). Editorial: Addressing perinatal mental health issues for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island parents and their families: Working towards better maternity outcomes. *Contemporary Nurse*, 46(1), 70-72.
- George, K. (2010). Vanuatu: Happiest Nation On Earth, Mental Health and the Church.

  Australasian Psychiatry, 18(1), 63-65.
- Higginbotham, N. (1987). The cultural accommodation of mental health services for Native Hawaiians. In A. B. Robillard, & A. J. Marsella (Eds.), *Contemporary Issues in Mental Health Research in the Pacific Islands* (pp. 94-126). Honolulu, HI: Social Science Research Institute, University of Hawaii.
- Hughes, F. (2009). Mental health in the Pacific: the role of the Pacific Island Mental Health Network. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *15*(1), 177-180.
- Isaki, E., & Ainu'u, S. (2010). Familiarity with stroke, traumatic brain injury, and speech-language pathology services in adults living in American Samoa. *Asia Pacific Journal of Speech, Language and Hearing, 13*(3), 163-170.
- Kingi-Uluave, D., Faleafā, M., & Brown, T. (2007). A Pasifika perspective of psychology in Aotearoa. In I. M. Evans, J. J. Rucklidge & M. O'Driscoll (Eds.), *Professional Practice in Aotearoa New Zealand* (pp. 67-83). Wellington, New Zealand: The New Zealand Psychological Society Inc.

- Kirk, R., Instone, A., Siataga, P., Ah Kuoi, A., & Lui, D. (2007). Feasibility Study Into the Establishment of Pacific Mental Health Workforce Development Organisation.

  National Centre of Mental Health Research and Workforce Development.
- Kokaua, J. (2015). An application of heirarchical Bayes Models to estimated prevalence of Mental Disorder and Mental Health Service use among Cook Islanders in New Zealand. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- MacLaren, D., Asugeni, J., Asugeni, R., & Kekeubata, E. (2009). Incorporating Sociocultural Beliefs in Mental Health Services in Kwaio, Solomon Islands. *Australasian Psychiatry,* 17(1 suppl), 125-127.
- Morgan, M., Coombes, L., & Alefaio-Tugia, S. (2013). Pasifikology. News from psychologies' margins in Aotearoa/New Zealand: An interview with Siautu Alefaio-Tugia. *Annual Review of Critical Psychology in a Changing World: Building Bridges and Expanding the Dialogue*, 10, 35-49.
- Muga, F. (2015). Rich Country, Poor People: the challenges of providing psychiatric services in the public and the private sectors in Papua New Guinea. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 23(6), 29-31.
- Mulitalo-Lauta, P. T. (2000). *Fa'asamoa and Social Work within the New Zealand Context*. Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Mulitalo-Lauta, P. T. (2001). Pacific peoples' identities and social services in New Zealand:

  Creating new options. In C. Macpherson, P. Spoonley & M. Anae (Eds.), *Tangata O Te Moana Nui: The evolving Identities of Pacific Peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand* (pp. 247-262). Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Nelson, J. R., Bennett-Levy, J., Wilson, S., Ryan, K., Rotumah, D., Budden, W., . . . Stirling, J. (2015). Aboriginal and Torres strait islander mental health practitioners propose alternative clinical supervision models. *International Journal of Mental Health, 44*(1), 33-45.
- Peni, B., Day, K., & Orr, M. (2014). What Pacific people think of online mental health information. In J. Warren, & K. Gray (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Seventh Australasian Workshop on Health Informatics and Knowledge Management* (pp. 51-58).

  Darlinghurst, Australia: Australian Computer Society, Inc.
- Pulotu-Endemann, F., Te Pou o Te Whakaaro Nui, & Pava. (2007). Seitapu Pacific mental health and addiction cultural & clinical competencies framework. Auckland, New Zealand: National Centre of Mental Health Research and Workforce Development.
- Roberts, G., Cruz, M., & Puamau, E. S. (2007). A proposed future for the care, treatment and rehabilitation of mentally ill people in Fiji. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *14*(2), 107-110.
- Robinson, G., Warren, H., Samu, K., Wheeler, A., Matangi Karsten, H., & Agnew, F. (2006).

  Pacific healthcare workers and their treatment interventions with Pacific clients with

- alcohol and drug issues in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal, 119*(1228), February 5, 2016.
- Ryan, B., Orotaloa, P., Araitewa, S., Gaoifa, D., Moreen, J., Kiloe, E., . . . Ng, C. (2015). Mental health in the Solomon Islands: developing reforms and partnerships. *Australasian Psychiatry*, *23*(6), 662-666.
- Samu, K. S., Wheeler, A., Asiasiga, L., Dash, S. M., Robinson, G., Dunbar, L., & Suaalii-Sauni, T. (2011). Towards quality Pacific services: The development of a service self-evaluation tool for Pacific addiction services in New Zealand. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, *17*(6), 1034-1044.
- Schultz, R. F. (2001). Community mental health: avoided by some, neglected by others. *Pacific Health Dialog, 8*(2), 200-206.
- Schultz, R. F. (2005). Beyond mad, bad and sad: A case for considering community mental health and the means to assess it. *Pacific Health Dialog, 12*(2), 145-154.
- Stephens, A., Cullen, J., Massey, L., & Bohanna, I. (2014). Will the National Disability Insurance Scheme improve the lives of those most in need? Effective service delivery for people with acquired brain injury and other disabilities in remote Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities. *Australian Journal of Public Administration*, 73, 260-270.
- Taule'ale'ausumai, F. (1997). Pastoral Care: A Samoan perspective. In P. Culbertson (Ed.), Counselling issues and South Pacific Communities (pp. 215-237). Auckland, New Zealand: Snedden & Cervin.
- Scott, K. M., Kokaua, J., & Baxter, J. (2011). Does Having a Chronic Physical Condition Affect the Likelihood of Treatment Seeking for a Mental Health Problem and Does This Vary by Ethnicity? *The International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, 42(4), 421-436.
- Smith Nabukavou, T., Butler Taveta, L., Martin Teaiwa, J., & Teaiwa, T. (2013). Reflecting back and building on Fright or Light: Psychiatric survivors and contemporary issues in mental health in Fiji. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-Being: Cross-Cultural Perspectives* (pp. 242-259). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Southwick, M., & Solomona, M. (2007). *Improving Recruitment and Retention for the Pacific Mental Health Workforce*. Auckland, New Zealand: The National Centre of Mental Health Research and Workforce Development.
- Te Pou o Te Whakaaro Nui. (2010). *Talking Therapies for Pasifika Peoples: best and promising practice guide for mental health and addiction services*. Auckland, New Zealand: Te Pou o Te Whakaaro Nui.
- Tiatia, J. (2012). Commentary on 'Cultural Diversity Across the Pacific': Samoan Cultural Constructs of Emotion, New Zealand-Born Samoan Youth Suicidal Behaviours, and Culturally Competent Human Services. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology, 6*(2), 75-79.

- Tiatia-Seath, J. (2014). Pacific peoples, mental health service engagement and suicide prevention in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Ethnicity and Inequalities in Health and Social Care*, 7(3), 111-121.
- Tu'itahi-Tahaafe, S. (2003). *Introducing disability concepts with integrity into Tongan cultural context*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Albany, New Zealand.
- Tutty, S., & Goodyear-Smith, F. (2014). Eighteen months of depression: Examining the chronic care management of depression with particular reference to Pacific people. *Journal of Primary Health Care, 6*(1), 31-39.
- Twaddle, I. K., Spencer, M. L., Perez, E. J., Meno, C. G., & Castro Jr, R. M. (2011). Building Capacity for Suicide Prevention in Guam: Culturally Responsive Practices for Pacific Islanders and Asian Americans. *Pacific Asia Inquiry*, 2(1), 121-134.
- Usher, K., Park, T., Trueman, S., Redman-MacLaren, M., Casella, E., & Woods, C. (2014). An educational program for mental health nurses and community health workers from Pacific Island countries: results from a pilot study. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing, 35,* 337-343.
- Vaeau, F. (2013). An investigation of Pasefika access to the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service within Counties Manukau District Health Board-the influence of health beliefs and attitudes. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Walters, W. E. (1977). Community psychiatry in Tutuila, American Samoa. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 134(8), 917-919.
- Washbourn, R. (2016). Deepening understandings of rehabilitation in the Cook Islands: An action research study with Te Vaerua Rehabilitation Service. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Wilson, L. G. (1980). Community psychiatry in Oceania: Fifteen months' experience in Micronesia. *Social Psychiatry*, *15*(4), 175-179.
- Wilson, L. G. (1981). Utilizing dispersed mental health para-professionals for scattered Pacific islands: a Micronesian experience. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *17*(2), 161-170.
- Wilson, L. G. (1998). Human rights of psychiatrically disturbed persons in the tropical Pacific. *Psychiatry & Clinical Neurosciences*, *52*(Suppl), S252-255.
- Young, D. M., & Bernstein, D. (1996). Shrinking the western Pacific: psychiatric training for medical students from Micronesia. *Hawaii Medical Journal*, *55*(4), 70-71.
- Zwi, A. B., Blignault, I., Bunde-Birouste, A. W., Ritchie, J. E., & Silove, D. M. (2011). Decision-makers, donors and data: factors influencing the development of mental health and psychosocial policy in the Solomon Islands. *Health Policy & Planning*, 26(4), 338-348.

## **Emotions**

- Gerber, E. R. (1975). *The cultural patterning of emotions in Samoa*. (Unpublished Doctoral Thesis). University of California, San Diego.
- Gerber, E. R. (1985). Rage and obligation: Samoan emotion in conflict. In G. M. White, & J. Kirkpatrick (Eds.), *Person, self and experience: Exploring Pacific ethnopsychologies* (pp. 121-167). Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Goodman, R. A. (1990). Laughter and anger: On Samoan aggression. In H. Caton (Ed.), *The Samoan reader: Anthropologists take stock*. Lanham, MD: University Press of America.
- Page, A., & Smith, L. F. (2016). Relational aggression and physical aggression among adolescent Cook Islands students. *Issues in Educational Research*, 26, 96-118.
- Pratt, S. (2016). A Gross Happiness Index for the Solomon Islands and Tonga: An Exploratory Study. *Global Social Welfare*, *3*(1), 11-21.
- Tiatia, J. (2012). Commentary on 'Cultural Diversity Across the Pacific': Samoan Cultural Constructs of Emotion, New Zealand-Born Samoan Youth Suicidal Behaviours, and Culturally Competent Human Services. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology, 6*(2), 75-79.
- Young, L., Heather, E., & Moore, S. E. (2012). Constructions of happiness and satisfaction in the Kingdom of Tonga. In H. Selin, & G. Davey (Eds.), *Happiness across cultures: Views of happiness and quality of life in non-Western cultures* (pp. 181-193). New York, NY: Springer Science + Business Media.

### **OTHER**

An inexhaustive list of constructs that either exist outside, or across the spectrum, of spiritual, physical and mental domains, and impact health and wellbeing comprises the other dimension of the Fonofale model. Of particular pertinence to the current body of Pasifika psychology research, this comprises the categories education, gender and sexuality, and industrial work and organisational psychology. Literature on Pasifika pedaogies are presented directly under the education heading, followed by research that focuses on facets of the education system including bilingual education, engagement, inclusive education, mentoring, numeracy and literacy, teacher training, and developmental education attainment from early childhood and primary to secondary and tertiary. The gender and sexuality section includes subheadings: gender, gender diverse, and sexuality in order to highlight the fluidity of gender and sexuality expressions that appear throughout the Pacific region, and a subsection on gendered violence.

# Education

- Afele-Fa'amuli, S. (1992). An exploratory study of learning preferences and perceptions of adult non-formal learners in American Samoa: implications for extension and adult education. Cornell University, Ithaca, NY.
- Airini. (2010). "Be true to one's self": Learning to be leaders in Pasifika education strategy. *Mai Review*, 1, 1-22
- Amituanai-Toloa, M. (2002). Samoan pedagogy: Teaching and learning the practice of hearing children read at home. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Averill, R. (2012). Reflecting heritage cultures in mathematics learning: The views of teachers and students. *Journal of Urban Mathematics Education*, *5*(2), 157-181.
- Carucci, L. M. (2013). Pedagogical promise, disciplinary practice, and the fashioning of identities among Marshallese youth in Primary school. *Pacific Studies*, *36*(3), 193-225.
- Evans, B. F. (2011). Teaching practices that support high achievement in the education of *Pacific boys.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). United Institute of Technology Institute of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Ferguson, P. B., Gorinski, R., Samu, T. W., & Mara, D. L. (2008). *Literature review on the experiences of Pasifika learners in the classroom*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Education.
- Fusitu'a, L., & Coxon, E. (1998). Ko e 'Ulungaanga Faka-Tonga mo e Ako Lelei: Tongan culture and academic achievement. *New Zealand Journal of Educational Studies*, *33*(1), 23-38.
- Hansen-Strain, L. (1993). Educational implications of group differences in cognitive style: Evidence from Pacific cultures. *Pacific Studies, 16*(1), 85-97.
- Helu-Thaman, K. (1995). Concepts of learning, knowledge and wisdom in Tonga, and their relevance to modern education. *Prospects*, *25*(4), 723-733.
- Hines, D. P., & Niel, P. N. (1986). School psychology in Micronesia. *School Psychology International*, 7(2), 98-100.
- Kolone-Collins, S. (2010). Fagogo:" Ua molimea manusina": a qualitative study of the pedagogical significance of Fagogo-Samoan stories at night-for the education of Samoan children. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Koya, C. F. (2015). Pedagogical Practices in Fiji Schools. In E. Hau-Fai Law, & U. Miura (Eds.), *Transforming Teaching and Learning in Asia and the Pacific: Case Studies from Seven Countries* (pp. 22-43). Paris, France: UNESCO.

- Māhina, O. (2011). From vale (ignorance) to 'ilo (knowledge) to poto (skill), the Tongan theory of ako (education): Theorising old problems anew. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples, 4*(1), 65-96.
- Manu'atu, L. (2000). *Tuli Ke Ma'u Hono Ngaahi Mālie: Pedagogical possibilities for Tongan students in New Zealand secondary schooling.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Manuel, T., Lefono, T., Lagolago, W., & Zaveri, V. (2014). Peer-Based Pasifika Pedagogies: Gift of knowledge. *Samoa Conference III: Opportunities and Challenges for a Sustainable Cultural and Natural Environment,* National University of Samoa, Apia, Samoa.
- Mila-Schaaf, K., & Robinson, E. (2010). 'Polycultural' capital and educational achievement among NZ-born Pacific peoples. *Mai Review*, 1, 1-18.
- Naisilisili, S. V. (2012). *'Iluvatu: An exploratory study of Cu'u indigenous knowledge and implications for Fijian education*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of the South Pacific, Suva, Fiji.
- Nakhid, C. (2003). "Intercultural" perceptions, academic achievement, and the identifying process of Pacific Islands students in New Zealand schools. *Journal of Negro Education*, 72(3), 297-317.
- Rzoska, K. M., & Ward, C. (1991). The effects of cooperative and competitive learning methods on the mathematics achievement, attitudes towards school, self-concepts and friendship choices of Maori, Pakeha and Samoan Children. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 20, 17-24.
- Rzoska, K. M., & Ward, C. (1991). The Effects of Cooperative and Competitive Learning Methods on the Mathematics Achievement, Attitudes. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 20, 17-24.
- Samu, T. L. M. (2013). *Pasifika Education: Discourses of Difference within Aotearoa New Zealand*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Samu, T. W. (2010). Pacific education: An oceanic perspective. *Mai Review, 1*, February 5, 2016.
- Sauni, S. L., & Toso, V. M. (2009). The strengthened sinnet: Distance learning from a Pasifika perspective. *Mai Review*. February 5, 2016.
- Si'ilata, R. (2014). *Va 'a Tele: Pasifika learners riding the success wave on linguistically and culturally responsive pedagogies.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Silipa, S. (2008). Punavai o le malamalama: Spring of Illumination: Framework of significant learning concepts and domains in the web of Samoan epistemologies: Cultural context, artifact and traditional oratory. (16th ed.). Christchurch, New Zealand: Macmillan Brown Centre for Pacific Studies.

- Siteine, A. (2010). The allocation of Pasifika identity in New Zealand classrooms. *Mai Review,* 1, 1-12.
- Smith, T. (2011). Doorways to Other Worlds: Towards Successful Pacific s/p/aces in Education. (Unpublished Master's Theis). Massey University, New Zealand.
- Soaladaob, K. (2010). *Cultivating Identities: Re-thinking Education in Palau*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Spiller, L. (2012). "How can we teach them when they won't listen?": How teacher beliefs about Pasifika values and Pasifika ways of learning affect student behavior and achievement. Set: Research Information for Teachers, 3, 58-66.
- Tongati'o, L. P. (2010). *Ko e Fanā Fotu: Success in motion, transforming Pasifika education in Aotearoa New Zealand 1993-2009.* (Unpublished Doctoral Thesis). University of Canterbury. Pacific Studies, Canterbury, New Zealand.
- Utumapu-McBride, T., Esera, E., Toia, S. F., Tone-Schuster, L., & So'oaemalelagi, F. L. (2008). Saili mo le lumana'i: Research on Samoan students' learning perspectives and the impact on their Achievement. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*, 4(1), 149-172.

## **Bilingual Education**

- Brown, G. (1995). Bilingual literacy and academic success among Samoan born students in a New Zealand secondary school. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Hamilton, E., & Gillon, G. (2006). The phonological awareness skills of school-aged children who are bilingual in Samoan and English. *Advances in Speech Language Pathology*, 8(2), 57-68.
- Nocus, I., Guimard, P., Vernaudon, J., Paia, M., Cosnefroy, O., & Florin, A. (2012).

  Effectiveness of a heritage educational program for the acquisition of oral and written French and Tahitian in French Polynesia. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 28*(1), 21-31Tuafuti, P. (2010). Additive bilingual education: Unlocking the culture of silence. *Mai Review, 1*, 1-14.
- Tuafuti, P., & McCaffery, J. (2005). Family and community empowerment through bilingual education. *International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, 8*(5), 480-503.
- Vine, E. W. (2003). A five-year-old Samoan boy interacts with his teacher in a New Zealand Classroom. In R. Barnard, & T. Glynn. (Eds.), *Bilingual Children's Language and Literacy Development* (pp. 108-135). Clevedon, UK: Multilingual Matters.
- Wilson, S. L. (2010). Le Tofi ne'i Vale Tuulima: Perceptions of Samoan Students, Teachers and Parents on the Place of the Samoan Language in New Zealand Today. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.

## Early Childhood Education and Primary

- Devi, R. (2012). An investigation on Pasifika students' attitudes towards reading comprehension. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Drozd, K. S. (2007). The effects of an elementary multicultural music curriculum about *Micronesia*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Hawai'i at Manoa, Manoa, HI.
- Hamilton, E., & Gillon, G. (2006). The phonological awareness skills of school-aged children who are bilingual in Samoan and English. *Advances in Speech Language Pathology*, 8(2), 57-68.
- Latu, M. (2009). *Talanoa: a contribution to the teaching and learning of Tongan Primary*School children in New Zealand. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand
- Lee-Hammond, L., & McConney, A. (2016). The impact of village-based kindergarten on early literacy, numeracy and school attendance in Solomon Islands. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 1-20.
- Luafutu-Simpson, P. M. E. (2006). *Choices offered, choices chosen in Pasifika early childhood education: A Christchurch Experience*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Cantebury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Odden, H. L. (2011). The Impact of Primary Schools on the Differential Distribution of Samoan Adolescents' Competence with Honorific Language. *Current Anthropology*, *52*(4), 597-606
- Pau'uvale, D. L. (2012). *Laulōtaha; Tongan perspectives of 'quality' in early childhood education*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Teisina, J. (2011). Langa ngāue 'a e kau faiako Akoteu Tonga nofo 'i Aotearoa. Tongan early childhood education: building success from the teachers' perspectives. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Vine, E. W. (2003). A five-year-old Samoan boy interacts with his teacher in a New Zealand Classroom. In R. Barnard, & T. Glynn. (Eds.), *Bilingual Children's Language and Literacy Development* (pp. 108-135). Clevedon, UK: Multilingual Matters.

#### Engagement

Baleinakorodawa, L. (2009). Causes of truancy from mainstream education for a group of Pasifika students enrolled in alternative education. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.

- Ferguson, P. B., Gorinski, R., Samu, T. W., & Mara, D. L. (2008). *Literature review on the experiences of Pasifika learners in the classroom*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Education.
- Mara, D. L. (1998). *Pacific Islands School-Parent-Community Liaison Project. An Independent Evaluation Report*. Wellington, New Zealand: New Zealand Council for Educational Research.
- McMillan, A. (2012). Exploring the Role of the Rock and Water Programme in the Improvement of Māori and Pacifika Boys' Engagement with School. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Ross, C. (2008). Culturally relevant peer support for Maori and Pasifika student engagement, retention and success: Programme report. Wellington, New Zealand: Ako Aotearoa National Centre for Tertiary Teaching Excellence.
- Siataga, P. (2011). Pasifika child and youth well-being: roots and wings. *Improving the Transition Reducing Social and Psychological Morbidity During Adolescence* (pp. 153-168). Auckland, New Zealand: Office of the Prime Minister's Science Advisory Committee.
- Utumapu, T. (1992). *Finau i mea sili: Attitudes of Samoan families in New Zealand to education*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.

#### **Inclusive Education**

- Forlin, C., Sharma, U., Loreman, T., & Sprunt, B. (2015). Developing disability-inclusive indicators in the Pacific Islands. *Prospects*, *45*(2), 1-15.
- Lafaialii, S. (2012). *Ua se ana: The promise of equity.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Mauigoa-Tekene, L., Howie, L., & Hagan, B. (2013). *Understanding Special education from the perspectives of Pasifika families*. New Zealand: Ministry of Education.
- Pillay, H., Carrington, S., Duke, J., Chandra, S., Heeraman, J., Tones, M., . . . Mani, R. (2015). *National Profiles of In-Country Capacity to Support Disability-Inclusive Education; Fiji, Samoa, Solomon Islands and Vanuatu*. Queensland, Australia: Queensland University of Technology.
- Sharma, U., Loreman, T., & Macanawai, S. (2016). Factors contributing to the implementation of inclusive education in Pacific Island countries. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 20, 397-412.
- Winis, C. (2013). Determining the attitudes of Elementary School teachers towards the inclusion of children with disabilities: A case study of three elementary schools in Goroka, Eastern Highlands Province, Papua New Guinea. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand.

### Mentoring

- Chu, C. M. (2009). *Mentoring for Leadership in Pacific education*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Mara, D., & Marsters, M. (2009). *Pasifika students: Supporting academic success through the provision of mentoring*. Hawkes Bay, New Zealand: Regional Hub Project Fund Ako Aotearoa.
- Tualaulelei, E., & Kavanagh, M. (2015). University-Community Engagement: Mentoring in the Pasifika Space. *The Australasian Journal of University-Community Engagement, 10*(1), 87.

## Numeracy and Literacy

- Dickie, J. G. (2008). An investigation of sites, uses and practices for literacy in the lives of Pasifika students. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Furness, J. A., Robertson, N., Hunter, J., Hodgetts, D., & Nikora, L. W. (2013). What (actually) matters in literacy education: Contributions from community psychology. Submitted to Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online
- Hunter, R., & Anthony, G. (2011). Forging mathematical relationships in inquiry-based classrooms with Pasifika students. *Journal of Urban Mathematics Education, 4*(1), 98-119

### Secondary

- Bell, Z. (2000). Having their say: Six Pacific girls talk about their experiences in a New Zealand secondary school. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Brown, G. (1995). Bilingual literacy and academic success among Samoan born students in a New Zealand secondary school. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Cahill, F. (2006). Crossing the road from home to secondary school: A conversation with Samoan parents. *Waikato Journal of Education*, *12*, 57-72.
- Chigeza, P. T. (2010). *Cultural resources in science learning: research with Torres Strait Islander middle school students.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation), James Cook University, Queensland, Australia.
- Dickie, J. (2008). Pasifika students, literacy as social practice, and the curriculum. *New Zealand Annual Review of Education*, 17, 107-124.

- Flavell, M. (2014). Pacific Island families' perceptions of the parental role in the learning process in a high school setting. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Fletcher, J., Parkhill, F., & Fa'afoi, A. (2009). Pasifika students, teachers and parents voice their perceptions of what provides supports and barriers to Pasifika students' achievement in literacy and learning. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25(1), 24-33.
- Gavet, G. O. (2011). How effective are school-based interventions in terms of complementing academic achievement for male Pasifika high school students? (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Graham, J., Meyer, L. H., McKenzie, L., McClure, J., & Weir, K. F. (2010). Maori and Pacific Secondary Student and Parent Perspectives on Achievement, Motivation and NCEA. *Assessment Matters*, *2*, January 29, 2016-132-157.
- Greene, M. (2015). 'Get into groups': Young Pacific Island women and the potential for empowerment in physical education. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Manawatu, New Zealand.
- Knight-de-Blois, L. (2015). 'O mātou 'o Le Fatu 'o Le Fa'amoemoe Fesili Mai!: We are the Heart of the Matter Ask Us! (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Lipine, T. (2010). Education of secondary Samoan students in New Zealand: The road to success. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Mackley-Crump, J. (2011). Malaga—The Journey: The Performing Arts as Motivational Tool for Pasifika Students in Aotearoa New Zealand. *The Asia Pacific Journal of Anthropology*, 12(3), 255-273.
- McMillan, A. (2012). Exploring the Role of the Rock and Water Programme in the Improvement of Māori and Pacifika Boys' Engagement with School. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Reymer, C. H. (2012). "Malamalama- Miss, it means to understand, but it can mean light also." Pasifika students' perspectives of studying history in New Zealand. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand.
- Sharma, S. (2008). Exploring Fijian high school students' conceptions of averages. *Pacific-Asian Education*, 20(2), 29-45.
- Siope, S. A. M. (2011). The schooling experiences of Pasifika students. *Research Information for Teachers*, *3*, 10-16.
- Suaalii, F. (2013). Supports and barriers to achievement in secondary school chemistry: exploring the teaching and learning of year 12 chemistry in Samoa. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, Manawatu, New Zealand.

- Tait, K., Horsley, J., & Tait, C. (2016). How do academically successful Pasifika students perceive task value? *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, 25(1), 47-57.
- Webber, M. (2013). Adolescent Racial-Ethnic Identity: Behaviors, perceptions, and challenges in Urban Multiethnic school contexts. In M. Nelson-Agee, T. McIntosh, P. Culbertson & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Pacific Identities and Well-being: Cross-Cultural perspectives* (pp. 6-26). New York, NY: Routledge.

## **Teacher Training**

- Allen, P., Tufulasi, T., & Robertson, J. (2009). 'In Order to Teach You, I Must Know You.' The Pasifika Initiative: A Professional Development Project for Teachers. *New Zealand Journal of Educational Studies*, 44(2), 47-62.
- Bellam, N. (2016). To sir, with love: messages for educators from gifted financially disadvantaged young people. *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, 25.
- Brown, T., Devine, N., Leslie, E., Paiti, M., Sila'ila'i, E., Umaki, S., . . . Williams, J. (2008). *Pasifika teachers in secondary education: Issues, possibilities and strategies. Final Report*. Wellington, New Zealand: Teaching and Learning Research Initiative.
- Brown, T., Devine, N., Leslie, E., Paiti, M., Sila'ila'i, E., Umaki, S., & Williams, J. (2007).

  Reflective engagement in cultural history: A Lacanian perspective on Pasifika teachers in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society, 15*(1), 107-118.
- Faamanatu-Eteuati, N. (2011). Se'i tatou 'aleaga: Samoan educators' insights into inclusive education development. *Pacific-Asian Education*, *23*(2), 65-76.
- Froiland, J. M., Davidson, M. L., & Worrell, F. C. (2016). Aloha teachers; teacher autonomy support promotes Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander students' motivations, school belonging, course-taking and math achievement. *Social Psychology of Education*, 19(4), 879-894.
- Grudnoff, L., Haigh, M., Hill, M., Cochran-Smith, M., Ell, F., & Ludlow, L. (2016). Rethinking initial teacher education: preparing teachers for schools in low socio-economic communities in New Zealand. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 42, 451-467.
- Mauigoa, S. (2014). Improving Pasifika achievement: Pasifika teachers' expectations, experiences and perceptions of primary school leadership. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). United Institute of Technology Institute of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Pearson, E., & James, J. (2016). Building quality early childhood education from the ground up: teacher preparation in Vanuatu. In M. Li, J. Fox & S. Grieshaber (Eds.), Contemporary Issues and Challenges in Early Childhood Education in the Asia-Pacific Region (3rd ed., pp. 275-292).

- Thaman, K. H. (2013). Quality teachers for indigenous students: an imperative for the twenty-first century. *The International Education Journal: Comparative Perspectives, 12*(1), 98-118.
- University of the South Pacific Institute of Education, & Unesco. (2000). Pacific cultures in the teacher education curriculum. Module four, Making sense of human development: beyond western concepts and universal assumptions. Suva, Fiji: Institute of Education in association with the UNESCO Chair in Teacher Education and Culture, University of the South Pacific.
- Wendt-Samu, T. (2006). The 'Pasifika Umbrella' and quality teaching: understanding and responding to the diverse realities within. *Waikato Journal of Education*, *12*, 35-49.

## Tertiary

- Airini, Curtis, E., Townsend, S., Rakena, T., Brown, D., Sanni, P., & Johnson, O. (2011).

  Teaching for Student Success: Promising Practices in University Teaching. *Pacific Asian Education*, *23*(1), 71-90.
- Airini, Brown, D., Curtis, E., Johnson, O., Luatua, F., O'Shea, M., & Ulugia-Pua, M. (2010).

  Success for All: Improving Maori and Pasifika student success in degree-level studies:
  Final report to funder Teaching and Learning Research Initiative (TLRI). Wellington,
  New Zealand: *TLRI*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.tlri.org.nz/assets/A">http://www.tlri.org.nz/assets/A</a> ProjectPDFs/9247-Airini/9247-Airini-final-report.pdf.
- Alkema, A. (2014). Success for Pasifika in Tertiary Education. New Zealand: Ako Aotearoa The National Centre for Tertiary Teaching Excellence.
- Anae, M., Anderson, H., Benseman, J., & Coxon, E. (2002). Pacific peoples and tertiary education: Issues of participation. Auckland, New Zealand: The University of Auckland.
- Brown Pulu, T. (2014). Free Roast Pig at Open Day: All you can eat will not attract South Auckand Pacific Islanders to University. *Te Kaharoa: The e-Journal on Indigenous Pacific Issues, 7*(1), February 23, 2016-570-606.
- Burnett, G. (2012). Pacific Tertiary Students in New Zealand's South: Towards a More Nuanced Framework For Understanding. *New Zealand Journal of Teachers' Work,* 9(1), 50-64.
- Carmichael, M. L. (2007). *The Road Less Traveled: Samoans and Higher Education,* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Miami University, Oxford, OH.
- Christie, A. (2015). Fostering educational movement: connecting the college writing classroom in Oahu with indigenous values of family and familial learning for migrant students from the regions of Micronesia. *Pacific Asia Inquiry, 6,* 48-59.
- Curtis, E., Wikaire, E., Jiang, Y., Mcmillan, L., Loto, R., Airini., & Reid, P. (2015). Quantitative analysis of a Māori and Pacific admission process on first-year health study. *BMC Medical Education* 15(196), 1-17.

- Curtis, E., Wikire, E., Jiang, Y., Mcmillan, L., Loto, R., Fonua, S., Herbert, R., Hori, M., ... & Reid, P. (2015). Open to critique: predictive effects of academic outcomes from a bridging/foundation programme on first-year degree-level study. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, 1-17.
- Curtis, E., Wikaire, E., Jiang, Y., Mcmillan, L., Loto, R., Airini., & Reid, P. (2015). A tertiary approach to improving equity in health: quantitative analysis of the Māori and Pacific Admission Scheme (MAPAS) process, 2008–2012. *International Journal for Equity in Health, 7*(14), 1-15.
- Curtis, E., & Reid, P. (2013). Indigenous Health Workforce Development: challenges and successes of the Vision 20:20 programme. *ANZ Journal of Surgery, 83*(1-2), 49-54.
- Curtis, E., Townsend, S., & Airini. (2011). Improving indigenous and ethnic minority student success in foundation health study. *Teaching in Higher Education*, *17*(5), 586-602.
- Faleolo, R. L. (2012). Higher education in New Zealand: a form of fakalakalaka for educated Tongan women?: a consideration of the perspectives of educated Tongan women on their experiences of higher education in New Zealand, and how this relates to fakalakalaka. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Albany, New Zealand.
- Felton-Busch, C., Maza, K., Ghee, M., Mills, F., Mills, J., Hitchens, M., Park, T., & Chamberlain-Salaun, J. (2013). Using mentoring circles to support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander nursing students: guidelines for sharing and learning. *Contemporary Nurse*, 46, 135-138.
- Filemoni, T., Horrocks, J., Wong, L., Paurini, S., & Perrot, A. (2014). The Pasifika Trades
  Training Initiative. Wellington, New Zealand: WelTec 2012-2013.
- Gair, S., Miles, D., Savage, D., & Zuchowski, I. (2015). Racism unmasked: the experiences of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students in social work field placements.

  Australian Social Work, 68, 32-48.
- Havea, S. (2011). The relationship between lotu and ako for Pacific university students in New Zealand. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Manawatu, New Zealand.
- Henning, M., Manalo, E., & Tuagalu, I. (2012). A comparison between Asian and Pacific Islands students in their use of academic advising services. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 21(1), 141-150.
- Hinder, A. T. (2011). Pacific Students and Their Perceptions of an Academic Library: a Case Study of Whitireia Community Polytechnic. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Hosoda, M. K. (2016). *Optimising the New Zealand Law school experience*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Kalavite, T. (2010). Fononga 'A Fakahalafononga: Tongan Students' Journey to Academic

  Achievement in New Zealand Tertiary Education. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation).

  University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand.

- Keung, S. T. (2014). Examining Academic Performance of Polynesian Student-Athletes Using the Theory of Planned Behavior. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Brigham Young University, Provo, UT.
- Kosaki, K. Y. (2016). Supporting Pacific Islander student identity in higher education. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Latu, V. F. (2004). There is more to learning mathematics than mathematics: Attributional beliefs and motivation of Maori and Pacific Island students. *Mathematics Education for the Third Millennium: Towards 2010: Proceedings of the 27th Annual Conference of the Mathematics Education Research Group of Australasia*, 343-350.
- Māhina, O. (2011). From vale (ignorance) to 'ilo (knowledge) to poto (skill), the Tongan theory of ako (education): Theorising old problems anew. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples, 4*(1), 65-96.
- Manueli, K. T. (2012). Pasifika Tertiary Students' Use of Information and Communication Technologies. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Mara, D. (2014). Samoan women in tertiary education and ethnic identity. *Māori and Pasifika Higher Education Horizons (Diversity in Higher Education, Volume 15) Emerald Group Publishing Limited, 15,* 271-290.
- Mara, D. L. (2006). Theories and Narratives: Pacific Women in Tertiary Education and the Social Construction of Ethnic Identities in Aotearoa New Zealand. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Mayeda, D. T., Keil, M., Dutton, H. D., & 'Ofamo'oni, I. F. H. (2014). "You've gotta set a precedent": Māori and Pacific voices on student success in higher education. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples, 10*(2), 165-179.
- Mayeda, D. T., 'Ofamo'oni, I. F., Dutton, H. D., Keil, M., & Lauaki-Vea, E. (2014). Māori and Pacific student experiences with every-day colonialism and racism. *Social Space*, 8(2), 115-139.
- McDonald, L., & Lipine, T. (2012). Pasifika education policy, research and voices: students on the road to tertiary success. *New Zealand Annual Review of Education*, *21*, 143-164.
- McFall-McCaffery, J. (2008). Enhancing learning for Pasifika @ UOA: A view from the inside. AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples, 4(1), 173-187.
- McFall-McCaffery, J., & Cook, S. (2016). Indigenous approaches at play in creating positive student outcomes in a tertiary institution. *The International Federation of Library Associations and Institutions*,
- Mills, J., Felton-Busch, C., Park, T., Maza, K., Mills, F., Ghee, M., Hitchins, M., . . . & Neuendorf, N. (2014). Supporting Australian and Torres Strait Islander nursing students using

- mentoring circles: an action research study. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *33*, 1136-1143.
- Ng Shiu, R. (2011). "It's like going to the moon": The experiences of Samoan tertiary health students at the University of Auckland. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- O'Halloran, D. L. (2015). Raising our voices: restorying Pasifika inclusion, success and effective learner supports at the University of Canterbury. (Unpublished Master's Thesis).

  University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- O'Shea, M., Tuagalu, I., & Henning, M. A. (2014). Pasifika relational space and its connection with motivation to learn and quality of life. In M. A. Henning, C. U. Krägeloh & G. Wong-Toi (Eds.), *Student Motivation and Quality of Life in Higher Education* (pp. 118-127). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Penn, R. (2010). *Manumalo: a study of factors which facilitate success for New Zealand-born Samoan students at university.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Ran, M., Mendez, A. J., Leng, L., Bansil, B., Reyes, N., Cordero, G., . . . Tang, M. (2016).

  Predictors of Mental Health Among College Students in Guam: Implications for Counseling. *Journal of Counseling & Development, 94*(3), 344-355.
- Saltiban, B. (2012). Storying Academic Spaces: Reflections, Narratives, and Interpretations of Tongan Students' educational experiences. (Unpublished Doctoral Thesis). The University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT.
- Sharma, A. N., & Chief, I. Y. (2016). The transforming nature of teaching and learning in higher education: A University of the South Pacific experience. In I. H. Amzat, & B. Yusuf (Eds.), Fast Forwarding Higher Education Institutions for Global Challenges (pp. 61-72). Springer Singapore.
- Suaalii-Sauni, T. (2008). Critiquing Pasifika Education at University. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*, 4(1), 14-23.
- Suhm, M. E. (1999). Factors impacting on reading difficulties of the students at the College of Micronesia. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Massachusetts Amherst, Amherst, MA.
- Toetu'u-Tamihere, A. (2014). *Ki He Lelei Taha: Talanoa Mei He Kaliloa of Successful Tongan Graduates.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Tofi, T., Flett, R., & Timutimu-Thorpe, H. (1996). Problems faced by Pacific Island students at university in New Zealand: some effects on academic performance and psychological wellbeing. *New Zealand Journal of Educational Studies*, *31*(1), 51-59.
- Toumu'a, R., & Laban, H. L. W. (2014). Cultivating a whole of university response to Pasifika:

  Research in action for widened participation, retention and completion at Victoria

- University of Wellington, New Zealand. *International Studies in Widening Participation*, 1(2), 46-59.
- Tualaulelei, E., & Kavanagh, M. (2015). University-Community Engagement: Mentoring in the Pasifika Space. *The Australasian Journal of University-Community Engagement, 10*(1), 87.
- Usher, K., West, C., MacManus, M., Waqa, S., Stewart, L., Henry, R., Lindsay, D., Conaglen, J., Hall, J., McAuliffe, M., & Redman-MacLaren, M. (2013). Motivations to nurse: an exploration of what motivates students in Pacific Island countries to enter nursing. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 19, 447-454.
- Utumapu-McBride, T., Esera, E., Toia, S. F., Tone-Schuster, L., & So'oaemalelagi, F. L. (2008). Saili mo le lumana'i: Research on Samoan students' learning perspectives and the impact on their Achievement. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*, 4(1), 149-172.
- Wilson, M., Hunt, M., Richardson, L., Phillips, H., Richardson, K., & Challies, D. (2011). Āwhina: a programme for Māori and Pacific tertiary science graduate and postgraduate success. *Higher Education*, *62*(6), 699-719.

# Gender and Sexuality

#### Gender

- Anae, M., & Fuamatu, N. (2000). The roles and responsibilities of some Samoan men in reproduction: Tiute ma Matafaioi a nisi Tane Samoa i le Faiga o Aiga. Auckland, New Zealand: Pacific Health Research Centre, The University of Auckland.
- Arun, N., M. (2008). Evidence of Swarm Intelligence in Collective Cultures: Identifying the use of Swarm Goal Directive of Productivity in Pacific Organisation Systems as well as Between Genders. In M. Levy, L. W. Nikora, B. Masters-Awatere, M. Rua & W. Waitoki (Eds.), Claiming Spaces: Proceedings of the 2007 National Maori and Pacific Psychologies Symposium 23rd-24th November 2007 (pp. 36-39-47) The University of Waikato, New Zealand: Maori and Psychology Research Unit.
- Barnes, S. S., Small, C. R., Lauilefue, T. A., Bennett, J., & Yamada, S. (2010). Alcohol consumption and gender in rural Samoa. *Substance Abuse and Rehabilitation*, 1, 1-4.
- Besnier, N. (1994). Polynesian gender liminality through time and space. In G. Herdt (Ed.), Third Sex, Third Gender: Beyond sexual dimorphism in culture and history (pp. 285-328). NY: Zone.
- Besnier, N. (1997). Sluts and superwomen: The politics of gender liminality in urban Tonga. Ethnos, 62(1-2), 5-31.

- Blaisdell-Brennan, H. K., & Goebert, D. (2001). Health care utilization among women on O'ahu: implications for Native Hawaiian women. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(2), 274-279.
- Braginsky, N., Kataoka-Yahiro, M., & Inouye, J. (2016). The lived experience of Pacific Island women with a "big body" size. *Asian/Pacific Island Nursing Journal*, 1, 10-23.
- Brewis, A. (2001). Gender conflict and co-operation in reproductive decision-making in Micronesia. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society, 110(4),* 391-400.
- Brown, S. J., Weetra, D., Glover, K., Buckskin, M., Ah Kit, J., Leane, C., . . . Gartland, D. (2015). Improving Aboriginal Women's Experiences of Antenatal Care: Findings from the Aboriginal Families Study in South Australia. *Birth*, *42*(1), 27-37.
- Burslem, F., Laohapensang, O., Sauvarin, J., Young, M., & Larson, A. (1998). Naked wire and naked truths: reproductive health risks faced by teenage girls in Honiara, Solomon Islands. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *5*(1), 8-15.
- Chen, C. H. (2014). Prioritizing Hyper-Masculinity in the Pacific region. *Culture, Society and Masculinities*, 6(1), 69-90.
- Clery, T. N. (2014). Masculinities, militarism, and the construction of gender in contemporary Fiji: Performances of parody and subversion as feminist resistance. *Pacific Studies*, *37*(3), 202-221.
- Corbett, J., & Liki, A. (2015). Intersecting identities, divergent views: Interpreting the experiences of women politicians in the Pacific Islands. *Politics & Gender, 11*(2), 320-344.
- Dickerson-Putman, J. (1996). From pollution to empowerment: Women, age, and power among the Bena Bena of the Eastern Highlands. *Pacific Studies*, 19(4), 41-70.
- Dickson, C. (2015). Pacific Island adolescent girls with a physical disability: health and wellbeing through physical activity. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Donald, H. (1997). Abortion and Pacific women in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(2), 80-83.
- Douaire-Marsaudon, F. (1996). Neither black nor white: The father's sister in Tonga. *The Journal of Polynesian Society*, 105(2), 139-164.
- Fa'asalele Tanuvasa, A. E. (1999). *The place of contraception and abortion in the lives of Samoan women*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Victoria University, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Faleolo, R. L. (2012). Higher education in New Zealand: a form of fakalakalaka for educated Tongan women?: a consideration of the perspectives of educated Tongan women on their experiences of higher education in New Zealand, and how this relates to fakalakalaka. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Albany, New Zealand.

- Fehoko, E. S. (2014). Pukepuke Fonua: an exploratory study on the faikava as an identity marker for New Zealand-born Tongan males in Auckland, New Zealand. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland.
- Filihia, M. (2001). Men are from Maama, women are from Pulotu: Female status in Tongan Society. *The Journal of Polynesian Society, 110*(4), 377-390.
- Finau, S. A. (1997). Women for health: investing in gender in the family. *Pacific Health Dialog,* 4(2), 155-162.
- Flinn, J. (1994). From sea and garden to school and town: Changing gender and household patterns among Pollap Atoll migrants. *Pacific Studies, 17*(3), 117-131.
- Gailey, C. W. (1993). Putting Down Sisters and Wives: Tongan Women and Colonization. In M. Etienne, & E. Leacock (Eds.), *Women and Colonization* (pp. 294-322). New York, NY: Praeger.
- George, N. (2016). Light, heat and shadows: women's reflections on peacebuilding in post-conflict Bougainville. *Peacebuilding*, *4*, 116-179.
- Gray, J., & Nosa, V. (2009). Tau Fifine Fiafia: the binge drinking behaviours of nine New Zealand born Niuean women living in Auckland. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *15*(1), 104-112.
- Greene, M. (2015). 'Get into groups': Young Pacific Island women and the potential for empowerment in physical education. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Manawatu, New Zealand.
- Griffen, V. (2006). Gender relations in Pacific cultures and their impact on the growth and development of children. *Paper Prepared for a Seminar on Children's Rights and Culture in the Pacific 30th October 2006*
- Harthorn, B. H. (2005). Gender, Health Inequality, and Hidden Healers in Rural Fiji. *Fijian Studies: A Journal of Contemporary Fiji, 3*(2), 337-356.
- Hecht, J. (1977). The culture of gender in Pukapuka: Male, female and the Mayakitanga 'sacred maid'. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society, 86*(2), 183-206.
- Hinton, R., & Earnest, J. (2010). I worry so much I think it will kill me: Psychosocial Health and the links to the conditions of women's lives in Papua New Guinea. *Health Sociology Review*, 19(1), 5-19.
- Huntsman, J., & Hooper, A. (1975). Male and female in Tokelau culture. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society*, 84(4), 415-430.
- Hutton, F., & Wright, S. (2015). 'You don't ditch your girls': young Māori and Pacific women and the culture of intoxication. *Critical Public Health*, *25*(1), 101-119.
- James, K. (1997). Reading the leaves: The role of Tongan women's traditional wealth and other "contraflows" in the processes of modern migration and remittances. *Pacific Studies*, 20(1), 1-27.

- Jolly, M. (2008). Moving masculinities: memories and bodies across Oceania. *The Contemporary Pacific, 20*(1), 1-24.
- Jones, A., Herda, P., & Sua'ali'i, T. (Eds.). (2000). *Bitter sweet: Indigenous women in the Pacific*. Dunedin: University of Otago Press.
- Kubuabola, S., Rich, J., & Shah, M. (2016). Gender equity: women in academia in Fiji. *Journal of Institutional Research in South East Asia*, 14, 71-82.
- Leckie, J. (2000). Gender and work in Fiji: Constraints to re-negotiation. In A. Jones, P. Herda & T. Sua'ali'i (Eds.), *Bitter sweet: Indigenous women in the Pacific* (pp. 73-92). Dunedin: University of Otago Press.
- Lipinski, J. P., & Pope Jr, H. G. (2002). Body ideals in young Samoan men: A comparison with men in North America and Europe. *International Journal of Men's Health, 1*(2), 163-171.
- Lui, P. S. C. (2016). Reproductive health problems faced by men in Solomon Islands.

  (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane,
  Australia.
- Lutui, M. (2007). Jonah, Arnold, and Me: Reading the Tongan Male body. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 39-48). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Mageo, J. M. (1994). Hairdos and Don'ts: Hair Symbolism and Sexual History in Samoa. *Man,* 29, 407-432.
- Mageo, J. M. (1998). Theorizing self in Samoa: Emotions, genders, and sexualities University of Michigan Press.
- Ma'ia'i, S. (1992). Reflection on the Samoan woman's sexuality and cervical screening. *New Zealand Family Physician*, 19(2), 68-69.
- Manarpaac, C. (2014). *Heads & Shoulders: Representations of Polynesian Men in the NFL.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Hawai'i at Manoa, Honolulu, HI.
- Mara, D. (2014). Samoan women in tertiary education and ethnic identity. *Māori and Pasifika Higher Education Horizons (Diversity in Higher Education, Volume 15) Emerald Group Publishing Limited, 15,* 271-290.
- Mayeda, D. T., & Pasko, L. (2012). Youth violence and hegemonic masculinity among Pacific Islander and Asian American adolescents. *Critical Criminology, 20,* 121-139.
- Meo-Sewabu, L. D. (2015). The cultural constructs of health and wellbeing amongst Marama iTaukei in a Fijian village in Lau and in a transnational Fijian community in Whanganui, Aotearoa. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.

- Meo-Sewabu, L. D. (2016). Na marama iTaukei kei ma vanua: culturally embedded agency of indigenous Fijian women opportunities and constraints. *New Zealand Sociology, 31*, 96-122.
- McDonald, B. (2014). Coaching whiteness: stories of 'Pacifica exotica' in Australian high school rugby. *Sport, Education and Society,* Advanced online publication.
- McKinnon, K., Carnegie, M., Gibson, K., & Rowland, C. (2016). Gender equality and economic empowerment in the Solomon Islands and Fiji: a place-based approach. *Gender, Place & Culture, 23*, 1376-1391.
- McMillan, A. (2012). Exploring the Role of the Rock and Water Programme in the Improvement of Māori and Pacifika Boys' Engagement with School. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Menon, K. (2009). Sense of identity among Samoan migrant women at work and living in Auckland, Aotearoa/New Zealand. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, New Zealand.
- Menon, K., & Mulitalo, T. (2006). The Socio-Cultural Meaning of 'Night Life' to Samoan Women in Auckland: Observed variation in Females' behavior on the dance floor across Euro-American and Polynesian cultures. *International Journal of Diversity in Organisations, Communities & Nations, 5*(6), 29-40.
- Mitchell, W. E. (1990). Why Wape men don't beat their wives: Constraints toward domestic tranquility in a New Guinea Society. *Pacific Studies*, *13*(3), 141-150.
- Nemani, M., & Thorpe, H. (2016). The experiences of 'brown' female bodyboarders: negotiating multiple axes of marginality. In H. Thorpe, & R. Olive (Eds.), *Women in Action Sport Cultures* (pp. 213-233) Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- O'Brien, P. (2006). *The Pacific muse: exotic femininity and the colonial Pacific*. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press.
- Orimoto, L., & Muelier, C. W. (2003). Psychosocial adjustments of native Hawaiian women living with HIV/AIDS. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *10*(3), 3-9.
- Ortner, S. B. (1981). Gender and sexuality in hierarchical societies: The case of Polynesia and some comparative implications. In S. Ortner, & H. Whitehead (Eds.), *Sexual meanings:*The cultural construction of gender and sexuality (pp. 359-409). Cambridge:

  Cambridge University Press.
- Park, J., Sua'ali'i, T., Anae, M., Lima, I., Fuamatu, N., & Mariner, K. (2002). A late-twentieth-century Auckland Perspective on Samoan masculinities. In H. Worth, A. Paris & L. Allen (Eds.), *The life of Brian: Masculinities, sexualities and health in New Zealand*. Dunedin, New Zealand: University of Otago Press.

- Ricciardelli, L. A., McCabe, M. P., Mavoa, H., Fotu, K., Goundar, R., Schultz, J., . . . Swinburn, B. A. (2007). The pursuit of muscularity among adolescent boys in Fiji and Tonga. *Body Image*, *4*(4), 361-371.
- Roberts, G. (2007). Masculinity, mental health and Violence in Papua New Guinea, Vanuatu, Fiji and Kiribati. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 14(2), 35-41.
- Rogers, G. (1977). 'The father's sister is black': A consideration of female rank and powers in Tonga. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society, 86*(2), 157-182.
- Rosario, A. M. (2010). Meeting Chamorro women's health care needs: examining the cultural impact of mamahlao on gynaecological screening. *Pacific Health Dialog, 16*(1), 81-90.
- Rubie-Davies, C. M., Liu, S., & Lee, K. K. (2013). Watching each other: Portrayals of gender and ethnicity in television advertisements. *The Journal of Social Psychology, 153*(2), 175-195.
- Saunders, K. (1980). Melanesian women in Queensland 1863-1907: Some methodological problems involving the relationship between Racism and Sexism. *Pacific Studies, 4*(1), 26-44.
- Schluter, P., Bellringer, M., & Abbott, M. (2007). Maternal gambling associated with families' food, shelter, and safety needs: Findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *Journal of Gambling Issues, 19,* 87-90.
- Sillitoe, P. (1979). Man-eating women: fears of sexual pollution in the Papua New Guinea Highlands. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society, 88*(1), 77-98.
- Stewart-Withers, R. (2011). Re-positioning the experiences and situation of single mothers: Accounts from Samoa. *Women's Studies Journal*, *25*(1), 47-62.
- Stewart-Withers, R. R. (2008). *Contesting development: the experience of female-headed households in Samoa*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Sua'ali'i, T. (2000). Deconstructing the 'exotic' female beauty of the Pacific Islands. In A. Jones, P. Herder & T. Sua'ali'i (Eds.), *Bitter sweet: Indigenous women in the Pacific* (pp. 93-108). Dunedin, NZ: University of Otago.
- Sua'ali'i, T. (2001). Samoans and gender: Some reflections on male, female and fa'afafine gender identities. In C. Macpherson, P. Spoonley & M. Anae (Eds.), *Tangata o te moana nui: The evolving identities of Pacific peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand*.

  Palmerston North: Dunmore Press.
- Tanjasiri, S. P., Mata'alii, S., Hanneman, M., & Sabado, M. D. (2011). Needs and experiences of Samoan breast cancer survivors in Southern California. *Hawaii Medical Journal*, *70*(11 Suppl 2), 35-39.

- Tautolo, E. (2011). Pacific fathers cultivating the future: the health of Pacific fathers and their influence upon and involvement with their children. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Tautolo, E., Schluter, P. J., & Sundborn, G. (2009). Mental health well-being amongst fathers within the Pacific Island Families Study. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 69-78.
- Tengan, T. P. K., & Markham, J. M. (2009). Performing Polynesian Masculinities in American Football: From 'Rainbows to Warriors'. *The International Journal of the History of Sport, 26*(16), 2412-2431.
- Tongamoa, T. (Ed.). (1988). *Pacific women: Role and status of women in Pacific societies*. Suva, Fiji: University of the South Pacific.
- Tupou, H. (2011). The effect of the Glass Ceiling on Pacific Island women in New Zealand organisations. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland., New Zealand.
- Tupuola, A. (1993). *Critical analysis of adolescent development: A Samoan women's perspective*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Vasconcellos, K. D. K. (2014). *Hawaiian male adolescent students' perceptions of masculinty.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Hawaii at Manoa, Honolulu, HI.
- Waqa, G., & Mavoa, H. (2006). Sociocultural factors influencing the food choices of 16-18 year-old indigenous Fijian females at school. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 13(2), 57-64.
- Worth, H. (2002). 'Tits is just an accessory'. Masculinity and femininity in the lives of Maori and Pacific queens. In H. Worth, A. Paris & L. Allen (Eds.), *The life of Brian:*Masculinities, sexualities and health in New Zealand. Dunedin, New Zealand:
  University of Otago Press.
- Zimmer-Tamakoshi, L. (1993). Nationalism and Sexuality in Papua New Guinea. *Pacific Studies*, *16*(4), 61-97.

#### **Gender Diverse**

- Alexeyeff, K. (2000). Dragging drag: The performance of gender and sexuality in the Cook Islands. *The Australian Journal of Anthropology, 11*(2), 297-307.
- Alexeyeff, K. (2008). Globalizing drag in the Cook Islands: Friction, repulsion, and abjection. *The Contemporary Pacific, 20*(1), 143-161.
- Bartlett, N. H., & Vasey, P. L. (2006). A retrospective study of childhood gender-atypical behaviour in Samoan Fa'afafine. *Archives of Sexual Behaviour*, *35*(6), 659-666.
- Besnier, N. (2002). Transgenderism, Locality, and the Miss Galaxy Beauty Pageant in Tonga. *American Ethnologist*, 29(3), 534-566.

- Besnier, N. (2004). The social production of abjection. Desire and silencing among transgender Tongans. *Social Anthropology*, *12*(03), 301-323.
- Besnier, N. (2008). Crossing Genders, Mixing Languages: The Linguistic Construction of Transgenderism in Tonga. *The Handbook of Language and Gender, 25*, 279.
- Brown-Acton, P. (2014). Strengthening Solutions for Pasefika Rainbow. *Keynote Speech Presented at GPS 2.0: Growing Pacific Solutions for our Communities National Pacific Conference*, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Dolgoy, R. (2000). The Search for Recognition and Social Movement Emergence: Towards an Understanding of the Transformation of the Fa'afafine of Samoa. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada.
- Farran, S. (2010). Pacific perspectives: Fa'afafine and Fakaleiti in Samoa and Tonga: People between worlds. *Liverpool Law Review*, *31*(1), 13-28.
- Farran, S., & Su'a, A. (2005). Criminal law and Fa'afafine and Fakaleiti in the South Pacific. Commonwealth Law Bulletin, 31(1), 19-31.
- Hansen-Reid, M. (2011). Samoan Fa'afafine-navigating the New Zealand prison environment: A single case study. *Sexual Abuse in Australia and New Zealand*, 3(1), 4-9.
- James, K. E. (1994). Effeminate males and changes in the construction of gender in Tonga. *Pacific Studies*, *17*(2), 39-69.
- Kuwahara, M. (2014). Living as and Living with Māhū and Raerae: Geopolitics, sex, and gender in the Society Islands. In N. Besnier, & K. Alexeyeff (Eds.), *Gender on the Edge: Transgender, Gay, and Other Pacific Islanders* (pp. 93-114). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i Press.
- Mageo, J. (1992). Male transvestism and cultural change in Samoa. *American Ethnologist,* 19(3), 443-459.
- Mageo, J. (1996). Samoa, on the Wilde side: Male transvestism, Oscar Wilde, and liminality in making gender. *Ethos, 24*(4), 588-627.
- Matzner, A. (2001). 'O Au No Keia: Voices from Hawai'i's Mahu and Transgender Communities. Michigan, MI: Xlibris Corporation.
- Mehr, M. S. K. (2016). *Telling stories to live: Hawaiian trans narratives on gender and sex work.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway.
- Pearson, S. (2014). Televisual Transgender: Hybridizing the mainstream in Pasifika New Zealand. In N. Besnier, & K. Alexeyeff (Eds.), *Gender on the Edge: Transgender, Gay, and Other Pacific Islanders* (pp. 241-265). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i Press.
- Schmidt, J. (2002). Migrant bodies: The embodiment of identity amongst Samoan Fa'afafine in New Zealand. *New Zealand Sociology*, *17*(2), 179-197.

- Schmidt, J. (2003). Paradise lost? Social change and fa'afafine in Samoa. *Current Sociology,* 51(3-4), 417-432.
- Schmidt, J. (2012). *Migrating genders: Westernisation, migration, and Samoan fa'afafine*. Oxford, NY: Ashgate Publishing, Ltd.
- Sua'ali'i, T. (2001). Samoans and gender: Some reflections on male, female and fa'afafine gender identities. In C. Macpherson, P. Spoonley & M. Anae (Eds.), *Tangata o te moana nui: The evolving identities of Pacific peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand*.

  Palmerston North: Dunmore Press.
- Tcherkézoff, S. (2014). Transgender in Samoa: The cultural production of Gender Inequality.
  In N. Besnier, & K. Alexeyeff (Eds.), *Gender on the Edge: Transgender, Gay, and Other Pacific Islanders* (pp. 115-134). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i Press.
- Tora, L., Perera, C., & Kaya, C. F. (2006). Masculinity, Gender Identity, and Fiji's GLBT Community. *Women in Action: Isis Women International*, 1, 56-65.
- VanderLaan, D. P. (2013). *The development and evolution of male androphilia in Samoan fa'afafine*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Lethbridge, Alberta, Canada.
- Vasey, P. L., & Bartlett, N. H. (2007). What can the Samoan "Fa'afafine" teach us about the Western concept of gender identity disorder in childhood? *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, 50(4), 481-490.
- Vasey, P. L., & VanderLaan, D. P. (2007). Birth order and male androphilia in Samoan fa'afafine. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 274*(1616), 1437-1442.
- Vasey, P. L., Pocock, D. S., & VanderLaan, D. P. (2007). Kin selection and male androphilia in Samoan fa'afafine. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 28(3), 159-167.
- Wallace, L. (1999). Fa'afafine: Queens of Samoa and the elision of homosexuality. *Gay and Lesbian Quarterly, 5*(1), 25-39.
- Worth, H. (2008). Bad-assed honeys with a difference: South Auckland Fa'afafine talk about identity. In F. Martin, P. A. Jackson, M. McLelland & A. Yue (Eds.), *AsiaPacificqueer: Rethinking genders and sexualities* (pp. 149-162). Champaign, IL: University of Illinois Press.

#### **Gendered Violence**

Adinkrah, M. (2001). Patriarchal family ideology and female homicide victimization in Fiji. Journal of Comparative Family Studies, 32(2), 283-301.

- Ali, S. (2005). Violence against the girl child in the Pacific Islands region. United Nations
  Division for the Advancement of Women (DAW) in Collaboration with UNICEF. Expert
  Group Meeting Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination and Violence Against the
  Girl Child. Florence, Italy. 11-22.
- Ayers Counts, D. (1990). Beaten wife, suicidal woman: Domestic violence in Kaliai, West New Britain. *Pacific Studies*, *13*(3), 151-169.
- Baines, L. (2012). Gender-Based Violence in Papua New Guinea. *Burgmann Journal*, (1), 21-26.
- Bercovitch, E. (1996). The woman who ran away: Gender, power, and place among the Atbalmin of the West Sepik, Papua New Guinea. *Pacific Studies*, 19(4), 15-40.
- Cribb, J. (1997). "Being bashed is just something I have to accept": Western Samoan women's attitudes towards domestic violence in Christchurch. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*, 9, 164-170.
- Cribb, J. (1999). Being bashed: Western Samoan women's responses to domestic violence in Western Samoa and New Zealand. *Gender, Place and Culture: A Journal of Feminist Geography*, 6(1), 49-65.
- Eves, R. (2006). Exploring the role of men and masculinities in Papua New Guinea in the 21st Century: How to address violence in ways that generate empowerment for both men and women. Australia: Caritas.
- Falgout, S. (2009). The quiet of the fierce barracuda: Masculinity and aggression in Pohnpei, Micronesia. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 14(6), 445-453.
- Ganster-Breidler, M. (2009). Gender-based Violence and the impact on Women's health and well-being in Papua New Guinea: a Cross-sectional survey using sections of the World Health Organization's (WHO) Violence Against Women Health and Life Experiences.

  Papua New Guinea: Horizont 3000.
- Hamelin, C., Salomon, C., Cyr, D., Gueguen, A., & Lert, F. (2010). Childhood sexual abuse and adult sexual health among indigenous Kanak women and non-Kanak women of New Caledonia. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *34*(9), 677-688.
- Kanuha, V. K. (2013). "Relationships So Loving and So Hurtful": The Constructed Duality of Sexual and Racial/Ethnic Intimacy in the Context of Violence in Asian and Pacific Islander Lesbian and Queer Women's Relationships. *Violence Against Women, 19*(9), 1175-1196.
- Koloto, A., & Sharma, S. (2005). The needs of Pacific women when they are victims of family violence. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*, (26), 84-97.
- Lepani, K. (2008). Mobility, Violence and the Gendering of HIV in Papua New Guinea. *The Australian Journal of Anthropology, 19*(2), 150-164.

- Lewis, D. E. J. (1990). Tungaru conjugal jealousy and sexual mutilation. *Pacific Studies, 13*(3), 115-126.
- Lewis, I., Maruia, B., & Walker, S. (2008). Violence against Women in Papua New Guinea. *Journal of Family Studies, 14*(2-3), 183-197.
- Merry, S. E. (2002). Comparative criminalization: Cultural meanings of adultery and gender violence in Hawai'i in 1850 and 1990. *Pacific Studies, 25*(1/2), 203-220.
- Rapadas, J. M. (2007). Transmission of violence: The legacy of colonialism in Guam and the path to peace. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology*, 1(02), 33-40.
- Salomon, C., & Hamelin, C. (2008). Beyond normative discourse: Adoption and violence against women in New Caledonia. *Pacific Studies*, *31*(3/4), 131-155.
- Scaglion, R. (1990). Spare the rod and spoil the woman? Family violence in Abelam society. *Pacific Studies, 13*(3), 189-204.
- Zimmer, L. J. (1990). Conflict and violence in Gender Society: older persons as victims, troublemakers, and perpetrators. *Pacific Studies*, *13*(3), 205-224.

## Sexuality

- Adams, J., Dickinson, P., & Asiasiga, L. (2013). Mental health issues for lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people: a qualitative study. *International Journal of Mental Health Promotion*, 15(2), 105-120.
- Besnier, N., & Alexeyeff, K. (Eds.). (2014). *Gender on the Edge: Transgender, Gay, and other Pacific Islanders*. Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i Press.
- Douglas, J. (2015). Gay pride and prejudice in the Pacific. *Labour & Industry: A Journal of the Social and Economic Relations of Work, 25*(3), 196-204.
- Dvorak, G. (2014). Two Sea Turtles: Intimacy between men in the Marshall Islands. In N. Besnier, & K. Alexeyeff (Eds.), *Gender on the Edge: Transgender, Gay, and Other Pacific Islanders* (pp. 184-209). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i Pres.
- George, N. (2008). Contending masculinities and the limits of tolerance: Sexual minorities in Fiji. *The Contemporary Pacific, 20*(1), 163-189
- Kelly-Hanku, A., Kawage, T., Vallely, A., Mek, A., & Mathers, B. (2015). Sex, violence and HIV on the inside: cultures of violence, denial, gender inequality and homophobia negatively influence the health outcomes of those in closed settings. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 17(8), 990-1003.
- Knauft, B. M. (2003). What ever happened to ritualized homosexuality? Modern sexual subjects in Melanesia and Elsewhere. *Annual Review of Sex Research, 14*, 137-159.

- McIntosh, T. (1999). Words and worlds of difference: Homosexualities in the Pacific Department of Sociology, University of the South Pacific.
- Nicloy, S. (2006). Homosexuality in Micronesia. Micronesian Counsellor, 62, 1-18.
- Petterson, L. J., Dixson, B. J., Little, A. C., & Vasey, P. L. (2014). Viewing Time Measures of Sexual Orientation in Samoan Cisgender Men Who Engage in Sexual Interactions with Fa'afafine. *Plos One, 10*(2).
- Peteru, A. (1997). The sexuality and STD/HIV risk-related sexual behaviours of single, unskilled, young adult Samoan males: a Qualitative study. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Mahidol University, Thailand.
- Pulotu-Endemann, F. K., & Peteru, C. L. (2001). Beyond the Paradise myth: Sexuality and identity. In C. Macpherson, P. Spoonley & M. Anae (Eds.), *Tangata o te moana nui: The evolving identities of Pacific peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand* (pp. 122-136). Palmerston North: Dunmore Press.
- Pinhey, T. K., & Millman, S. R. (2004). Asian/Pacific Islander adolescent sexual orientation and suicide risk in Guam. *American Journal of Public Health, 94*(7), 1204-1206.
- Shore, B. (1981). Sexuality and gender in Samoa. In S. Ortner, & H. Whitehead (Eds.), Sexual meaning meanings: The cultural construction of gender sexuality (pp. 192-215).

  Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Stewart, C. (2014). On the Edge of Understanding: Non-Heteronormative Sexuality in Papua New Guinea. In N. Besnier, & K. Alexeyeff (Eds.), *Gender on the Edge: Transgender, Gay, and Other Pacific Islanders* (pp. 323-364). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i Press.
- Teaiwa, T. K. (2014). Same Sex, Different Armies: Sexual minority invisibility among Fijians in the Fiji military forces and British Army. In N. Besnier, & K. Alexeyeff (Eds.), Gender on the Edge: Transgender, Gay, and Other Pacific Islanders (pp. 266-292). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i Press.
- Thompson, T. (2014). *Queer lives in Fiji*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Worth, H. (2000). Up on K Road on a Saturday night: Sex, gender and sex work in Auckland. *Venereology*, 13(1), 15-24.
- Yamada, S. (1998). Prostitution in CNMI: Political and economic aspects of emerging infectioous diseases. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *5*(1), 76-78.

### Industrial, Work and Organisation

- Arun, N., M. (2008). Evidence of Swarm Intelligence in Collective Cultures: Identifying the use of Swarm Goal Directive of Productivity in Pacific Organisation Systems as well as Between Genders. In M. Levy, L. W. Nikora, B. Masters-Awatere, M. Rua & W. Waitoki (Eds.), Claiming Spaces: Proceedings of the 2007 National Maori and Pacific Psychologies Symposium 23rd-24th November 2007 (pp. 36-39-47) The University of Waikato, New Zealand: Maori and Psychology Research Unit.
- Barnes, C. L., & Jamieson, B. D. (1977). Reactions to job characteristics among Samoan, Maori and Pakeha employees. *New Zealand Psychologist*, *6*, 14-24.
- Borovnik, M. (2011). Occupational health and safety of merchant seafarers from Kiribati and Tuvalu. *Asia Pacific Viewpoint*, *52*(3), 333-346.
- Brown, R. P., & Connell. J. (2004). The migration of doctors and nurses from South Pacific Island Nations. *Social Science & Medicine*, *58*(11), 2193-2210.
- Bryson, J., & Hosken, C. (2005). What does it mean to be a culturally competent I/O Psychologist in New Zealand? *New Zealand Journal of Psychology, 34*(2), 69-76.
- Chand, A. (2006). Physical and psychological health problems of garment workers in the Fiji Islands. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 13(2), 65-70.
- Coates, K., & Carr, S. C. (2005). Skilled immigrants and selection bias: A theory-based field study from New Zealand. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 29(5), 577-599.
- Connell, J. (2014). The two cultures of health worker migration: A Pacific perspective. *Social Science and Medicine*, 116, 73-81.
- Cooper-Thomas, H. D., & Poutasi, C. (2011). Attitudinal variables predicting intent to quit among Pacific healthcare workers. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources, 49*(2), 180-192.
- Hacket, K. (2009). Instruments in the Protection of Migrant workers' Rights The New Zealand Case. *New Zealand Sociology*, *24*(1), 49-63.
- Hines, G. H. (1973). Motivational correlates of Pacific Islanders in urban environments. *The Journal of Psychology, 83*(2), 247-249.
- Hingano, T. (2011). Concrete ceiling or sticky floor?: barriers for Pacific people's success in mainstream organisations. *Human Resources*, *16*(4), 28-30.
- Ioane, L. M. (2014). Establishing and maintaining a professional accounting body in Samoa: the role of the Samoa Institute of Accountants (SIA). (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.

- Iro, E. (2008). The leadership experience of first line nurse managers working in the Cook Islands: a qualitative descriptive study. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Jones, A. (1992). Contradictions in assertiveness training for the Pacific workplace. *New Zealand Journal of Adult Learning*, 20(2), 87-95.
- Kubuabola, S., Rich, J., & Shah, M. (2016). Gender equity: women in academia in Fiji. *Journal of Institutional Research in South East Asia, 14,* 71-82.
- Lal, B. V., Munro, D., & Beechert, E. D. (Eds.). (1993). *Plantation Workers: Resistance and Accommodation*. Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Leckie, J. (2000). Gender and work in Fiji: Constraints to re-negotiation. In A. Jones, P. Herda & T. Sua'ali'i (Eds.), *Bitter sweet: Indigenous women in the Pacific* (pp. 73-92). Dunedin: University of Otago Press.
- Lee-Ross, D., & Mitchell, B. (2007). Doing business in the Torres Straits: a study of the relationship between culture and the nature of Indigenous entrepreneurs. *Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship, 12,* 199-216.
- Marai, L., Kewibu, V., Kinkin, E., Peter Peniop, J., Salini, C., & Kofana, G. (2010). Remuneration disparities in Oceania: Papua New Guinea and Solomon Islands. *International Journal of Psychology*, 45(5), 350-359.
- Menon, K. (2009). Sense of identity among Samoan migrant women at work and living in Auckland, Aotearoa/New Zealand. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, New Zealand.
- Moala, T., L. (2016). The social impacts of seasonal migration on left-behind children: an exploratory study from Lifuka, Tonga. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand.
- Parker, P. (2005). Intelligent careers of Pacific Island leaders. *South Pacific Journal of Psychology*, 16, 1-17.
- Pole, S. T. (2014). My journey into the unknown: exploring the experiences of Tongan graduates in New Zealand today and the Quarter Life Crisis. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Prescott, S. M. (2009). *Pacific business sustainability in New Zealand: A study of Tongan Experiences*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation), Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Prescott, S. M. (2011). Using talanoa in Pacific business research in New Zealand: Experiences with Tongan entrepreneurs. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*, 4(1), 127-148.

- Saunders, K. (1980). Melanesian women in Queensland 1863-1907: Some methodological problems involving the relationship between Racism and Sexism. *Pacific Studies, 4*(1), 26-44.
- Southwick, M. (2001). Pacific women's stories of becoming a nurse in New Zealand: A Radical Hermeneutic reconstruction of marginality. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation).

  Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Tazreiter, C., Weber, L., Pickering, S., Segrave, M., & McKernan, H. (2016). Tongan Seasonal Workers: Permanent Temporariness. In C. Tazreifer, L. Weber, S. Pickering, M. Segrave & H. McKernan (Eds.), Fluid Security in the Asia Pacific (pp. 103-127) Springer.
- Tupou, H. (2011). The effect of the Glass Ceiling on Pacific Island women in New Zealand organisations. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland., New Zealand.
- Van Gelder, J., De Vries, R. E., Frese, M., & Goutbeek, J. (Jul 2007). Differences in psychological strategies of failed and operational business owners in the Fiji Islands. Journal of Small Business Management, 45(3), 388-400.

#### **ENVIRONMENT**

The environment dimension of the Fonofale model refers to health and wellbeing derived from an affiliation and relationship with the physical environment. We have compiled references on climate change, disasters and tragedies, tourism and development within this theme. We have also broadened this conceptualisation to include social environments with references pertaining to community, home and place making, and the media. Many of these references, especially the home and place making and community resources share commonalities with the family section however may only be found here as a function of its relevance primarily to the conceptualisation of the environment.

## Climate Change

- Asugeni, J., MacLaren, D., Massey, P. D., & Speare, R. (2015). Mental health issues from rising sea level in a remote coastal region of the Solomon Islands: current and future.

  Australasian Psychiatry, 23(6), 22-25.
- Barnett, J. (2001). Adapting to climate change in Pacific Island Countries: The Problem of uncertainty. *World Development*, 29(6), 977-993.
- Barnett, J., & Campbell, J. (2010). *Climate Change and Small Island States: Power, Knowledge and the South Pacific*. London, UK.: Earthscan.

- Barnett, J., & Chamberlain, N. (2010). Migration as climate change adaptation: implications for the Pacific. In B. Burson (Ed.), *Climate change and Migration South Pacific Perspectives* (pp. 51-60). Wellington, New Zealand: Institute of Policy Studies, Victoria University of Wellington.
- Barnett, J., & Waters, E. (2016). Rethinking the vulnerability of small island states: climate change and development in the Pacific Islands. In J. Grugel, & D. Hammett (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of International Development* (Vol. 8, pp. 731-748). Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- Brown Pulu, T. (2013). Climate-Change Blues: Sustaining village life in Tonga. *Te Kaharoa: The e-Journal on Indigenous Pacific Issues, 6*(1), February 23, 2016-260-305.
- Buggy, L., & McNamara, K. E. (2016). The need to reinterpret "community" for climate change adaptation: a case study of Pele Island, Vanuatu. *Climate and Development,* 8(3), 270-280.
- Cocklin, C., & Keen, M. (2000). Urbanization in the Pacific: environmental change, vulnerability and human security. *Environmental Conservation*, (4), 392-403.
- Corlew, L. K. (2013). The cultural impacts of climate change: Sense of place and sense of community in Tuvalu, a country threatened by sea level rise. *Global Journal of Community Psychology Practice*, 4(3), 1-11.
- Farbotko, C., & Lazrus, H. (2012). The first climate refugees? Contesting global narratives of climate change in Tuvalu. *Global Environmental Change*, 22(2), 382-390.
- Green, D. (2006). How might climate change affect island culture in the Torres Strait?. Victoria, Australia: CSIRO Marine and Atmospheric Research.
- Kuruppu, N., & Liverman, D. (2011). Mental preparation for climate adaptation: The role of cognition and culture in enhancing adaptive capacity of water management in Kiribati. *Global Environmental Change*, *21*(2), 657-669.
- Lal, M. (2004). Implications of Climate Change in Small Island Developing Countries of the South Pacific. *Fijian Studies: A Journal of Contemporary Fiji, 2*(1), 15-35.
- Lusk, A. (2015). Pursuing Self-determined Responses to Climate Change in the Cook Islands:

  Exploring the Interface between Government Organisational Directive and Local
  Community Engagement with Climate Change Adaptation. (Unpublished Master's
  Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- McCubbin, S., Smit, B., & Pearce, T. (2015). Where does climate fit? Vulnerability to climate change in the context of multiple stressors in Funafuti, Tuvalu. *Global Environmental Change*, 30, 43-55.
- McIver, L. (2016). Fragile paradise: health impacts of climate change in Pacific Island countries. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Australian National University, Canberra, Australia.

- McIver, L., Bowen, K., Hanna, E., & Iddings, S. (2016). A 'Healthy Islands' framework for climate change in the Pacific. *Health Promotion International*, *32*(3), 549-557.
- McNamara, K. E., & Westoby, R. (2011). Local knowledge and climate change adaptation on Erub Island, Torres Strait. *Local Environment*, *16*, 887-901.
- Morrison, K. (2016). The role of traditional knowledge to frame understanding of migration as adaptation to the 'slow disaster' of sea level rise in the South Pacific. In K. Sudmeier-Rieux, M. Fernandez, I. M. Penna, M. Jaboyedoff, & J. C. Gaillard (Eds.), *Identifying Emerging Issues in Disaster Risk Reduction, Migration, Climate Change and Sustainable Development* (pp. 249-266). Springer International Publishing.
- Nunn, P. D., Runman, J., Falanruw, M., & Kumar, R. (2016). Culturally grounded responses to coastal change on islands in the Federated States of Micronesia, northwest Pacific Ocean. *Regional Environmental Change*, *17*(4), 959-971
- Mortreux, C., & Barnett, J. (2009). Climate Change, Migration and adaptation in Funafuti, Tuvalu. *Global Environmental Change*, 19(1), 105-112.
- Orcherton, D., Mitchell, D., & McEvoy, D. (2016). Perceptions of climate vulnerability, tenure security and resettlement priorities: insights from Lami Town, Fiji Islands. *Australian Geographer*, 48(2), 235-254.
- Paton, K. L. (2009). *At home of Abroad: Tuvaluans shaping a Tuvaluan future.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.

## Community

- Alcohol Advisory Council of New Zealand, Health Research Council of New Zealand, & Accident Compensation Corporation. (2008). Searching for Pacific solutions a community-based intervention project to minimise harm from alcohol use: final report. Wellington, New Zealand: Alcohol Advisory Council of New Zealand.
- Allen, L. (2002). Maintaining Marshallese fundamentals with Christian fundamentalism. *Pacific Studies*, *25*(1/2), 95-116.
- Arun, N., M. (2008). Evidence of Swarm Intelligence in Collective Cultures: Identifying the use of Swarm Goal Directive of Productivity in Pacific Organisation Systems as well as Between Genders. In M. Levy, L. W. Nikora, B. Masters-Awatere, M. Rua & W. Waitoki (Eds.), Claiming Spaces: Proceedings of the 2007 National Maori and Pacific Psychologies Symposium 23rd-24th November 2007 (pp. 36-39-47) The University of Waikato, New Zealand: Maori and Psychology Research Unit.
- Atkinson, Q. D., Coomber, T., Passmore, S., Greenhill, S. J., & Kushnick, G. (2016). Cultural and environmental predictors of pre-European deforestation on Pacific Islands. *PloS One*, *11*(5), e0156340.

- Austin, A. A., & Marsella, A. J. (2005). Understanding substance use and violent behavior in a Native Hawaiian Community. *Social Change and psychosocial adaptation in the Pacific Islands: Cultures in transition.* (pp. 171-186). New York, NY: Springer.
- Austin, S., & Thomson G. (2011). 'Getting rid of tobacco...that's the key': strong feelings of Pacific policymakers in New Zealand about tobacco, and smoking around children. *Pacific Health Dialog, 17*(1), 99-106.
- Bell, C., Goebert, D., Miyamoto, R. H., Hishinuma, E. S., Andrade, N. N., Johnson, R. C., & McDermott Jr, J. F. (2001). Sociocultural and community factors influencing the use of Native Hawaiian healers and healing practices among adolescents in Hawai'i. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 8(2), 249-259.
- Braun, K. L., & Keju-Johnson, D. (1997). Community perceptions of Youth to Youth in Health: a peer education program for primary health care, Marshall Islands. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *4*(1), 51-56.
- Carter, S., Williams, M., Paterson, J., & Iusitini, L. (2009). Do perceptions of neighbourhood problems contribute to maternal health?: Findings from the Pacific Islands Families study. *Health & Place*, *15*(2), 622-630.
- Chand, R. K. (2015). Access to information: questions on equality, gender and geographical gap in relation to suicide prevention. *Journal of Pacific Studies*, 35(1), 1-19.
- Chung-Do, J. J., Look, M. A., Mabellos, T., Trask-Batti, M., Burke, K., & Mau, M. K. M. (2016). Engaging Pacific Islanders in research: community recommendations. *Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research, Education, and Action, 10*(1), 63-71.
- Corlew, L. K. (2013). The cultural impacts of climate change: Sense of place and sense of community in Tuvalu, a country threatened by sea level rise. *Global Journal of Community Psychology Practice*, 4(3), 1-11.
- David, A. M., Lew, R., Lyman, A. K., Otto, C., Robles, R., & Cruz, G. (2013). Eliminating tobaccorelated disparities among Pacific Islanders through leadership and capacity building -Promising practices and lessons learned. *Health Promotion Practice*, 14(5), 10-17.
- Davidson, A. J. (2012). Enlarging the field of credible experience: supporting young Solomon Islanders as agents of positive change in their communities. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- DePue, J. D., Rosen, R. K., Seiden, A., Bereolos, N., Chima, M. L., Goldstein, M. G., . . . McGarvey, S. T. (2013). Implementation of a culturally tailored diabetes intervention with community health workers in American Samoa. *The Diabetes Educator, 39*(6), 761-771.
- Ehlert, M. B., Gumataotao, A. P., Workman, R. L., Albright, C. L., & David, A. M. (2006). Community leader support for tobacco control activities & policies on Guam. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *13*(2), 71-78.

- Fa'alili-Fidow, J., McCool, J., & Percival, T. (2014). Trade and health in Samoa: views from the insiders. *BMC Public Health*, 14, 309-309.
- Feinberg, R. (2002). Anutans in Honiara: A Polynesian people's struggle to maintain community in the Solomon Islands. *Pacific Studies*, *25*(1/2), 23-44.
- Feleti, G., & Lum, C. (1997). Ke Ola O Hawaii a community partnership for health, and new challenges for faculty. *Pacific Health Dialog, 4*(1), 14-21.
- Fitzgerald, M. H., & Barker, J. C. (1993). Rehabilitation services for the Pacific. *The Western Journal of Medicine*, 159(1), 50-55.
- Fung, P., & Montague, R. (2015). A qualitative evaluation of leadership development workshops for mental health workers from four Pacific Island Countries. *Australasian Psychiatry*, *23*(3), 218-221.
- Furness, J. A., Robertson, N., Hunter, J., Hodgetts, D., & Nikora, L. W. (2013). What (actually) matters in literacy education: Contributions from community psychology. Submitted to Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online
- George, N. (2016). Light, heat and shadows: women's reflections on peacebuilding in post-conflict Bougainville. *Peacebuilding*, *4*, 116-179.
- Glover, M., Scragg, R., Nosa, V., Bullen, C., McCool, J., & Kira, A. (2009). Keeping Kids Smokefree: rationale, design, and implementation of a community, school, and family-based intervention to modify behaviors related to smoking among Maori and Pacific Island children in New Zealand. *International Quarterly of Community Health Education*, 30(3), 205-222.
- Green, J. A., Brown, K., Burgess, J., Chong, D., & Pewhairangi, K. (2013). Indigenous and immigrant populations' use and experience of community pharmacies in New Zealand. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 15(1), 78-84.
- Gridley, H., Fisher, A. T., Thomas, D. R., & Bishop, B. (2007). Development of community psychology in Australia and Aotearoa/New Zealand. *Australian Psychologist*, *42*(1), 15-22.
- Halapua, W. (1997). An approach to pastoral care with a difference: The case of forgotten people. In P. Culbertson (Ed.), *Counselling issues and South Pacific Communities* (pp. 241-255). Auckland, New Zealand: Snedden & Cervin.
- Han, H., Nicholas, A., Aimer, M., & Gray, J. (2015). An innovative community organizing campaign to improve mental health and wellbeing among Pacific Island youth in South Auckland, New Zealand. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 23(6), 670-674.
- Heather, R. (2010). Applying Kabeer's Social Relations Approach to Village Health Volunteers in Rural Papua New Guinea. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.

- Herman, N. O. T. (2013). *Investing in our young people: Akaupokotuanga i ta tatou mapu no te au tuatau ki mua.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Hubbell, F. A., Luce, P. H., Afeaki, W. P., Cruz, L. A., McMullin, J. M., Mummert, A., . . . Wenzel, L. (2006). Legacy of the Pacific Islander Cancer Control Network. *Cancer*, *107*(8), 2091-2098.
- Jackson, D. S., & Kim, R. J. (2009). A case for more culture in community psychology: The Federated States of Micronesia. *The Australian Community Psychologist*, 21(1), 108-122
- Kearney, J. F., & Zuber-Skerritt, O. D. (2011). Actioning change and lifelong learning in community development. *ALARA Inc Monograph Series*, *1*, 1-40.
- Kent, L. M., Reierson, P., & Morton, D. P. (2015). 'Live more': Study protocol for a community-based lifestyle education program addressing non-communicable diseases in low-literacy areas of the South Pacific. *BMC Public Health*, *15*, 1221.
- Kirk, R., Instone, A., Siataga, P., Ah Kuoi, A., & Lui, D. (2007). Feasibility Study Into the Establishment of Pacific Mental Health Workforce Development Organisation.

  National Centre of Mental Health Research and Workforce Development.
- Kuartei, S. (1998). Voices from the community: a call to action for Asian and Pacific Island health in the new Millenium. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *5*(1), 83-85.
- Laverack, G. (1998). The concept of empowerment in traditional Fijian Context. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *5*(1), 26-29.
- Laverack, G. (2007). Building the capacity of Fijian communities to improve health outcomes. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 14(2), 95-100.
- Le Va. (2014). FLO: Pasifika for life Pasifika community perspectives on Suicide prevention in New Zealand. Auckland, New Zealand: Le Va.
- Ledoux-Taua'aletoa, S. M. (2013). An exploration into the ways in which multi-generational Samoan households contribute to the development of societal and collective values about Aiga/families in contemporary New Zealand/Aotearoa/Niu Sila. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). United Institute of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Lyons, I., & Cavaye, J. (2016). Community-Led Engagement with Government and the Role of Community Brokers in East New Britain, Papua New Guinea. *Society & Natural Resources*, 29(4), 462-478.
- MacLaren, D., Asugeni, J., Asugeni, R., & Kekeubata, E. (2009). Incorporating Sociocultural Beliefs in Mental Health Services in Kwaio, Solomon Islands. *Australasian Psychiatry*, *17*(1 suppl), 125-127.
- Macpherson, C. (1999). Changing contours of kinship: The impacts of social and economic development on kinship organization in the South Pacific. *Pacific Studies*, *22*(2), 71-95.

- Macpherson, C. (2002). From moral community to moral communities: The foundations of migrant social solidarity among Samoans in urban Aotearoa/New Zealand. *Pacific Studies*, 25(1/2), 71-93.
- Maiava, M. (2014). Exploring the Acceptability and Accessibility of the Incredible Years

  Parenting Programme for Pasifika Peoples. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The
  University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Mara, D. L. (1998). Pacific Islands School-Parent-Community Liaison Project. An Independent Evaluation Report. Wellington, New Zealand: New Zealand Council for Educational Research.
- Marai, L. (2007). The psychology of consensus in Melanesia. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology*, 1(02), 54-57.
- McCool, J., McKenzie, J., Lyman, A., & Allen, M. (2013). Supporting Pacific Island countries to strengthen their resistance to tobacco industry interference in tobacco control: a case study of Papua New Guinea and Solomon Islands. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10(8), 3424-3434.
- McMillan, A. (2012). Exploring the Role of the Rock and Water Programme in the Improvement of Māori and Pacifika Boys' Engagement with School. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Mitaera, J. (1997). Pastoral Care and the "Real World Context" of Cook Islanders in Aotearoa New Zealand. In P. Culbertson (Ed.), *Counselling issues and South Pacific Communities* (pp. 117-113). Auckland, New Zealand: Snedden & Cervin.
- Modell, J. S. (2002). Abuse and discipline: The creation of moral community in domestic violence groups on the Wai'anae Coast (Hawai'i). *Pacific Studies*, *25*(1/2), 173-202.
- Nakhid, C. (2012). 'Which side of the bridge to safety?' How young Pacific Islanders in New Zealand view their South Auckland community. *Kotuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online, 7*(1), 14-25.
- Ofanoa, M. M. (2010). Loto'i Tonga: A community development/health promotion model for Tongans living in urban areas. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Palmer, P. H., Lee, C., Sablan-Santos, L., Lepule, J. T., Pang, V. K., Tui'one, V., . . . Tanjasiri, S. P. (2013). Eliminating Tobacco Disparities Among Native Hawaiian Pacific Islanders

  Through Policy Change: The Role of Community-Based Organizations. *Health Promotion Practice*, *14*(5), 36S-39S.
- Ramos, C. M. (2011). E Hoʻi I Ka Piko (Returning to the Center): Positioning Local Culture in a Global Community Psychology. *Global Journal of Community Psychology Practice*, *2*(1), 9-17.

- Rao, M., DePue, J. D., Dunsiger, S., Elsayed, M., Nu'usolia, O., & McGarvey, S. T. (2015). Long-Term Impact of a Community Health Worker Intervention on Diabetes Control in American Samoa. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *12*, 150-160.
- Rasmussen, A. E. (2015). *In the absence of the gift: new forms of value and personhood in a Papua New Guinea community.* (First ed.). Oxford, NY: Berghahn Books.
- Robertson, M. L. B. (2016). The affects of water the materialized morality of wells, pipes, and pumps in Tarawa, Kiribati. *Society & Natural Resources*, *29*, 668-680.
- Ryan, B., Goding, M., Fenner, P., Percival, S., Percival, W., Latai, L., . . . Ng, C. (2015). Art and mental health in Samoa. *Australasian Psychiatry*, *23*(6), 55-58.
- Ryan, B., Orotaloa, P., Araitewa, S., Gaoifa, D., Moreen, J., Kiloe, E., . . . Ng, C. (2015). Mental health in the Solomon Islands: developing reforms and partnerships. *Australasian Psychiatry*, *23*(6), 662-666.
- Sadao, K., Robinson, N., & Magrab, P. (1997). Evaluating interagency collaboration in disability programs in the Pacific Basin. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *4*(1), 57-65.
- Schmidt-Vaivao, D. E., Lutu, G., Tulua-Tata, A., Hannemann, M., & Tisnado, D. M. (2010).

  Assessing the Effectiveness of Breast Cancer Education Workshops among Samoan and Pacific Islander Women in Southern California. *Californian Journal of Health Promotion*, 8, 1-10.
- Schultz, R. F. (2001). Community mental health: avoided by some, neglected by others. *Pacific Health Dialog, 8*(2), 200-206.
- Schultz, R. F. (2005). Beyond mad, bad and sad: A case for considering community mental health and the means to assess it. *Pacific Health Dialog, 12*(2), 145-154.

  Taule'ale'ausumai, F. (1997). Pastoral Care: A Samoan perspective. In P. Culbertson (Ed.), *Counselling issues and South Pacific Communities* (pp. 215-237). Auckland, New Zealand: Snedden & Cervin.
- Scott, N., Gabriel, S., Sheppeard, V., Peacock, A., Scott, C., Flego, K., . . . Seale, H. (2015).

  Responding to a measles outbreak in a Pacific Island community in western Sydney: community interviews led to church-based immunization clinics. *Western Pacific Surveillance and Response*, 6(2), 51-57.
- Simmons, D., Voyle, J. A., Fou, F., Feo, S., & Leakehe, L. (2004). Tale of two churches: differential impact of a church-based diabetes control programme among Pacific Islands people in New Zealand. *Diabetic Medicine*, *21*(2), 122-128.
- Simmons, D., Voyle, J. A., Fou, F., Feo, S., & Leakehe, L. (2004). Tale of two churches: differential impact of a church-based diabetes control programme among Pacific Islands people in New Zealand. *Diabetic Medicine*, *21*(2), 122-128.
- Storr, C. L., Arria, A. M., Workman, R. L., & Anthony, J. C. (2004). Neighborhood Environment and Opportunity to Try Methamphetamine ("Ice") and Marijuana: Evidence from

- Guam in the Western Pacific Region of Micronesia. *Substance use & Misuse, 39*(2), 253-276.
- Swinburn, B., Amosa, H., & Bell, C. (1997). The Ola Fa'autauta Project: the process of developing a church-based health programme. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 4(2), 20-26.
- Tamasese, T. K., Parsons, T. L., Sullivan, G., & Waldegrave, C. (2010). A qualitative study into pacific perspectives on cultural obligations and volunteering. New Zealand: The Family Centre Social Policy Research Unit.
- Tanjasiri, S. P., & Tran, J. H. (2008). Community capacity for cancer control collaboration:

  Weaving an islander network for cancer awareness, research and training for Pacific Islanders in Southern California. *Cancer Detection and Prevention*, 32, S37-S40.
- Tanjasiri, S. P., Tran, J. H., Palmer, P. H., Foo, M. A., Hanneman, M., Lee, C. . . Sripipatana, A. (2007). Developing a community-based collaboration to reduce cancer health disparities among Pacific Islanders in California. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *14*(1), 119-127.
- Tavalia, M. (1997). Pastoral Care: A Niuean Perspective. In P. Culbertson (Ed.), *Counselling issues and South Pacific Communities* (pp. 135-158). Auckland, New Zealand: Snedden & Cervin.
- Taylor, J., Edwards, J., Champion, S., Cheers, S., Chong, A., Cummins, R., & Cheers,
   B. (2012). Towards a conceptual understanding of Aboriginal and Torres Strait
   Islander community and community functioning. *Community Development Journal*,
   47, 94-110.
- Trotter, C. M. (1985). Community participation in mental health training. *Mobius*, 5(3), 37-44.
- Tuafuti, P., & McCaffery, J. (2005). Family and community empowerment through bilingual education. *International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, 8*(5), 480-503.
- Tualaulelei, E., & Kavanagh, M. (2015). University-Community Engagement: Mentoring in the Pasifika Space. *The Australasian Journal of University-Community Engagement, 10*(1), 87.
- Walters, W. E. (1977). Community psychiatry in Tutuila, American Samoa. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 134(8), 917-919.
- Warren, H., Kirk, R., Lima, I., & Siataga, P. (2006). Alcohol Community Interventions and Services for Pacific Peoples: Literature Review. Wellington, New Zealand: Alcohol Advisory Council of New Zealand, Health Research Council and Accident Compensation Corporation.
- Weltin, A. M., & Lavin, R. P. (2012). The effect of a community garden on HgA1c in diabetics of Marshallese descent. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 29(1), 12-24.

# **Disasters and Tragedy**

- Apatu, E. J. I. (2013). Human Response during the September 29, 2009, South Pacific Earthquake and Tsunamic in American Samoa. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, TN.
- Apatu, E. J. I., Aga, D., Osland, E., & Gregg, C. E. (2014). Strengthening Public Health and Disaster resilience in American Samoa: The use of the Precede-Proceed Model. *GRF Davos Planet@Risk*, 2(6), 363-369.
- Apatu, E. J. I., Gregg, C. E., Lindell, M. K., Hillhouse, J., & Wang, L. (2015). Survivors' perceptions of stakeholders and the 2009 South Pacific tsunami. *Disaster Prevention and Management*, *24*(5), 596-609.
- Apatu, E. J. I., Gregg, C. E., Richards, K., Sorensen, B. V., & Wang, L. (2013). Factors Affecting Household Adoption of an Evacuation Plan in American Samoa after the 2009 Earthquake and Tsunami. *Hawai'i Journal of Medicine & Public Health*, 72(8), 267-272.
- Apatu, E. J., Gregg, C. E., Wood, N. J., & Wang, L. (2016). Household evacuation characteristics in American Samoa during the 2009 Samoa Islands tsunami. *Disasters.* 40(4), 779-798.
- Campbell, J. (2010). An overview of Natural Hazard Planning in the Pacific Island region. *The Australasian Journal of Disaster and Trauma Studies, 1*, February 27, 2016.
- Campbell, J. R. (2006). *Traditional disaster reduction in Pacific Island communities*. University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand: GNS Science Report 2006/38.
- Fletcher, S. M., Thiessen, J., Gero, A., Rumsey, M., Kuruppu, N., & Willetts, J. (2013).

  Traditional Coping Strategies and Disaster Response: Examples from the South Pacific Region. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health, 2013*, 264503.
- Gawith, D., Daigneault, A., & Brown, P. (2016). Does community resilience mitigate loss and damage climate related disasters? Evidence based on survey data. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 59, 2102-2123.
- Gillard, M., & Paton, D. (1999). Disaster Stress Following a Hurricane: The role of religious differences in the Fijian Islands. *The Australasian Journal of Disaster and Trauma Studies, 2*(24.11), 2011.
- Holmgaard, S. B. (2011). "Forget who we are and let the people free": changing Christianities and tradition in post tsunami Samoa. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Tromsø, Tromsø, Norway.
- King, M. E., Schreiber, M. D., Fomanski, S. E., Fleming, S., Bayleyegn, T. M., & Lemusu, S. S. (2013). A brief report of surveillance of Traumatic Experiences and Exposures after the Earthquake-Tsunami in American Samoa, 2009. *Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness*, 7(3), 327-331.

- Le De, L., Gaillard, J., & Friesen, W. (2015). Poverty and Disasters: Do Remittances Reproduce Vulnerability? *The Journal of Development Studies*, *51*(5), 538-553.
- Le De, L., Gaillard, J., Friesen, W., Pupualii, M., Brown, C., & Aupito, A. (2015). Our family comes first: migrants' perspectives on remittances in disaster. *Migration and Development*, *5*(1), 130-148.
- Levy, J. (2016). Complexity and disaster forensics: paradigms, models and approaches for natural hazards management in the Pacific Island region. In A. J. Masys (Ed.), *Disaster Forensics* (pp. 381-409). Springer International Publishing.
- Lindell, M. K., Prater, C. S., Gregg, C. E., Apatu, E. J. I., Huang, S., & Wu, H. C. (2015).

  Household's immediate responses to the 2009 American Samoa Earthquake and
  Tsunami. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 12, 328-340.
- Magee, A. D., Verdon-Kidd, D. C., Kiem, A. S., & Royle, S. A. (2015). Perceptions, impacts and adaptation of tropical cyclones in the Southwest Pacific: an urban perspective from Fiji, Vanuatu and Tonga. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 3, 7135-7170.
- McCubbin, L. D., Ishikawa, M. E., & McCubbin, H. I. (2008). The Kanaka Maoli: Native Hawaiians and their Testimony of Trauma and Resilience. *Ethnocultural perspectives on disaster and trauma* (Marsella, A. J.; Johnson, J. L.; Watson, P.; Gryczynski, J. ed., pp. 271-298). New York, NY: Springer.
- Murphy, S. J. (2013). Fa'aSamoa: an aid to livelihood recovery following the Samoan Tsunami? A case study examining two Samoan villages. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Natuzzi, E. S., Joshua, C., Shortus, M., Reubin, R., Dalipands, T., Ferran, K., . . . Brodine, S. (2016). Defining population health vulnerability following an extreme weather event in an urban Pacific Island environment: Honiara, Solomon Islands. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 95, 307-314
- Staab, J. P., Grieger, T. A., Fullerton, C. S., & Ursano, R. J. (1996). Acute stress disorder, subsequent posttraumatic stress disorder and depression after a series of typhoons. *Anxiety*, *2*(5), 219-225.
- Tamasese, T. K., Parsons, T. L., Waldegrave, C., & Thompson, A. (2014). *Trauma, livelihoods and resilience in Post-tsunamic Samoa: A review for the New Zealand Aod Programme*. Wellington, New Zealand: Family Centre Social Policy Research Unit.
- Taylor, A. J. W. (2000). Tragedy and Trauma in Tuvalu. *The Australasian Journal of Disaster and Trauma Studies*, *2*, 2000-2002.
- Taylor, A. J. W., Nailatikau, E., & Walkey, F. H. (2002). A hostage Trauma Assignment in Fiji. *The Australasian Journal of Disaster and Trauma Studies*.

### Home and Place Making

- Butler, S., Williams, M., Tukuitonga, C., & Paterson, J. (2003). Problems with damp and cold housing among Pacific families in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, *116*(1177), February 23, 2016.
- Carter, S., Paterson, J., & Williams, M. (2005). Housing Tenure: Pacific Families in New Zealand. *Urban Policy and Research*, 23(4), 413-428.
- Cheer, T., Kearns, R., & Murphy, L. (2002). Housing policy, poverty, and culture: 'Discounting' decisions among Pacific peoples in Auckland, New Zealand. *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy, 20*(4), 497-516.
- Groot, S., Hodgetts, D., Chamerbain, K., Radley, A., Nikora, L. W., Stotle, O. E. E., & Nabalarua, E. (2008). Homeless lives in New Zealand: The case of Central Auckland. In M. Levy, L. W. Nikora, B. Masters-Awatere, M. Rua & W. Waitoki (Eds.), *Claiming Spaces:*Proceedings of the 2007 National Maori and Pacific Psychologies Symposium 23rd-24th November 2007 (pp. 68-73). Hamilton, New Zealand: Māori and Psychology Research Unit, University of Waikato.
- Jones, P. (2016). Informal urbanism as a product of socio-cultural expression: insights from the Island Pacific. In S. Attia, S. Shabka, S. Z., & A. Ibrahim (Eds.), *Dynamics and Resilience of Informal Areas* (pp. 165-181). Springer International Publishing.
- Kana'iaupuni, S. M., & Liebler, C. A. (2005). Pondering Poi Dog: Place and racial identification of multiracial Native Hawaiians. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 28(4), 687-721.
- Kele-Faiva, P. (2010). The Voices of Tokelau Youth in New Zealand: Na mafialeo ona Tupulaga Tokelau i Nui Hila. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Mackley-Crump, J. (2012). The pacific festival space and the illumination of roots and routes. In L. Guiffre, & P. Spirou (Eds.), Routes, Roots and Routines: Selected papers from the 2011 Australia/New Zealand IASPM Conference (pp. 65-71). Sydney, Australia: International Association for the Study of Popular Music Australia New Zealand Branch.
- McDonell, M. (2014). Houseless versus homeless: An Exploratory study of Native Hawaiian beach dwellers on Oahu's West Coast. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Utah, Utah, UT.
- Oneha, M. F. M. (2001). Ka mauli o ka 'Aina a he mauli kanaka: an ethnographic study from an Hawaiian sense of place. *Pacific Health Dialog, 8*(2), 299-311.
- Pene, G., Peita, M., & Howden-Chapman, P. (2009). Living the Tokelauan way in New Zealand. The Social Policy Journal of New Zealand, 35, 79-92.
- Raine, P. (2001). The ethics of place and environmental change: Some examples from the South Pacific. *New Zealand Geographer*, *57*(2), 41-47.

- Rimoni, F. (12/2011). Identity and its Relationship to Place. *Social Science Research Network,* Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=1971462
- Schluter, P., Carter, S., & Kokaua, J. (2007). Indices and perception of crowding in Pacific households domicile within Auckland, New Zealand: findings from the Pacific Islands Families Study. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, *120*(1248), February 5, 2016.
- Talakai-'Alatini, S. K. L. (2014). "Foki ki 'Api" Nurturing our understanding of 'home' when visiting friends and relatives (VFR) the case of Leimātu'a, Vava'u, Tonga. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland.
- Witten, K., Kearns, R., Carroll, P., Asiasiga, L., & Tava'e, N. (2013). New Zealand parents' understandings of the intergenerational decline in children's independent outdoor play and active travel. *Children's Geographies*, 11(2), 215-229.
- Yamane, D. P., Oeser, S. G., & Omori, J. (2010). Health disparities in the Native Hawaiian homeless. *Hawaii Medical Journal, 69*(6), 35-41.

# Media, Social Representation and Identity

- Becker, A. E. (2004). Television, disordered eating, and young women in Fiji: negotiating body image and identity during rapid social change. *Culture, Medicine, and Psychiatry, 28,* 533-59.
- Becker, A. E., Burwell, R. A., Herzog, D. B., Hamburg, P., & Gilman, S. (2002). Eating behaviours and attitudes following prolonged exposure to television among ethnic Fijiam adolescent girls. *The British Journal of Psychiatry, 18*, 509-514.
- Becker, A. E., Fay, K. E., Agnew-Blais, J., Khan, A. N., Striegel-Moore, R. H., & Gilman, S. E. (2011). Social network media exposure and adolescent eating pathology in Fiji. *The Bristish Journal of Psychiatry*, 198, 43-50.
- Dunlop, A. J. (2013). *Health-related social marketing for Pacific peoples in New Zealand: Are there critical success factors?* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Franklin, M. (2003). I define my own identity: Pacific articulations of 'race' and 'culture' on the Internet. *Ethnicities*, *3*(4), 465-490.
- Fulop, K. (2012). Reverse chameleon in the Kiwi jungle: Identity construction of Pasifika theatre makers. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Gounder, F., Gounder, R., & Cornelius, M. (2016). Sex like Sweet Potatoes: framing HIV in the South Pacific Media. *Journal of Public Health in Developing Countries*, 2, 109-120.

- Johnston, R. (2016). *Not our future: an exploration of Pacific cultural identity through targeted television health advertising.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Latu, J. (2010). Political reform and the media in Tonga: an examination of cultural, political and media attitudes towards democratic reform in two Tongan newspapers. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Loto, R. (2003). Audience responses to news images of Pacific Health. In L. W. Nikora, M. Levy, B. Masters, M. Waitoki, N. Te Awekotuku & R. J. M. Etheredge (Eds.), Proceedings of the National Maori Graduates of Psychology Symposium 2002: Making a Difference (pp. 40-47) The University of Waikato, New Zealand: Maori and Psychology Research Unit.
- Loto, R., Hodgetts, D., Chamberlain, K., Nikora, L. W., Karapu, R., & Barnett, A. (2006). Pasifika in the news: The portrayal of Pacific peoples in the New Zealand press. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, *16*(2), 100-118.
- Manarpaac, C. (2014). *Heads & Shoulders: Representations of Polynesian Men in the NFL.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Hawai'i at Manoa, Honolulu, HI.
- McCool, J., Freeman, B., & Tanielu, H. (2014). Perceived social and media influences on tobacco use among Samoan youth. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 1100.
- McGavin, K. (2015). Representations of Pacific Islander identity: ours and theirs. *Pacific Studies*, *38*(1-2), 272-293.
- McLeod, J. (2016). Citizen media and civil resistance in West Papua. *Pacific Journalism Review*, 22, 38-51.
- Obrien-Talagi, S. L. (2005). The 'Sole' of media: representation of Pacific men in the New Zealand media. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Papoutsaki, E., & Strickland, N. (2008). Pacific Islands Diaspora Media: Sustaining island identities away from home. 17th AMIC Annual Conference "Changing Media, Changing Societies: Media and the Millennium Development Goals". Manila, Philippines.
- Papoutsaki, E., & Strickland, N. (2009). Diasporic islands: Communicating Pacific Cultural Identities in diaspora. *5th International Conference on Small Island Cultures,* Sado Island, Japan.
- Pearson, S. (1999). Subversion and ambivalence: Pacific Islanders on New Zealand prime time. *The Contemporary Pacific*, 11(1), 361-388.
- Pearson, S. (2005). Pacific camp: satire, silliness (and seriousness) on New Zealand television. *Media, Culture & Society, 27*(4), 551-575.

- Ross, T. (2014). 'Telling the Brown Stories': An Examination of Identity in the Ethnic Media of Multigenerational Immigrant Communities. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 40(8), 1314-1329.
- Ross, T. (2016). Rethinking Journalism and Culture: An examination of how Pacific audiences evaluate ethnic media. *Journalism Studies*, 1-17.
- Rubie-Davies, C. M., Liu, S., & Lee, K. K. (2013). Watching each other: Portrayals of gender and ethnicity in television advertisements. *The Journal of Social Psychology, 153*(2), 175-195.
- Siteine, A., & Samu, T. W. (2009). Perceptions of the Pacific in New Zealand social studies programmes. *Pacific-Asian Education*, *21*(1), 51-58.
- Siteine, A., & Samu, T. (2011). The Representation of Pacific Peoples in the New Zealand School Journal. *Pacific-Asian Education*, *23*(2), 139-152.
- Stewart, H., Griffiths, J., & Mulligan, P. (2013). Barriers and Solutions to the Coverage of Mental Health and Well-being Stories in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Communities. *Asia Pacific Media Educator*, 23(1), 43-62.
- Sweet, M., Geia, L., Dudgeon, P., & McCallum, K. (2015). #IHMayDay: tweeting for empowerment and social and emotional wellbeing. *Australasian Psychiatry: Bulletin of Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists, 23*(6), 636-640.
- Wilson, C. (2013). 'That's my stuff': Pasifika Literature and Pasifika Identity. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.

## Tourism and Development

- Berno, T. E. L. (1995). *The socio-cultural and psychological effects of tourism on indigenous cultures*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Cohen, P. J., Lawless, S., Dyer, M., Morgan, M., Saeni, E., Teioli, H., & Kantor, P. (2016).

  Understanding adaptive capacity and capacity to innovate in socio-ecological systems:

  Applying a gender lens. *Ambio*, 45, 309-231.
- Farrelly, T. A. (2011). Indigenous and democratic decision-making: issues from community-based ecotourism in the Boumā National Heritage Park, Fiji. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 19(7), 817-835.
- Finau, S. A. (1993). Development and health in the Pacific: which way to die? *Papua and New Guinea Medical Journal*, *36*(4), 324-336.

- McKinnon, K., Carnegie, M., Gibson, K., & Rowland, C. (2016). Gender equality and economic empowerment in the Solomon Islands and Fiji: a place-based approach. *Gender, Place & Culture, 23*, 1376-1391.
- Scheyvens, R., & Russell, M. (2012). Tourism, Land Tenure and Poverty Alleviation in Fiji. *Tourism Geographies*, *14*(1), 1-25.
- Scheyvens, R. A., & Momsen, J. (2008). Tourism in small island states: from vulnerability to strengths. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 16(5), 491-510.
- Macpherson, C. (2008). Golden goose or Trojan horse? Cruise ship tourism in Pacific development. *Asia Pacific Viewpoint*, *49*(2), 185-197.

# CONTEXT AND TIME

The Fonofale model also incorporates a dimension attenuated to context and time, and shifting meanings of phenomena that occur alongside geographical and genealogical change, that influence health and wellbeing. Research here focuses on the disaporic movement of the Pasifika peoples, the challenges faced, and political psychology. As a result of this global movement, references within the identity section of the cultural domain, are also generally relevant to this domain of context and time. The diaspora section combines literature on the psychological effects of acculturation, colonisation and migration; historically, and in relation to the legacies still operating today. The subcategory political psychology attends to Pasifika peoples navigation through a Western influenced political system. Research on pre-migratory Indigenous polities and forms of government are located in the cultural domain.

#### Diaspora

- Anae, M. (1998). *Fofoa-i-vao-'ese: the identity journeys of NZ-born Samoans.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Anae, M. (2001). The New Vikings of the Sunrise: New Zealand-Born in the information Age.
  In P. Spoonley, C. Macpherson & M. Anae (Eds.), *Tagata o te Moana Nui: The evolving identities of Pacific peoples in Aotearoa, New Zealand* (pp. 89-101). Palmerston North, NZ: Dunmore Press.
- Anae, M. (2002). Papalagi redefined: Toward a New Zealand born Samoan identity. In P. Spickard, J. L. Rondilla & D. H. Wright (Eds.), *Pacific Diaspora: Island peoples in the United States and across the Pacific* (pp. 150-168). Honolulu: University of Hawaii
- Betz, E., & van Meijl, T. (2016). Humour in the negotiations of social identity in the Tongan diaspora. *Etnofoor, 28,* 111-125.

- George, J. R., & Rodriguez, L. (2009). Hybrid youth identity in the Maori/Pacific Island diaspora in Australia: a study of young urban Polynesian men in Sydney. *New Zeaand Sociology*, *24*(1), 3, 23
- Hall, S. (1990). Cultural Identity and Diaspora. In J. Rutherford (Ed.), *Identity: Community, Culture, Difference* (pp. 222-237). London: Lawrence and Wishart.
- Kempf, W. (2012). A promised land in the diaspora: Christian religion, social memory and identity among Banabans in Fiji. *Pacific Studies*, *35*(1/2), 90-118.
- Lakisa, D., Adair, D., & Taylor, T. (2014). Pasifika diaspora and the changing face of Australian rugby league. *The Contemporary Pacific*, 26(2), 347-367.
- Mackley-Crump, J. (2015). A 'Pacific renaissance'?: Exploring the Pacific diaspora in Aotearoa New Zealand through the evolution of festivals and popular music. *Journal of New Zealand & Pacific Studies*, 3(2), 149-166.
- Macpherson, C. (1999). Will the 'Real' Samoans please stand up?: Issues in Diasporic Samoan Identity. *New Zealand Geographer*, *55*(2), 50-59.
- Macpherson, C., Anae, M., & Spoonley, P. (Eds.). (2001). *Evolving identities of Pacific peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand*. Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Maliko, T. T. (2007). Canoe Noses and Coconut Feet. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli: Contemporary challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples* (pp. 26-38). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- McGavin, K. (2014). Being" Nesian": Pacific Islander Identity in Australia. *The Contemporary Pacific*, 26(1), 126-154.
- Morton, H. (1998). Creating their own culture: diasporic Tongans. *The Contemporary Pacific,* 10(1), 1-30.
- Papoutsaki, E., & Strickland, N. (2008). Pacific Islands Diaspora Media: Sustaining island identities away from home. 17th AMIC Annual Conference "Changing Media, Changing Societies: Media and the Millennium Development Goals". Manila, Philippines.
- Papoutsaki, E., & Strickland, N. (2009). Diasporic islands: Communicating Pacific Cultural Identities in diaspora. *5th International Conference on Small Island Cultures,* Sado Island, Japan.
- Spickard, J., Rondilla, J., & Wright, H. (Eds.). (2002). *Pacific diaspora: Island peoples in the United States and across the Pacific.* Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Tamaira, A. M. (2009). *The space between: negotiating culture, place, and identity in the Pacific*. Honolulu: HI: Center for Pacific Islands Studies, School of Hawaiian, Asian & Pacific Studies, University of Hawaii at Manoa.

Watkin, F. (2009). My island home: a study of identity across different generations of Torres

Strait Islanders living outside the Torres Strait. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation),

James Cook University, Queensland, Australia.

### **Acculturation and Colonisation**

- Becker, A. E., Fay, K., Agnew-Blais, J., Guamaccia, P. M., Striegel-Moore, R. H., & Gilman, S. E. (2010). Development of a measure of 'aculturation' for ethnic Fijians: methodologic and conceptual considerations for application to eating disorders research.

  Transcultural Psychiatry, 47, 754-786.
- Becker, A. E., Fay, K., Gilman, S. E., & Striegel-Moore, R. (2007). Facets of acculturation and their diverse relations to body shape concernin Fiji. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 40, 45-50.
- Borrows, J., Williams, M., Schluter, P., Paterson, J., & Helu, S. L. (2010). Pacific Islands Families Study: The association of infant health risk indicators and acculturation of Pacific Island mothers living in New Zealand. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 42*(5), 699-724.
- Crabbe, K. M. (Sep 2007). Kupa'a I ke kahua o Hawaii: Stand firmly behind the foundations of Hawaii. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology*, 1(2), 25-30.
- Crabbe, K. M., Kaholohula, J. K., Kenui, C. K., & Grandinetti, A. (1996). Prevalence of depression, degrees of Hawaiianess, and modes of acculturation among Native Hawaiians living in rural North Kohala. *The National Institute of Health Asian and Pacific Islander American Health Research Conference,* Honolulu: The National Institute of Health.
- Crosbie, S. (1993). Americanization: American popular culture's influence on Maori and Pacific Island identity. *Midwest, 3,* 22-29.
- Dalton, D. (2001). Spirit, self and power: The making of Colonial Experience in Papua New Guinea. In J. Mageo (Ed.), *Power and the Self.* (pp. 116-139). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Finau, S. A., Wainiqolo, I. L., & Cuboni, G. G. (2002). Health transition among Pacificans: unpacking imperialism. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *9*(2), 254-262.
- Gailey, C. W. (1993). Putting Down Sisters and Wives: Tongan Women and Colonization. In M. Etienne, & E. Leacock (Eds.), *Women and Colonization* (pp. 294-322). New York, NY: Praeger.
- Hall, S. (1990). Cultural Identity and Diaspora. In J. Rutherford (Ed.), *Identity: Community, Culture, Difference* (pp. 222-237). London: Lawrence and Wishart.
- Hanna, J. M. (1998). Migration and acculturation among Samoans: Some sources of stress and support. *Social Science & Medicine, 46*(10), 1325-1336.

- Hanna, J. M., & Fitzgerald, M. H. (1993). Acculturation and symptoms: A comparative study of reported health symptoms in three Samoan communities. *Social Science and Medicine*, *36*(9), 1169-1180.
- Kaholokula, J. K. (2007). Colonialism, Acculturation, and Depression among Kanaka Maoli of Hawai'i. In P. Culbertson, M. Nelson-Agee & C. O. Makasiale (Eds.), *Penina Uliuli:*Contemporary Challenges in Mental Health for Pacific Peoples (pp. 180-195).

  Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- Mageo, J. (2008). Zones of ambiguity and identity politics in Samoa. *Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute, 14*(1), 61-78.
- Menon, K. (2009). Sense of identity among Samoan migrant women at work and living in Auckland, Aotearoa/New Zealand. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, New Zealand.
- Niheu, K., Turbin, L., & Yamada, S. (2007). The Impact of the Military Presence in Hawaii on the Health of Na Kanaka Maoli. *Pacific Health Dialog, 14*(1), 205-212.
- Pilato, T., Su'a, T., & Chrichton-Hill, Y. (1998). A Pacific Islands perspective: Colonialism affects Pacific Island families. In C. O'Brien (Ed.), *Social Work Now*. Wellington, New Zealand: Children, Young Persons and their Families Service.
- Price, J., & Eastwell, H. D. (1980). Psychological problems relating to the educated elite in some Pacific peoples. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 14(3), 199-202.
- Rapadas, J. M. (2007). Transmission of violence: The legacy of colonialism in Guam and the path to peace. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology, 1*(02), 33-40.
- Schwartz, T. (1973). Cult and context: The paranoid ethos in Melanesia. Ethos, 1(2), 153-174.
- Skudder, E. (2014). Acculturation within New Zealand Pacific communities: how does this influence diet and health? (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Streltzer, J., Rezentes III, W. C., & Arakaki, M. (1996). Does acculturation influence psychosocial adaptation and well-being in Native Hawaiians? *The International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *42*(1), 28-37.
- Tautolo, E., Schluter, P. J., Paterson, J., & McRobbie, H. (2011). Acculturation status has a modest effect on smoking prevalence among a cohort of Pacific fathers in New Zealand. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 35(6), 509-516.
- Vignoe, C. G. W. (2015). *Living Aloha: Portraits of resilience, renewal, reclamation, and resistance*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Antioch University, Ann Arbour, MI.

#### Migration

- Appleyard, R. T., & Stahl, C. W. (1995). South Pacific migration: New Zealand experience and implications for Australia. Canberra, Australia: Australian Agency for International Development.
- Baker, P. T., Hanna, J. M., & Baker, T. S. (1986). *The changing Samoans: behavior and health in transition*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, NY.
- Barker, J. C. (1994). Home alone: The effects of out-migration on Niuean Elders' living arrangements and social supports. *Pacific Studies*, *17*(3), 41-81.
- Barnett, J., & Chamberlain, N. (2010). Migration as climate change adaptation: implications for the Pacific. In B. Burson (Ed.), *Climate change and Migration South Pacific Perspectives* (pp. 51-60). Wellington, New Zealand: Institute of Policy Studies, Victoria University of Wellington.
- Beaglehole, R., Salmond, C. E., Hooper, A., Huntsman, J., Stanhope, J. M., Cassel, J. C., & Prior, I. A. M. (1977). Blood pressure and social interaction in Tokelauan migrants in New Zealand. *Journal of Chronic Diseases*, 30(12), 803-812.
- Bedford, R. (1985). Immigrant and locally born Pacific Island Polynesians: Two populations? *New Zealand Geographer*, *41*(2), 80-83.
- Brown, R. P., & Connell, J. (2004). The migration of doctors and nurses from South Pacific Island Nations. *Social Science & Medicine*, *58*(11), 2193-2210.
- Coates, K., & Carr, S. C. (2005). Skilled immigrants and selection bias: A theory-based field study from New Zealand. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, *29*(5), 577-599.
- Connell, J. (2014). The two cultures of health worker migration: A Pacific perspective. *Social Science and Medicine*, *116*, 73-81.
- Farbotko, C., Stratford, E., & Lazrus, H. (2016). Climate migrants and new identities? The geopolitics of embracing or rejecting mobility. *Social & Cultural Geography, 17*, 533-552.
- Foliaki, S. (1997). Migration and mental health: the Tongan experience. *International Journal of Mental Health, 26*(3), 36-54.
- Foliaki, S. (1999). Mental health among Tongan migrants. *Pacific Health Dialog, 6*(2), 288-294.
- Funaki, I. F., & Funaki, L. M. (2002). A compromise identity: Tongan Americans in the United States. In J. Spickard, J. Rondilla & H. Wright (Eds.), *Pacific diaspora: Island peoples in the United States and across the Pacific* (pp. 211-218). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii Press.
- George, J. R., & Rodriguez, L. (2009). Hybrid youth identity in the Maori/Pacific Island diaspora in Australia: a study of young urban Polynesian men in Sydney.

- Graves, T. D., & Graves, N. B. (1985). Stress and health among Polynesian migrants to New Zealand. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 8(1), 1-19.
- Graves, T. D., & Graves, N. B. (Eds.). (1985). *Kinship ties and preferred strategies of urban migrants: Patterns of Social behaviour*. Hamilton, New Zealand: New Zealand and the South Pacific Academic Press.
- Hacket, K. (2009). Instruments in the Protection of Migrant workers' Rights The New Zealand Case. *New Zealand Sociology*, 24(1), 49-63.
- Hanna, J. M. (1998). Migration and acculturation among Samoans: Some sources of stress and support. *Social Science & Medicine*, 46(10), 1325-1336.
- Holt, A. J. (1999). *Culture, ethnicities & identity: A look at first generation children from immigrant Samoan families.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Hom, M. (2012). Examining Issues faced by Chuukese immigrants within Oahu Public housing developments. (Unpublished Honors Dissertation). University of Hawaii at Manoa.
- James, K. (1997). Reading the leaves: The role of Tongan women's traditional wealth and other "contraflows" in the processes of modern migration and remittances. *Pacific Studies*, 20(1), 1-27.
- Le De, L., Gaillard, J., Friesen, W., Pupualii, M., Brown, C., & Aupito, A. (2015). Our family comes first: migrants' perspectives on remittances in disaster. *Migration and Development*, *5*(1), 130-148.
- Mackley-Crump, J. (2012). The pacific festival space and the illumination of roots and routes. In L. Guiffre, & P. Spirou (Eds.), Routes, Roots and Routines: Selected papers from the 2011 Australia/New Zealand IASPM Conference (pp. 65-71). Sydney, Australia: International Association for the Study of Popular Music Australia New Zealand Branch.
- Macpherson, C. (1994). Changing patterns of commitment to Island homelands: A case study of Western Samoa. *Pacific Studies*, 17(3), 83-116.
- Macpherson, C. (2002). From moral community to moral communities: The foundations of migrant social solidarity among Samoans in urban Aotearoa/New Zealand. *Pacific Studies*, *25*(1/2), 71-93.
- Macpherson, C., Anae, M., & Spoonley, P. (Eds.). (2001). *Evolving identities of Pacific peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand*. Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Macpherson, C., Spoonley, P., & Anae, M. (2000). *Tangata o te moana nui: the evolving identities of Pacific peoples in Aotearoa /New Zealand*. Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.

- McDade, T. W., & Worthman, C. M. (2004). Socialization ambiguity in Samoan adolescents: a model for human development and stress in the context of culture change. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *14*(1), 49-72.
- McGarvey, S. T., & Seiden, A. (2010). Health, Well-being, and social context of Samoan migrant populations. *NAPA Bulletin*, *34*(1), 213-228.
- Mila-Schaaf, K. (2010). *Polycultural capital and the Pasifika second generation: negotiating identities in diasporic places.* (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Massey University, Albany, New Zealand.
- Morrison, K. (2016). The role of traditional knowledge to frame understanding of migration as adaptation to the 'slow disaster' of sea level rise in the South Pacific. In K. Sudmeier-Rieux, M. Fernandez, I. M. Penna, M. Jaboyedoff, & J. C. Gaillard (Eds.), *Identifying Emerging Issues in Disaster Risk Reduction, Migration, Climate Change and Sustainable Development* (pp. 249-266). Springer International Publishing.
- Mortreux, C., & Barnett, J. (2009). Climate Change, Migration and adaptation in Funafuti, Tuvalu. *Global Environmental Change*, 19(1), 105-112.
- Mosby, V. P. (2015). *Torres Strait Islanders' experiences of contemporary out-movement: a grounded theory of 'living in two worlds'*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation), James Cook University, Queensland, Australia.
- Pearson, S. (2005). Pacific camp: satire, silliness (and seriousness) on New Zealand television. *Media, Culture & Society, 27*(4), 551-575.
- Ross, T. (2014). 'Telling the Brown Stories': An Examination of Identity in the Ethnic Media of Multigenerational Immigrant Communities. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 40(8), 1314-1329.
- Ravuvu, A. (1992). Security and confidence as basic factors in Pacific Islanders' migration. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society, 101*(4), 329-342.
- Stillman, S., McKenzie, D. & Gibson, J. (2006). *Migration and mental health: Evidence from a natural experiment. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 4138.* Hamilton, New Zealand: University of Waikato.
- Tazreiter, C., Weber, L., Pickering, S., Segrave, M., & McKernan, H. (2016). Samoan-Born New Zealanders as Trans-Tasman Denizens. In C. Tazreiter, L. Weber, S. Pickering, M. Segrave & H. McKernan (Eds.), Fluid Security in the Asia Pacific (pp. 77-102) Springer.
- Thompson, M. A. (2016). *The settlement experiences of Kiribati migrants living in New Zealand*. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Otago University, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- Tousignant Gauthier, M. (2013). Labelling Identities: the Views and Experiences of Second Generation Pacific Peoples in New Zealand. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Concordia University, Montréal, QC, Canada.

- Tuimaleali'ifano, M. A., & Tuimaleali'ifano, M. A. (1990). Samoans in Fiji: migration, identity and communication. Suva, Fiji: Institute of Pacific Studies.
- Watkin, F. (2009). My island home: a study of identity across different generations of Torres Strait Islanders living outside the Torres Strait. (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation).

  James Cook University, Queensland, Australia.

# **Political Psychology**

- Anae, A. A. (2008). On the Campaign Trail: Reflections of a 'Pacific Island' MP. In C. Macpherson, P. Spoonley & M. Anae (Eds.), *Tagata O Te Moana Nui: The evolving identities of Pacific peoples in Aotearoa/New Zealand* (pp. 263-275). Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.
- Baice, P. T. (2011). Sufiga o le tuaoi; 'ali 'i sia, ala 'I kolonga: understanding the impacts of youth agency on the political participation of Tongan and Samoan youth in Tonga, Samoa and South Auckland, Aotearoa. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Brown Pulu, T., & Pamatatau, R. (2015). Who's who in the Zoo? Tonga Election 2014. *Te Kaharoa: The e-Journal on Indigenous Pacific Issues, 8*(1).
- Cook, H. (2008). Pacific people in parliament: A case study of minority representation in New Zealand. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Corbett, J., & Liki, A. (2015). Intersecting identities, divergent views: Interpreting the experiences of women politicians in the Pacific Islands. *Politics & Gender, 11*(2), 320-344.
- Corbett, J. (2015). Small fish swimming in the shape of a shark: why politicians join political parties in the Pacific Islands. *Commonwealth & Comparative Politics*, 53(2), 130-152.
- Corbett, J. (2013). 'A calling from God': politicians and religiosity in the Pacific Islands. *Global Change, Peace & Security, 25*(3), 283-297.
- Fa'alili-Fidow, J., McCool, J., & Percival, T. (2014). Trade and health in Samoa: views from the insiders. *BMC Public Health*, 14, 309-309.
- Iusitini, L. C. (2013). *The Political engagement of Pacific peoples in New Zealand*. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Latu, J. (2010). Political reform and the media in Tonga: an examination of cultural, political and media attitudes towards democratic reform in two Tongan newspapers. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.

- Raganivatu, A. (1997). NZ's Island MP's early impacts. Pacific Islands Monthly, 67(6), 34-35.
- Whimp, G. (2012). Representing the people: Pacific Politicians in New Zealand. In S. Mallon,
  K. Mahina-Tuai & D. Salesa (Eds.), Tagata O le Moana: New Zealand and the people of the Pacific (pp. 265-284). Wellington, New Zealand: Te Papa Press.

### PASIFIKA RESEARCH METHODOLOGIES

As psychology is a research-driven field, we have included a section of this bibliography additional to the Fonofale model to highlight research methods that are culturally appropriate and responsive to the diversity of knowledges and practices found throughout Pasifika communities. The selected references provide guidance on collaborative and sensitive research methodologies that produce research and knowledge attentive to Pasifika realities and worldviews, rather than simply impose western epistemologies.

# Methodology and Conducting Research

- Airini, Anae, M., Mila-Schaaf, K., Coxon, E., Mara, D., & Sanga, K. (2010). Teu le va Relationships across research and policy in Pasifika education: A collective approach to
  knowledge generation and policy development for action towards Pasifika education
  success. Wellington, New Zealand: Auckland UniSevices Ltd for the Ministry of
  Education.
- Anae, M. (2010). Research for better Pacific schooling in New Zealand: Teu le va a Samoan perspective. *Mai Review, 1,* 1-24.
- Anae, M. (2016). Teu le va: Samoan relational ethics. *Knowledge Cultures, 4*(3), 117-117.
- Amituanai-Toloa, M. (2006). Tapuia (Space made sacred) in bridging research and relationships: Brown culture and commonsensical ethics. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples, 3*(1), 200-219.
- Brown, T. (2000). Conducting research within a Samoan Community: Alcohol beliefs and expectancies. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand.
- Chung-Do, J. J., Look, M. A., Mabellos, T., Trask-Batti, M., Burke, K., & Mau, M. K. M. (2016). Engaging Pacific Islanders in research: community recommendations. *Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research, Education, and Action, 10*(1), 63-71.
- Ekeroma, A., Kenealy, T., Latu, R., & Hill, A. (2016). Who are the successful reproductive health clinician-researchers? *Pacific Journal of Reproductive Health*, 1, 128-131.
- Farrelly, T., & Nabobo-Baba, U. (2014). Talanoa as empathic apprenticeship. *Asia Pacific Viewpoint*, *55*(3), 319-330.

- Finau, S. A. (1995). Health Research in the Pacific: insearch of a reality. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 108(992), 16-19.
- Fletcher, J. (2003). Tales and talanoa: Using a culturally appropriate methodology to research the experiences of Pasifika and Mäori Second Chance Tertiary Learners. (Unpublished Paper). Christchurch College of Education, University of Cantebury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Fletcher, J., Parkhill, F., Fa'afoi, A., & Morton, M. (2006). Poto he Anga: Collaboration and consultation in Pasifika research. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *6*(1), 36-50.
- Jones, A., Barnett, B., Williams, A. J., Grayson, J., Busilacchi, S., Duckworth, A., Evans-Illidge, E., ... & Murchie, C.D. (2008). Effective communication tools to engage Torres Strait Islanders in scientific research. *Continental Shelf Research*, 28, 2350-2356.
- Mafile'o, T., & Walsh-Tapiata, W. (2007). Māori and Pasifika Indigenous connections: Tensions and possibilities. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Scholarship, 3*(2), 128-145.
- Mayeda, D. T., & Okamoto, S. K. (2002). Challenging the "Asian Pacific American" rubric: social constructions of ethnic identity among Samoan youth in Hawaii. *Journal of Poverty*, 6(4), 43-62.
- Mila-Schaaf, K. (2009). Pacific health research guidelines: The Cartography of an ethical relationship. *International Social Science Journal*, *60*(195), 135-143.
- Mila-Schaaf, K., & Hudson, M. (2009). *Negotiating space for indigenous theorising in Pacific mental health and addictions*. Auckland, New Zealand: LeVa.
- Nakhid, C., Pilisi, S., Senio, J., Taylor, S., & Thomas, L. (2007). Aua'i i le galuega: A Pasifika research design ensuring ownership and autonomy. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*, 32, 106-125.
- Ofanoa, M., Percival, T., Huggard, P., & Buetow, S. (2015). Talanga: the Tongan way enquiry. *Sociology Study, 5*(4), 334-340.
- Otsuka, S. (2006). Talanoa Research: Culturally appropriate research design in Fiji. Proceedings of the Australian Association for Research in Education (AARE) 2005 International Education Research Conference: Creative Dissent-Constructive Solutions, Melbourne, Australia.
- Patolo, J. (2013). 'Ou te le fefe Interpreting statistical data through a cultural lens: does information about Pacific peoples 'objective well-being' and 'subjective well-being' illuminate existing perspectives on what it is like to be a Pacific Islander in Aotearoa-New Zealand? (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Sauni, S. L. (2011). Samoan research methodology: The Ula—a new paradigm. *Pacific-Asian Education*, 23(2), 53-64.

- Seiuli, B. (2012). Uputaua: A therapeutic approach to researching Samoan Communities. Australian Community Psychologist, 24(1), 24-37.
- Suaalii-Sauni, T., & Fulu-Aiolupotea, S. M. (2014). Decolonising Pacific research, building Pacific research communities and developing Pacific research tools: The case of the talanoa and the faafaletui in Samoa. *Asia Pacific Viewpoint*, 55(3), 331-344.
- Tamasese, K., Peteru, C., Waldegrave, C., & Bush, A. (2005). Ole Taeao Afua, the new morning: a qualitative investigation into Samoan perspectives on mental health and culturally appropriate services. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 39(4), 300-309.
- Townsend, C. K., Dillard, A., Hosoda, K. K., Maskarinec, G. G., Maunakea, A. K., Yoshimura, S. R., . . . & Kaholokula, J. K. A. (2015). Community-based participatory research integrates behavioral and biological research to achieve health equity for Native Hawaiians. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 13,*
- Tuafuti, P. (2011). Multiple challenges in research within the fa'asamoa context. *Pacific-Asian Education*, 23(2), 33-42.

### **Models and Frameworks**

- Agnew, F., Pulotu-Endemann, F. K., Robinson, G., Suaalii-Sauni, T., Warren, H., Wheeler, A., . .

  . Schmidt-Sopoaga, H. (2004). *Pacific Models of Mental Health Service Delivery in New Zealand: ("PMMHSD") Project.* Health Research Council of New Zealand, New Zealand.
- Foliaki, S., & Mental Health Commission. (2001). *Pacific mental health services and workforce: moving on the blueprint*. Wellington, New Zealand: Mental Health Commission.
- Fotu, M., & Tafa, T. (2009). The Popao Model: A Pacific recovery and strength concept in mental health. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 164-170.
- McCarthy, A., Shaban, R., & Stone, C. (2011). Fa'afaletui: a framework for the promotion of renal health in an Australian Samoan community. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing:*Official Journal of the Transcultural Nursing Society / Transcultural Nursing Society, 22(1), 55-62.
- McGregor, D. V., Morelli, P. T., Matsuoka, J. K., Rodenhurst, R., Kong, N., & Spencer, M. S. (2003). An ecological model of Native Hawaiian Well-being. *Pacific Health Dialog,* 10(2), 106-128.
- Natanielu, S. (2010). *Pasifika's next top model: finding indigenous models of practice.* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.

- Nelson, J. R., Bennett-Levy, J., Wilson, S., Ryan, K., Rotumah, D., Budden, W., . . . Stirling, J. (2015). Aboriginal and Torres strait islander mental health practitioners propose alternative clinical supervision models. *International Journal of Mental Health, 44*(1), 33-45.
- Pulotu-Endemann, F. K. (2009). *Fonofale Model of Health*. Paper presented at the Pacific models for Health Promotion Workshop, Massey University, Wellington. Retrieved from http://www.hauora.co.nz/resources/Fonofalemodelexplanation.pdf
- Pulotu-Endemann, F. K., Te Pou o Te Whakaaro Nui, & Pava. (2007). Seitapu Pacific mental health and addiction cultural & clinical competencies framework. Auckland, New Zealand: National Centre of Mental Health Research and Workforce Development.
- Suaalii-Sauni, T., Wheeler, A., Saafi, E., Robinson, G., Agnew, F., Warren, H., . . . Hingano, T. (2009). Exploration of Pacific perspectives of Pacific models of mental health service delivery in New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, *15*(1), 18-27.
- Te Pou o Te Whakaaro Nui. (2010). *Talking Therapies for Pasifika Peoples: best and promising practice guide for mental health and addiction services*. Auckland, New Zealand: Te Pou o Te Whakaaro Nui.
- Tu'itahi, S. (2007). Fonua: A model for Pacific Health Promotion. Retrieved from http://www.hpforum.org.nz/resources/22ndJan2.pdf.
- Vaioleti, T. M. (2006). Talanoa research methodology: a developing position on pacific research. *Waikato Journal of Education*, *12*, 21-34

#### PASIFIKA PSYCHOMETRY

The following is a collection of articles which represent the increasing interest in the application and creation of psychometric tools for Pasifika peoples. From these articles it is clear that many of the widespread scales, tools and battery tests do not accommodate for the nuances inherent in the perspectives of the Pasifika peoples. This lack of construct validity and coherence compromises the accuracy of the results and in turn have major implications for diagnoses, employment, testing and education. These articles have either explored the validity of established psychometric tools or sought to create tools specifically for Pasifika peoples across various domains.

- Amberber, A. M. (2011). Adapting the bilingual aphasia test to Rarotongan (Cook Islands Maori): linguistic and clinical considerations. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics*, 25(6-7), 601-618.
- Ballard, E., & Farao, S. (2010). Designing a phonological assessment for Samoan-speaking children: Linguistic/cultural considerations and initial findings. *New Zealand Journal of Speech Language Therapy*, 65, 5-14.

- Ballard, E., Charters, A. H., & Taumoefolau, M. (2013). A Tongan adaptation of the Boston Naming test: rethinking the assessment of communication impairment in Tongan patients post-stroke. In Proceedings of the Pacific Health Research Fono, 18-19 April 2012. In M. Taumoefolau, N. Seve-Williams & E. Saafi (Eds.), *Pacific Edge: Transforming Knowledge into Innovative Practice* (pp. 88-99). New Zealand: Health Research Council.
- Becker, A. E., Fay, K., Agnew-Blais, J., Guamaccia, P. M., Striegel-Moore, R. H., & Gilman, S. E. (2010). Development of a measure of 'aculturation' for ethnic Fijians: methodologic and conceptual considerations for application to eating disorders research.

  Transcultural Psychiatry, 47, 754-786.
- Becker, A. E., Roberts, A. L., Perlow, A., Bainivualiku, A., Richards, L. K., Gilman, S. E., & Striegel—Moore, R. H. (2010). Youth health-risk behaviour assessment in Fiji: the reliability of Global School-based Student Health Survey content adapted for ethnic Fijian girls. *Ethnicity & Health*, *15*, 181-197.
- Becker, A. E., Thomas, J. J., Bainivualiku, A., Richards, L., Navara, K., Roberts, A. L., Gilman, S. E., Striegel-Moore, R. H., & HEALTHY Fiji Study Group. (2010). Adaptation and evaluation of the Clinical Impairment Assessment to assess disordered eating related distress in an adolescent female ethnic Fijian population. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 43, 179-186.
- Becker, A. E., Thomas, J. J., Bainivualiku, A., Richards, L., Navara, K., Roberts, A. L., Gilman, S. E., Striegel-Moore, R. H., & HEALTHY Fiji Study Group. (2010). Validity and reliability of a Fijian translation and adaptation of the Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 43, 171-178.
- Blignault, I., Manicavasagar, V., Chang, O. A., & Parker, G. (2010). Description and evaluation of a project to improve the identification and management of mood disorders in developing countries. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 18(5), 460-464.
- Bohanna, I., Stephens, A., Wargent, R., Catherall, J., Timms, C., Graham, D., . . . Clough, A. (2013). Assessment of acquired brain injury in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians: guidance for DisabilityCare Australia. Queensland Australia: The Cairns Institute, James Cook University.
- Bunker, L. D. (2008). Development of Tongan materials for determining speech recognition thresholds. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Brigham Young University, Provo, UT.
- Campbell, A., Hayes, B., & Buckby, B. (2008). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women's experience when interacting with the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale: a brief note. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, 16, 124-131.
- Ekeroma, A. J., Ikenasio-Thorpe, B., Weeks, S., Kokaua, J., Puniani, K., Stone, P., & Foliaki, S. A. (2012). Validation of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) as a screening tool for postnatal depression in Samoan and Tongan women living in New Zealand. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, *125*(1355), 41-49.

- Harwood, M., Weatherall, M., Talemaitoga, A., Barber, P. A., Gommans, J., Taylor, W., . . . McNaughton, H. (2012). An assessment of the Hua Oranga outcome instrument and comparison to other outcome measures in an intervention study with Maori and Pacific people following stroke. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 125(1364), 57-67.
- Jodache, S. E. (2013). Exploring the Insiders' Experience of Language Assessment of Bilingual Samoan-English Speakers with Aphasia:" it's hard". (Unpublished Master's Thesis). University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Jodache, S., Howe, T., & Siyambalapitiya, S. (2015). Assessment of a Samoan–English speaker with bilingual aphasia: "it's hard". *Aphasiology*, *29*(7), 872-888,
- Kersten, P., Dudley, M., Nayar, S., Elder, H., Robertson, H., Tauroa, R., & McPherson, K. M. (2016). Cross-cultural acceptability and utility of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire: views of families. *BMC Psychiatry*, *16*(1), 347.
- Kupa, K. (2009). Te Vaka Atafaga: A Tokelau assessment model for supporting holistic mental health practice with Tokelau people in Aotearoa, New Zealand. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 15(1), 156-163.
- Manuela, S., & Sibley, C. G. (2013). The Pacific Identity and Wellbeing Scale (PIWBS): A culturally-appropriate self-report measure for Pacific peoples in New Zealand. *Social Indicators Research*, 112(1), 83-103.
- Manuela, S., & Sibley, C. G. (2014). Exploring the Hierarchical Structure of Pacific Identity and Wellbeing. *Social Indicators Research*, *118*(3), 969-985.
- Manuela, S., & Sibley, C. G. (2015). The Pacific Identity and Wellbeing Scale Revised:

  Comparisons across Pacific groups. *The New Zealand Journal of Psychology, 44*(1), 61-72.
- Newcombe, D., Tanielu-Stowers, H., McDermott, R., Stephen, J., & Nosa, V. (2016). The validation of the alcohol, smoking and substance involvement screening test (ASSIST) amongst Pacific people in New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology, 45*, 30-39
- O'Connor, P. M., Scarr, B. C., Lamoureux, E. L., Le Mesurier, R. T., & Keeffe, J. E. (2010). Validation of a quality of life questionnaire in the Pacific Island. *Ophthalmic Epidemiology*, *17*(6), 378-386.
- Opoliner, A., Blacker, D., Fitzmaurice, G., & Becker, A. E. (2014). Challenges in assessing depressive symptoms in Fiji: A psychometric evaluation of the CES-D. *The International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 60*(4), 367-376.
- Parsonage, P., Sio, L., Mariner, T.K. & Leger, N. (2009). Development of a mental health and addiction Pacific cultural practice framework for the Auckland region: Promoting expertise that is 'visible, valued and understood'. *Pacific Health Dialog, 15*(1), 131-137.

- Reese, E., Ballard, E., Taumoepeau, M., Taumoefolau, M., Morton, S. B., Grant, C., . . . Mohal, J. (2015). Estimating language skills in Samoan-and Tongan-speaking children growing up in New Zealand. *First Language*, *35*(4-5), 407-427.
- Scott, K. M., Sarfati, D., Tobias, M. I., & Haslett, S. J. (2000). A challenge to the cross-cultural validity of the SF-36 health survey: factor structure in Māori, Pacific and New Zealand European ethnic groups. *Social Science & Medicine, 11,* 1655-1664.
- Seuala, S. (2014). Samoan-English bilingual performance on the Boston Naming Test and its Samoan adaptation. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Siaki, L. A. (2011). Translating questions for use with Samoan adults: lessons learned. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 22(2), 122-128.
- Taylor, A. J. W., Aghanwa, H., & Wakley, F. H. (2003). The psychometric cross cultural validation of the impact of event scale. *Pacific Health Dialog*, 10(2), 66-70.
- Tuitea, I. (2006). Solution focused nursing: an alternative model for assessing psychosis and mai aitu in mental health. (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand.
- Withy, K. M., Lee, W., & Renger, R. F. (2007). A practical framework for evaluating a culturally tailored adolescent substance abuse treatment programme in Molokai, Hawaii. *Ethnicity and Health*, *12*(5), 483-496.

